Characterisation of the Wnt signalling Components in Prostate Cancer Cells

A thesis submitted in accordance with the requirements of Imperial College London, for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

By

Michal Mazor

Department of Cancer Medicine Cyclotron Building Hammersmith Hospital Du Cane Road London W12 ONN

Abstract

The Wnt signalling pathway is altered in tumours of many tissues, including the prostate. Activation of the Wnt signalling pathway leads to stabilisation of β-catenin and the formation of β -catenin/Tcf complexes, which can increase expression of genes involved in cell growth, such as cyclin D1. Interest in the role of β -catenin in prostate cancer (PCa) has developed following reports that it is mutated in 5% of primary prostate tumours, that it is aberrantly expressed in the cytoplasm and/or nucleus in up to 38% of advanced tumours, and that it can associate with the androgen receptor (AR), thereby enhancing AR-mediated transcription and reducing its ligand-specificity. The aim of this work was to understand the role of β -catenin and other intracellular components of the Wnt signalling pathway in PCa cells. Initially, a characterisation of a panel of PCa cell lines with respect to their ability to respond to activation of Wnt ligands was carried out and the crosstalk that occurs between the Wnt and AR signalling pathways was studied. Confirming the work of others, β -catenin was found highly expressed in PCa cells and endogenous β catenin/AR complexes were detected. In support of the hypothesis that β -catenin activates AR, overexpression of Axin, which promotes the degradation of β -catenin, reduced AR activity. In contrast, inhibition of β-catenin by RNAi increased rather than decreased AR activity, suggesting that the role of Axin in regulating AR is independent of β-catenin. Deletion analysis of Axin indicated that this inhibition involves the GSK3^β-binding domain of Axin. The GSK-3 inhibitors SB415286 and SB216763 also inhibited AR activity, as did expression of FRAT, a protein that sequesters GSK3B. Importantly, inhibition of GSK3B using chemical inhibitors reduced PCa cell growth. Moreover, overexpression of GSK3^β increased AR activity in PCa cells with low endogenous GSK3ß activity. Immunoprecipitation studies suggested that GSK3ß associates with AR and that the GSK3ß-binding domain of Axin prevents formation of this complex. Lastly, mutation analysis suggested that residue serine 94 is a potential GSK3ß phosphorylation site of AR and is required for the activation of AR by GSK3β. Taken together, my work has uncovered a novel role for GSK3^β in the regulation of AR signalling and a potential new therapeutic application for GSK-3 inhibitors in the treatment of PCa.

Contents

| Abstract | 2 |
|--|------|
| Contents | 3 |
| List of Figures | 7 |
| List of Tables | 9 |
| Acknowledgments | 10 |
| Abbreviations | 11 |
| 1 Terdara Juna di an | |
| | 14 |
| 1.1 The prostate | 14 |
| 1.1.1 Prostate anatomy and cells | 15 |
| 1.1.2 PCa stages and development | 16 |
| 1.2 Androgen production and action | 19 |
| 1.3 PCa therapy | 20 |
| 1.3.1 Androgen-ablation therapy | 20 |
| 1.3.2 Screening for PSA and other PCa markers | 22 |
| 1.3.3 Surgical and radiological treatments | 23 |
| 1.3.4 Radiation therapy | 23 |
| 1.3.5 Cytotoxic chemotherapy | . 24 |
| 1.4 The androgen-receptor | 24 |
| 1.4.1 AR structure | 25 |
| 1.4.2 AR coregulators | 27 |
| 1.4.3 AR phosphorylation | 29 |
| 1.4.4 Androgen-regulated genes | 32 |
| 1.5 Mechanism for AI disease development | 32 |
| 1.5.1 The hypersensitive pathway | 33 |
| 1.5.2 The promiscuous pathway | 34 |
| 1.5.3 The outlaw pathway | 36 |
| 1.5.4 The bypass pathway | 37 |
| 1.5.5 The lurker cell pathway | 38 |
| 1.6 The Wnt signalling pathway | 38 |
| 1.6.1 The Wnt signalling pathway-an outline | 38 |
| 1.6.2 The canonical pathway and Wnt-mediated transcription | 40 |

| 1.7 β-catenin and its destruction complex | 46 |
|--|--|
| 1.7.1 β -catenin | 46 |
| 1.7.2 APC | 51 |
| 1.7.3 Axin | 53 |
| 1.8 Glycogen Synthase Kinase-3 | 55 |
| 1.8.1 GSK-3 structure and phosphorylation sites | 55 |
| 1.8.2 GSK3 β in the Wnt signalling pathway | 57 |
| 1.8.3 Other pathways and substrates to GSK-3 | 58 |
| 1.8.4 GSK-3 in human disease | 61 |
| 1.8.5 Inhibition of GSK-3 | 62 |
| 1.8.6 GSK-3 regulation of AR and PCa | 64 |
| 1.9 The Wnt signalling pathway in human cancer | 65 |
| 1.9.1 Evidence for β -catenin/Wnt signalling involvement in PCa | 66 |
| 1.10 PCa cell lines studies | 70 |
| 1.11 The working hypothesis | 72 |
| 1.12 Aims | 72 |
| | |
| | |
| 2. Materials and Methods | 73 |
| 2. Materials and Methods2.1 Transformation | 73 73 |
| 2. Materials and Methods 2.1 Transformation 2.2 Minipreps | 73 73 73 |
| 2. Materials and Methods 2.1 Transformation 2.2 Minipreps 2.3 Maxipreps | 73 73 73 74 |
| 2. Materials and Methods 2.1 Transformation 2.2 Minipreps 2.3 Maxipreps 2.4 Mutagenesis | 73 73 73 74 75 |
| 2. Materials and Methods 2.1 Transformation 2.2 Minipreps 2.3 Maxipreps 2.4 Mutagenesis 2.5 DNA plasmid constructs | 73 73 74 75 75 |
| 2. Materials and Methods 2.1 Transformation 2.2 Minipreps 2.3 Maxipreps 2.4 Mutagenesis 2.5 DNA plasmid constructs 2.6 Cell lines, cell culture and growth assays | 73 73 74 75 75 77 |
| 2. Materials and Methods 2.1 Transformation 2.2 Minipreps 2.3 Maxipreps 2.4 Mutagenesis 2.5 DNA plasmid constructs 2.6 Cell lines, cell culture and growth assays 2.6.1 Cell culture | 73 73 74 75 75 77 77 |
| 2. Materials and Methods 2.1 Transformation 2.2 Minipreps 2.3 Maxipreps 2.4 Mutagenesis 2.5 DNA plasmid constructs 2.6 Cell lines, cell culture and growth assays 2.6.1 Cell culture 2.6.2 Cell growth assays | 73 73 74 75 75 77 77 77 |
| 2. Materials and Methods 2.1 Transformation 2.2 Minipreps 2.3 Maxipreps 2.4 Mutagenesis 2.5 DNA plasmid constructs 2.6 Cell lines, cell culture and growth assays 2.6.1 Cell culture 2.6.2 Cell growth assays 2.7 Transient transfections | 73 73 73 74 75 75 77 77 78 79 |
| 2. Materials and Methods 2.1 Transformation 2.2 Minipreps 2.3 Maxipreps 2.4 Mutagenesis 2.5 DNA plasmid constructs 2.6 Cell lines, cell culture and growth assays 2.6.1 <i>Cell culture</i> 2.6.2 <i>Cell growth assays</i> 2.7 Transient transfections 2.8 Transcription assays | 73 73 73 74 75 75 77 77 78 79 80 |
| 2. Materials and Methods 2.1 Transformation 2.2 Minipreps 2.3 Maxipreps 2.4 Mutagenesis 2.5 DNA plasmid constructs 2.6 Cell lines, cell culture and growth assays 2.6.1 Cell culture 2.6.2 Cell growth assays 2.7 Transient transfections 2.8 Transcription assays 2.9 Cell extraction | 73 73 73 74 75 75 77 77 78 79 80 81 |
| 2. Materials and Methods 2.1 Transformation 2.2 Minipreps 2.3 Maxipreps 2.4 Mutagenesis 2.5 DNA plasmid constructs 2.6 Cell lines, cell culture and growth assays 2.6.1 Cell culture 2.6.2 Cell growth assays 2.7 Transient transfections 2.8 Transcription assays 2.9 Cell extraction 2.9.1 Whole cell extracts | 73 73 73 74 75 75 77 78 79 80 81 81 |
| 2. Materials and Methods 2.1 Transformation 2.2 Minipreps 2.3 Maxipreps 2.4 Mutagenesis 2.5 DNA plasmid constructs 2.6 Cell lines, cell culture and growth assays 2.6.1 Cell culture 2.6.2 Cell growth assays 2.7 Transient transfections 2.8 Transcription assays 2.9 Cell extraction 2.9.1 Whole cell extracts 2.9.2 Non-nuclear and nuclear extracts | 73 73 73 74 75 75 77 78 79 80 81 81 |
| 2. Materials and Methods 2.1 Transformation 2.2 Minipreps 2.3 Maxipreps 2.4 Mutagenesis 2.5 DNA plasmid constructs 2.6 Cell lines, cell culture and growth assays 2.6.1 Cell culture 2.6.2 Cell growth assays 2.7 Transient transfections 2.8 Transcription assays 2.9 Cell extraction 2.9.1 Whole cell extracts 2.9.2 Non-nuclear and nuclear extracts 2.9.3 Cytosolic extracts | 73 73 73 74 75 75 77 78 79 80 81 81 81 82 |

| 2.11 | SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and Western Blotting | 83 |
|--------|--|-----|
| 2.12 | Antibodies | 84 |
| | | |
| 3. Re | sults | 85 |
| 3.1 C | hapter 1-Wnt and AR signalling pathways in PCa cells-Protein studies | 85 |
| 3.1.1 | Protein expression levels of Wnt signalling pathway components | 85 |
| 3.1.2 | AR protein expression levels | 89 |
| 3.1.3 | Stabilisation of β -catenin in PCa cells | 89 |
| 3.1.4 | AR and β -catenin protein complex in LNCaP cells | 92 |
| 3.1.5 | AR and β -catenin levels in nuclear and non-nuclear extracts in the presen | се |
| and a | ubsence of androgens | 94 |
| 3.2 (| Chapter 2-Wnt and AR signalling pathways in PCa cells-transcription | |
| studie | es | 96 |
| 3.2.1 | eta-catenin/Tcf signalling responses to expression of Wnt components in | |
| PCa | cells | 96 |
| 3.2.2 | The AR transcriptional response to regulation of Wnt signalling in | |
| PCa | cells | 104 |
| 3.3 (| Chapter 3- Regulation of AR transcriptional activity by GSK3 β and | |
| GSK: | 3β-binding proteins | 109 |
| 3.3.1 | Regulation of AR transcriptional activity by Axin deletion mutants | 109 |
| 3.3.2 | Regulation of AR transcriptional activity by FRAT | 114 |
| 3.3.3 | The effects of GSK3 β expression on AR activity in PCa cells | 116 |
| 3.4 (| Chapter 4-Inhibition of AR activity and PCa cell growth by GSK-3 | |
| inhib | itors | 119 |
| 3.4.1 | The effects of GSK-3 inhibitors on GSK-3 and β -catenin stabilisation | 119 |
| 3.4.2 | Regulation of AR transcriptional activity by GSK-3 inhibitors | 120 |
| 3.4.3 | PCa cell growth regulation by GSK-3 inhibitors | 124 |
| 3.5 C | hapter 5- Investigation of the mechanism by which GSK3 β regulates AR | |
| activi | ty | 127 |
| 3.5.1 | Regulation of AR protein level by GSK3 β | 127 |
| 3.5.2 | Association between AR and GSK3 β | 129 |
| 3.5.3 | Axin disrupts the complex between AR and GSK3 β | 131 |

3.5.4 Investigation of GSK3 β regulation of AR transcriptional activity through phosphorylation

| 4. Discussion | 139 |
|---|-----|
| 4.1 Characterisation of the Wnt and AR signalling pathways in PCa cell lines | 140 |
| 4.2 Regulation of AR transcriptional activity by GSK3β | 146 |
| 4.3 Inhibition of AR activity and PCa cell growth by GSK-3 inhibitors | 148 |
| 4.4 GSK3 β associates with the AR | 151 |
| 4.5 GSK3 β regulation of AR transcriptional activity through phosphorylation | 153 |
| 4.6 Possible mechanisms for the regulation of AR signalling by GSK3 β | 157 |
| 4.7 Summary | 161 |
| | |

5. References

162

133

6. Appendix- Mazor, M., Kawano, Y., Zhu, H., Waxman, J., and Kypta, R.M.
Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 represses androgen receptor activity and prostate cancer cell growth. Oncogene, Oct 2004. 23(47): 7882-7892
194

List of Figures

Introduction-

| Figure 1a. | Prostate anatomy. | 18 |
|------------|---|-----|
| Figure 1b. | PCa progression from pre-malignancy to malignancy. | 18 |
| Figure 2. | Androgen production. | 20 |
| Figure 3. | AR structure and phosphorylation sites. | 27. |
| Figure 4. | AR mutations found in PCa. | 36 |
| Figure 5a. | Wnt signalling pathway components. | 43 |
| Figure 5b. | The canonical Wnt signalling pathway. | 44 |
| Figure 6a. | GSK-3 structure and phosphorylation sites. | 57 |
| Figure 6b. | The chemical structure of SB415286 and SB216763. | 64 |
| Figure 7. | A summary of β -catenin mutations found in PCa. | 70 |
| | | |

Results-

| Figure 8 (a-b). A comparison of β -catenin protein levels among PCa cell lines | |
|--|----|
| and the colon cancer cell line, HCT116. | 87 |
| Figure 8 (c-e). A comparison of GSK3 β and Tcf-4 protein levels among PCa | |
| cell lines and the colon cancer cell line, HCT116. | 88 |
| Figure 9. A comparison of AR protein levels among PCa cell lines and the | |
| colon cancer cells, HCT116. | 90 |
| Figure 10. LiCl treatment and Wnt stimulation stabilise β -catenin in PC3 cells | |
| but have no effect in LNCaP cells. | 91 |
| Figure 11. Detection of AR/ β -catenin complexes in LNCaP cells is increased | |
| in the presence of R1881. | 93 |
| Figure 12 . AR and β -catenin localisation to the nucleus in PCa cells. | 95 |
| Figure 13. β -catenin/Tcf-4 signalling response to Wnt expression in PCa cells. | 97 |
| Figure 14. Tcf-4 restores β -catenin/Tcf-4-dependent transcription in LNCaP | |
| cells. | 97 |
| Figure 15. (a) Activation of β -catenin/Tcf-4-dependent transcription by | |
| expression of a constitutively-active Wnt receptor. (b) Activation of | |
| β -catenin/Tcf-4-dependent transcription by overexpression of β -catenin. | 99 |
| Figure 16. Depletion of endogenous β -catenin inhibits | |

| β -catenin/Tcf-4-dependent transcription in HCT116 and PCa cells. | 101 |
|--|-----|
| Figure 17. Ligand-dependent AR activity repression of β -catenin/Tcf-4-dependent | ent |
| transcription in PCa cells. | 103 |
| Figure 18. Wnt expression does not affect AR-dependent transcription in | |
| PCa cells. | 106 |
| Figure 19. β -catenin overexpression does not affect AR-dependent | |
| transcription in LAPC-4 (a) and CWR-R1 (b) cells. | 106 |
| Figure 20 (a-b). Depletion of endogenous β -catenin does not inhibit AR-depend | ent |
| transcription in PCa cells. | 107 |
| Figure 20 (c). Depletion of endogenous β -catenin does not inhibit AR-dependent | ıt |
| transcription in PCa cells. | 108 |
| Figure 21. Cartoon of Axin constructs used in transient transfections. | 111 |
| Figure 22. (a) AR-dependent transcription is inhibited by Axin overexpression. | |
| (b) GSK3 β interaction with Axin is necessary for the inhibition of AR activity. | 112 |
| Figure 23 . GSK3 β interaction with Axin is sufficient for the inhibition of AR | |
| activity. | 113 |
| Figure 24. (a) FRAT activates β -catenin/Tcf-4-dependent transcription | |
| in HEK 293 cells. (b) FRAT represses AR-dependent transcription | |
| in CWR-R1 cells. | 115 |
| Figure 25 (a-b). GSK3 β overexpression increases AR- dependent transcription | |
| in LNCaP cells. | 117 |
| Figure 25 (c). GSK3 β overexpression increases AR- dependent transcription | |
| in PC3 cells. | 118 |
| Figure 26 (a-b) . (a) Inhibition of GSK-3 leads to β -catenin stabilisation | |
| in 22Rv1 cells. (b) Changes in serine and tyrosine phosphorylation of GSK-3 | |
| in 22Rv1 cells. | 121 |
| Figure 26 (c). Activation of β -catenin/Tcf-4-dependent transcription by | |
| GSK-3 inhibitors in CWR-R1 cells. | 122 |
| Figure 27. Inhibition of AR-dependent transcription by GSK-3 inhibitors | |
| in CWR-R1 cells. | 123 |
| Figure 28. Chemical inhibition of GSK-3 inhibits CWR-R1 cell growth | |
| in a dose-dependent manner. | 125 |
| Figure 29. Chemical inhibitors of GSK-3 inhibit CWR-R1 cell growth | |

| over a period of 6 days. | 125 |
|---|-----|
| Figure 30. (a) Inhibition of GSK-3 reduces AR-positive PCa cell growth. | |
| (b) Inhibition of GSK-3 reduces AD and AI cell growth in 22Rv1 cells. | 126 |
| Figure 31. Inhibition of GSK-3 leads to a reduction in AR protein levels. | 128 |
| Figure 32 . AR and GSK3 β form a complex <i>in vivo</i> in COS7 cells. | 130 |
| Figure 33. Detection of endogenous complex between AR and GSK3 β | |
| in 22Rv1 cells. | 130 |
| Figure 34. Association between AR and GSK3 β is disrupted by AX2 | |
| overexpression. | 132 |
| Figure 35. (a) phosphorylation site mutations in H874Y AR do not affect AR | |
| hormone-dependent protein stabilisation. (b) Phosphorylation site mutations | |
| in AR do not affect ligand-dependent AR activity in PC3 cells. | 135 |
| Figure 36. GSK3β activation of AR requires S94 in PC3 cells expressing | |
| H874Y AR. | 136 |
| Figure 37. (a) Phosphorylation site mutations in w.t AR do not affect | |
| AR-hormone dependent protein stabilisation. (b-c) GSK3ß activation of AR | |
| requires S94 in PC3 cells expressing w.t AR. | 138 |

List of tables

| Table 1- A summary of reports on AR phosphorylation sites (in Introduction) | 31 |
|---|----|
| Table 2- Wnt-mediated target genes (in Introduction) | 45 |
| Table 3- β catenin mutations found in human cancers (<i>in Introduction</i>) | 50 |
| Table 4- PCa cell lines used in this study (in Materials and Methods) | 79 |

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Robert Kypta for all the help and supervision throughout my PhD, from technical demonstrations to complex molecular explanations. And for always being there even from far away...

I would also like to thank my colleague Yoshiaki Kawano for a lot of technical support in the lab and good advice about my project. Also, for helping me with the maintenance of the lab in my final year of PhD.

I am also very grateful to Jonathan Waxman who made this work possible and for taking care of the lab.

Many thanks to Charlotte Bevan for technical and project-related advice and for providing plasmids and primers.

A special thanks to Greg Brooke, who is always there!.. With technical advice, sharing information and most importantly his friendly attitude and willingness to help.

Lastly, I would like to thank Stewart for his mental support and for putting up with me and my silly moods especially in the last few months.

Abbreviations

,

| AD | Androgen-dependent |
|-------|--|
| AF-1 | Activation function-1 |
| AF-2 | Activation function-2 |
| AI | Androgen-independent |
| APC | Adenomatous polyposis coli |
| AR | Androgen receptor |
| ARE | Androgen responsive element |
| ATP | Adenosine triphosphate |
| BPH | Benign prostatic hyperplasia |
| BSA | Bovine serum albumin |
| CBP | CREB-binding protein |
| CDK | Cyclin dependent kinase |
| CKI | Casein kinase I |
| CREB | cAMP-response element binding protein |
| CSS | Charcoal-Stripped Serum |
| DBD | DNA-binding domain |
| DHT | Dihydrotestosterone |
| Dkk | Dickkopf |
| DMEM | Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium |
| DNA | Deoxyribose nucleic acid |
| Dvl | Dishevelled |
| EDTA | Ethylenediamine-Tetraacetic Acid |
| EGF | Epidermal growth factor |
| ER | Estrogen receptor |
| FBS | Foetal Bovine Serum |
| FGF | Fibroblast growth factor |
| FRAT | Frequently rearranged in advanced T-cell lymphomas |
| Fz | Frizzled |
| GBP | GSK-3-binding protein |
| GFP | Green fluorescent protein |
| GR | Glucorticoid receptor |
| GSK-3 | Glycogen synthase kinase-3 |

| HAT | Histone acetyltransferase activity |
|-------------------------|---|
| HCC | Hepatocellular carcinomas |
| Hsp | Heat shock protein |
| HMG | High mobility group |
| IGF | Insulin-like growth factor |
| IMDM | Iscove's Modified DMEM |
| IMEM | Richter's Improved MEM |
| IP | Immunoprecipitation |
| JNK | c-Jun N-terminal kinase |
| KDa | Kilodaltons |
| KGF | Keratinocyte growth factor |
| LBD | Ligand binding domain |
| LDL | Low density lipoprotein |
| Lef | Lymphocyte enhancer binding factor |
| LH | Leuteinizing hormone |
| LHR | Leuteinizing hormone receptor |
| LHRH | Leuteinizing hormone-releasing hormone |
| LHRHR | Leuteinizing hormone-releasing hormone receptor |
| LiCl | Lithium chloride |
| LRP | LDL receptor related protein |
| МАРК | Mitogen activated protein kinase |
| MMTV-Luc | Mouse mammary tumour virus promoter-driven luciferase |
| NLS | Nuclear localisation signal |
| NP-40 | Nonidet P40 |
| OT-Luc | OT promotor-driven luciferase |
| PAGE | Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis |
| PBS | Phosphate Buffered Saline |
| PCa | Prostate cancer |
| PI3K | Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase |
| PI(3,4,5)P ₃ | Phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphate |
| PIN | Prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia |
| PKA | Protein kinase A |
| PKB | Protein kinase B |
| РКС | Protein kinase C |

| PMA | Phrobol 12-myristate 13-acetate |
|-----------|---|
| PP2A | Protein phosphatase 2A |
| PR | Progesterone receptor |
| PSA | Prostate specific antigen |
| PTEN | Phosphatase and tensin homology |
| RAR | All trans-retinoic acid receptor |
| RGS | Regulation of G-protein signalling |
| RNA | Ribose nucleic acid |
| RNAi | RNA interference |
| RSV-β-Gal | Rous sarcoma virus promoter-driven β -galactosidase |
| SDS | Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate |
| sFRP | Secreted Frizzled related proteins |
| SRC-1 | Steroid receptor coactivator-1 |
| STAT | Signal transducers and activators of transcription |
| TBS | Tris Buffered Saline |
| Tcf | T-cell factor |
| TGF | Transferring growth factor |
| TR | Thyroid hormone receptor |
| βTrCP | β-tarnsducin repeat-containing protein |
| VDR | Vitamin D ₃ receptor |
| Wnt | Wingless type protein |
| w.t | Wild-type |

1. Introduction

Carcinoma of the prostate is one of the leading causes of male cancer-related deaths in western countries. Worlwide, more than 670,000 men were diagnosed with prostate cancer (PCa) in 2002 (Parkin et al., 2005). Most prostate tumours are initially androgen dependent, and androgen ablation treatment usually leads to tumour regression. However, the cancer often recurs despite the continued treatment, and no current therapy has been shown to increase survival once androgen deprivation is no longer effective. The increase in the number of PCa cases in the past century can be attributed to several reasons- 1. Differentiation of PCa from other types of urinary obstruction since early 1900s. 2. Rapid increase in PCa incidence with age compare to any other cancer type, combined with increase in average life expectancy over the past century. 3. Western lifestyle- the variation in incidence rates across the world indicates that some environmental and dietary factors are likely to be involved. The disease is significantly lower in asian populations and it is increased in men who have emigrated to western nations. The increased incidence has lead to significant changes in the diagnosis and treatment of PCa (reviewed in Denmeade and Isaacs, 2002).

<u>1.1 The prostate</u>

The prostate is a male accessory reproductive gland whose development begins in fetal life and is completed at sexual maturity. Its main function is to produce seminal fluid that expels into the urethra during ejaculation. Normal development of prostatic ducts requires many co-ordinated cellular processes including ductal branching morphogenesis, epithelial proliferation, ductal canalisation, and epithelial and mesenchymal differentiation. The first indication of prostate formation occurs during week 10 of embryonic development when epithelial buds are induced in the prostatic urethra. Then levels of testosterone rise and cells differentiate into the different cell types. Maturation of the gland continues while testosterone levels are high, and as levels fall during the third trimester the gland enters a quiescent state. This state persists until puberty when testosterone levels increase again, the epithelium proliferates and the gland folds to its mature state. The prostate doubles in size during this time, androgen receptors (AR's) are expressed by the epithelial cells and

the full secretory phenotype is established. By the age of 45 to 50, testosterone levels decline again and the prostate enters a period of involution. After this age, atrophy of the gland may continue, though commonly, benign prostatic hyperplasia (BPH) occurs. The initial developmental processes are dependent on androgens, which act through the mesenchymal cells. The epithelium, in turn, stimulates the mesenchymal cells to differentiate into smooth muscle and fibroblasts. Later in development androgens act directly on epithelium to induce secretory protein production (Cunha, 2004).

1.1.1 Prostate anatomy and cells

The prostate is located between the bladder and the levator ani muscle. The prostatic urethra runs through the centre of the gland and bends anteriorly at the verumontanum. The paired ejaculatory ducts enter the base of the gland and join the urethra at the verumontanum (for anatomical relations of the prostate gland, see Figure 1a)(Colville, 2004).

In contrast to the rodent, the human prostate is not subdivided into lobes (dorsal, ventral, lateral), but instead organised into zones- the central zone (CZ), the peripheral zone (PZ) and the transition zone (TZ). The organisation of the prostate was defined by McNeal, based on embryological findings, response to oestrogens and susceptibility to disease (McNeal, 1972). PZ in the normal gland comprises the majority of the prostatic volume (65%), and is characterised by small, simple, acinar spaces lined by tall columnar secretory epithelial cells. The second largest component of the prostate is the CZ, which takes 25% of the volume. The CZ surrounds the ejaculatory ducts and makes up the majority of the prostatic base. It consists of large acini that are lined by low columnar cuboidal epithelial cells and small smooth-muscle stroma cells. The TZ is the smallest zone (5-10%), and is composed of two bilaterally symmetrical lobules found on the two sides of the prostatic urethra. TZ is separated from the other two zones by a narrow band of fibromuscular stroma, which extends from the posterior urethra to the anterior of the gland. The TZ acini are similar to the PZ acini and the stroma cells resemble the stroma cells of the CZ. Histologically, the differences between the zones are subtle in the absence of disease. The clinical significance of zonal anatomy is important in terms of the development of both BPH and PCa. BPH usually originates within the

TZ, and then expands through the PZ. In contrast, even though malignancy can affect all three zones, the majority of cancers originate in the PZ.

The mature prostate is made of epithelial cells and fibromuscular stroma cells. The two cell types maintain an important cross talk that regulates the growth, development and hormone response of the prostate. The epithelium, which gives rise to prostate adenocarcinoma, has three types of cells; basal, luminal secretory and neuroendocrine cells. The luminal cells secrete components of prostatic fluid, and prostatic specific antigen (PSA). They also express AR and are dependent on androgens for survival. The basal cells secrete components of the basement membrane, express low levels of AR and are androgen-independent. The function of the neuroendocrine cells is mainly unknown. It is believed that they induce proliferation of adjacent cells by secretion of neuropeptides (van Leenders and Schalken, 2001). The stroma is composed of fibroblasts, smooth muscle cells, endothelial cells, dendritic cells, nerves and some infiltrating cells and lymphocytes. Androgens regulate the expression of growth factors in prostate stromal cells, which usually have a positive effect on epithelial cell proliferation. KGF (keratinocyte growth factor), for example, can induce growth and is upregulated by androgens. Other growth factors that affect the epithelial cells in a paracrine manner include IGF-II (insulin-like growth factor-II), FGF (fibroblast growth factor), TGFa and TGF β (transferring growth factor α and β) and the nerve growth factor. TGF β inhibits epithelial cell growth and is downregulated by androgens (reviewed in Feldman and Feldman, 2001).

1.1.2 PCa stages and development

The ability to recognise premalignant change is important for the cure of PCa (for stages of PCa progression, see Figure 1b). BPH is a differentiated nodular hyperplastic growth that affects the prostate and usually originates from the TZ. BPH occurs in 50% of men between the age of 51-60 years old and increases further with age (Berry *et al.*, 1984). Most men who undergo examination will harbour histological BPH. In the benign prostate, the epithelial cells consist of two cellular layers; basal and luminal cells. This important feature helps to distinguish benign from malignant tissue, as carcinoma of the prostate always devoid of the basal-cell layer.

The earliest stage of malignancy is detected by lesions exhibiting nuclear pleomorphism and nucleolar prominence similar to that seen in PCa. This precursor of malignancy is called prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia (PIN). TZ cancers are not usually related to PIN and on the other hand PIN is very frequently found adjacent to carcinomas in the PZ. Apart from nuclear pleomorphism, PIN also shares other characteristics of malignancy such as loss of basal layer continuity (Le Marchand *et al.*, 1994) and production of acid mucin (Whittemore *et al.*, 1995). In common with other intraepithelial neoplasias, PIN is divided into low and high grade neoplasia based on cytological features. High-grade PIN lesions are diagnosed by increasing proliferation and cytological changes such as nucleolar enlargement (Kirby Roger S, 2001; Colville, 2004).

Another lesion type which has been suggested to represent a premalignant change is atypical adenomatous hyperplasia (AAH). This entity is focally associated with disruption of the basal-cell layer.

PIN (and possibly also BPH and AAH) can progress to a localised prostate tumour (Colville, 2004). As all other classical adenocarcinomas, prostate adenocarcinoma is made up of epithelial cells with different degrees of grandular architecture. There is a departure from two layers of cells, and the basal-cell layer is absent. There is also an infiltrative growth pattern that makes it difficult to determine the edge and origin of the tumour. Another common feature of prostate carcinomas is enlarged pleomorphic nuclei and prominence of nucleoli (Kirby Roger S, 2001). Invasion and metastasis of PCa cells involves processes like matrix remodelling and cell-cell detachment and attachment like in other invasive malignancies. In addition to these processes, PCa cells need to be able to grow and survive in the absence of the secreted stromal factors. Large prostate-confined tumours and lymph node metastases do not have a lot of stromal cells and are less dependent on stromal growth factors. PCa typically metastasises to the bone. This could be due to the fact that the bone stroma produces androgen resistance factors that induce growth and survival of the cancer. This possibility might explain why tumours in patients with metastatic disease continue to grow and migrate even with androgen ablation therapy (reviewed in Jenster, 1999).

The grade of malignancy has been an important prognostic marker in PCa diagnosis and treatment. A number of grading systems have been established, the most widely used is the Gleason, which is based on microscopy findings that define

the pattern of the tumour. A 5-step grading system is used, and the two most prominent grades are added together as the 'Gleason score', which ranges from 2-10. The Gleason system offers significant prognostic information and was found to be reproducible between pathologists (Miller, 1990; Gleason, 1992).

Figure 1a- Prostate anatomy



Fig 1a. Anatomical relations of the prostate gland (viewed from the side). Taken from Prostate Cancer, Clinical and Scientific Aspects -Bridging the Gap. Edited by Abel PD and Lalani El-Nasir (2004) (Colville, 2004)

Figure 1b-PCa progression from pre-malignancy to malignancy



Fig 1b. Possible sequential changes occurring during PCa progression. Abnormal growth in the normal prostate can lead to progression of different levels of malignancy. PIN (prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia), BPH (benign prostatic hyperplasia) and AAH (atypical adenomatous hyperplasia) are the earliest stages of malignancy. These can develop to a localised tumour, metastatic tumour and then to androgen-independent (AI) tumour. Red arrows indicate equivocal links.

1.2 Androgen production and action

Androgens bind to AR in the hypothalamus and stimulate production of luteinizing hormone (LH)- releasing hormone (LHRH) (for androgen production cascade, see Figure 2). LHRH travels to the pituitary where it interacts with LHRH receptors and stimulates the release of LH. Binding of LH to the LH receptors expressed on the leydig cells of the testis induces the production of the main circulating androgen, testosterone, by stimulating steriodogenesis via a cAMP-mediated pathway. In this pathway the parental compound cholesterol is hydrolysed to various androgenic steroids in several enzymatic stages, which end in the conversion of androstenedione to testosterone by the enzyme 17β-Hydroxylase (Robinson S, 2002). Increased testosterone levels can also decrease LHRH and LH production through negativefeedback loops and in this way maintaining the circulating testosterone at physiological levels (reviewed in Denmeade and Isaacs, 2002). Testosterone circulates in the blood, where it is bound to albumin and sex-hormone-binding globulin (SHBG) and only a small fraction is dissolved freely in the serum. When free, testosterone enters the prostate cells and 90% of it is converted to dihydrotestosterone (DHT) by the 5α -reductase enzymes. Among the two enzyme isoforms, 5α -reductase type II is expressed in the male urogenital tract, is active in the prostate and crucial for prostate development and function. DHT is the more active form of testosterone with a fivefold higher affinity for AR. Although testosterone is primarily secreted by the testis, it is also produced by peripheral conversion of adrenal steroids. The adrenals secrete large amounts of the inactive steroid dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), its sulfate DHEAS, and the weak androgen androstenedione. These precursors can be converted to testosterone in most peripheral tissues including the prostate (reviewed in Jenster, 1999).

19

Figure 2-Androgen production



Fig 2. Androgen production cascade. Stimulation of luteinizing hormone (LH)-releasing hormone (LHRH) in the hypothalamus starts a cascade of events through the pituitary, the testis and ends up in prostate cells where dihydrotestosterone (DHT) binds to AR and initiates transcription of AR target genes. The adrenal glands are also able to secrete androgens. Androgens can also inhibit LHRH and LH production through negative-feedback loops. LHRHR= luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone receptor, LHR= luteinizing hormone receptor.

1.3 PCa therapy

1.3.1 Androgen-ablation therapy

As in normal prostate development, primary prostatic cancers are largely dependent on androgens for growth. Therefore, androgen ablation and antiandrogen therapy have been standard treatments for patients with metastatic PCa. In the 1940s Charles Huggins showed that orchiectomy (removal of the testis) induced the regression of PCa. Since then, androgen-ablation has been the main therapeutic intervention for the treatment of PCa. However, although orchiectomy is effective in depleting androgens, it causes significant cardiovascular and thromboembolic toxicity. In addition, androgens can still be produced by the adrenal gland and maintain a low level of androgens in the serum. Therefore, during the 1960-1980s new approaches that either block adrenal androgen production or inhibit androgen interaction in the target tissue were developed. These include: chronic administration of LHRH agonists (and LHRH antagonists), AR antagonists, suppression of adrenal steroidogenesis, treatment with 5α -Reductase inhibitors and total and rogen-ablation by a combination treatment of anti-androgens and LHRH agonists. 1. LHRH agonists produce inhibitory effects and downregulate the pituitary receptors for LHRH (for example; leuprolide, nafarelin, buserelin). This leads to supression of LH (and the follicle stimulating hormone (FSH)) release and inhibition of testosterone secretion from the testes. However, treatment with LHRH agonists causes side effects such as hot flushes, loss of libido and impotence. LHRH antagonists that immediately antagonise LH release, avoiding the initial stimulation of testosterone (known as 'testosterone flare') were also developed (for example; cetrorelix, abarelix, orgalutran). 2. AR antagonists (anti-androgens) competitively inhibit the binding of DHT or testosterone to AR. However, anti-androgens also bind to receptors that are expressed in the hypothalamus and pituitary and therefore block the negative feedback route of androgens, leading to increase in serum testosterone levels. One steroidal anti-androgen, cyproterone, overcame this problem by adding an acetate group. This creates a binding site for the progesterone receptor in the pituitary and thereby indirectly decreases testosterone levels by inhibiting the release of LH and also directly acts as an anti-androgen in the prostate. The limitations of this drug are loss of libido and sexual potency. Non-steroidal anti-androgens that do not affect libido and potency were later developed (for example; flutamide, bicalutamide, nilutamide), and these are the main antiandrogens in use today. 3. Compounds that suppress adrenal steroidogenesis and subsequent androgen production are used as second-line hormone therapy (for example, ketoconazole). 4. 5α -Reductase inhibitors block the conversion of testosterone to DHT (for example, finasteride). 5. Total androgen-ablation combines anti-androgens with LHRH agonists. The idea of this therapy is to reduce both the amount of testosterone released from the testis using LHRH agonists and neutralise androgens produced by the adrenal with antiandrogens. Although the combined treatment is more effective than any of the monotherapy treatments with advanced cancer, it has not yet been shown to prolong survival.

These treatments benefit 60-80% of patients; however, the duration of response is only 1-2 years. Androgen-ablation therapy provides significantly effective therapy for most patients with androgen-dependent (AD) cancer. However, these cancers eventually become androgen-independent (AI), progress and metastasise. One of the main reasons for that is the fact that prostate tumours are composed of a heterogeneous population of cells that are either dependent or independent of androgens. The AI cells will keep progressing and find ways to grow in the presence of low levels of androgens therefore, treatment can never eliminate this type of cells and cure the cancer completely. The strategy taken today is to minimise the duration of androgen-ablation by delaying therapy until patients have clear evidence of metastases or by treating on an intermittent basis to delay the transition to an AI carcinoma. In addition to that, since the realisation that androgen-ablation has failed to be totally curative, two alternative approaches have been taken. First, to find better treatment for systemic disease. Second, to develop a method to aggressively screen for PCa in early stages where the cancer is still localised in the prostate and potentially easier to treat (reviewed in Feldman and Feldman, 2001; Denmeade and Isaacs, 2002).

1.3.2 Screening for PSA and other PCa markers

PSA was first described in 1971. It is a serine protease that is encoded by an androgen-responsive gene located on chromosome 19q13.3-13.4 (Riegman *et al.*, 1989). It is secreted from the prostate epithelial cells and its main function is to liquefy human semen through its proteolitic action. After the discovery that PSA levels are higher in patients with PCa, a limit of 4 ng/ml serum concentration for men was established. PSA serum levels higher than 4 ng/ml are considered to be an indicator for the presence of PCa and require further clinical evaluation and treatment. Measuring PSA levels combined with digital rectal examination has become a useful diagnostic tool for detecting the presence of PCa. However, the PSA test was revealed to have sensitivity problems. One of them is that serum PSA levels can be elevated as a result of conditions other than PCa, such as BPH and the

prostatic inflammatory condition, prostatitis. In addition, 20-30% of men with PCa have serum PSA levels in the normal range, resulting in undiagnosed disease. An interesting study also revealed that preoperative PSA levels do not correlate with cancer volume and Gleason grade. Despite the disadvantages of the PSA test, it is currently the best clinical marker available for PCa and is approved for monitoring disease recurrence and treatment. Many studies are underway in search of a better marker for PCa. These markers are required to show some level of correlation with one or more of the following factors: presence of PCa, disease progression, cancer recurrence, prediction of response to therapy or disease-free survival. The ideal candidate for detection of disease would be one that is easily accessible in biological fluids such as human serum, urine or prostate fluid and is able to distinguish between normal, BPH, PIN and cancerous prostate tissues. Examples for potential markers to date include: chromogranin A (GRN-A), glutathione S-transferase π 1 (GSTP1), prostate stem cell antigen (PSCA), prostate-specific membrane antigen (PSMA) and telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT) (reviewed in Tricoli *et al.*, 2004).

1.3.3 Surgical and radiological treatments

During the past several years the surgical techniques used in localised PCa treatment have significantly improved. Various surgical procedures to remove the prostate (radical perineal prostatectomy) have been reported to be in use since the early 1900s. However, they were not commonly used as they left most of the patients impotent. In 1983, a new technique was developed on the basis of anatomical approach – radical retropubic prostatectomy. This approach avoids injury of nerves around the penis and therefore does not affect sexual potency. This procedure was developed at the same time as the development of the PSA screening test as well as the use of biopsies obtained from patients. Together, early detection methods have lead to an increase in number of patients who were treated with prostatectomy and this has prevented death especially in men under the age of 75 (reviewed in Denmeade and Isaacs, 2002).

1.3.4 Radiation therapy

Brachytherapy is a radiation therapy where the patient's prostate is implanted with radioactive seeds that deliver radiation in order to destroy the tumour cells. The radiation is delivered over a short distance, thereby minimising the amount of radiation delivered to the normal tissue. Since 1983 this technique was also used under the guidance of transrectal ultrasonography and today is still used as a common approach for treating localised PCa.

Another type of radiation therapy is external beam radiotherapy. This therapy is applied from outside to a defined area of the body. The use of this technique increased in the 1950s when higher-energy cobalt machines that could penetrate to deeper levels became available. Today improved radiographic and data processing capabilities that help planning treatment are available. This allows the prostate to be treated with a high dose of radiation while sparing the surrounding normal tissue. The standard care today is to incorporate androgen-ablation therapy before, during and after radiation in order to improve survival and delay relapse time (reviewed in Denmeade and Isaacs, 2002).

1.3.5 Cytotoxic chemotherapy

The interest in cytotoxic chemotherapy started after the realisation that many patients fail androgen-ablation therapy and the need for treatment of hormone-refractory PCa has increased. Although studies on chemotherapies are still underway there are agents that are already in use and have been proved to be effective in treating hormone-refractory PCa. The main indicator of response in recent studies has been the fall in PSA levels in treated patients. Using this criterion on a number of chemotherapy combinations resulted in a more than 50% decline in serum PSA levels in a significant proportion of patients. The approved chemotherapeutic combination for metastatic disease today is mitoxantrone and corticosteroid. More combinations that have shown a significant survival advantage and fall in serum PSA are still being studied (reviewed in Denmeade and Isaacs, 2002).

<u>1.4 The androgen-receptor</u>

AR is an 110 kDa AD transcription factor and is a member of the nuclear receptor superfamily. This family includes receptors for steroids (androgen, estrogen, progesterone, glucocorticoid and mineralocorticoid), retinoids, thyroid hormone, vitamin D, fatty acids and other small hydrophobic molecules. The nuclear receptors function as ligand-inducible transcription factors that regulate the expression of

target genes in response to ligands specific to each receptor. The receptors can be subdivided to three different types; Type 1- the classical steroid receptors such as AR, estrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR), glucocorticoid receptor (GR) and mineralocorticoid receptor (MR). They form ligand-induced homodimers and bind to inverted repeat DNA response elements of target genes. Type 2- these include the receptors for vitamin D₃ (VDR), thyroid hormone (TR), all trans- retinoic acid (RAR), and the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPAR). The DNA response elements of this group are characterised as direct repeats. Type 3- the orphan receptors such as testicular orphan receptor 2 (TR2), TR4, and chicken ovalbumin upstream promotor transcription factor (COUP-TF). The ligands for these receptors remain unclear (Giguere, 1999). Post-translational modifications such as phosphorylation, acetylation and ubiquitilation have been shown to modify the ligand-induced activity of steroid receptors. However, some nuclear receptors can become active without being modified (Fu et al., 2003b; Nawaz and O'Malley, 2004). Prostate epithelial cells express multiple members of the nuclear receptor superfamily that regulate transcription of genes involved in proliferation and differentiation. Interestingly, the VDR ligand 1α , 25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ has antiproliferative effects in prostate epithelial cells. These effects were retained in some PCa cell lines due to cellular resistance and altered levels of the corepressor SMRT (silencing mediator for retinoic and thyroid hormone receptor), suggesting a role for 1 α , 25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ in prostate tumour growth (Peehl *et al.*, 1994; Campbell et al., 1997; Khanim et al., 2004). Although AR normally functions as a homodimer, it can sometimes be found in a heterodimer with TR4 (Lee et al., 1999), or ERa (Panet-Raymond et al., 2000). In these cases, however, AR transcriptional activity was found to be reduced (reviewed in Heinlein and Chang, 2002).

1.4.1 AR structure

The family of nuclear receptors, including AR, share a unique modular structure that can be divided into four functional domains (for AR structure, see Figure 3): the N-terminal domain which harbours transcription activation functions, the centrally located DNA-binding domain (DBD), hinge region, and the C-terminal ligand-binding domain (LBD). Two transcriptional activation function domains were found on the nuclear receptors; the N-terminal activation function-1 (AF-1) is a ligand-

independent domain, and can create a constitutively-active receptor when separated from the LBD. The ligand-dependent AF-2 domain is located on the LBD and mutations in this region dramatically reduce transcriptional activity in response to ligand. Both the DBD and LBD share homology among the different receptors. The N-terminal domain and the hinge region are more receptor-specific due to variations in size and differences in the primary sequence. In the case of AR, there are two discrete regions within the N-terminal domain that contribute to transactivation. The first is a region located between amino acids 141 and 338, which contains a polymorphic polyglutamine repeat that ranges from 8 to 31 in normal individuals. Longer polyglutamine tract length results in decreased AR activity in vitro and causes infertility and impaired spermatogenesis. If the tract expands to more than 40 repeats it can lead to some rare neuromuscular disorders. In addition, the polyglutamine tract forms part of the interaction surface for the AR coactivator ARA24 (AR-associated protein 24 KDa). In contrast, shorter AR is more active and associated with growth advantage. The second important region within the AR Nterminal domain is the AF-1 domain, which is located between amino acids 360-494. A specific motif within the AF-1, 433(WXXLF)473, has been shown to interact with the AR LBD. The AR N/C-terminal interaction is important in stabilising the bound ligand and known to be facilitated by several coactivators. Possibly, the AF-1 domain interacts with these coactivators and provides the interaction surface for the AR C-terminal domain. AF-1 was also found active in AR fragments that lack the LBD domain, therefore it is thought to be able to function on its own by recruiting coactivators or transcriptional factors (Jenster et al., 1995).

The hinge region links the DBD and LBD. AR, as all other steroid receptors, has a ligand-dependent nuclear localisation signal (NLS) located between the C-terminus of the DBD and the hinge region (aa 617-633).

The DBD of all nuclear receptors consists of two zinc fingers that recognise specific DNA consensus sequences. AR binds as a dimer to the consensus inverted repeat androgen response elements, GGTACAnnnTGTTCT, as well as to other elements. Some coregulators affect AR activity by modulating its ability to bind to this sequence. The coactivator receptor accessory factor (RAF), for example, binds to the AR N-terminal domain and in this way enhances AR DNA binding. Corepressors can inhibit AR transactivation by binding to the AR DBD and preventing its binding to DNA (for example, calreticulin).

The LBD of AR, in addition to forming the ligand-binding pocket, mediates the interaction between AR and heat shock proteins (Hsp's) and interacts with the N-terminal domain. X-ray crystallographic studies indicate that the LBD among the nuclear receptors has a similar structure, with the ligand-binding pocket formed by 11-13 α -helices. When ligand binds to the LBD domain a conformational change is induced in which helix 12 and the AF-2 domain fold back across the ligand-binding pocket. In addition, the N/C-terminal domain interaction stabilises helix 12 across the ligand-binding pocket, resulting in a reduced dissociation rate of bound androgen. Although the crystal structure of AR suggests that ligand-binding induces a similar LBD conformational change as occurs in ER, it does not generate the same coregulator interaction surface and there are distinct differences between the coregulator interaction domains of AR and ER. This is possibly due to the interaction that occurs between the AR N/C-terminal domains, which create a specific coregulator interaction surface (reviewed in Heinlein and Chang, 2002).



Figure 3-AR structure and phosphorylation sites

Fig 3. AR structure and phosphorylation sites. AR domains represented include the N-terminus with the glutamine repeat regions (Glu repeats), activation function domains-1 (AF1), the DNA binding domain (DBD) with the nuclear localisation signal (NLS, residues 613-633), the ligand binding domain (LBD, residues 666-919) including activation function domains-2 (AF2) and the hinge region (residues 623-666). Phosphorylation sites are represented as P, and with the residue number above.

1.4.2 AR coregulators

In its basal state, AR, like other nuclear receptors, is bound to a large heterocomplex that contains Hsp's, immunophilins and other proteins (such as the FK51 and FK52 binding proteins, CyP-40 and p23) (reviewed in Pratt and Toft, 1997). Some of these

proteins have chaperone functions (e.g Hsp90 and Hsp70), and the major function of the complex is to facilitate the folding of the receptor LBD into the high-affinity ligand binding conformation. Hsp90 interacts directly with the receptor LBD and holds the receptor in a conformation that prevents DNA binding. Binding to androgens induces a conformational change in AR that leads to dissociation from these proteins and to an interaction between the N/C-terminal domains of AR. The conformational change also induces the formation of AR homodimer complexes that translocate to the nucleus and bind to androgen responsive elements (AREs) in the promotors of target genes. The activated DNA-bound AR complex recruits coregulators that can either enhance or repress transcription of target genes. The receptor also binds directly to several transcription factors. Examples of AR binding to these proteins include a number of transcriptional factors such as activator protein-1 (AP-1), and the nuclear factor κB (NF κB) as well as proteins from the transcription machinery like transcription factor IIF (TFIIF) and cyclin dependent kinase 7 (CDK7). However, the ability of AR to bind to these proteins is not always sufficient to initiate transcription. Using different mechanisms, the coregulators are able to stimulate or inhibit gene transcription. Coregulators can be classified into two groups, depending on their mechanism of action. Type I coregulators function with the receptor at the target gene promotor level and they can either induce DNA binding, chromatin remodelling and/or recruit other transcription factors to associate with the RNA polymerase holocomplex. An example of this type of coregulator is the steroid receptor coactivator-1 (SRC-1), which has histone acetyltransferase activity (HAT); this is associated with transcriptional activity as it allows chromatin opening at the promotor of target gene (Ogryzko et al., 1996; Spencer et al., 1997). In addition, the SRC coactivators are known to recruit additional nuclear receptor coregulators including CBP (CREB-binding protein) and p/CAF (p300/CBPassociated factor) (Chen et al., 1997). Type II coregulators' function enables the AR to be in the right conformation, to be able to bind its ligand and facilitate N/Cterminal interaction. These actions may contribute to AR protein stability and its subcellular distribution. For example, ARA70 (AR-associated protein 70 KDa) and filamin both facilitate the translocation of ligand-bound AR to the nucleus (Yeh and Chang, 1996; Ozanne et al., 2000). ARA70 is also important for AR stability when AR is bound to androgens. Interestingly, ARA70 can enhance AR activity in

response to weak prostate-specific agonists like E2 (Yeh *et al.*, 1998) and also enables the AR antagonists hydroxyflutamide and casodex to behave as AR agonists (Yeh *et al.*, 1997).

Corepressors were originally identified as proteins that associate with unliganded type 2 nuclear receptors and that mediate transcriptional repression through either formation of non-productive interactions with transcription factors, or recruitment of histone deacetylase (HDAC) complexes that maintain a locally closed chromatin structure and thereby suppress target genes transcription (Muscat et al., 1998). Type 2 nuclear receptors can bind to DNA in the absence of ligand, resulting in transcription silencing facilitated by the corepressors. Although type 1 nuclear receptors cannot bind to the DNA in the absence of ligand, there are examples of corepressor recruitment to the androgen-bound AR. 1. Cyclin D1, which reduces AR activity in the presence of the synthetic androgen R1881. Interestingly, Cyclin D1 repression of AR is independent of its role in cell cycle regulation (Knudsen et al., 1999). 2. Calreticulin, which also inhibits AR-dependent transcription in response to R1881 and prevents AR binding to its response elements (Dedhar, 1994). 3. HBO1 (Histone acetyltransferase binding to ORC1), a member of the SAS (something about silencing) protein family, which are known to carry a HAT domain (Reifsnyder et al., 1996; reviewed in Heinlein and Chang, 2002).

1.4.3 AR phosphorylation

Steroid receptor phosphorylation is well recognised from studies on PR, GR and ER, with phosphorylation occurring at serine or threonine residues. Nuclear receptor phosphorylation has been suggested to have a role in receptor cycling between the nucleus and the cytoplasm (Mendel *et al.*, 1990; Hu *et al.*, 1994) and in receptor transcriptional activity (Ali *et al.*, 1993; Gioeli *et al.*, 2002). PR is phosphorylated on multiple residues (S81, S102, and S162) in its basal state with a rapid induction in the phosphorylation of these sites in the presence of steroid (Zhang *et al.*, 1994). Another phosphorylation site identified in PR was found in the hinge region, S676 (Knotts *et al.*, 2001). In GR, at least seven phosphorylation sites have been identified, and the relative level of phosphorylation on these sites appears to be cell-cycle regulated (Bodwell *et al.*, 1991). Additionally, the phosphorylation status of GR seems to have a role in receptor stability (Webster *et al.*, 1997). Phosphorylation on S118 of ER is believed to be a ligand-dependent modification but can also result

from activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascade in a ligandindependent manner (Kato *et al.*, 1995). Another phosphorylation site on ER is S167, which is important for the regulation of the transcriptional activity of the AF-1 domain (Joel *et al.*, 1998). Phosphorylation sites have generally not been reported in the DBD or LBD of steroid receptors, however one exception is the vitamin D receptor, which was found to be phosphorylated by (protein kinase C) PKC in the DBD (Hsieh *et al.*, 1991).

Exposure of cells to androgens leads to an increase in AR basal phosphorylation (van Laar et al., 1990; van Laar et al., 1991; Gioeli et al., 2002). Moreover, AR phosphorylation correlates with three AR isoforms on SDS-PAGE gels (Jenster et al., 1994; Wang et al., 1999). Phosphorylation of the 110 KDa isoform of AR occurs rapidly, resulting in the formation of a 110-112 KDa doublet, and a third 114 KDa isoform appears upon addition of androgens (Kuiper et al., 1991; Jenster et al., 1994). Activation of the protein kinase A (PKA) pathway by forskolin leads to a rapid dephosphorylation of the AR, resulting in a decrease in the amount of the 112 KDa isoform (Blok et al., 1998). Several studies have identified candidate phosphorylation sites on AR using *in vitro* phosphorylation assays and/or by identifying kinase consensus sites and then mutating them. The sites identified are S81, S94, S213, S515, S650 and S791 (Jenster et al., 1994; Zhou et al., 1995; Yeh et al., 1999; Wen et al., 2000; Lin et al., 2001). Three of these sites (S81, S94 and S650) were identified as in vivo sites by another group (Gioeli et al., 2002), and are homologous to the major phosphorylation sites found in PR (Denner et al., 1990; Poletti and Weigel, 1993). Gioeli et al. (2002) did not observe phosphorylation of S515 in LNCaP cells. Interestingly, one report suggested that the S81 phosphorylation site in AR is involved in nuclear export (Black et al., 2004). Mutant forms of AR that are not efficiently exported, which were found in patients with androgen insensitivity syndrome (AIS), are found to accumulate in subnuclear foci and have reduced AD phosphorylation on S81, but not on S650. In addition, one study identified S308 as a novel in vivo phosphorylation site (Zhu et al., 2001). In a comprehensive study that was conducted in COS-1 cells expressing AR and in LNCaP cells (Gioeli et al., 2002), three additional in vivo phosphorylation sites were identified (S16, S256 and S424). In addition, this work also showed that S650 phosphorylation is increased by forskolin, epidermal growth factor (EGF) and phrobol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA). This suggests that PKA, EGF and PKC

signalling have a role in the regulation of AR phosphorylation on S650. Phosphorylation at all of these sites, apart from S94, is regulated by androgen treatment of the cells. However, Gioeli et al. (2002) were unable to detect direct phosphorylation at any of these sites by either MAPK or PKB, although a possible role for PKC in the phosphorylation of S81 and S650 was suggested. The kinetics of the labelling of these phosphorylation sites was relatively slow, peaking at 2 hours or later, suggesting that the phosphorylation might be involved in a later event in AR signalling such as receptor recycling. Importantly, support for the role of S650 phosphorylation affecting AR transcriptional activity comes from a report showing that substitution of this site with an alanine results in a 30% reduction in AR activity in CV-1 cells (Zhou et al., 1995). In contrast, substituting S81 and S94 with alanine had little effect on AR activity in another study. The positive effect of hormone on overall AR phosphorylation has been reported, although this is in parallel with an increase in the amount of AR, due to ligand-dependent stabilisation (van Laar et al., 1991; Kemppainen et al., 1992; Gregory et al., 2001a). (for AR phosphorylation sites, see Figure 3 and table 1).

Table 1- A summary of reports on AR phosphorylation sites

All AR phosphorylation sites reported to date (indicated by \checkmark), *in vitro* or *in vivo* study, the cell type or method they were found by (COS-1=COS, 293=293T, LN=LNCaP, Mas. spec= mass spectrometry) and the relevant reference.

| In | S16 | S80/ | S93/ | S210/ | S256 | S308 | Š424 | S515 | S650 | S790 | Reference |
|---------------|---------------------------------------|----------|------|-------|------|----------|----------|------|----------|------|------------------|
| vivo/ | | S81 | S94 | S213 | | | | | | | |
| In | | ł | 1 | | | { | 1 | 1 | ł | ł | |
| vitro | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | | | | | | | | | | |
| In | | | | | | | | | | | (Jenster et al., |
| vitro | | | | | 1 | 1 | ĺ | | | | 1994) |
| (COS) | | | | | | | | | | | |
| In vivo |] | | | | | | | | | | (Zhou et al., |
| (COS, | | • | • | | [| [| ſ | 1 | | | 1995) |
| <u>CV-1</u>) | | | | | | | | | | | |
| In | | | | | | | | | | | (Yeh et al., |
| vitro | | | | | | | | • | | | 1999) |
| | L | | | | | | | | | | |
| In | | | | | | | |] | | | (Wen et al., |
| vitro | | | | • | | | | | • | | 2000) |
| (293) | | | | | | | | | | | |
| In | | | | | | | | | | . 4 | (Lin et al., |
| vitro+ | | | | ♥ | | | | | | • | 2001) |
| vivo | | | | | | | | 1 | | | , í |
| (COS) | | | | | ł | | | | | | |
| In vivo | | | | | | . 4 | | | | | (Zhu et al., |
| (Mas | | | | | | v | | | | | 2001) |
| spec) | | 1 | 1 | | l I | | | | | | , |
| In vivo | | | | | | | | | | | (Gioeli et al., |
| (COS | | ~ | ~ | | | | V | | ~ | | 2002) |
| (000, LN) | ĺ | [| [| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | - | | |

1.4.4 Androgen-regulated genes

Androgens can regulate proteins involved in different cellular processes either directly or indirectly. Among the cell-cycle regulatory genes, AR modulates cyclin-dependent kinases (CDK1, CDK2 and CDK4), cyclins (cyclin D3 and cyclin A) and also cell cycle inhibitors such as p21, p27 and p16. Another group of androgen-regulated proteins include genes that are involved in angiogenesis and metastasis. For example; the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) that is enhanced by androgens and maspin, which is known to inhibit tumour invasion and motility and is downregulated by androgens.

Besides genes that positively regulate growth and metastasis, there are also genes that are regulated by androgens and have a negative role on these processes. The enzyme Neutral endo-peptidase 24.11 (NEP) cleaves and inactivates growthstimulatory neuro peptides on the cell-surface and is upregulated by androgens. Another example is the pro-apoptotic protein Bcl-2 (B-cell lymphomas-2), whose expression inversely correlates with AR expression and androgen exposure (reviewed in Jenster, 1999).

1.5 Mechanisms for AI disease development

Understanding the transition of PCa to the AI state has been the most challenging task in the study of PCa. Studies revealed that even in AI cases the AR pathway remains important in most cancer cells. There are several routes by which alterations of the AR pathway or abnormalities in AR itself can lead to the progression of PCa. Like many other cancers it is possible that prostate tumours initially select genetic changes that increase the likelihood of mutation appearance. This might further lead to the development of mutations that allow the cells to grow independently of androgens. Many studies have found that only a few AR mutations are present in primary PCa, and that AR is frequently mutated in metastatic tumours (Taplin et al., 1999; Marcelli et al., 2000). Additionally, in a study that was done in TRAMP mice (transgenic adenocarcinomas of mouse prostate), more AR mutations were found in the castrated versus the intact mice (Buchanan et al., 2001a; Buchanan et al., 2001b). This finding supports the theory that androgen-ablation therapy provides selective pressure to target the AR signalling pathway. There are several potential mechanisms by which AI cancer can develop, and in some cases these mechanisms can appear together and have an additive or synergistic effect:

1.5.1 The hypersensitive pathway

This mechanism involves an increase in sensitivity to very low levels of androgens. PCa cells that use this mechanism still rely on AR and androgens although with a lowered threshold. There could be various ways by which cells would increase their sensitivity:

1. AR amplification- the AR gene was found amplified in 20-30% of tumours that recur during androgen-ablation therapy, whereas none of the primary tumours from the same patients before the treatment had AR amplification (Visakorpi *et al.*, 1995; Koivisto *et al.*, 1997). This mechanism seems to provide a selective advantage for survival in a low-androgen environment. By having more AR, the chance of the receptor to bind androgens is higher and this might also increase the basal target gene activity due to an increase in incorrectly folded or Hsp-free receptors.

2. Increased AR sensitivity- this results in high-level expression of AR, increased stability and enhanced nuclear localisation of AR in recurrent tumour cells. In addition, the concentration of androgen required for growth stimulation is significantly lower in these cells (Gregory *et al.*, 2001b). This suggests that AR transcriptional activity is strongly related to its level of expression and stability and could be enhanced even in low levels of androgens. One explanation for this mechanism could be the recruitment or amplification of AR coactivators, which can facilitate AR activity.

3. Increased androgen levels- increasing the local production of androgens to compensate for the overall decline in circulating testosterone. PCa can increase the rate of conversion of testosterone to the more potent androgen DHT by increasing 5α -reductase activity. In support of this mechanism is the finding that, after androgen- ablation therapy, serum testosterone levels decrease by 95%, but the DHT concentration decreases only by 60%. Moreover, african men, who have a particularly high incidence of PCa, show the highest incidence of polymorphism in the gene for 5α -reductase that results in higher enzyme activity. It is possible that tumour cells either acquire mutations or are selected for increased expression of 5α -reductase during therapy (reviewed in Feldman and Feldman, 2001).

1.5.2 *The promiscuous pathway*

Most AI tumours express AR protein. However, in some cases, the AR acquires mutations that allow the tumours to bypass the normal growth regulation by androgens and find other mechanisms to proliferate. Genetic changes can be found in many AI tumours. These changes are usually missense mutations in the AR gene that cause a decrease in its ligand specificity and allow cells to continue to proliferate and avoid apoptosis by using circulating steroid hormones and even antiandrogens when the level of androgen is low.

1. AR mutations- AR is located on the X chromosome and is not necessary for survival, therefore germ-line loss-of-function mutations in AR that lead to androgeninsensitivity are frequent. However, there is increasing evidence for somatic mutations in AR in metastatic tumours, especially after androgen-ablation therapy (Marcelli et al., 2000). Many mutations in AR have been described and are generally observed in late-stage disease. The frequency of these mutations varies between 0% and 50% and most of them result in an amino acid substitution. (Culig et al., 1993; Elo et al., 1995; Takahashi et al., 1995; Evans et al., 1996; Suzuki et al., 1996; Paz et al., 1997; Gottlieb et al., 2004) (for a map of AR mutations found in PCa and discussed in this work, see Figure 4). Generally, these mutations can be classified into 3 groups: 1. mutations that do not affect AR function. 2. mutations that inactivate or inhibit its function. 3. mutations that alter ligand specificity. The third type of AR mutation was first identified in residue 877 in AR of the LNCaP cell line. The T877A mutation in the AR LBD makes the receptor transcriptionally active in response to non-androgen ligands such as estrogens, progestins, adrenal androgens and antiandrogens including cyproterone acetate and hydroxyflutamide (Veldscholte et al., 1990). This mutation was also described in PCa patients (Gaddipati et al., 1994). Similarly, the CWR22 tumour cell line has an H874Y mutation that influences binding of coactivators by affecting the conformation of helix 12 (McDonald et al., 2000). Another mutation was found in the MDA PCa 2a and 2b cell lines, which were established from a patient with bone metastasis. These cells exhibit a double mutation in the AR LBD and they are less sensitive to androgens compared to LNCaP. This mutated AR has the T877A mutation as well as another substitution in amino acid 701 (L701H). L701H alone decreases AR ability's to bind androgens, but enhances the binding to other adrenal corticosteroids, particularly the glucocorticoids cortisol and cortisone. The T877A mutation however, has a

synergistic effect by increasing the affinity of AR for glucocorticoids by 300% more than L701H alone. Therefore, it is likely that physiological levels of circulating cortisol and cortisone are sufficient to promote tumour growth in patients with this double mutation (Zhao *et al.*, 1999; Zhao *et al.*, 2000). The altered receptor mechanism can also explain the clinically observed phenomenon of 'flutamide withdrawal syndrome', in which patients experience worsening of disease symptoms with flutamide, but then improve when it is withdrawn (Small and Srinivas, 1995). Interestingly, the incidence of AR mutation T877A was found to be higher in patients that were treated with flutamide compared to patients that were not treated with flutamide, who had different mutations (Taplin *et al.*, 1999). T877A mutant AR does not have the same response to other antiandrogens. Taken together, these results indicate that AR mutations can occur in response to strong selective pressure from anti-androgens treatment.

2. AR glutamine repeats- studies revealed a correlation between the length of the glutamine repeat located in the N-terminal of AR and the risk of developing PCa as well as the cancer aggressiveness and age of onset of PCa. According to these studies, a shorter glutamine repeat predicts a higher risk, higher grade and earlier onset of disease (Choong and Wilson, 1998; Kantoff *et al.*, 1998). A shortened AR possibly makes the receptor more active, resulting in a growth advantage. Evidence for this link was found in studies on african-americans, who show higher incidence of PCa compared to whites and asians and also have generally shorter glutamine repeat length (Edwards *et al.*, 1992; Irvine *et al.*, 1995).

3. Coregulator alterations- abnormal behaviour of nuclear receptor coregulators has been found to be a mechanism for tumours to progress from steroid hormone dependence to independence in various cancers. For example, SRC-1, is amplified in some breast and ovarian cancers. SRC-1 and TIF2 (transcriptional intermediary factor 2) are overexpressed in recurrent PCa specimens and cell lines (Gregory *et al.*, 2001a). ARA70, the specific AR coactivator, can facilitate the conversion of several androgen antagonists to agonists when it is expressed at an optimal level and thereby enhances AR transcriptional activity (Miyamoto *et al.*, 1998; reviewed in Feldman and Feldman, 2001).

Figure 4- AR mutations found in PCa



Fig 4. AR mutations found in PCa and discussed in this work. All three mutations were found in the LBD (Ligand binding domain): L701H, was found in the MDA PCa 2a and 2b cell lines, H874Y was discovered in the tumour cell line CWR22 and T877A was first identified in the LNCaP cell line and also found in the MDA PCa 2a and 2b cell lines and in PCa patients.

1.5.3 The outlaw pathway

This mechanism refers to cases where AR is activated in an AI manner by the effects of other pathways.

1.Growth factors- certain growth factors like insulin-like growth factor (IGF), keratinocyte growth factor (KGF) and EGF, can activate the AR and thereby induce AR target gene transcription in the absence of androgens. The finding that these growth factors are overexpressed in some PCa supports the theory that AR activity can be altered by other signalling pathways in PCa cells. The effect of growth factors on AR can be either direct or through a downstream molecule that is induced by the receptor tyrosine kinase pathway. IGF-1 induces a fivefold rise in PSA secretion in LNCaP cells. Casodex, an AR antagonist, completely blocks AR activation by IGF-1, suggesting that the AR LBD is necessary for activation by IGF-1 (Culig *et al.*, 1994).

2. Receptor tyrosine kinase pathways- activation of AR by proteins of the receptor tyrosine kinase pathway is also a mechanism that could lead to the transition to AI disease. For example, HER-2/neu, a member of the EGF-receptor family of receptor tyrosine kinases, is constitutively overexpressed in AI cell lines, and AD cell lines can be converted to AI when HER-2/neu is overexpressed. Additionally, HER-2/neu overexpression can activate AR-dependent genes in the absence of androgens (Craft *et al.*, 1999b). However, these effects cannot be blocked by casodex, indicating that the AR LBD is not involved. Similar effects were shown in
studies on breast cancer, suggesting that activation of HER-2/neu is an important mechanism for the transition to hormone-independent disease in both breast and prostate cancer. One of the possibilities is that HER-2/neu activates AR through a MAPK pathway as MAPK can phosphorylate AR *in vitro* and also activate AR activity *in vivo* (Yeh *et al.*, 1999).

3. The Akt pathway- studies on cancer samples have led to an advanced understanding on this mechanism by the discovery of the tumour suppressor PTEN (phosphatase and tensin homology). The latter was found mutated in many types of cancers including glioblastoma, breast cancer and PCa. PTEN is a lipid phosphatase that removes the 3-phosphate from its substrate phosphatidyl inositol (3,4,5)-trisphosphate. When PTEN is inactivated, PKB or Akt becomes activated and phosphorylates and inactivates several pro-apoptotic proteins and also downregulates the cell cycle inhibitor p21 (Medema *et al.*, 2000; Zhou *et al.*, 2000). Therefore, loss of PTEN can lead to enhanced activity of Akt that, in turn, can alter AR signalling directly or indirectly. Studies in LNCaP AD xenograft tumours have shown that overexpressed Akt stimulates tumour growth and downregulates p21 expression (Graff *et al.*, 2000). Additionally, Akt can be activated by HER-2/neu through phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) and in turn phosphorylates AR at S213 and S791, which causes an AI response of the receptor (Wen *et al.*, 2000; reviewed in Feldman and Feldman, 2001).

1.5.4 The bypass pathway

Alternative pathways that do not require AR are also capable of developing AI PCa. These pathways are able to facilitate proliferation and inhibit apoptosis in the absence of androgens and AR. Bcl2 is one of the bypass candidate genes that can block apoptosis. In normal prostate epithelial cells Bcl2 is not usually expressed, however, in PIN and AI tumours it is frequently expressed. Furthermore, blocking Bcl2 delays the emergence of AI in LNCaP xenograft tumours. Activation of oncogenes or inactivation of tumour suppressor genes could have a similar bypass role in the development of AI. Another way for prostate epithelial cells to bypass the AR signalling pathway is by producing their own growth factors in an autocrine fashion so they no longer rely on factors secreted by stromal cells. As mentioned earlier, these factors include IGFI and IGFII, EGF, TGF α , KGF and others. It is

likely that androgen-ablation therapy provides a selective pressure that tumours use to escape from the therapy effect by invoking these bypass mechanisms (reviewed in Jenster, 1999; Feldman and Feldman, 2001).

1.5.5 The lurker cell pathway

This raises the possibility that androgen-ablation fails because cells that are not dependent on androgen for growth take over and develop into an AI tumour. Various studies have investigated the idea that a subpopulation of AI tumour cells is present prior to the therapy. The candidate cells are the putative epithelial stem cells among the basal cells of the prostate, which are thought to be independent of androgens for their survival (Craft *et al.*, 1999a; Isaacs, 1999). It is believed that PCa tumours contain heterogeneous mixtures of cells that vary in their dependence on androgens for growth, and anti-androgen treatment provides selective pressure that alters the relative frequency of these cells, eventually leading to outgrowth of an AI tumour (reviewed in Feldman and Feldman, 2001).

<u>1.6. The Wnt signalling pathway</u>

1.6.1 The Wnt signalling pathway-an outline

β-catenin, a central component of the Wnt pathway, is thought to be one of the candidates for regulating AR activity. When overexpressed, β-catenin potentiates ligand-dependent AR activity and promotes AR activation by estradiol and the adrenal androgen androstenedione (Truica *et al.*, 2000; Chesire *et al.*, 2002; Yang *et al.*, 2002). The Wnt signalling pathway was initially characterised in Drosophila and has been shown to have roles during fly development (Wingless-type (Wnt) proteins). The Wnt signalling pathway is highly conserved between species from nematode worms to mammals, and is involved in a number of processes including embryonic development, cell polarity, morphology, motility, axis formation, adhesion, apoptosis and tumorigenesis (Akiyama, 2000; Polakis, 2000; Seidensticker and Behrens, 2000; Yamaguchi, 2001). The Wnt signalling pathway provides a network of several separate but interacting cell signalling pathways. In the so-called canonical pathway a specific Wnt (e.g Wnt1, Wnt3A, Wnt8) binds to a frizzled (Fz)/LDL related protein 5/6 (LRP5/6) receptor complex and activates a series of events that leads to stabilisation of β-catenin, and, as a result, activation of T-cell factor

(Tcf)/lymphoid enhancer factor (Lef) target gene transcription. In Xenopus embryos this results in secondary axis formation (Du *et al.*, 1995). There are other signalling pathways that are activated by noncanonical Wnts (e.g Wnt4, Wnt5A, Wnt11). These are part of the planar-cell-polarity (PCP)-like pathway that is involved in cell morphogenetic movements in gastrulation (Heisenberg *et al.*, 2000) and the Wnt/calcium pathway. The latter leads to increases in intracellular calcium levels and activation of PKC and was discovered in zebrafish and Xenopus (reviewed in Kuhl *et al.*, 2000). Noncanonical Wnts also bind to Fz receptors and can sometime antagonise the canonical pathway (Torres *et al.*, 1996; Kuhl *et al.*, 2001). However, depending on the Wnt receptor expressed and the cell type, some Wnts can have both canonical and noncanonical properties, for example Wnt5A (He *et al.*, 1997).

Several secreted proteins have been identified that are Wnt antagonists and these can be classified into two groups; the secreted frizzled related proteins (sFRPs) that bind to the Wnt ligands and exert antagonistic activity on Wnt signalling by competeing with the Fz receptors. sFRPs bear homology to the Fz receptor gene but lack the seven transmembrane domain (reviewed in Polakis, 2000; Jones and Jomary, 2002). sFRPs may also antagonise signalling by binding directly to Fzs and forming inactive complexes with the receptors (reviewed in Miller et al., 1999; Akiyama, 2000; Polakis, 2000). Although sFRPs are considered as tumour supressor genes, no mutations in sFRPs have been associated with human disease (Jones and Jomary, 2002). This class of antagonists also includes the secreted inhibitors WNT-inhibitory factor-1 (WIF-1) and Cerberus. Like sFRPs, these inhibitors can bind directly to Wnts (Miller et al., 1999). Cerberus also antagonises nodal and bone morphogenetic proteins and therefore has a broader anti-growth role (Miller et al., 1999). The second class of Wnt antagonists includes Dickkopf (Dkk) proteins, which bind to LRP5/6 (Mao et al., 2001a). Dkk-1, is a p53 target gene and sensitises cells to apoptosis by inhibiting the Wnt signalling pathway (Shou et al., 2002). Therefore, in theory, the sFRP class of antagonists can inhibit both canonical and noncanonical pathways, whereas the Dkk class can only inhibit the canonical pathway.

 β -catenin regulates cell-cell adhesion (by binding to cadherins) as well as Wntmediated transcription (by binding to Tcf/Lef transcription factors) and thus has an important role in embryonic development and tumorigenesis. β -catenin localises in cells to two different pools: in epithelial cells most of it is found in the cell membrane. There, it provides a link between the cytosolic tail of E-cadherin and α catenin, which binds to the cytoskeleton, hence it's involvement in cell-cell adhesion (Fodde *et al.*, 2001b). The smaller pool is located in the nucleus and cytoplasm, and this pool is involved in the Wnt signalling pathway. Briefly, in the absence of Wnt ligand, cytoplasmic β -catenin is a target for the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway, and phosphorylation by casein kinase I α (CKI α) and glycogen synthase kinase 3- β (GSK3 β) is required for its ubiquitination. Cytoplasmic β -catenin is bound to a multicomponent complex of proteins, which includes Axin and adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) that both bind β -catenin and GSK3 β , to facilitate β -catenin phosphorylation followed by its β-transducin repeat-containing protein (β-TrCP)mediated ubiquitination. Upon Wnt ligand binding Axin translocates to the membrane, the destruction complex is inactivated and unphosphorylated β -catenin accumulates in the cytoplasm and translocates to the nucleus. In the nucleus, β catenin activates transcription of certain target genes by binding to the nuclear transcription factors Tcf/Lef. The dual functions of β -catenin can influence each other. For example, β -catenin/Tcf signalling can be affected by the loss of Ecadherin expression (Kikuchi, 2003).

1.6.2 The canonical pathway and Wnt-mediated transcription

The Wnt signal begins when Wnts act on target cells by binding to their receptors (for structure of Wnt signalling pathway components, see Figure 5a. for the canonical Wnt signalling pathway outline, see Figure 5b). There are 19 Wnt genes in humans, and they all encode secreted glycoproteins with a conserved sequence of 23-24 cysteine residues (Miller, 2002). The original members of the Wnt gene family are the mouse Wnt-1 and the Drosophila wingless (wg). Mutations in the wg locus result in alteration in the segmental pattern of larve and embryonic lethality (Nusslein-Volhard, 1980). Wnt receptors are members of the frizzled family of transmembrane proteins (Fz). The 10 human Fzs identified have an N-terminal cysteine-rich extracellular domain (CRD) and seven transmembrane domains ending with an intracellular C-terminal domain. Specific Wnts bind to a specific Fz at the extracellular domain, altering the interaction between the extracellular and transmembrane domains (for Fz structure, see Figure 5a). This results in a rearrangement of the cytosloic domain of the receptor and activates a downstream

signal (Miller *et al.*, 1999; Jones and Jomary, 2002). Members of the low-density lipoprotein (LDL) related protein superfamily 5/6, LRP5/6, are also required as receptors for the canonical Wnt signaling pathway (Pinson *et al.*, 2000; Tamai *et al.*, 2000; Wehrli *et al.*, 2000). It is believed that binding of Wnt proteins to their target Fz is involved in the formation of a membrane-located complex that includes Fz and LRP5/6. Despite the evidence that the Fzs and LRP proteins are receptors for the Wnt proteins, it is not fully understood how they transduce signals.

Wnt causes the translocation of Axin to the membrane and enhances the interaction between Axin and LRP5 (Mao et al., 2001b). The activated receptor also transduces a signal to the cytoplasmic protein dishevelled (Dvl), which leads to inhibition of GSK3 β phosphorylation of β -catenin in an unkown mechanism. Dvl is a phosphoprotein with several interaction motifs; the N-terminal DIX domain, which is important for homodimerisation, the C-terminal DEP domain that is required for Dvl recruitment to the cell membrane and the central PDZ domain. The DIX and PDZ domains of Dvl are required for β -catenin stabilisation, and both interact with Axin. Studies have shown that casein kinase IE (CKIE) binds the PDZ domain of Dvl and that CKIE overexpression results in Dvl hyperphosphorylation (Kikuchi, 2000; Seidensticker and Behrens, 2000). Another component that has been suggested to phosphorylate Dvl is casein kinase II (CKII), which also promotes the formation of lymphomas when expressed in transgenic mice (Song et al., 2000). Therefore, one proposed mechanism is that Wnt leads to the phosphorylation of Dvl and this in turn antagonises the action of GSK3^β. Dvl is also thought to promote Axin dephosphorylation and activate Jun kinases (Peifer and Polakis, 2000; Polakis, 2000) (for Dvl structure, see Figure 5a).

Free β -catenin accumulates in the cytoplasm and translocates to the nucleus. There are several models in regards to β -catenin translocation to the nucleus. The first one suggests that it can shuttle freely to the nucleus as it is structurally similar to the nuclear import receptor, importin- β , and can therefore interact directly with the nuclear pore complex (Henderson and Fagotto, 2002). It is believed that its localisation is controlled by a balance between its nuclear and cytoplasmic binding partners. The second model speculates that, in non-stimulated cells, APC actively exports β -catenin from the nucleus to the cytoplasm; and, conversely, in Wnt-stimulated cells or when the Wnt pathway is aberrantly activated, β -catenin is

capable of shuttling between the nucleus and the cytoplasm independently of APC (Rosin-Arbesfeld *et al.*, 2000; Henderson and Fagotto, 2002). Lastly, recent studies in Drosophila discovered two proteins, named Legless (Lgs) and Pygopus (Pygo), which play a role in β -catenin nuclear translocation. Lgs contains NLS domain and Pygo is constitutively nuclear. According to this model, Lgs facilitates β -catenin nuclear entry and Pygo serves to retain both Lgs and β -catenin in the nucleus, thereby presenting the latter to Tcf for transcriptional activation (Townsley *et al.*, 2004).

In the nucleus, β -catenin binds to Tcf/Lef transcription factors to facilitate transcription of target genes. The Tcf/Lef family contains four members in mammals; LEF-1, Tcf-1, Tcf-3 and Tcf-4. They contain a high mobility group box (HMG) that has the ability to bind specific sequences of DNA and induce a significant bend that attracts other transcription factors (van Noort and Clevers, 2002) (for Tcf structure, see Figure 5a). Tcf/Lefs can also repress transcription by interacting with the corepressors Groucho, CtBP (C-terminal binding protein), or by binding to CBP. The Groucho proteins bind to the central region of Tcf/Lefs and are able to inhibit gene activation even in the presence of β -catenin (Polakis, 2000; Seidensticker and Behrens, 2000). CtBP binds the C-terminus of Tcf-3 but cannot bind to LEF-1. CBPs are usually coactivators, however, they act as corepressors by acetylating Tcf at a conserved lysine site in the armadillo-binding domain and thus reducing the interaction between Tcf and β -catenin (Akiyama, 2000; Polakis, 2000; Seidensticker and Behrens, 2000). Recently, several regulators were found to be involved in Tcf/\beta-catenin transactivation activity. For example, Tcf/β-catenin complexes can be phosphorylated by NEMO-like kinase (NLK) and prevented from binding to DNA. Other regulators include SMAD4, Pontin 52, Duplin and retinoids (Akiyama, 2000; Kikuchi, 2000; Polakis, 2000; Seidensticker and Behrens, 2000). Activation of Tcf/β-catenin complexes enables transcription of many different target genes. The subset of genes that is transcribed is influenced by the specific Wnt and Fz combinations and other cellular pathways downstream to the receptor. The best known target genes are c-myc and cyclin D1, which are known to promote cell proliferation. Expression of c-myc and cyclin D1, by activation of β -catenin, promotes G1-S transition and cell cycling (He et al., 1998; Shtutman et al., 1999; Tetsu and McCormick, 1999). Additional target genes include, members of the AP-1

family (c-jun, fra-1), which are immediate early genes and involved in proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis and oncogenic transformation (Mann *et al.*, 1999). Another Wnt-mediated target gene, matrilysin, is an extracellular matrix protease that is thought to be involved in tumour progression (Brabletz *et al.*, 1999; Crawford *et al.*, 1999). Tcf-1, is a β -catenin/Tcf-target gene with tumour suppression function and its epithelial isoform acts as a dominant-negative form as it lacks its β -catenin binding domain (Roose *et al.*, 1999). Develomental genes include siamois and twin (Brannon *et al.*, 1997; Laurent *et al.*, 1997) (for key Wnt-mediated target genes, see table 2).



Figure 5a-Wnt signalling pathway components

Fig 5a. Schematic representation of several Wnt signalling pathway components. Major domains and interacting proteins are indicated. For Frizzled, c indicates conserved cysteines, s indicates signal sequence. Based on Miller *et al.* review (1999) (Miller *et al.*, 1999)

Figure 5b-The canonical Wnt signalling pathway



Fig 5b. Diagram showing the key events in the canonical Wnt pathway. In the absence of ligand (-Wnt), demonstrated by red arrows, β -catenin is found in its destruction complex including Axin, GSK3 β and APC. β -catenin phosphoryation by CKI α and GSK3 β triggers its ubiquitination and degradation in the proteasome. In the presence of the Wnt ligand (+Wnt), demonstrated by blue arrows, Axin is recruited to the plasma membrane and binds to LRP5 (LRP). Dvl is also recruited to the plasma membrane and binds to LRP5 (LRP). Dvl is also recruited to the plasma membrane and is being phosphorylated by CK1 ϵ . Phosphorylated Dvl interacts with FRAT, which in turn sequesters GSK3 β from the destruction complex. This leads to inhibition of GSK3 β phosphorylation of β -catenin, dissociation of β -catenin from the destruction complex followed by its accumulation in the cytoplasm and translocation to the nucleus for initiation of target genes transcription by binding to Tcf/Lef. P indicates phosphorylation, Ub indicates ubiquitination.

Table 2- Wnt-mediated target genes

Key target genes that are up regulated by Wnt, their function and the organism/system they were found in.

| Gene | Organism/system | Function | Ref. | | | | |
|-----------------------------------|-----------------------|--|---|--|--|--|--|
| с-тус | human colon cancer | Transcription factor | <u>He 1998</u> | | | | |
| Cyclin D | human colon cancer | Cell cycle regulation | <u>Tetsu 1999</u> <u>Shtutman 1999</u> | | | | |
| c-jun | human colon cancer | Component of the AP-1 transcription factor | <u>Mann B, 1999</u> | | | | |
| fra-1 | human colon cancer | Component of the AP-1 transcription factor | <u>Mann B, 1999</u> | | | | |
| matrix metalloproteinase MMP-7 | human colon cancer | Zinc endopeptidase | Brabletz 1999 Crawford 1999 | | | | |
| Axin-2 | human colon cancer | Component of the Wnt signalling pathway | Yan, 2001 Lustig, 2002 Jho, 2002 | | | | |
| claudin-1 | human colon cancer | Tight junction component | <u>Miwa 2002</u> | | | | |
| matrix metalloproteinase-26 | Human carcinoma | Zinc endopeptidase | Marchenko 2002 | | | | |
| Id2 | human colon cancer | Dominant negative helix-loop-helix protein, regulates proliferation and | Rockman 2001 Willert 2002 | | | | |
| Tcf-1 | human colon cancer | differentiation Transcription factor | Roose 1999 | | | | |
| Siamois | Xenopus | Homebox transcription factor (regulates axis formation) | Brannon 1997 | | | | |
| engrailed-2 | Xenopus | Homebox transcription factor (regulates neural patterning) | <u>McGrew 1999</u> | | | | |
| twin | Xenopus | Homebox transcription factor (regulates axis formation) | Laurent 1997 | | | | |
| | | | Dorsky, 2000 | | | | |
| nacre | Zebrafish | Pigment cell differentiation | Saito 2002 Yasumoto 2002 | | | | |
| Cdx1 | Mouse Wnt-3A | Homebox transcription factor | Lickert 2000 | | | | |

1.7 β-catenin and its destruction complex

 β -catenin turnover in the cytoplasm is mediated by a destruction complex that includes Axin, APC and GSK3 β . GSK3 β is an essential negative regulator of the Wnt signalling as it binds and phosphorylates several proteins in the canonical pathway. Most importantly, GSK3 β phosphorylates one or more highly conserved serine/threonine residues near the N-terminus of β -catenin. However, GSK3 β is unable to bind β -catenin directly and requires Axin and APC. Phosphorylation of Axin and APC by GSK3 β promotes their actions as scaffold proteins that bring together GSK3 β and β -catenin in the destruction complex (reviewed in Karim *et al.*, 2004).

<u>1.7.1β-catenin</u>

Structure: β -catenin consists of 780 amino acids with an N-terminal domain that contains the α -catenin binding site and the GSK3 β phosphorylation sites, a central domain that consists of 12 armadillo repeats and a highly acidic C-terminal domain with a transactivation function for target gene activation. The armadillo repeats consist of 42 amino acids (residues 134-671) that interact with APC, E-cadherin and Tcf/Lef factors. Each repeat consists of three α helices (except for repeat 7) which stack upon each other and together form a superhelix with a positively-charged groove that is essential for these interactions (for β -catenin structure, see Figure 5a).

Phosphorylation and regulation: In the absence of Wnt ligand, the cytosolic pool of β -catenin has a short half-life. CKI α primely phosporylates β -catenin on S45 and this triggers β -catenin for phosphorylation on S33, S37 and T41 by GSK3 β . Following phosphorylation by GSK3 β , β -catenin is recognised by a component of an E3 ubiquitin ligase, β -TrCP, that binds to β -catenin through its WD40 domains. D32 and G34 residues in β -catenin are necessary for the interaction of phosphorylated- β -catenin with β -TrCP. Using its F-box, β -TrCP recruits to the complex other factors such as Skp1 and Cul1, which mediate ubiquitin ligation of β -catenin by attachment of a polyubiquitin chain, which is followed by degradation by the 26S-proteasome (reviewed in Polakis, 2000).

 β -catenin stability is regulated by other proteins and signalling pathways. Mutations in presentiin, which are associated with Alzheimer's disease, decrease β - catenin stability in neurons, resulting in increased apoptosis (Zhang *et al.*, 1998). Integrin-linked kinase promotes β -catenin stabilisation and nuclear accumulation through downregulation of GSK3 β activity (Novak *et al.*, 1998).

β-catenin-interacting proteins can either promote or inhibit its transcriptional activity. Examples of proteins that promote its activity include Teashirt (Tsh), which was found in Drosophila and binds to the C-terminal domain of β -catenin (Gallet et al., 1999) and the chromatin remodelling factor, Brg-1, which binds to β -catenin in the nucleus (Barker et al., 2001). In addition, recent reports suggested that BCL9-2, a homolog of the human proto-oncogene product BCL9 (B cell lymphoma 9), interacts with β -catenin and increases β -catenin-dependent transcription. RNA interference of BCL9-2 in the colon cancer cells, SW480, induced an epithelial phenotype and led to β -catenin translocation from the nucleus to the cell membrane. It is believed that the switch between β -catenin adhesive and transcriptional functions is modulated by phosphorylation on T142 of β -catenin, which favours BCL9-2 binding and precludes interaction with α -catenin (Brembeck *et al.*, 2004; Harris and Peifer, 2005). Examples of proteins that bind to β -catenin and have an inhibitory effect on its transcriptional activity include ICAT, which inhibits the interaction between β catenin and Tcf (Tago et al., 2000), and the nuclear antagonist of β -catenin, Chibby (Takemaru et al., 2003).

Interestingly, Siah-1 (seven-in-absentia homologue) mediates p53-inducible degradation of β -catenin in a phosphorylation-independent pathway (Liu *et al.*, 2001; Matsuzawa and Reed, 2001). Since Siah-1 downregulates a form of β -catenin in which the phosphorylation sites are mutated, Siah-1 is likely to promote degradation of β -catenin independently of CKI α or GSK3 β -mediated phosphorylation. Moreover, Siah-1 binds to the C-terminal domain of APC, and β -catenin downregulation by Siah-1 is dependent on APC.

Mutations and role in cancer: Mutations in the β -catenin gene, CTNNB1, are mainly missense and affect the N-terminal phosporylation sites. Missense mutations in D32 and G34, which are necessary for the interaction with β -TrCP, have also been reported. These mutations abrogate the phosphorylation-dependent interaction of β -catenin with the ubiquitination machinery, resulting in stabilisation of β -catenin (Yost *et al.*, 1996; Akiyama, 2000). In addition to missense mutations, a number of

deletion mutants that remove one or more of the putative GSK3ß sites have been isolated. Expression of an amino-terminal truncated form of β-catenin, lacking the GSK3β-phosphorylation sites in the epidermis of transgenic mice leads to a formation of hair follicle-related tumours (Gat et al., 1998). Cell lines harboring activating mutations of β -catenin often express high levels of cytoplasmic and nuclear β -catenin and constitutive activation of Tcf/Lef reporter plasmids (Korinek et al., 1997). These data indicate that the increasing level of β -catenin can be sufficient to promote tumour formation and implicate the amino terminal phosphorylation sites as potential targets for the oncogenic activation of β -catenin. Indeed, β -catenin was found mutated or elevated in a number of human carcinomas (for a list of reported mutations in β -catenin associated with human cancers, see table 3). In colon cancer, the majority of the tumours contain APC mutations and the frequency of mutations in β-catenin is relatively low (Sparks et al., 1998; Samowitz et al., 1999). The exclusivity of β-catenin and APC mutations in colon cancer is also evident from analysis of replication error-positive tumours identified by microsatellite instability. Both the hereditary and sporadic forms of replication error-positive colorectal cancers have a relatively high frequency of β -catenin mutation, whereas APC mutations are relatively rare (Mirabelli-Primdahl et al., 1999; Miyaki et al., 1999).

Several mutations in β -catenin have been found in gastric cancers, which occur with increased incidence in familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP) patients that carry an APC mutation in their germline (Park *et al.*, 1999).

In three separate studies, mutations in β -catenin were identified at high frequency in hepatoblastoma while no APC mutations were found in these tumours (Koch *et al.*, 1999; Jeng *et al.*, 2000; Wei *et al.*, 2000). β -catenin was mutated in 20% of hepatocellular carcinomas (HCC). Moreover, β -catenin was found nuclear in the invasive and intravascular compartments of HCC tumours (Huang *et al.*, 1999; Nhieu *et al.*, 1999). Interestingly, the β -catenin target genes, c-myc and cyclin D1, were found amplified in a subset of HCC (Tetsu and McCormick, 1999). β -catenin mutations might occur as a second "hit" in HCC tumour progression in a cancer pathway initiated by c-myc (de La Coste *et al.*, 1998).

In medulloblastoma, β -catenin was found mutated in a small percentage of tumours where mutations in APC have not been detected (Zurawel *et al.*, 1998).

Other cancers, such as endometrial and ovarian tumours, contain activating mutations in β -catenin and these do not occur with increased incidence in patients with FAP (Gamallo *et al.*, 1999; Wright *et al.*, 1999). The β -catenin mutations associated with ovarian cancer appeared to be confined to the endometrioid subtype. Additionally, in this tissue, cancers with activated β -catenin signalling are less aggressive than their nonactivated counterparts (Wright *et al.*, 1999).

Another type of cancer with β -catenin mutations, albeit at low frequency, is melanoma. Although only one of sixty-five melanomas contained β -catenin gene mutations, β -catenin protein was found to be nuclear in one-third of tumours (Rimm *et al.*, 1999). Therefore, additional mechanisms for β -catenin activation are likely to occur in these tumours.

The highest percentage of β -catenin mutations, with at least 75% of mutations in the N-terminal region of CTNNB1, was found in a common skin tumour known as pilomatricoma (Chan *et al.*, 1999). Studies on transgenic mice expressing mutant β catenin in the skin indicate that these tumours originate from the hair follicle, which is consistent with the lack of hair in mice harbouring mutations in Lef (van Genderen *et al.*, 1994; Gat *et al.*, 1998).

Table 3-B catenin mutations found in human cancers

Amino acinds affected by mutations in CTNNB1 gene are indicated. The frequency of mutations (freq.) in each tumour is represented as the number of tumours with mutations/total number of tumours examined. The amino acid affected by the mutation and the number of mutations found at each position are listed. Δ indicates interstitial deletion. In some cases, more than one mutation was found in a single tumour. Based on Polakis *et al.* review (2000)(Polakis, 2000)

| lissue | freg, | \$29 | ¥30 | L31 | D32 | \$33 | G34 | 135 | H36 | \$37 | G38 | A39 | T40 | T41 | T42 | A43 | P44 | \$45 | L46 | \$47 | G48 | K49 | ۵ | reference |
|-----------------------------|--------|------|-----|-----|-----|------|-----|-----|-----|------|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|------|-----|------|-----|-----|----|-------------------------|
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| colorectal | 9/202 | Γ | | Ţ | | | 1 | Γ | | | | Γ | | 3 | | | | 5 | | | | | 0 | Samowitz 1999 |
| colorectal | 2/92 | | | | | | | 1 | | | | | [| 1 | | | | 1 | | | | | | Kitaeva 1997 |
| colorectal-w/o APC mutation | 7/58 | | | | | | | | | | | | [| | | | | | | | | | 7 | lwao 1998 |
| colorectal-w/o APC mutation | 13/27 | | | | | 2 | 1 | | | | | | | 3 | | | | 5 | | | | | 1 | Sparks 1998 |
| colorectal HNPCC | 12/28 | | | | 2 | | 2 | | | 1 | | | | 2 | | | | 5 | | | | | | Miyaki 1999 |
| colorectal w/ MSI | 13/53 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | 6 | | | | | | Mirabelli-primdahl 1999 |
| colorectal w/o MSI | 0/27 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Mirabelli-primdahl 1999 |
| desmold, sporadic | 1/1 | | | | | | | | | | | | | 1 | | | | | | | | | 0 | Shitoh 1999 |
| desmold, sporadic | 22/42 | | | | | | | | | | | | | 10 | | | | 12 | | | | | | Tejpar 1999 |
| endometrial w/ MSI | 3/9 | | | | 2 | 1 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Mirabelli-primdahl 1999 |
| endometrial w/o MSI | 10/20 | | | | 3 | 1 | 2 | | | 3 | | | | 1 | | | | | | | | | | Mirabelli-primdahl 1999 |
| gastric, Intestinal-type | 7/26 | 2 | | | 5 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Park 1999 |
| gastric, diffuse-type | 0/17 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Park 1999 |
| hepatocellular w/HCV | 9/22 | | | | 3 | 1 | | | | 3 | | | | 1 | | | | 2 | | | | | | Huang 1999 |
| hepatocellular | 12/35 | | | | 1 | 1 | 2 | 1 | 1 | | | | 1 | 2 | | | | 2 | | 1 | | | 2 | Van Nhieu 1999 |
| hepatocellular | 6/26 | | | | 2 | | 1 | | | 1 | | | | | | | | 1 | | | | | 1 | de la Coste 1998 |
| hepatocellular | 14/75 | | | | 5 | 1 | 1 | | | | | | | 1 | | | | 4 | | | | | 2 | Miyoshi 1998 |
| hepatocellular | 21/119 | | | | 3 | 3 | 1 | 1 | | 2 | | | | 4 | | | | 8 | | | | | 2 | Legoix 1999 |
| hepaloblasioma, sporadic | 8/9 | | | | | | 2 | | | 1 | | | | | | | | 1 | | | | | 4 | Jeng 2000 |
| hepaloblasioma, sporadic | 27/52 | | | | 2 | | 3 | | | 1 | | | | 5 | | | | | | | | | 16 | Koch 1999 |
| hepatoblastoma | 12/18 | | | | 2 | | 1 | | | | | | | 1 | | | | 1 | | | | | 1 | Wei 2000 |
| kidney, Wilm's tumor | 8/40 | | | | | | | | | | | | | 1 | | | | 2 | | | | | 3 | Koesters 1999 |
| medulloblastoma, sporaic | 3/67 | | | | | 2 | | | | 1 | | | | | | | | | | | , | | | Zurawel 1998 |
| melanoma | 1/65 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | 1 | | | | | | Garcia-Rostan 1999 |
| ovarian, endometriod | 7/13 | | | | 3 | 1 | | | | 2 | | | | 1 | | | | | | | | | 0 | Gamalio 1999 |
| ovarian, endometriod | 3/11 | | | | | | | | | 2 | | | | 1 | | | | | | | | | | Palacios 1998 |
| ovarian, endometriod | 10/63 | | | | | 2 | 2 | | | 6 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Wright 1999 |
| pancreatic tumors | 0/111 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Gerdes 1999 |
| pilomatricoma | 12/16 | | | | 2 | 4 | 3 | | | 2 | | | | 1 | | | | | | | | | | Chan 1999 |
| prostate cancer | 5/104 | | | | 1 | 2 | | | | | | | | 1 | | | | 1 | | | | | | Voeller 1998 |
| thyroid, anaplastic | 19/31 | | | | | 1 | | | 1 | 3 | 1 | | 8 | 2 | 1 | 1 | 4 | 2 | 1 | 2 | | 9 | 0 | Garcia-rostan 1999 |

<u>1.7.2 APC</u>

Structure: APC encodes a 300 KDa protein; the N-terminal domain contains an oligomerisation domain followed by seven repeats of an armadillo motif. The armadillo motif binds to KIF3 (kinesin super-family 3), a protein that regulate vesicle transport on microtubules, and to Asef, which is involved in cell migration. Additionally, PP2A (protein phosphatase 2A) binds to the N-terminal domain of APC. The middle portion contains three binding repeats and seven repeats more Cterminal to these (Fodde et al., 2001b). Both types of repeats are able to bind β catenin in its armadillo repeat region, which is also the binding-region for Ecadherin, Tcf and Axin. Therefore, the interactions of β -catenin with all these proteins are mutually exclusive (Morin, 1999; Kikuchi, 2000). The RGS (regulator of G protein signalling) domain of Axin interacts with the SAMP (Ser-Ala-Met-Pro) repeats which are located in between the C-terminal repeats that bind β -catenin (Kikuchi, 2000). Following the seven-20 aa repeats is a basic amino acid cluster region, which directly binds to microtubules (Smith et al., 1994) and another microtubule-binding protein EB1 (Su et al., 1995). The C-terminal domain also has an S/TXV motif that interacts with human Dlg (Drosophila discs large tumour suppressor protein) homolog, which is believed to have a role in cell cycle progression and neuronal function (Matsumine et al., 1996) (for APC structure, see Figure 5a).

Regulation of β -catenin and the cytoskeleton: APC is recognised as a tumour suppressor and mediates β -catenin downregulation by providing proximity between GSK3 β and β -catenin. APC is ubiquitously expressed and has been found both in the cytoplasm and in the nucleus (Akiyama, 2000). APC also participates in several cellular processes including cell adhesion, cell migration, signal transduction, microtubule assembly and chromosome segregation and apoptosis (Morin, 1999; Fodde, 2002). The subcellular localisation of APC was found to be important in maintaining the structural integrity of the cytoskeleton (Fodde, 2002) and it provides chromosomal stability.

In the destruction complex of β -catenin GSK3 β phosphorylates APC and thereby facilitates its binding to β -catenin and decreases APC binding to microtubules (Zumbrunn *et al.*, 2001). GSK3 β preferentially binds to APC/ β -catenin complexes rather than β -catenin alone in cancer cells (Morin, 1999).

A recent study showed that APC binds to CtBP and acts as an adaptor between β -catenin and CtBP. This results in APC/ β -catenin complexes being sequestered from Tcf, thus lowering the availability of nuclear β -catenin (Hamada and Bienz, 2004).

APC localises to clusters at microtubule ends (Nathke *et al.*, 1996; Mimori-Kiyosue *et al.*, 2000). The clusters result from movement of APC along the microtubules towards the growing ends. APC also interacts with a microtubule plusend-directed motor protein, KIF3, through an association with the kinesin superfamily-associated protein KAP3 (Jimbo *et al.*, 2002). The interaction between APC and KAP3 is required for the accumulation of APC in clusters. Therefore, a Cterminal truncated form of APC does not accumulate in clusters.

APC also localises to the external face of kinetochores where microtubules attach to chromosomes (Fodde *et al.*, 2001b). Cells that express a mutant APC that lacks the C-terminal region are prone to errors in chromosome segregation.

In addition to association with microtubules, APC is likely to connect to actin filaments. APC interacts with Asef, activates its ability to stimulate the GDP/GTP exchange of Rac and induces lamellipodia formation and ruffling of the plasma membrane, thereby stimulating cell migration (Kawasaki *et al.*, 2000). Although APC localises mainly to microtubules, when this interaction is disrupted it associates with the actin filaments.

Mutations and role in cancer: APC was identified on the gene responsible for FAP, an autosomal inherited disease that leads to the development of multiple tumours, especially to colorectal carcinomas. Mutations of APC are frequently identified in FAP and colorectal cancers, but are rare in other cancers (Polakis, 2000; Fodde *et al.*, 2001b). In FAP, germ-line mutations are scattered throughout the 5' half of the APC gene. APC is mutated in 85% of colon tumours, and the majority of the sporadic mutations located on the central region of APC, which typically result in C-terminal truncation of the gene. These truncated proteins can still bind to β -catenin but not to Axin, suggesting that the APC-Axin interaction is required for APC tumour suppression function (Akiyama, 2000; Seidensticker and Behrens, 2000). Moreover, mice lacking w.t APC but expressing a truncated mutant APC retaining a single Axin binding site are viable and do not develop intestinal neoplasia (Smits *et al.*, 1999). Selective pressure is directed against the presence of Axin-

binding sites, because these sites are critical in the regulation of β -catenin. The remaining N-terminal truncated form of APC may affect cell migration by activating Asef, leading to metastasis. Moreover, since APC has a role in microtubule attachment and stabilisation of kinetochores, truncated mutation in APC may be linked to the genetic instability, which is another early event in colorectal cancer.

The mutation cluster region (MCR) in APC is located between codons 1250-1500. A correlation between the presence of a germ-line mutation in the MCR and the severity of polyposis has been noted (Wu *et al.*, 1998; Ficari *et al.*, 2000). However, the enhanced severity of polyposis suggests there should also be selective pressure for somatic mutations in the MCR. Indeed, somatic mutations were found in the MCR and their appearance in this region seems to be relative to the position of the germ-line mutations in FAP (Lamlum *et al.*, 1999). In whichever case, the degradation of β -catenin is impaired when APC is mutated, leading to stabilisation of β -catenin and activation of target gene transcription.

<u>1.7.3 Axin</u>

Structure: Axin is a scaffold protein that provides proximity for physical interaction between several binding proteins. Axin consists of an N-terminal RGS (regulator of G protein signalling) domain that binds to APC, a central domain for binding to GSK3 β , β -catenin and CKI α , and the DIX domain in the C-terminus (for Axin structure, see Figure 5a). The DIX domain is crucial for binding to Dvl and for oligomerisation of Axin itself. Oligomerisation of Axin is essential for its role as a negative regulator in the Wnt pathway as C-terminal mutants are unable to inhibit transcription (Akiyama, 2000; Seidensticker and Behrens, 2000). The site phosphorylated by GSK3 β is adjacent to the N-terminal region of the GSK3 β -binding site (Ikeda *et al.*, 1998).

Phosphorylation and regulation: Phosphorylation of Axin by GSK3 β increases its stability and binding to β -catenin, which in turn facilitates the interaction between GSK3 β and β -catenin and phosphorylation of the latter by GSK3 β (Yamamoto *et al.*, 1999). Expression of Axin induces the downregulation and inactivation of β -catenin in several cell lines (Kishida *et al.*, 1998; Ross *et al.*, 2000; Kishida *et al.*, 2001; Reya *et al.*, 2003). Studies using the mouse Fused locus encoding Axin and xenopus embryos injected with Axin mRNA indicated that Axin inhibits dorsal axis formation by interfering with signalling through the Wnt pathway (Zeng et al., 1997). This suggests that Axin regulates an early step in embryonic axis formation in mammals and amphibians. One mechanism for β -catenin dissociation from the destruction complex involves interaction between Dvl/FRAT-1/PP2A, degradation and dephosphorylation of Axin (Kikuchi, 2000). FRAT-1 (frequently rearranged in advanced T-cell lymphomas) is a GSK3-binding protein and it can bind to GSK3β, the PDZ domain of Dvl and also complex with Axin (Seidensticker and Behrens, 2000). Wnt-mediated phosphorylation of Dvl by CKIE increases Dvl affinity for FRAT-1, which binds to and inhibits GSK3ß (Kishida et al., 2001; Lee et al., 2001). Therefore, the interaction between FRAT-1 and Dvl is believed to be involved in the dissociation of the β -catenin destruction complex. PP2A is a serine/threonine protein phosphatase and *in vitro* studies indicate it is one of the major candidates for Axin dephosphorylation. Axin binds directly to the PP2A catalytic subunit (Hsu et al., 1999). PP2A mutations have been found in primary colon tumours and the B56 subunit of PP2A interacts with APC to downregulate β -catenin (Peifer and Polakis, 2000; Polakis, 2000). Dephosphorylation of Axin during Wnt signalling leads to Axin instability, which weakens its binding to β -catenin and may also prevent GSK3 β from phosphorylating β -catenin. The interaction between Axin and APC is important for tumour suppression although mutants of Axin lacking the APC binding domain can still downregulate β -catenin (Akiyama, 2000).

The binding between Axin and LRP5 is believed to be important for the Wnt signalling pathway. Wnts induce Axin translocation to the plasma membrane where it binds to LRP5, and the LRP5 sequences involved in binding to Axin are required for Lef activation (Mao *et al.*, 2001b).

Dvl and Axin have the DIX domain that is important for homodimerisation and necessary for binding to intracellular vesicles and actin filaments (Capelluto *et al.*, 2002). This might suggest that Axin and Dvl are involved in regulation of receptor-mediated endocytosis of components of the Wnt signalling pathway.

Two additional Axin-interacting proteins have been identified: Diversin, which can also bind and recruit CKIE to the destruction complex of β -catenin (Schwarz-Romond *et al.*, 2002) and I-mfa (inhibitor of myogenic basic helix-loop-helix transcriptional factor)-domain containing protein, which interacts with Axin and decreases the inhibitory effect of Axin on β -catenin (Kusano and Raab-Traub, 2002).

Mutations and role in cancer: Based on its ability to downregulate β -catenin, Axin is expected to be a tumour suppressor. Indeed, studies have reported biallelic inactivation of Axin in HCC's (Satoh *et al.*, 2000). These mutations were found in carcinomas with intact genes of β -catenin and APC. All of these mutations generated truncated forms of Axin that lacked the β -catenin-binding site.

An Axin-related protein in mice, named conductin or Axin 2, has similar biochemical characteristics to Axin and is also able to downregulate β -catenin when it is overexpressed (Behrens *et al.*, 1998). However, conductin is not able to suppress Axin mutations in HCC. More recent reports suggested that Axin 2 is a direct β catenin/Tcf target gene, which is upregulated by Wnt and provide a mechanism for suppressing the Wnt signal (Yan *et al.*, 2001; Jho *et al.*, 2002; Lustig *et al.*, 2002).

<u>1.8 Glycogen Synthase Kinase-3</u>

Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3 (GSK-3) is a multifunctional serine/threonine kinase highly abundant in brain and found in all eukaryotes. It was first discovered as the enzyme capable of phosphorylating and inactivating glycogen synthase and thus preventing glycogen synthesis (Woodgett and Cohen, 1984). Apart from its involvement in glycogen metabolism, GSK-3 is also a key component of other signalling pathways such as those regulated by receptor tyrosine kinases and G-protein coupled receptors, and also the Wnts. GSK-3 is known to be involved in different cellular processes including cell-cycle regulation, cell adhesion, proliferation and apoptosis. Given its contribution to many cellular processes, it is not surprising that GSK-3 has been implicated in several human diseases including diabetes, Alzheimer's disease, bipolar disorder and cancer (reviewed in Doble and Woodgett, 2003).

<u>1.8.1 GSK-3 structure and phosphorylation sites</u>

GSK-3 found in mammalian cells exists in two isoforms, α and β that are encoded by distinct genes. GSK3 α has a mass of 51 KDa and GSK3 β is 47 KDa. Both isoforms share 98% homology in their kinase domains and 36% identity in their C-termini (Woodgett, 1990) (for GSK-3 structure, see Figure 6a). Although structurally similar, they exhibit different functions and cannot always compensate for each

other. For example, GSK3 α is unable to rescue the degenerative liver phenotype caused by the loss of GSK3 β in mice (Hoeflich *et al.*, 2000). GSK3 β is better characterised than GSK3 α , and GSK3 β has been studied in more detail in the context of the Wnt signalling pathway. Here, GSK3 α and GSK3 β will be referred to as GSK-3 when results apply to both forms.

GSK-3 has a preference for target proteins that are pre-phosphorylated at a 'priming' residue located C-terminal to the GSK-3-phosphorylation site (Fiol *et al.*, 1987). The consensus sequence for a GSK-3 substrate is Ser/Thr-X-X-Ser/Thr-P, where the first Ser/Thr is the target residue and the last is the priming site (X=any amino acid, but often proline). The efficiency of phosphorylation of primed substrates is 100-1000 fold higher (Thomas *et al.*, 1999). The pre-phosphorylated residue is believed to bind to a positively charged pocket in GSK-3 that both optimises the orientation of the kinase domain and places the substrate at the correct position for phosphorylation in the catalytic groove. Mutation of arginine 96 to alanine (R96A), in GSK3 β disrupts the positively charged pocket so that primed substrates can no longer bind, although the enzyme retains its activity towards unprimed substrates (Frame *et al.*, 2001).

Studies of the crystal structure of GSK-3 have revealed that the activation loop (the T-loop) is tyrosine-phosphorylated at Y216 and Y279 in GSK3 β and GSK3 α , respectively. This could play a role in forcing open the substrate-binding site (Dajani *et al.*, 2001) (for GSK-3 phosphorylation sites, see Figure 6a). Although the kinase responsible for this phosphorylation has not been identified in mammalian cells, one candidate, named Zak1, was found to phosphorylate the Y216 equivalent in the slime mould Dictyostelium discoideum (Kim *et al.*, 1999). It is also possible that tyrosine phosphorylation in GSK-3 is an autocatalytic event (Wang *et al.*, 1994). Apoptotic stimuli such as staurosporine treatment or neurotrophic factor withdrawl increase GSK-3 activity and enhance tyrosine phosphorylation in certain neuronal cells (Bhat *et al.*, 2000; Bijur and Jope, 2001). In addition, LPA (lysophosphatidic acid), which is known to cause apoptosis in adult neurons, also leads to an increase in GSK-3 tyrosine phosphorylation (Sayas *et al.*, 2002). These findings suggest a role for tyrosine phosphorylation of GSK-3 in apoptosis.

Another major phosphorylation site in GSK3 β and GSK3 α is inhibitory and occurs on Serine 9 and Serine 21, respectively. Stimulation of cells with insulin

causes inactivation of GSK-3. This occurs via PI3K-induced activation of PKB, which then phosphorylates and inactivates GSK-3 (Cross *et al.*, 1995). Other stimuli that lead to inactivation of GSK-3 through serine phosphorylation include the growth factors EGF and PDGF, which stimulate the GSK3 β -inactivating kinase called MAPK-activated protein kinase-1 (MAPKAP-K1) (Brady *et al.*, 1998), PKC activators (Fang *et al.*, 2002), PKA activators (Li *et al.*, 2000) and p70 ribosomal S6 kinase-1 (S6K1) activators (Armstrong *et al.*, 2001). Phosphorylation of S9/S21 creates a primed pseudosubstrate in GSK-3 that binds to the positively charged pocket. The N-terminal domain folds back onto arginine 96 in the catalytic domain, thus acting as a competitive inhibitor for true substrates (primed or unprimed) (reviewed in Doble and Woodgett, 2003).

Figure 6a- GSK-3 structure and phosphorylation sites



Fig 6a. Schematic representation of the main domains in GSK3 α and GSK3 β . Inhibitory phosphorylation site on serine are indicated in pink and activating phosphorylation site on tyrosine are indicated in red. Kinase domain (in yellow) with the T-loop and their mass (KDa) are also indicated.

1.8.2 GSK3 β in the Wnt signalling pathway

GSK3β phosphorylates β-catenin on serine and threonine residues in the N-terminal region, and this targets for ubiquitination and degradation by the proteasome. Several reports have determined that β-catenin is a primed substrate for GSK3β as it gets phosphorylated by CKI α on S45 (Amit *et al.*, 2002; Hagen and Vidal-Puig, 2002; Liu *et al.*, 2002; Yanagawa *et al.*, 2002).

Expression of FRAT-1 stimulates β -catenin/Tcf signalling because it sequesters GSK3 β from the β -catenin-degradation complex (Li *et al.*, 1999). A small peptide derived from FRAT called FRAT-tide is sufficient to prevent Axin binding to

GSK3 β and phosphorylation of Axin and β -catenin due to an overlap in the binding sites for FRAT and Axin in GSK3 β (Thomas *et al.*, 1999; Bax *et al.*, 2001). A mutant of GSK3 β that cannot bind to FRAT accumulates in the nucleus, suggesting that FRAT is also involved in the nuclear export of GSK3 β (Franca-Koh *et al.*, 2002). Smalley *et al.* (1999) found that expression of a domain of Axin that interacts with GSK3 β but not with β -catenin, activated β -catenin/Tcf signaling in a similar manner to FRAT (Smalley *et al.*, 1999). Surprisingly, FRAT homologues have not been identified in Drosophila or C. eleganc. Moreover, the targeted inactivation of all three FRAT genes in mice has no phenotype, indicating that FRAT is not a core component of the Wnt pathway.

Interestingly, GSK3 β bound to Axin does not become phosphorylated on S9 in response to insulin, restricting the effects of insulin to the pool of GSK3 β , which is not bound to Axin. Conversely, Wnt signalling does not appear to affect insulin signalling (Ding *et al.*, 2000). This indicates that GSK3 β function in the Wnt signalling pathway is insulated from GSK3 β regulators that are not part of the Wnt pathway, possibly due to an effective sequestration of GSK3 β by Axin in the destruction complex (reviewed in Doble and Woodgett, 2003).

1.8.3 Other pathways and substrates to GSK-3

GSK-3 plays a role in the regulation of various pathways such as glycogen synthesis, nuclear export of cyclin D1 and STAT (signal transducer and activator of transcription), and the hedgehog pathway. Phosphorylation by GSK-3 often has an inhibitory effect on its substrates. Consistent with this, GSK-3 activity tends to be negatively-regulated by ligands such as insulin, EGF and Wnt. Signal transduction initiated by Wnt, for example, leads to GSK3 β inactivation and hence activation of Wnt/ β -catenin-mediated transcription (reviewed in Doble and Woodgett, 2003).

<u>Glycogen metabolism</u>- Insulin stimulates the dephosphorylation and activation of glycogen synthase, the rate-limiting enzyme of glycogen synthesis. This occurs by a combination of events, including regulation of phosphatase activity, activation of PI3K and subsequent PKB phosphorylation and inactivation of GSK-3. Moreover, insulin, by inhibiting GSK-3, also stimulates the dephosphorylation and activation of the initiation factor 2B, leading to an increased rate of protein synthesis (Welsh and Proud, 1993; Welsh *et al.*, 1998; Frame and Cohen, 2001).

<u>The hedgehog pathway (Hh)-</u> Recent studies in Drosophila discovered another function for GSK-3 in the Hh pathway. Interestingly, the Hh and the Wnt signalling pathways are somewhat similar (Jia *et al.*, 2002; Price and Kalderon, 2002). First, both Wnt and Hh are secreted proteins involved in embryonic patterning. Second, rather than β -catenin, the Hh pathway uses the protein Cubitus interruptus (Ci) to transduce its signal to the nucleus, and, in the absence of ligand, Ci is targeted for partial proteolysis (Ingham and McMahon, 2001). GSK-3, in combination with CKI and PKA, phosphorylates Ci155, to target it for proteolysis in the absence of a Hh signal.

<u>Cell adhesion</u>- GSK-3 plays an important role in cell adhesion by regulating the epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) that occurs during embryonic development and tumour progression. GSK3 β binds and phosphorylates the zinc-finger transcription factor Snail, which is a repressor of E-cadherin and an inducer of the EMT (Zhou *et al.*, 2004). GSK3 β phosphorylates Snail at two sites; the first site regulates its β -TrCP-mediated ubiquitination and the second controls its cellular localisation. Inhibition of GSK-3 results in the upregulation of Snail and downregulation of E-cadherin *in vivo*. Recently, another study demonstrated that GSK-3 inhibits the transcription of Snail and thereby maintains E-cadherin expression (Bachelder *et al.*, 2005).

<u>Cell cycle</u>- GSK-3 phosphorylates cyclin D1 on T286, which triggers its nuclear export and subsequent proteolysis (Alt *et al.*, 2000). This phosphorylation is enhanced if cyclin D1 is bound to CDK4, thus inhibiting entry into S-phase (Diehl *et al.*, 1998). Treatment of rat intestinal epithelial cells with the GSK-3 inhibitor LiCl, increases cyclin D1 protein levels (Shao *et al.*, 2000).

<u>Transcriptional control</u>- GSK-3 phosphorylates and regulates the activity of several transcription factors. For example, GSK-3 phosphorylates c-Jun at T239, S243 and S249 in a region proximal to the DNA-binding domain, which results in decreased binding of c-Jun to DNA and activation of transcription. The same phosphorylation sites are conserved in the JunB and JunD isoforms as well as in the oncogenic form v-Jun (Boyle *et al.*, 1991; de Groot *et al.*, 1993; Nikolakaki *et al.*, 1993).

Another factor phosphorylated by GSK-3 is C/EBP α (CCAAT enhancer binding protein α), a transcription factor that controls the expression of many genes and is

required for preadipocyte differentiation. GSK-3 phosphorylates C/EBP α on two threonine residues (222 and 226). An unidentified kinase may prime phosphorylates on T226 by phosphorylating T230. In 3T3-L1 preadipocytes, C/EBP α becomes dephosphorylated in response to insulin and LiCl (Ross *et al.*, 1999).

C-myc, the immediate early gene transcription factor that plays important roles in the regulation of cell proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis, can be phosphorylated both by ERK2 (extracellular signal-regulated kinase 2) and GSK-3. ERK2 is the priming kinase phosphorylating c-myc on S62 and this in turn triggers GSK-3 phosphorylation on T58, which targets c-myc for ubiquitin-mediated degradation (Sears *et al.*, 2000).

The nuclear factor of activated T-cells c (NFATc) is involved in the regulation of interleukin-2 production and T-cell proliferation when it is not phosphorylated. NFATc can be phosphorylated at several sites clustered in the NFAT homology domain. This phosphorylation is inhibitory and prevents its binding to DNA. At least some of these sites can be phosphorylated by GSK-3 *in vitro*, and overexpression of GSK-3 promotes NFATc nuclear export (Beals *et al.*, 1997).

Heat-shock factor-1 (HSF-1) is a key regulator of heat-shock genes. In resting conditions its activity is suppressed by phosphorylation on S303 by GSK-3, which is dependent on prior phosphorylation on S307 by ERK1 (Chu *et al.*, 1998). In Xenopus oocytes, 25 mM LiCl elevates heat-shock-induced DNA binding of HSF-1 and delays attenuation of DNA binding during recovery from heat shock (Xavier *et al.*, 2000).

<u>Apoptosis and inflammation</u> –GSK-3 plays an important role in apoptosis. It was first discovered to induce apoptosis in pheochromocytoma (PC12) cells and Rat-1 fibroblasts. In neuroblastoma cells, LiCl treatment protects cells from apoptosis induced by heat shock, whereas overexpression of GSK-3 has the opposite effect (Bijur *et al.*, 2000). Similarly, LiCl and two other GSK-3 inhibitors (SB216763 and SB415286) protect cerebellar granule neurons from apoptosis (Cross *et al.*, 2001). The mechanism by which the inhibition of GSK-3 suppresses apoptosis is not fully understood, but it involves the PI3K cell survival pathway. It is known that survival factors that inhibit GSK-3 via PI3K and PKB do not stabilise β -catenin and β catenin/Tcf-dependent gene transcription. However, it is possible that β -catenin/Tcf target genes are involved in apoptosis regulation, since GSK-3 inhibition via Wnt1 can inhibit apoptosis by activating β -catenin/Tcf-mediated transcription in Rat-1 fibroblasts (Chen *et al.*, 2001). In addition, it has been shown that the tumour suppressor p53 binds and activates GSK-3 in the nucleus of neuroblastoma cells treated with an inhibitor that induces DNA damage and stimulates p53 response (Watcharasit *et al.*, 2002).

In contrast with the pro-apoptotic effect of GSK-3 in neuronal cells, mice that do not express GSK3 β die in utero as a result of increasing apoptosis in the liver (Hoeflich *et al.*, 2000). Possibly this is caused by an imbalance in the anti-apoptotic signalling induced by tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) as a similar phenotype has been observed in mice harbouring defects in the NF-kB pathway (Davis *et al.*, 2001). This suggests that GSK3 β is required for the nuclear function of NF-kB, and implies that inhibition of GSK3 β is important in inflammatory responses. In summary, GSK-3 seems to play an important, but tissue-specific, role in apoptosis.

1.8.4 GSK-3 in human disease

Many of the pathways that GSK-3 is involved in are linked to human diseases. Theoretically, GSK-3 would seem to be a potential tumour suppressor, however, no mutations or deletions in its coding gene have been found in human tumours (reviewed in Polakis, 2000). The Wnt and Hedgehog pathways are both involved in several forms of human cancer. Additionally, GSK-3 is linked to Alzheimer's disease, since GSK-3-mediated hyperphosphorylation of tau, which is associated with neurofibrillary tangles, is one of the hallmarks of this disease. In normal brain, tau is a soluble protein that stabilises microtubules and promotes their polymerisation. Hyperphosphorylation of tau leads to its assembly into filaments and inability to bind to microtubules (Yoshida and Ihara, 1993; Leclerc et al., 2001). These events are believed to underlie the degeneration of nerve cells. Many kinases, including GSK-3, have been shown to phosphorylate tau in vitro, and several lines of evidence have shown that GSK-3 can also phosphorylate tau in vivo (Hanger et al., 1992; Mandelkow et al., 1992). For example, LiCl induces partial dephosphorylation of tau in the brain and affects microtubule stability (Munoz-Montano et al., 1997). Morover, insulin and IGF-1 induce tau dephosphorylation in human neuronal NT2N cells via PI3K, suggesting that tau phophorylation is GSK-3 dependent (Bramblett et al., 1993). Several genes have been genetically associated with Alzheimer's. One of

them is Presenilin1, which was found to associate with β -catenin independently of the Wnt pathway (Kosik, 1998). However, the effects of this interaction are controversial, with one report suggesting destabilisation of β -catenin and induction of neuronal apoptosis (Zhang *et al.*, 1998) and the other indicating no effect.

The use of LiCl revealed an implication for GSK-3 in other neurodegenerative diseases such as bipolar disorder, and epilepsy (Chen 1999, Manji 1999)(Chen *et al.*, 1999).

Apart from a role in neurological pathologies, GSK-3 also plays a role in the development of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (NIDDM/ diabetes type II). The initial stages of the disease are characterised by resistance to insulin in peripheral tissues, which later leads to inability of the pancreas to produce enough insulin. Levels and activity of GSK-3 are moderately elevated in diabetic mice (Eldar-Finkelman et al., 1999). Selective maleimide-based GSK-3 inhibitors, named SB415286 and SB216763, have a great therapeutic potential for the treatment of the disease. In liver cells, these inhibitors promote the dephosphorylation and activation of glycogen synthase, facilitating the conversion from glucose to glycogen (Coghlan et al., 2000). In addition, these compounds were able to repress the expression of genes encoding the enzymes that control hepatic gluconeogenesis (Lochhead et al., 2001). This suggests that GSK-3 inhibitors might be able to suppress the production of glucose by the liver, as well as enhance its conversion into glycogen. Recently, several other potent inhibitors of GSK-3 were studied. CHIR 99021, and the closely related compounds, CHIR 98023 and CHIR 98014, also promoted the activation of glycogen synthase and stimulated glycogen deposition in the liver. Interestingly, in zucker diabetic fatty (ZDF) rats, these compounds were found effective in lowering the concentrations of glucose and insulin, reflecting improved sensitivity to insulin (Cline et al., 2002; Ring et al., 2003).

1.8.5 Inhibition of GSK-3

Given the link between abnormal GSK-3 activity and various human diseases, interest in finding appropriate inhibitors of GSK-3 has increased in the last few years. LiCl, the best characterised GSK-3 inhibitor, primarily used as a therapeutic agent for bipolar disorder, is also used in Alzheimer's disease, epilepsy and studies on diabetes type II. LiCl inhibits through competing with magnesium (Mg²⁺), but not

with the substrate or ATP (Klein and Melton, 1996; Ryves and Harwood, 2001). LiCl inhibition of GSK-3 also occurs indirectly by inceasing of the inhibitory serine phosphorylation site in GSK-3 (Klein and Melton, 1996). However, LiCl is not a selective inhibitor of GSK-3 and it is known to affect other enzymes and pathways that complicate interpretation of any results obtained. These include inhibition of polyphosphate 1-phosphatase, inositol monophosphatase, casein kinase-II (CKII), MAP kinase-activated protein kinase-2 (MAPKAP-K2) and p38-regulated/activated kinase (PRAK) (Berridge et al., 1989; Davies et al., 2000), as well as activation of PKB and JNK in cellular pathways (Chalecka-Franaszek and Chuang, 1999; Yuan et al., 1999). Several new GSK-3 inhibitors have been recently developed, most of which are ATP competitive. SB415286 and SB216763, developed by Glaxo SmithKline (GSK), are small, highly potent and very selective for GSK-3 (Coghlan et al., 2000) (Smith et al., 2001) (for chemical structures of SB415286 and SB216763, see Figure 6b). They were found to be neuroprotective in primary neurons induced to die by inhibition of the PI3K pathway (Cross et al., 2001). Interestingly, treatment with these compounds was found to be more potent than FRAT-1 overexpression in mammalian cells in terms of neuroprotection (Culbert et al., 2001). Moreover, Coghlan et al. (2000) showed that these compounds are able to induce β-catenin/Tcf-mediated transcription in HEK 293 cells in a dose-dependent manner (maximal effective concentration of 5 μ M and 30 μ M for SB216763 and SB415286, respectively). Although LiCl also induces β-catenin/Tcf-mediated transcription in this assay, it also stimulates the response of a control β -cateninindependent reporter (Coghlan et al., 2000).

Recently, studies on new GSK-3 inhibitors, named CHIR 99021 (Cline *et al.*, 2002; Ring *et al.*, 2003), AR-A014418 (Bhat *et al.*, 2003) and bis-7-indolylmaleimide (Kuo *et al.*, 2003) revealed they are highly potent and very specific. As mentioned earlier, CHIR 99021, and closely related compounds, were studied in rodent models of type II diabetes and found very efficient.

Interestingly, the new natural product 6-bromoindirubin and its synthetic, cellpermeable derivative, 6-bromoindirubin-3'-oxime (BIO), were recently discovered to have selective inhibitory effects for GSK-3. Cocrystal studies showed that BIO interacts with the ATP binding pocket of GSK3β. BIO inhibits the phosphorylation on Y276 in GSK3 α and Y216 in GSK3 β (Meijer *et al.*, 2003), and is also able to activate the Wnt pathway in studies on embryonic stem cells (Sato *et al.*, 2004).

Other GSK-3 inhibitors include the bivalent form of zinc, which mimics the action of insulin (Ilouz *et al.*, 2002), the paullone type compounds (for example, kenpaullone), which are ATP competitive and also inhibit CDK's (Schultz *et al.*, 1999), beryllium (Be^{2+}), another metal ion, which competes for Mg²⁺ and ATP and can inhibit GSK-3 to half its maximal activity *in vitro* (Ryves *et al.*, 2002). Additionally, small thiadiazolidinones (TDZD) derivatives, are non-ATP competitive GSK-3 inhibitors and are believed to interact with the primed phosphate substrate binding site of GSK-3 and thereby inhibit its function (Martinez *et al.*, 2002).

Figure 6b- The chemical structure of SB415286 and SB216763



Fig 6b. SB216763 (a) and SB415286 (b) are maleimide-based inhibitors.

1.8.6 GSK3 β regulation of AR and PCa

Several studies have suggested a potential link between AR and GSK3 β signalling pathways. First, testosterone, but not estrogen, prevents the heat-shock-induced overexpression of GSK3 β , suggesting a role for androgen as a neuroprotective agent (Papasozomenos and Shanavas, 2002). Second, GSK3 β inactivation results in increased nuclear levels of β -catenin, which is believed to augment AR activity in PCa cells (Sharma *et al.*, 2002). However, several reports on the role of GSK3 β in the regulation of AR activity and growth of PCa cells contribute contradicting results to this research. Salas *et al.* (2004) showed that GSK3 β phosphorylates AR and inhibits its transcriptional activity directly when the Akt pathway is bypassed (Salas

et al., 2004). The PI3K inhibitor, LY294002, causes an increase in AR phosphorylation while LiCI leads to a reduction in AR phosphorylation in PCa cells stably expressing a constitutively-active construct of GSK3^β. Another group supported these results by showing that GSK3ß phosphorylates and binds the AR Nterminal domain *in vitro* and inactivates it in COS-1 and LNCaP cells (Wang *et al.*, 2004). Moreover, Wang et al. (2004) also showed that treatment with LiCl blocks the inhibitory effect of GSK-3 on AR in COS-1 cells, and a constitutively-active construct of GSK3B (S9A) leads to a growth arrest in the PCa cell line CWR22R. According to this group, GSK3ß directly influences AR activity, since GSK3ß affects the AF-1 activity of AR and not AF-2, which is involved in the regulation of AR by β -catenin. In contrast, a third group found that GSK3 β is required for androgen-stimulated expression of PSA promotor activity and they observed a reduction in AR activity in PCa cells in the presence of GSK-3 chemical inhibitors or GSK3ß siRNA (Liao et al., 2004). Additionally the latter group also showed an increase in GSK3ß Y216 phosphorylation in androgen-stimulated LNCaP cells. This was suppressed by PI3K inhibitors, however, further experiments suggested that Akt is not involved in this regulation.

1.9 The Wnt signalling pathway in human cancer

The Wnt signalling pathway and its components are involved in many human carcinomas and the development of neoplastic processes from initiation, proliferation and progression to mutation accumulation. The interest in Wnt gene involvement in human cancer increased with the identification of Wnt-1 as an oncogene in mouse mammary tumours. However, to date, mutations or amplification of genes encoding Wnt ligands or receptors have not been reported in cancer (reviewed in Miller *et al.*, 1999; Polakis, 2000). On the other hand, several intracellular components of the Wnt pathway including APC, Axin and β -catenin, have been implicated in human cancers (for details on mutations and role of β -catenin, APC and Axin in cancer, see section 1.7). The Wnt signalling pathway is aberrantly activated in tumours of many tissues, including the prostate. The best studied carcinoma, in which the canonical Wnt signalling pathway is activated, is colon cancer (Morin, 1999; Seidensticker and Behrens, 2000). Tumours with mutations in the tumour suppressor APC have

increased level of free β -catenin. Interestingly, in 50% of colon carcinomas with intact APC, the B-catenin gene (CTNNB1) is mutated (Morin, 1999; Peifer and Polakis, 2000; Fodde, 2002). Some tumours were found to have mutations outside the regulatory region in CTNNB1 and these are believed to affect cell adhesion (Morin, 1999). Another common tumour that has mutations in genes involved in the Wnt pathway is hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Missense mutations and interstitial deletions were found in β -catenin in HCC tumours. In addition, Axin was found mutated in 10% of HCC tumours when β -catenin was not mutated (Buendia, 2000; Polakis, 2000; Tannapfel and Wittekind, 2002). In gastric cancer, apart from mutations in the CTNNB1 gene, tumours also have germline mutations in Ecadherin, APC promotor hypermethylation, Fz upregulation and down regulation of the Wnt antagonist sFRP (Groden, 2000; To et al., 2001). Other human tumours that show accumulation of β -catenin protein or mutations in the β -catenin gene include melanoma. ovarian cancer, cervical cancer, medullublastoma and lung adenocarcinoma (reviewed in Polakis, 2000; Karim et al., 2004).

1.9.1 Evidence for β-catenin/Wnt signalling involvement in PCa

Given the oncogenic activity of β -catenin and its connection to human cancers, interest in its expression and function in PCa has increased in the last few years. About 5% of primary prostate tumours have activating mutations in β -catenin, most of which consist of missense changes in the conserved residues important for its phosphorylation-dependent degradation (Voeller *et al.*, 1998; Chesire *et al.*, 2000; Gerstein *et al.*, 2002; de la Taille *et al.*, 2003) (for a summary of β -catenin mutations found in PCa, see Figure 7). In addition, the mutations are present focally suggesting they occur during tumour progression. In another report a similar rate of mutation was found when screening the same region of β -catenin in primary prostate tumours and additionally, the mutation-positive tumours accumulated β -catenin in the nucleus (Chesire *et al.*, 2000). In all the studies that examined β -catenin mutations in PCa, only one alteration, which was a 23 codon (Δ 24-47) deletion of the entire GSK3 β phosphorylation site, was found in advanced cases. A similar observation was reported in colon cancer studies where more β -catenin missense changes were found in small colorectal adenomas compared with in adenocarcinomas, and interstitial

deletions were exclusively found in adenocarcinomas, suggesting that deletions in β catenin are associated with more aggressive types of cancer (Iwao *et al.*, 1998; Samowitz *et al.*, 1999). The detection of β -catenin missense alterations in primary PCa tumours possibly indicates that β -catenin contributes to early tumour formation and/or less aggressive cancer. One interesting *in vivo* study that was carried out in normal prostate using transgenic mice shed a different light on these conclusions. Gounari *et al.* (2002) engineered transgenic mice to express mutant β -catenin that lacks the entire GSK3 β phosphorylation domain (Catnb +/lox(ex3)). These mice developed PIN-like lesions, which are associated with early disease that can progress to PCa, indicating that stabilised β -catenin induces prostate growth. However, these PIN-like lesions did not progress to an advanced prostate carcinoma. This suggests that β -catenin deregulation might not be sufficient to promote malignancy but have a role in the development of early tumour formation (Gounari *et al.*, 2002).

Importantly, Chesire et al. (Chesire et al., 2002) showed that 25% of metastatic tumours contained nuclear β -catenin, but that the β -catenin gene was normal in all but one of the tumours examined. Another report on β -catenin localisation showed that it was aberrantly localised in the cytoplasm and/or nucleus of 23% and 39% of primary and advanced tumours, respectively (de la Taille et al., 2003). A study by Gerstein et al. (2002) reported a loss of APC in a small number of AI lesions, raising the possibility that this could be the cause for the aberrant β -catenin localisation reported by de la Taille et al. (2003). In addition to gene loss, altered expression of APC in advanced PCa might be related to promotor hypermethylation (Maruyama et al., 2002). However, APC is involved in other processes in addition to control of β catenin. For example, APC has a positive role in chromosomal stability (Fodde et al., 2001a; Kaplan et al., 2001). Another member of the Wnt pathway that was found altered in PCa is the E3 ubiquitin ligase component, β -TrCP, which binds the phosphorylated β-catenin and activates its ubiquitination-dependent degradation (Gerstein et al., 2002). E-cadherin, which is involved in cell-cell adhesion and also binds to β-catenin, was reported to have altered expression in 50% of PCa tumours (Umbas et al., 1992). One hypothesis suggests that altered E-cadherin expression promotes tumour progression not only by allowing loss of adhesion but also by affecting β-catenin intracellular balance, which, in turn, might lead to an increase in β-catenin/Tcf transcriptional activity. Taken together, these results suggest that

processes other than mutations in β -catenin alone might play an important role in the progression of PCa.

Truica et al. (2000) were the first to report that β -catenin, especially an active form of β -catenin, enhances AR-dependent transcription in an AD manner in the LNCaP PCa cell line (Truica et al., 2000). Using the immunoprecipitation technique in LNCaP cells they also demonstrated that AR and β -catenin form a complex. The interaction between AR and β -catenin was detected in the absence and presence of androgens, however, addition of hormone increased the amount of complex. Their results also suggested a role for β -catenin in the transition to the AI state by showing that β-catenin can relieve the suppression of the anti-androgen bicalutamide on AD transcription and change the sensitivity of AR to ligand such that it responds to weak adrenal androgens (for example, androstenedione) and estradiol. Another study demonstrated a ligand-dependent protein-protein interaction between AR and βcatenin using the Yeast Two Hybrid System. This requires the LBD of AR, and the first six armadillo repeats of β -catenin (Yang *et al.*, 2002). Interestingly, although LXXLL motifs, which are known to be important in most coactivators for binding and modulating nuclear receptor activity, are present in β -catenin, they do not seem to be involved in the regulation of AR transactivation (Yang et al., 2002; Song et al., 2003). Immunolocalisation assays using overexpressed β -catenin and AR revealed that β -catenin is predominantly cytoplasmic in the absence of androgens and upon androgen treatment, translocates to the nucleus with the agonist-bound AR to activate AR-mediated transcription (Mulholland et al., 2002; Pawlowski et al., 2002; Yang et al., 2002). Although Chesire et al. (2002) were unable to detect β -catenin ligand-mediated nuclear localisation in PCa cells, they did show that β -catenin localises to the nucleus during testosterone-induced prostate gland re-growth in a castrated rat model (Chesire et al., 2002). Moreover, ectopic expression of Ecadherin in E-cadherin-negative cells leads to redistribution of β -catenin to the cell membrane and a reduction in AR activity (Yang et al., 2002). Interestingly, a recent report indicated that Wnt3A-conditioned medium induces the formation of AR/βcatenin complexes in the nucleus (Verras et al., 2004). Moreover, in support of the other reports, they also documented that these complexes were more abundant in LNCaP cells in the presence of androgens.

Several reports have investigated the possibility that β -catenin also binds and regulates the transactivation of other nuclear receptors. Their results demonstrated that, similar to enhancement of AR transcriptional activity, β -catenin also coactivates RAR and VDR (Easwaran *et al.*, 1999; Palmer *et al.*, 2001; Pawlowski *et al.*, 2002; Yang *et al.*, 2002). Interestingly, although the AR LBD shares a high degree of conservation with the LBD of ER, PR and GR and much less homology with RAR and VDR, a cross-regulation between β -catenin and the former group of receptors was not detected.

There is increasing evidence that activation of AR-dependent transcription has an inhibitory effect on Wnt-dependent transcription due to a competition between AR and Tcf/Lef transcription factors over binding to β -catenin (Chesire and Isaacs, 2002; Pawlowski *et al.*, 2002; Mulholland *et al.*, 2003; Song *et al.*, 2003). Using transient transfections in CV-1 and GnRH neuronal cells, two separate studies have shown that liganded AR represses β -catenin/Tcf-responsive promotor activity and Tcf inhibits AR independently of β -catenin (Pawlowski *et al.*, 2002; Song *et al.*, 2003). Mullholand et al. (2003) used GFP and HcRed-fused proteins to quantify the reciprocal balance of β -catenin between Tcf-4 and AR using SW480 cells transfected with AR. This group reported that the same amount of protein colocalisation of β -catenin and Tcf-4 was found in cells that were treated with DHT or in untreaed cells, respectively. They also showed that the anti-androgen, casodex, reduces the AR-mediated inhibition of Tcf-4-dependent transcription (Mulholland *et al.*, 2003).

In summary, there is increasing evidence that components of the Wnt pathway are involved in the progression of PCa. The published data support the hypothesis that processes other than mutations in β -catenin lead to its aberrant localisation in advanced PCa. The discoveries that β -catenin is able to bind AR *in vivo* and *in vitro* and is found nuclear in prostate tumours suggest a mechanism by which β -catenin regulates AR activity in PCa. Moreover, reports demonstrating the ability of β catenin to alter AR ligand specificity suggest that β -catenin and possibly the Wnt pathway have a role in the transition from AD to AI disease. However, this possibility requires further investigation.

The majority of the experiments described above were carried out using nonprostate cell lines and/or by overexpressing mutant 'activated' forms of β -catenin using strong promoters. However, most advanced prostate tumours have w.t endogenous nuclear β -catenin (Chesire *et al.*, 2002). Moreover, artificial overexpression of β -catenin can also affect signalling pathways that are not regulated by endogenous β -catenin, for example, activation of p53 (Damalas *et al.*, 1999; Oren *et al.*, 2002). One of the goals of my work was to determine the importance of endogenous β -catenin and the involvement of the canonical Wnt signalling pathway in the regulation of AR activity in PCa cells.

| - | T | - | | - | 7 | | | | 7 | - | | - | T | |
|--------|--------|---------|---------------------|--------|--------|-----|--------------------|-------------|---------|---------|-----------|-----|-----|---|
| D | S | G | I | H | S | G | A | T | T | T | A | P | S | Amino acid |
| 32 | 33 | 34 | 35 | 36 | 37 | 38 | 39 | 40 | 41 | 42 | 43 | 44 | 45 | Residue number |
| Y | F F | | | | | | | . | A | | · | | Δ | (Voeller <i>et al.</i> , 1998)5/100, 0/4 |
| G N | С | (n. 15) | | | | | | | I A* | | | | Р | (Chesire <i>et al.</i> , 2002) 6/82, 1/19 |
| < | ***** | a | ** #*** * *** * *** | ****** | ****** | Δ24 | -47 [†] - | *********** | | ******* | ********* | | ~~> | |
| | | | | | | | | | A I | | | -12 | | (Gerstein <i>et al.</i> , 2002) 2/7, 0/12 |

Figure 7- A summary of β-catenin mutations found in PCa

Fig 7. β -catenin regulatory domain mutations in PCa. β -catenin phosphorylation sites are indicated by arrow heads above the amino acids. References of studies done on β -catenin alteration in PCa are shown and below listed the number of changes detected per cases tested (localised (in blue) and advanced PCa (in red)). Amino acid changes or deletion are noted. Except for $\Delta 24$ -47 mutation, all mutations were found in primary tumours. Δ indicates deleted codons, * indicates mutation occured in a xenograft, † indicates mutation observed in hormonal failure cases. Based on Chesire *et al.* review (2003)(Chesire and Isaacs, 2003)

1.10 PCa cell lines studies

One of the major problems in studying PCa and defining its molecular basis has been the shortage of model systems. This is due to a limitation in availability of tissue, heterogeneity within surgical prostatectomy samples, difficulties in growing explants *in vitro*, and also a limited number of immortalised cell lines. A few *in vitro* transplantable human PCa cell lines have been characterised. The most studied cell lines are DU145, PC3 and LNCaP. The DU145 cell line was isolated from a human brain metastasis and identified as a moderately differentiated adenocarcinoma with foci of poorly differentiated cells (Mickey *et al.*, 1977; Stone *et al.*, 1978). The PC3 cell line was isolated from a bone metastasis of an undifferentiated adenocarcinoma of the prostate (Kaighn *et al.*, 1979). Both DU145 and PC3 cells have lost their AR expression and exhibit hormone resistance characteristics. The androgen-responsive cell line, LNCaP was derived from a needle aspiration biopsy of a metastatic lesion in the lymph node. LNCaP cells grow faster in a medium containing fetal bovine serum compared to a medium containing hormone-depleted serum (Horoszewicz *et al.*, 1980; Horoszewicz *et al.*, 1983). These cells express AR, although it contains a single-point mutation that results in a substitution in the LBD that alters the receptor ligand-specificity (T877A) (for AR mutations see section 1.5.2-1) (Veldscholte *et al.*, 1992a; Veldscholte *et al.*, 1992b). LNCaP-r is a hormone resistant cell line that originated from LNCaP cells that were subcultured in low levels of androgens (0.04 nmol/l testosterone), mimicking the development of hormone-resistant carcinomas seen in patients (Pousette *et al.*, 1997). The model system of LNCaP/LNCaP-r has been very useful for studying the differences in PCa markers between AD and AI cell lines and the way AD cells progress to the hormone resistance stage.

Recently, a number of prostate cancer xenografts, grown in severe combined immuno-deficient mice (SCID), have been established (Klein et al., 1997; Craft et al., 1999a; Laitinen et al., 2002) and cell lines derived from them are widely used in PCa research. Using xenograft models allows the expansion of a small amount of tissue for analysis and the enrichment of a relatively homogenous tumour cell population from a heterogeneous biopsy sample. In addition, the lines derived from xenografts originated from patients at different stages of the disease and therefore represent both AD and AI carcinomas. In this study, two such cell lines were used, LAPC-4, and CWR-R1. LAPC-4 cells are derived from an androgen-responsive xenograft and retain all the tumour characteristics such as expression of PSA, w.t AR and androgen-sensitivity (Klein et al., 1997). The CWR-R1 cell line was derived from the xenograft CWR22 model, which was initially dependent on androgens and following castration became an AI xenograft. Like the recurrent parental CWR22 xenograft, CWR-R1 cells express a functional but mutant AR (H874Y). The receptor is highly stable in the absence of androgens and can respond better to ligands such as estradiol, adrenal androgens, and the anti-androgen hydroxyflutamide (Wainstein et al., 1994; Tan et al., 1997; Gregory et al., 2001b). 22Rv1 is derived from the AI xenograft CWR22R and like it also express AR and PSA (Nagabhushan et al., 1996; Sramkoski et al., 1999).

1.11 The working hypothesis

The Wnt signalling pathway is activated during PCa progression. This does not involve mutations in β -catenin or APC, however, this activation promotes AR signalling and possibly the transition to androgen- independence. If this proves to be true, inhibitors of the Wnt pathway could be used to prevent progression to AI PCa.

<u>1.12 Aims</u>

- (1) Define the role of the Wnt signalling pathway and its components in the regulation of AR signalling.
- (2) Determine the role of endogenous β -catenin in the regulation of AR activity in PCa cells.
- (3) Design inhibitors that affect AR activity specifically and thereby repress PCa growth and/or the transition to androgen-independence.
2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Transformation

Subcloning efficiency DH5 α competent cells (Invitrogen) were used for all transformations except after site-directed mutagenesis (for Mutagenesis see section 2.4). DNA was added to 50 µl competent cells and incubated on ice for 10 minutes. The cells were heat-shocked at 37°C for 20 seconds and then placed on ice for a further 2 minutes. 500 µl S.O.C medium (10 mM magnesium sulphate, 2% tryptone, 0.5% yeast extract, 10 mM sodium chloride, 2.5 mM potassium chloride, 10 mM magnesium chloride, 20 mM glucose) (Invitrogen), was added. The transformation mixture was then shaken at 200 rpm for 45 minutes at 37°C, after which 250 µl was spread on selective agar plates.

2.2 Minipreps

Minipreps were carried out using the Ultra Clean Miniplasmid prep kit (Mo Bio Laboratories). The concentration of solutions 1-4 in this kit are protected information. All steps were carried out at room temperature and centrifugations were done at 10,000 g. 1.5 ml of LB (Luria-Bertani) (recipe for 1000 ml, pH 7.0-10 g NaCl, 10 g Bactotryptone, 5 g yeast extract) containing carbenicillin (at 50 µg/1 ml) was inoculated with a single colony of transformed bacteria and grown for 16 hours at 37°C in a shaking incubator at 200 rpm. The culture was centrifuged for one minute, supernatant was discarded and then the pellet was centrifuged for a further 30 seconds. All traces of supernatant were removed and the pellet was resuspended in 50 µl solution 1 (Tris, EDTA (Ethylenediamine-Tetraacetic Acid), RNase A). The cells were lysed by adding 100 µl solution 2 (sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS), sodium hydroxide), and inverting the tube once to mix. After addition of 325 µl solution 3 (potassium acetate, binding salt), the tube was centrifuged for one minute and the supernatant transferred to a spin filter. The spin filter was centrifuged for one minute and, after discarding the supernatant, the filter was washed with 300 μ l solution 4 (ethanol, Tris, sodium chloride), followed by centrifugation for one minute. The filter was transferred to a new 2 ml collection tube and the DNA was eluted by adding 50 μ l of solution 5 to the centre of the spin filter for specific elution.

After incubation for 5 minutes and centrifugation for one minute, the eluted DNA plasmid was ready to use.

2.3 Maxipreps

Maxipreps were carried out using the Endofree Plasmid kit (Qiagen). A single colony of transformed bacteria was used to inoculate a culture of 200 ml LB with selective antibiotic, grown at 37°C with shaking at 200 rpm for 16 hours. The bacterial cells were then centrifuged at 6000 g for 15 minutes, and the pellet was resuspended in 10 ml Buffer P1 (resuspension buffer: 50 mM Tris-Cl pH 8, 10 mM EDTA, 100 µg/ml RNase A). Lysis was carried out by addition of 10 ml Buffer P2 (lysis buffer: 200 mM sodium hydroxyide, 1% SDS) and incubation for 5 minutes at room temperature. For neutralising, 10 ml cold Buffer P3 (neutralisation buffer: 3M potassium acetate pH 5.5) was added, and the mix was poured into a barrel of a QIA filter Cartridge. After incubation for 10 minutes at room temperature, the lysate was filtered through the cartridge and 2.5 ml of Buffer ER (endotoxin removal buffer; the composition is protected information) was added. The lysate was incubated on ice for 30 minutes and during this incubation, a QIAGEN-tip (containing an anion-exchange resin to bind DNA) was equilibrated by addition of 10 ml Buffer QBT (equilibration buffer: 750 mM sodium chloride, 50 mM MOPS pH 7, 15% isopropanol, 0.15% Triton X-100). Once the 30 minute incubation was finished, the filtrate was passed through the equilibrated column. The column was then washed twice with 30 ml Buffer QC (wash buffer: 1M sodium chloride, 50 mM MOPS pH 7, 15% isopropanol), and the DNA was eluted from the column by addition of 15 ml Buffer QN (elution buffer: 1.6 M sodium chloride, 50 mM MOPS pH 7, 15% isopropanol). 10.5 ml of isopropanol was added to the eluate to precipitate the DNA, and immediately after that a 30 minute centrifugation at 15,000 g and 4°C was carried out. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet was washed with 5 ml endotoxin-free 70% ethanol. After further 10 minutes centrifugation at 15,000 g and 4°C, the pellet was air-dried and dissolved in 500 µl Buffer TE (10 mM Tris-Cl pH 8, 1 mM EDTA). DNA concentration was determined by measuring the UV absorbance at 260 nm.

2.4 Mutagenesis

The OuikChangeTM II site-directed mutagenesis kit (Stratagene) was used to make the single mutations S81A, S94A, and S650A. Using this kit, double-stranded DNA is used as a template and mutagenic primers are extended during temperature cycling by *PfuUltra* HF DNA polymerase for generation of mutated plasmids. Templates for S94A and S650A were pSV w.t and H874Y AR, and pSV H874Y AR was used as a template for the S81A. Oligonucleotide primers, complementary to opposite strands of the template plasmid were designed both to incorporate the desired amino acid changes and to include a restriction enzyme site (for oligonucleotide primer sequences, see section 2.5). PCR reactions were set up in a total volume of 50 µl, using the reaction buffer provided, 50 ng DNA template, 125 ng of each oligonucleotide primer, 1 µl of dNTP mix and 2.5 U DNA polymerase. Reactions were heated to 95°C for 30 seconds, followed by 16 cycles of 30 seconds at 95°C, 1 minute at 55°C and 6 minutes at 68°C. After temperature cycling, samples were cooled to 37°C and 10U Dpn I endonuclease, which digests methylated and hemimethylated DNA was added in order to digest the parental DNA template and to select for mutation-containing synthesised DNA (at 37°C for 1 hour). Since polymerisation by *PfuUltra* HF DNA polymerase results in nicked circular strands, only the non-mutated template DNA is digested. 1 µl of the nicked vector DNA containing the desired mutations was then transformed into 50 µl XL1-Blue supercompetent cells. The DNA was incubated on ice for 30 minutes, followed by a 45 second heat-pulse at 42°C and a further 2 minute incubation on ice. 0.5 ml LB was then added to the reactions and after one hour incubation on the shaker at 37°C and 200 rpm, the entire mixture was spread on selective plates. After amplification of DNA by Miniprep, samples were digested using the appropriate restriction enzymes (Alw44I for S94A, BlnI for S81A, BsrBI for S650A) to verify that mutations had been introduced into the plasmids. Each reaction was set up in 20 µl (10 µl DNA, 2 µl 10x buffer, 1 µl restriction enzyme and water) and incubated for 1 hour at 37°C. The integrity of all mutations was subsequently confirmed by sequence analysis.

2.5 DNA plasmid constructs

pMMTV-luciferase reporter, pSG5 AR, pSV (w.t and H874Y) AR and the β -galactosidase reporter pDM- β -Gal were provided by Charlotte Bevan (Imperial

College, London). The β -catenin/Tcf reporter plasmid, pOT-luciferase, was kindly provided by Bert Vogelstein (Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore). The ßgalactosidase reporter, RSV-β-Gal, was provided by Maria Vivanco (ICR, London). β-catenin (pMT23-β-SA), is described in Giannini et al. (Giannini et al., 2000), and Tcf-4 cDNA was a gift from Marc van de Wetering and Hans Clevers (Utrecht University, Utrecht, The Netherlands). Rat Axin and Axin deletion mutants were provided by Akira Kikuchi. These are described in Ikeda et al. (Ikeda et al., 1998) and the GFP-Axin constructs are described in Orme et al. (Orme et al., 2003) (see also Figure 21). Wnt1 was from Tony Brown (Cornell) and was cloned into pMT23 by Robert Kypta. pGK and pGK-Wnt3A, (Shibamoto et al., 1998), were from Shinji Takada. LRP C2 and C6, described in Mao et al. (Mao et al., 2001b), were from Dianging Wu (Connecticut). pTER and pTER^βi, (van de Wetering et al., 2003), were from Marc van de Wetering. pTER control 1 and control 2 siRNA plasmids are described in Mazor et al. (2004) (Mazor et al., 2004). GSK3ß S9A, (Sperber et al., 1995), was from Virginia Lee (Philadelphia). AX2 (FlagAx-(501-560)), AX2P, FRAT, FRAT Δ C and GSK3 β constructs (w.t and K216R GSK3 β) (Smalley et al., 1999; Franca-Koh et al., 2002; Fraser et al., 2002) were generously provided by Trevor Dale (Cardiff School of Biosciences, UK). W.t AR mutants (S94A and S650A), H874Y AR mutants (S81A, S94A and S650A) were generated using the QuikChangeTM II site-directed mutagenesis kit (Stratagene) (for Mutagenesis, see section 2.4). Residues 94 and 650 were mutated from serines to alanines in w.t and H874Y AR and residue 81 was mutated from serine to alanine in H874Y AR. For the creation of the S81A mutation, a pair of complementary primers were designed to incorporate two point mutations for the single mutation from serine to alanine, and together with another point mutation created a restriction site for Blnl such that the mutated plasmid could be distinguished from the non-mutated H874Y AR; The following oligonucleodides were used as primers (mutated bases are shown in bold):

5' -GCAGCAAGAGACTGCCCCTAGGCAGCAGCAGC-3'

3' -CGTCGTTCTCTGACGGGGGATCCGTCGTCGTCG-5'

For the creation of the S94A mutation, a pair of complementary primers were designed to incorporate two point mutations for the single mutation from serine to alanine, and thereby also introducing a restriction site for Alw44I such that the mutated plasmid could be distinguished from the original non-mutated plasmid (w.t

or H874Y AR); The following oligonucleodides were used as primers (mutated bases are shown in bold):

5'-GGTGAGGATGGTGCACCCCAAGCCCATCG-3'

3'-CCACTCCTACCACGTGGGGTTCGGGTAGC-5'

For the creation of S650A mutation, a pair of complementary primers were designed to incorporate three point mutations for the single mutation from serine to alanine, and thereby also introducing a restriction site for BSrBI such that the mutated plasmid could be distinguished from the original non-mutated plasmid (w.t or H874Y AR); The following oligonucleodides were used as primers (mutated bases are shown in bold):

5'-GCTTCCAGCACCACCGCTCCCACTGAGGAG-3'

3'-CGAAGGTCGTGGTGGCGAGGGTGACTCCTC-5'

All mutations were confirmed by sequencing analysis. Primers for sequencing reactions were as follows:

for S81A and S94A mutants- 5'-ATGGAAGTGCAGTTAGGG-3'; for S650A mutant- 3'-GTACTCGGGGTAGGT-5'

2.6 Cell lines, cell culture and growth assays

In this study, initially several PCa lines were examined and later CWR-R1, 22Rv1 and PC3 cells, which were the most relevant lines for the study, were used. Table 4 is a summary of the PCa cell lines used in this study. Another cell line that was used as control is HCT116, which is a colon cancer cell line that has high levels of β -catenin as a result of mutated β -catenin. The fibroblast cell lines HEK 293 and COS7 were used as AR-negative controls and cell lines with high transfection efficiency.

2.6.1 Cell culture

The PCa cell lines used were from the American Type Culture Collection (Rockville, MD), except for LAPC-4 cells, which were provided by Charles Sawyers (University of California Los Angeles, CA), CWR-R1 cells, which were provided by Christopher Gregory (University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, NC), and LNCaP-r cells which were provided by El-Nasir Lalani (Imperial College, London). HCT116, which is a colon cancer cell line that has high levels of β -catenin as a result of a stabilising mutation in the coding region of the β -catenin gene was used as a control cell line. The cell lines HEK 293 and COS7 are fibroblast cell lines that are also AR negative.

All cells were cultured at conditions of 37°C, 5% CO₂. LNCaP, LNCaP-r, PC3 and DU145 cells were grown in RPMI-1640 medium supplemented with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS, Invitrogen) and 1% antibiotics (100 U/ml Penicillin, 100 µg/ml Streptomycin, Sigma). COS7, HEK 293 and HCT116 cells were grown in Dulbecco's Modified Eagles Medium (DMEM, Invitrogen) containing 10% FBS and 1% penicillin-streptomycin solution. DMEM medium for COS7 cells contained higher glucose levels (4500 mg/l). CWR-R1 cells were grown in Richter's Improved MEM, Zn option, medium (IMEM, Invitrogen) containing 20 ng/ml epidermal growth factor (EGF, Merck Biosciences), 10 mM Nicotinamide (Calbiochem), 5 µg/ml insulin (Roche diagnostics), 5 µg/ml transferrin (Roche diagnostics), 1% penicillin-streptomycin solution and 2% FBS. 22Rv1 cells (Sramkoski et al., 1999) were grown in 1:1 RPMI/DMEM (high glucose) with 20% FBS. LAPC-4 cells were grown in Iscove's Modified DMEM medium (IMDM, Cambrex Bio Science) containing 15% FBS, 1% penicillin-streptomycin solution and 10 nM R1881 (synthetic androgen, methyltrienolone, purchased from DuPont-NEN). For all hormone treatments, cells were incubated in medium containing Charcoal-Stripped Serum (CSS, First Link (UK) Ltd) prior to hormone treatment; phenol red free RPM1-1640 and DMEM (Invitrogen) were supplemented with 5% CSS, IMEM and phenol red free IMDM were supplemented with 2% and 7.5% CSS, respectively. Hormone treatment was of 10 nM R1881 for all cell lines except 22Rv1, which were treated with 1 nM R1881. LNCaP cells were treated with either 1 or 10 nM R1881. AR mutant analysis in PC3 cells was carried out in the presence of 0.15 nM R1881. Control cultures always received an equal volume of carrier (ethanol).

2.6.2 Cell growth assays

Cell growth assays were conducted according to Gregory *et al.* (Gregory *et al.*, 2001b). Briefly, cells $(1.5 \times 10^5$ /well) were plated in 12-well plates (three wells were used for each condition) and allowed to attach overnight. Carrier or GSK-3 inhibitors were then added, and, when indicated, R1881 (or carrier) was added 30 minutes later in order to allow the inhibitors to work before the hormone binds to the AR. Cells were collected by trypsinisation at the indicated times and were counted using an automated counter (Coulter Counter) or using a haemocytometer (Hausser Scientific).

| Cell lines | Source | AR | Hormon-dep. growth |
|------------|------------|---------|-----------------------|
| LAPC4 | LN met | Wt | AD |
| LNCaP | LN met | Mutated | AD |
| LNCaP-r | LNCaP line | Mutated | AI |
| CWR-R1 | Primary | Mutated | AI |
| 22Rv1 | Primary | Mutated | AI |
| PC3 | Bone met | - | AI |
| DU145 | Brain met | - | AI |
| | | | |

Table 4. PCa cell lines used in this study

LN met= Lymph Node metastasis. AD/AI=Androgen dependent/independent.

2.7 Transient transfections

All cells were transfected in triplicate in 6-well tissue-culture plates when they were approximately 70% confluent. All cell types were washed with Optimem1 medium, a serum-free medium (Invitrogen), prior to transfection. Transfections of LNCaP and LNCaP-r cells were performed using 5 µl Lipofectin reagent (Invitrogen), according to the manufacturer's instructions, and 1 µg of DNA. PC3 cells were transfected using 5 µl Fugene6 (Roche Diagnostics), following the manufacturer's instructions, and 1 µg of DNA. All other cell lines were transfected with Lipofectamine Plus (Invitrogen) using 3.5 µl plus reagent, 2 µl of Lipofectamine and 1 µg DNA, following the instructions provided. For transcription assays, each well of a 6-well plate was transfected with either RSV promoter-driven or pDM-driven βgalactosidase (20 ng for HCT116, COS7, 22Rv1 and HEK 293 cells, 200 ng for all other cell lines), 300 ng pOT-luciferase (to measure β-catenin/Tcf activity) or 400 ng pMMTV-luciferase (to measure AR activity). After addition of various plasmids the total amount of DNA was brought up to 1 μ g with empty vector. Amounts of DNA transfected per well were as follows: 500 ng of Wnt or empty vector pMT23 (for Wnt1) or pGK (for Wnt3A), 500 ng of β-catenin, 300 ng Tcf-4 or the empty vector

pMT23, 200 ng of C2 or C6 with the empty vector pMT23, 200 ng of AR or the empty vector pSG5, 100 ng of GFP-tagged Axin, its mutants, or GFP as control, 600 ng of the FLAG-tagged AX2, AX2P, or the myc-tagged MAX4 (axin residues 1-229) as a negative control, 400 ng (unless otherwise stated in figure legends) w.t GSK3ß or the empty vector pMT23, 50 or 500 ng of GSK-3 constructs (S9A, K216R) or the empty vector pCDNA3, 100 ng of GFP-tagged FRAT or FRATAC or GFP as control, 8 ng w.t or H874Y AR or AR mutants (S81A, S94A and S650A). For RNAi experiments, cells were first transfected with 1 μ g β -catenin RNAi vector (pTER β i or the control RNAi vectors, control 1 and 2), and after 24 hours transfected again with the reporter vectors as well as another 200 ng of the RNAi vectors. For GSK-3 inhibitor experiments, cells were transfected with the reporter plasmids only (pOT or pMMTV-luciferase) together with pMT23 as the empty vector. In all transfections, after incubating with transfection reagents (3 hours for Lipofectamine Plus, 5 hours for Lipofectin and Fugene6), cells were grown in their normal growth medium for 40-42 hours, or in their stripped medium for 18 hours until addition of R1881 or ethanol for further 24 hours. Cells were harvested up to 48 hours after transfection. For protein analysis, cells were extracted using the appropriate lysis buffer (for cell extraction and IP techniques, see sections 2.9 and 2.10, respectively). For Luciferase assays cells were first rinsed in Dulbecco's Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS, Sigma) and then lysed using the Reporter Lysis Buffer (Promega) at 0.3 ml/well. After 15 minutes incubation at room temperature, plates were incubated at -80°C for a further 15 minutes. Thawed cells were collected into tubes and centrifuged for 5 minutes at 15,000 g. Cell supernatants were then used for transcription assays.

2.8 Transcription assays

Luciferase and β -galactosidase assays were performed using the LucLite Plus (PerkinElmer Life Sciences) and Galacto-light Plus (Applied Biosystems) kits, respectively, according to manufacturer's instructions. All reactions were carried out at room temperature and in white opaque 96-well plates (PerkinElmer Life Sciences) covered with foil to protect from light. The LucLite Plus assay is a mixture of substances that modify the enzymatic reaction of the luciferase reporter enzyme in cell lysates to produce a highly sensitive, stable (half-life of several hours), glow-type signal. A 20 µl aliquot of each cell lysate was incubated with 20 µl thawed

reconstituted substrate (lypophilized substrate reconstituted with substrate buffer solution) in two duplicate wells for 15 minutes. The β -galactosidase assay is designed for rapid and sensitive detection of β -galactosidase reporter enzyme in cell lysates. 5 µl aliquot of each cell lysate supernatant per well was incubated with 50 µl Reaction Buffer (100 mM sodium phosphate pH 8, 1 mM MgCl2) (diluted 1:100 with Galacton substrate) in two duplicate wells for 1 hour. This was followed by addition of 75 µl/well of Accelerator(-II) (containing Sapphire-II enhancer) for a further 15 minutes incubation, for termination of enzyme activity and in order to trigger light emission. Plates were read on a NXT TopCount Luminometer (Packard Bioscience) and the average was calculated between duplicate samples. Counts are presented as the ratio between Luciferase and β -galactosidase activities. Each transfection was carried out in triplicate values).

2.9 Cell extraction

Reagents were from Sigma unless otherwise stated. Cell lysates were obtained using various lysis methods depending on the desired cellular fraction of the cell. Cells were grown to 50-70% confluence in 100 mm dishes or in 6-well plates in their growing medium or stripped medium with R1881.

2.9.1 Whole cell extracts

Cells were rinsed in cold Tris-Buffered Saline (TBS; 50 mM Tris pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl), lysed in cold improved RIPA (0.5% deoxycholate, 1% Triton X-100, 20 mM Tris pH 8.0, 0.1% SDS, 100 mM NaCl, 50 mM NaF) or Nonidet P-40 (1% NP-40 (Anachem), 20 mM Tris pH 8.0, 150 mM NaCl, 50 mM NaF) lysis buffer, containing 1 mM EDTA pH 8, 10 μ g/ml aprotinin (Roche Diagnostics), 10 μ g/ml leupeptin and protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche Diagnostics) at 1:100 dilution. Lysates were collected into tubes by squirting off the plates, incubated on ice for 10 minutes and then centrifuged for 12 min at 15,000 g.

2.9.2 Non-nuclear and nuclear extracts

Cells were lysed using the commercial extraction kit NE-PER, according to the manufacturer's instructions (Perbio Science UK Ltd). This kit supplies a complete set of reagents (components of reagents in this kit are protected information) that enables the separation of non-nuclear and nuclear fractions from cultured cells. Each

reagent was mixed with protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche Diagnostics) at 1:100 dilution and all steps were carried out at 4°C, using ice-cold reagents. Lysis buffer volumes and mixing times were doubled in order to improve extraction. Cells were first collected into tubes using cold PBS and centrifuged at 500 g for 3 minutes. After supernatant was discarded, pellet was dried properly using a pipette and Cytoplasmic Extraction Reagent I (CERI) was added (reagent volumes were adjusted according to cell pellet size). Pellets were resuspended by vortexing and after 10 minutes incubation on ice Cytoplasmic Extraction Reagent II (CERII) was added. Following further vortexing and incubation on ice, lysates were centrifuged for 5 minutes at 16,000 g and supernatants (the *non-nuclear extracts*) were immediately transferred into pre-chilled tubes. Insoluble pellets, which contained the nuclei, were resuspended with the Nuclear Extraction Reagent (NER), and after 4 cycles of vortexing and 10 minutes incubation on ice, centrifuged for 10 minutes at 16,000 g. Supernatants (the *nuclear extracts*) were immediately transferred into pre-chilled tubes.

2.9.3 Cytosolic extracts

Cells were lysed in hypotonic lysis buffer (0.02% 1M MgCl2, 1% 1M Tris pH 7.5) as described in Orford *et al.* (Orford *et al.*, 1997). Lysis was followed by homogenisation, centrifugation at 500 g for 5 minutes to remove nuclei, and then a second centrifugation at 20,000 g for 30 minutes to produce the cytosolic extract.

An aliquot of lysate, obtained using whichever method, was heated for 3 minutes at 95°C with an equal volume of Laemmli sample buffer in order to denature the proteins.

2.10 Immunoprecipitation (IP)

All steps were carried out at 4°C, using ice-cold reagents. IP samples were prepared using two methods- 1. Lysis using NP-40 lysis buffer for NP-40-soluble cell extracts and centrifugation at 15,000 g for 12 minutes (Figures 32 and 34). 2. As described in Truica *et al.* (Truica *et al.*, 2000), cells were lysed in 0.5% NP-40 lysis buffer and then passed several times through a 30.5-gauge needle, in order to disrupt the nuclei. Cell lysate was incubated on ice for 5 minutes and centrifuged at 12,000 g for 10 minutes to remove insoluble material (Figures 11 and 33).

Extracts, obtained by either method, were incubated on ice with antibody for 1 hour in order to form antibody/protein complexes. To precipitate these complexes, 30 minutes incubation was carried out with beads on a wheel in the cold room. For IP antibodies, the beads used were either Protein A Sepharose (Amersham Pharmacia) at 40 μ l/sample (for rabbit antibody) or protein A/G-agarose (Cambridge Biosciences) at 20 μ l/sample (for mouse antibody). Following this incubation, beads were washed 4 times with NP-40 lysis buffer and once with TBS, with a one minute 500 g centrifugation after each wash to pellet the beads. Following washes, beads were resuspended in 10 μ l of Laemmli sample buffer and heated at 95°C for 3 minutes. Samples were separated from the beads by making three holes at the bottom of each tube, and centrifuged for 1 minute at 2000 g in order to collect the IP samples in fresh tubes underneath.

2.11 SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and Western Blotting

Reagents were from Sigma unless otherwise stated. Proteins were separated by SDSpolyacrylamide gels that were made using different concentrations of acrylamide depending on the size of the protein (9% gels for detection of proteins smaller than 50 KDa, and 6% gels for detection of proteins larger than 50 KDa) and according to Sambrook and Russell (2001) (Sambrook, 2001). Gels were run at 10 mA/gel in running buffer (250 mM glycine, 25 mM Tris, 0.1% SDS), after which they were incubated in transfer buffer (48 mM Tris, 39 mM glycine, 20% methanol, 0.0375% SDS) for two minutes and transferred to nitrocellulose membrane (0.2 µm pore size, Schleicher and Schuell) using a Trans-Blot semi-dry transfer apparatus (Bio-Rad Laboratories). After transfer for 30 minutes, membranes were washed once in transfer buffer and once in TBS-T (10 mM Tris pH 7.5, 0.1M NaCl, 0.1% Tween-20), and then blocked in blocking buffer (3% bovine albumin, fraction V (BSA), 1% Ovalbumin, in TBS-T) for 1 hour at room temperature. Membranes were then probed with different primary antibodies (for antibodies, see section 2.12) in blocking buffer for 2 hours at room temperature or over-night at 4°C. This incubation was followed by six 10-minutes washes with TBS-T, 45 minutes incubation with secondary antibodies and a further six 10-minutes washes in TBS-T. Levels of proteins were determined by chemiluminescence using Enhanced Chemiluminescence (ECL, Amersham Biosciences) reagents, followed by exposure to film (Amersham

Biosciences) using a film processor (Konica medical film processor SRX-101A (Konica)). Each experiment was repeated at least twice and results presented are representative and reproducible.

2.12 Antibodies

Western Blots were probed using various antibodies (all antibodies were used at 1:1000 dilution unless otherwise stated). For β -catenin levels in cell extracts, the monoclonal antibody anti-β-catenin (clone 14, BD Biosciences) was used at dilution 1:2000. For Tcf-4, the monoclonal antibody against Tcf-4 (Upstate) was used. Levels of GSK-3 were detected using the monoclonal antibodies anti-GSK3ß (BD transduction laboratories) or anti-GSK-3 (α + β) (Upstate). Phosphorylated GSK-3 (α + β) were detected using the phospho-specific polyclonal antibodies p-GSK-3 S21/S9 (Cell Signaling) or Y279/Y216 (Biosource). For myc-epitope tagged proteins, a monoclonal antibody (clone 9E10, Sigma Aldrich) was used. AR was detected using polyclonal anti-AR (P111A, Affinity Bioreagents, (ABR)). To detect AR in Bcatenin IP samples (Figure 11) the monoclonal anti-AR (AR441, DAKO) was used. To detect phosphorylated AR, a phospho-specific polyclonal antibody against p-AR (S81) (Upstate) was used at 1:400. Blots from whole cell extracts or non-nuclear extracts were also probed using monoclonal anti-y-tubulin (clone GTU-88, Sigma Aldrich), monoclonal anti-HSP60 (LK-1, Stressgen biotechnologies) or monoclonal anti-\beta-actin (AC-15, Abcam) to verify equal loading levels. Monoclonal antibody anti-PARP (poly ADP-ribose polymerase) was used as a control for nuclear extracts (F-2, Santa Cruz Biotechnology). A polyclonal anti-Pan-Cadherin (Sigma) was used to estimate the level of membrane protein contamination of cytosolic extracts. The following antibodies were used for immunoprecipitations: P110 polyclonal anti-AR (Affinity Bioreagents) at 1:50, polyclonal anti-β-catenin (Kypta et al., 1996) at 1:500 dilution, 5 µg polyclonal anti-GFP serum (Kypta et al., 1996) as a control (Figures 11 and 32). 2 µg 9E10 and 2 µg anti-GFP mAb (Roche) as control were used in Figures 32 and 34. 1 µg of normal polyclonal IgG (Oncogene research products) as control was used in Figure 33. Secondary antibodies were peroxidase-conjugated (HRP) (Jackson Laboratories) anti-mouse and anti-rabbit, used at 1:5000 and 1:10000, respectively.

3. Results

<u>3.1 Chapter 1- Wnt and AR signalling pathways in PCa cells-</u> <u>Protein studies</u>

3.1.1 Protein expression levels of Wnt signalling pathway components

β-catenin, a key component of the Wnt signalling pathway has been shown to regulate AR activity (Truica *et al.*, 2000; Mulholland *et al.*, 2002; Pawlowski *et al.*, 2002; Yang *et al.*, 2002). For this reason, β-catenin was the first protein to be characterised in PCa cells. A comparison of β-catenin protein expression levels among several PCa cell lines as well as control non-PCa cell line is presented in Figure 8a. Whole cell extracts from LNCaP, LNCaP-r, LAPC-4, 22Rv1, PC3, DU145 and HCT116 cells were probed with antibody against β-catenin. Lysates were also probed with antibody against HSP60, as an internal loading control. The colon cancer cell line, HCT116, which has stabilised β-catenin as a result of an activating mutation in the β-catenin gene, was used as a positive control. Results indicate that all PCa cell lines expressed broadly similar total levels of β-catenin. Compared with the loading control, PC3 and DU145 cells expressed slightly higher levels of total β-catenin.

Nuclear β -catenin levels in LNCaP, LNCaP-r, LAPC-4, 22Rv1, PC3, DU145 and HCT116 cells are shown in Figure 8b. Nuclear extracts were probed with antibodies against β -catenin and PARP (as an internal loading control for a nuclear protein). Most PCa cells contained a high level of nuclear β -catenin with the exception of PC3 and DU145 cells. LAPC-4 cells contained less nuclear β -catenin than LNCaP, LNCaP-r and 22Rv1 cells. The control cell line, HCT116, contained nuclear β -catenin, as expected.

GSK3 β , as one of the key regulators of β -catenin in the Wnt signalling pathway, was also examined among several PCa cell lines. Whole cell and nuclear extracts from LNCaP, LNCaP-r, LAPC-4, 22Rv1, PC3, DU145 and HCT116 cells were probed with antibody against GSK3 β and the appropriate loading controls (Figures 8c and 8d, respectively). LNCaP and LNCaP-r cells expressed higher levels of GSK3 β compared with the other PCa cell lines. PC3 cells expressed high levels of GSK3 β in whole cell extracts but relatively low levels of GSK3 β in the nucleus. DU145 cells expressed very little GSK3 β in the nucleus. β -catenin activates transcription by binding to the Tcf/lef family of transcription factors (reviewed in Akiyama, 2000; Polakis, 2000). Therefore, the level of Tcf-4 in nuclear extracts from HCT116 and several PCa cells lines was examined. It has been reported that the levels of Tcf-1, LEF-1 and Tcf-3 are extreminley low in LNCaP cells (Chesire *et al.*, 2002). Results shown in Figure 8e indicate that LNCaP cells had relatively little nuclear Tcf-4 protein. In contrast to the relative levels of β -catenin, Tcf-4 levels were higher in PC3 than in LNCaP cells. HCT116 cells expressed high levels of nuclear Tcf-4.

Figure 8



Figure 8 (a-b). A comparison of β -catenin protein levels among PCa cell lines and the colon cancer cell line, HCT116. (a) Whole cell extracts from HCT116 (HCT), LNCaP (LN), LNCaP-r (LN-r), LAPC-4 (LA), 22Rv1 (22Rv), PC3 and DU145 (DU) were probed with antibodies against β -catenin and HSP60. (b) Nuclear extracts from HCT116 (HCT), LNCaP (LN), LNCaP-r (LN-r), LAPC-4 (LA), 22Rv1 (22Rv), PC3 and DU145 (DU) cells were probed with antibodies against β -catenin and PARP.

87

Figure 8 continued-



Figure 8 (c-e). A comparison of GSK3 β and Tcf-4 protein levels among PCa cell lines and the colon cancer cell line, HCT116. Whole cell extracts (c) or nuclear extracts (d) from HCT116 (HCT), LNCaP (LN), LNCaP-r (LN-r), LAPC-4 (LA), 22Rv1 (22Rv), PC3 and DU145 (DU) were probed with antibodies against GSK3 β and HSP60 (c) or GSK3 β and PARP (d). (e) Nuclear extracts from HCT116 (HCT), LNCaP (LN), LAPC-4 (LA), PC3 and DU145 (DU) cells were probed with antibodies against Tcf-4 and PARP.

3.1.2 AR protein expression levels

Since β -catenin has been shown to regulate AR, it was important to also compare the levels of AR in the different cell lines. Whole cell and nuclear extracts were probed with antibody against AR (Figure 9a and 9b, respectively). As expected, the PCa lines PC3 and DU145 and the non-PCa line HCT116 did not express AR. 22Rv1 cells expressed two additional AR protein products (migrating with a relative mass of 75-80 KDa). These have been shown to be C-terminal truncated mutants of AR that lack the LBD domain (Tepper *et al.*, 2002). LAPC-4, LNCaP and LNCaP-r cells, expressed similar levels of AR protein. All the cell lines that expressed AR protein, also contained nuclear AR protein. This was expected, as the cells were grown in media containing serum, which contains ligands for AR. These results confirm the known pattern of AR protein expression in PCa cells.

3.1.3 Stabilisation of β -catenin in PCa cells

As part of this initial study of Wnt signalling in PCa cell lines, the ability of the cells to respond to a Wnt stimulus was investigated. β -catenin stabilisation is an early response to a Wnt stimulus and can indicate whether the cells can mount a Wnt signalling response. Wnt signalling activation can be achieved in two ways: 1. by culturing cells with conditioned medium containing Wnt3A, obtained from transfected L cells (LW) 2. by treating cells with LiCl, a GSK-3 inhibitor. In order to be able to detect the effects of these stimuli on β -catenin, it was necessary to isolate cytosolic extracts thereby avoiding the detection of β -catenin from the membrane pool, which is not significantly affected by activation of the Wnt pathway. Therefore, cells were lysed in hypotonic lysis buffer and lysates were probed with an antibody against β -catenin, as well as an antibody against γ - tubulin as an internal loading control. As a control, the effect of Wnt3A on the level of β -catenin was examined in cytosolic extracts from control L cells. Figure 10a shows that cytosolic β-catenin levels were elevated in the Wnt3A-treated L cells. In PC3 cells, β -catenin was stabilised by LiCl and, to a smaller extent, by LW. In contrast, β-catenin levels in LNCaP cells were not detectably affected by either treatment (Figure 10b).

Figure 9



Figure 9. A comparison of AR protein levels among PCa cell line and the colon cancer cell line, HCT116. (a) Whole cell extracts from HCT116 (HCT), LNCaP (LN), LNCaP-r (LN-r), LAPC-4 (LA), 22Rv1 (22Rv), PC3 and DU145 (DU) were probed with antibodies against AR and HSP60. 22Rv1 cells also express C-terminal truncated AR species, migrating with a relative mass of 75-80 KDa (see arrows). (b) Nuclear extracts from HCT116 (HCT), LNCaP (LN), LNCaP-r (LN-r), LAPC-4 (LA), 22Rv1 (22Rv), PC3 and DU145 (DU) were probed with antibodies against AR and PARP as an internal control for a nuclear protein. The expression pattern of AR in nuclear extracts was similar to that in whole cell extracts.

Figure 10





Figure 10. LiCl treatment and Wnt stimulation stabilise β -catenin in PC3 cells but have no effect in LNCaP cells. (a) β -catenin levels (and γ - tubulin as an internal loading control) were compared in cytosolic extracts from L cells treated with either vector or Wnt3A. (b) Cells were treated with (LiCl) or without (ut) 20 mM LiCl, or supplemented with conditioned medium obtained from L cells expressing vector (LV) or Wnt3A (LW) for 24 hours. Cytosolic extracts were probed with antibodies against β catenin and γ - tubulin as an internal loading control.

3.1.4 AR and β -catenin protein complex in LNCaP cells

It has been reported that β -catenin promotes AR-mediated transcription by binding to AR (Truica et al., 2000; Pawlowski et al., 2002; Yang et al., 2002; Mulholland et al., 2003). In order to confirm the published work, LNCaP cells, which express AR and high levels of β -catenin, were used to try to detect the complex between AR and β catenin. LNCaP cells were grown in hormone-depleted medium for 24 hours prior to the experiment, and then treated with 10 nM R1881 or the carrier ethanol for 45 minutes. Whole cell extracts were immunoprecipitated with an antibody against AR (or with anti-GFP, as a control), and probed with antibodies against β -catenin and AR. Figure 11 presents the result achieved after optimising IP conditions using several techniques; the detection of this complex required very specific conditions (for details on IP technique, see section 2.10-2 in Materials and Methods). Results indicate that β-catenin and AR can interact in LNCaP cells but the low level of complex detected suggests that it is either unstable or not very abundant. This complex is slightly more abundant in the presence of hormone, as previously reported (Truica et al., 2000; Yang et al., 2002) (Verras et al., 2004). Probing IP samples with antibody against AR indicated that equal amounts of AR were immunoprecipitated and that control IP's did not contain AR.

Figure 11



Figure 11. Detection of AR/ β -catenin complexes in LNCaP cells is increased in the presence of R1881. Whole cell extracts from LNCaP cells treated with 10 nM R1881 (+) or the carrier ethanol (-) for 45 minutes, were immunoprecipitated with antibodies against AR or GFP and probed with antibodies against β -catenin and AR (indicated by arrow heads). IgG (indicated by *) appears at the bottom of the gel.

3.1.5 AR and β -catenin levels in nuclear and non-nuclear extracts in the presence and absence of androgens

AR transcriptional activity is strongly regulated by androgens. The next goal was to examine how β -catenin behaves in the presence and absence of androgens, and whether the cellular localisation of the AR/ β -catenin complex is regulated by hormone treatment. LNCaP, LAPC-4 and CWR-R1 cells were starved for 18 hr and then treated with 10 nM R1881 or the carrier ethanol for 40 minutes. Samples of extracts (nuclear or non-nuclear) were probed with antibodies against β -catenin and AR as well as for HSP60 (for non-nuclear protein) or PARP (for nuclear protein), respectively, as loading controls. In the non-nuclear extracts (Figure 12a), β -catenin levels in the three cell lines tested were not significantly affected by androgen treatment. In contrast, AR levels in the non-nuclear extracts of all three lines were reduced in the presence of androgens. In Figure 12b, nuclear extracts were examined. There was no significant change in nuclear β -catenin in any of the cell lines after androgen treatment (after normalisation to PARP levels). In contrast, AR levels increased in the nucleus of LNCaP and CWR-R1 cells treated with androgens. Results in LAPC-4 cells were less conclusive. Previous studies using overexpressed β -catenin and AR showed that β -catenin is predominantly cytoplasmic in the absence of androgens and, upon androgen treatment, translocates to the nucleus with agonistbound AR to activate AR-mediated transcription (Mulholland et al., 2002; Pawlowski et al., 2002; Yang et al., 2002). My results indicate that AR translocates to the nucleus upon androgen treatment, however, the effects on endogenous \beta-catenin translocation were minimal. Similarly, Chesire *et al.* (2002) were unable to detect β catenin ligand-mediated nuclear localisation in PCa cells (Chesire et al., 2002).

Figure 12



b

Nuclear extracts



Figure 12. AR and β -catenin localisation to the nucleus in PCa cells. LNCaP (LN), LAPC-4 (LA) and CWR-R1 (CWR) cells were treated with 10 nM R1881 (+) or the carrier ethanol (-) for 40 minutes. Non-nuclear (a) and nuclear (b) extracts were probed with antibodies against β -catenin and AR as well as for HSP60 (a) or PARP (b), as loading controls.

3.2 Chapter 2- Wnt and AR signalling pathways in PCa cellstranscription studies

3.2.1 β-catenin/Tcf signalling responses to expression of Wnt components in PCa cells

In order to examine the transcriptional response to Wnts, LAPC-4, LNCaP and CWR-R1 cells were transfected with the DNA plasmids of two canonical Wnts, Wnt1 and Wnt3A (or their respective empty vectors as controls), as well as the reporter plasmids (pOT-luciferase (pOT-Luc), a reporter of β -catenin/Tcf-dependent transcription, and RSV- β -Gal as a control for transfection efficiency). In Figure 13, results are presented as fold-change comparing cells transfected with either Wnt to control cells. β -catenin/Tcf-dependent transcription significantly increased in CWR-R1 cells, in response to expression of both Wnt1 and Wnt3A compare to their respective empty vectors (p<0.00005). pOT-Luc activity was reduced, albeit to a much lesser extent compare to the increase in CWR-R1 cells, in LNCaP cells expressing both Wnts (p=0.002 for Wnt1, p=0.0006 for Wnt3A) and in LAPC-4 cells expressing Wnt3A (p=0.02) compare to their respective empty vectors.

Previous results showed that although nuclear levels of β -catenin are high in LNCaP cells, levels of Tcf-4 protein are very low. In order to examine the possibility that low levels of Tcf-4 prevent an increase in β -catenin/Tcf-dependent transcriptional activity in response to Wnt, Tcf-4 was next expressed in LNCaP cells. Cells were transfected with either β -catenin (or its empty vector pMT23), Tcf-4 or both. According to Figure 14, results indeed indicate that expression of Tcf-4 alone can activate β -catenin/Tcf-dependent transcription in LNCaP cells (p<0.00005). Therefore, the low level of Tcf-4 expression may explain why the Wnt signalling pathway cannot be switched on by LiCl or Wnts in LNCaP cells (see Figure 10).

Figure 13 Fold change (pOT-Luc) 14 12 10 8 V 6 W1 4 W3A 2 0 LAPC-4 **LNCaP** CWR-R1

Figure 14



Figure 13 β -catenin/Tcf-4 signalling response to Wnt expression in PCa cells. LAPC-4, LNCaP and CWR-R1 cells were transfected with the reporter vectors pOT-Luc and RSV- β -Gal plus Wnt1 (W1) or plus Wnt3A (W3A), or plus their respective empty vectors pMT23 and pGK (V). Cells were assayed for luciferase (Luc) and β -galactosidase (β -Gal) activities, and results are presented as the activity relative to each cell line transfected with empty vector. (*) pOT-Luc activity significantly increased in CWR-R1 cells expressing either Wnt compare to cells expressing their respective empty vector (p<0.00005 for Wnt1 and Wnt3A). Experiment was done at least three times in triplicates.

Figure 14. Tcf-4 restores β -catenin/Tcf-4-dependent transcription in LNCaP cells. Cells were transfected with the reporter vectors pOT-Luc and RSV- β -Gal plus β -catenin (β Cat) or plus Tcf-4 or plus both. pMT23, the empty vector was transfected as control (Vector). Cells were assayed for luciferase (Luc) and β -galactosidase (β -Gal) activities, and results are presented as the ratio between luciferase and β -Gal activities. (*) pOT-Luc activity significantly increased in cells expressing Tcf-4 compare to cells expressing vector (p<0.00005 for Tcf-4 alone and β Cat+Tcf-4). Experiment was done twice in triplicates.

 β -catenin/Tcf-dependent transcription was also not activated by Wnt expression in LAPC-4 cells, even though these cells express Tcf-4. It is possible that LAPC-4 cells do not express receptors for Wnt1 or Wnt3A. In order to address this question, the Wnt signalling receptor, LRP5, was used. A constitutively-active form of LRP5, C2, and an inactive truncated form of LRP5, C6, were transfected in LAPC-4 cells, in the presence and absence of 10 nM R1881. The results in Figure 15a show that the Wnt signalling pathway can be activated when C2 is expressed.

In order to follow this further downstream, the effect of β -catenin overexpression on β -catenin/Tcf-dependent transcription was examined. As shown in Figure 15b, β catenin/Tcf-dependent transcription can also be activated in LAPC-4 cells when they overexpress β -catenin. Since LAPC-4 cells already have nuclear β -catenin (see Figure 8b), this might suggest that the endogenous pool of nuclear β -catenin is not able to interact with the endogenous Tcf-4.



Figure 15. (a) Activation of β -catenin/Tcf-4-dependent transcription by expression of a constitutively-active Wnt receptor. LAPC-4 cells were transfected with the reporter vectors pOT-Luc and RSV- β -Gal plus the constitutively-active plasmid of LRP5, C2, or truncated LRP5, C6. (b) Activation of β -catenin/Tcf-4-dependent transcription by overexpression of β -catenin. LAPC-4 cells were transfected with the reporter vectors pOT-Luc and RSV- β -Gal plus β -catenin (β Cat) or plus the empty vector pMT23 as control (Vector). Cells were treated with (+) or without (-) 10 nM R1881 for 24 hours and then lysed and assayed for luciferase (Luc) and β -galactosidase (β -Gal) activities. Results are presented as the ratio between luciferase and β -Gal activities.

As shown earlier, β -catenin levels are already high in PCa cells (Figures 8a and 8b). In order to determine whether endogenous β -catenin contributes to basal pOT activity, β -catenin levels were reduced using a β -catenin RNAi plasmid. As described by Van de Wetering et al. (van de Wetering et al., 2003), β-catenin RNAi plasmid (pTERBi) can reduce B-catenin protein levels and downregulate Bcatenin/Tcf-dependent transcription in colon cancer cells. Owing to the low transfection efficiency of PCa cells, it was not possible to examine the effects of pTER β i on endogenous β -catenin protein levels by western blotting in these cells. In order to confirm that the pTERBi plasmid reduces B-catenin protein levels, the colon cancer cell line HCT116, which is easier to transfect and has a high endogenous level of β-catenin, was used. HCT116 cells were transfected with an AR plasmid and either control siRNA plasmids (control 1 or 2), in the absence or presence of 1 nM R1881, or pTER^βi plasmids. Whole cell extracts were probed with antibody against β -catenin. Expression of pTER β i led to a significant reduction in the level of β catenin protein (Figure 16a). Additionally, the effects on β-catenin were determined by measuring β -catenin/Tcf-dependent transcriptional activity. Figure 16b shows the effect of pTER_{βi} plasmid expression on β-catenin/Tcf-dependent transcription in PCa cells as well as in HCT116 cells (as a control for cells with high basal β catenin/Tcf activity). As expected, depletion of β -catenin levels reduced β catenin/Tcf-dependent transcriptional activity in HCT116 cells. pTER_βi also repressed basal β -catenin/Tcf-dependent transcription in all PCa cell lines that were examined, with the greatest inhibition occurring in CWR-R1 cells. This may reflect the higher basal β -catenin/Tcf activity in these cells.

Figure 16

a HCT116 cells



Figure 16. Depletion of endogenous β -catenin inhibits β -catenin/Tcf-4-dependent transcription in HCT116 and PCa cells. (a) HCT116 cells were transfected with pSG5 AR and either control 1 (lanes 1 and 2), β -catenin (lanes 3 and 4) or control 2 (lanes 5 and 6) siRNA expression plasmids. Cells were treated with (lanes 2,4 and 6) or without (lanes 1,3 and 5) 1 nM R1881 and whole cell extracts were probed with antibody against β -catenin. (b) The indicated cell lines were transfected with the reporter vectors pOT-Luc and pDM- β -Gal plus either control 1 (Vector) or β -catenin siRNA (β Cat siRNA) expression plasmids. Cells were assayed for luciferase (Luc) and β galactosidase (β -Gal) activities and results are presented as the activity relative to each cell line transfected with empty vector. Investigating the effect of various Wnt components on the β -catenin/Tcf-dependent transcriptional activity in the presence of androgens, we noticed that androgens have a repressive effect on the OT promotor. For example, as shown in Figure 15b, β -catenin/Tcf activity in LAPC-4 cells was activated by the expression of β -catenin in the presence and absence of hormone. However, β -catenin/Tcf activity was also slightly (but reproducibly) repressed in the presence of hormone compared to when it was absent. Therefore, the effects of androgen treatment on β -catenin/Tcf signalling were examined in more detail. In order to test the effects that androgen treatment and AR have on Wnt signalling, the AR-negative cell line, PC3, was transfected with control or AR plasmid and treated with or without 10 nM R1881. The results in Figure 17 indicate that AR inhibited β -catenin/Tcf activity in PC3 cells, suggesting that the β -catenin/Tcf basal activity in these cells is higher in the absence of AR. This result is in agreement with reports showing that AR has an inhibitory effect on β -catenin/Tcf activity due to a competition between AR and Tcf over binding to β -catenin (Pawlowski *et al.*, 2002; Mulholland *et al.*, 2003; Song *et al.*, 2003).



Figure 17. Ligand-dependent AR activity repression of β -catenin/Tcf-4-dependent transcription in PCa cells. PC3 cells were transfected with the reporter vectors pOT-Luc and RSV- β -Gal plus the empty vector pMT23 (Vector) and pSG5 AR. Cells were treated with (+) or without (-) 10 nM R1881 for 24 hours and then lysed and assayed for luciferase (Luc) and β -galactosidase (β -Gal) activities. Results are presented as the ratio between luciferase and β -Gal activities.

3.2.2 The AR transcriptional response to regulation of Wnt signalling in PCa cells

In order to determine how the AR responds to Wnt overexpression, cells were transfected with Wnt1 or Wnt3A plasmids (or empty vector as control) and the reporter plasmids MMTV-Luciferase (MMTV-Luc) (MMTV has ARE's, and is used as a measure of AR activity) and RSV-β-Gal. Wnt expression did not affect ARdependent transcription greatly in PCa cells (Figure 18). Since Wnt expression did not activate β-catenin/Tcf signalling in LNCaP and LAPC-4 cells, it perhaps was not surprising that AR activity was not activated in these cells either. However, Wntl and Wnt3A also did not affect AR activity in CWR-R1 cells, even though they activated β -catenin/Tcf dependent transcription (see Figure 13). One possibility is that the level of endogenous β -catenin in these cells is already regulating AR activity. Therefore, the effect of β -catenin overexpression on AR activity, which has been reported to be positive (Truica et al., 2000; Chesire et al., 2002; Yang et al., 2002), was examined. LAPC-4 and CWR-R1 cells were transfected with β-catenin (or the control vector), and the effect on AR signalling was tested in the presence of 10 nM R1881. Results in Figure 19 (LAPC-4 (a), CWR-R1 (b)) show that in both cell lines, AR activity was not significantly affected by the expression of β -catenin. Clearly the effects of β -catenin overexpression on Tcf and AR activities differ.

Since PCa cells already have high levels of β -catenin, the effects of β -catenin depletion on AR transcriptional activity were next tested. HCT116, CWR-R1, LNCaP cells were transfected with either control siRNA (control 1) or pTER β i plasmids and grown in androgen-depleted medium in the presence of androgens (Figure 20b). 22Rv1 cells were transfected with two different siRNA controls (control 1 and 2) and grown in the presence or absence of androgens (Figure 20c). In order to test the effect of β -catenin depletion on AR activity in the control cell line, HCT116 cells, AR was ectopically expressed in these cells. As might be expected from published β -catenin overexpression studies, depletion of β -catenin in HCT116 cells significantly reduced AR activity (p=0.01) (Figure 20b). In order to determine if the effects of β -catenin siRNA resulted from a reduction in the level of expression of cotransfected AR, western blots were also conducted as described in section 3.2.1. As shown in Figure 16a, expression of β -catenin siRNA led to a reduction in β -catenin protein levels, however according to Figure 20a, AR protein levels were unaffected. Surprisingly, depletion of β -catenin significantly increased endogenous

AR transcriptional activity in CWR-R1 (p=0.004), LNCaP (p=0.003) (Figure 20b) or 22Rv1 cells (p<0.00005) (Figure 20c). These results indicate that endogenous β -catenin in PCa cells is somehow regulating AR activity, but not in the manner predicted by studies using overexpressed β -catenin in PCa cell lines (Truica *et al.*, 2000; Mulholland *et al.*, 2002; Pawlowski *et al.*, 2002).



Figure 18. Wnt expression does not affect AR-dependent transcription in PCa cells. LAPC-4, LNCaP and CWR-R1 cells were transfected with the reporter vectors MMTV-Luc and RSV- β -Gal plus Wnt (W1) or Wnt3A (W3A), or their respective empty vectors pMT23 and pGK (V) Cells were treated with 10 nM R1881 for 24 hours and then lysed and assayed for luciferase (Luc) and β -galactosidase (β -Gal) activities. Results are presented as the activity relative to each cell line transfected with empty vector.

Figure 19. β -catenin overexpression does not affect AR-dependent transcription in LAPC-4 (a) and CWR-R1 (b) cells. Cells were transfected with the reporter vectors MMTV-Luc and RSV- β -Gal plus β -catenin (β Cat) or the empty vector pMT23 as control (Vector). Cells were treated with 10 nM R1881 for 24 hours and then lysed and assayed for luciferase (Luc) and β -galactosidase (β -Gal) activities. Results are presented as the ratio between luciferase and β -Gal activities.



Figure 20. Depletion of endogenous β -catenin leads to an increase in AR activity in PCa cells. (a) HCT116 cells were transfected with pSG5 AR and either control 1 (lanes 1 and 2), β -catenin (lanes 3 and 4) or control 2 (lanes 5 and 6) siRNA expression plasmids. Cells were treated with (lanes 2,4 and 6) or without (lanes 1,3 and 5) 1 nM R1881 and whole cell extracts were probed with antibody against β -catenin (Figure 16a) and then reprobed with antibody against AR. (b) HCT116, CWR-R1 and LNCaP cells were transfected with the reporter vectors MMTV-Luc and pDM- β -Gal, pSG5 AR (HCT116 cells only) and either control 1 (Vector) or β -catenin siRNA (β Cat siRNA) expression plasmids. Cells were treated with 10 nM (CWR-R1 cells) or 1 nM (HCT116 and LNCaP cells) R1881 for 24 hours. Results are presented as the activity relative to each cell line transfected with vector. (*) AR activity was significantly increased in β Cat siRNA-transfected cells (p=0.003), and significantly reduced in HCT116 cells (p=0.01). Experiment was done at least three times in triplicates.



Figure 20 (c). Depletion of endogenous β -catenin leads to an increase in AR activity in PCa cells. 22Rv1 cells were transfected with the reporter vectors MMTV-Luc and pDM- β -Gal and either control 1, β -catenin, or control 2 siRNA expression vectors. Cells were grown in hormone-depleted medium in the presence (+) or absence (-) of 1 nM R1881 for 24 hours. Cells were assayed for luciferase (Luc) and β -galactosidase (β -Gal) activities, and results are presented as the ratio between luciferase and β -Gal activities. (*) AR activity was significantly increased in β -catenin siRNA-transfected cells compare to control 1 and control 2-transfected cells (p< 0.00005). Experiment was done twice in triplicates.
3.3 Chapter 3- Regulation of AR transcriptional activity by GSK3 β and GSK3 β-binding proteins

3.3.1 Regulation of AR transcriptional activity by Axin deletion mutants

The results in chapter 1 and 2 suggested that CWR-R1 cells could be most suitable for further studies on the crosstalk between Wnt and AR signalling in PCa lines. This is due to several reasons; first and importantly, because CWR-R1 cells respond to Wnts (see Figure 13). Second, CWR-R1 cells express AR, and have a very good hormone response at the transcriptional level and partially at the level of androgenregulated growth (Wainstein *et al.*, 1994; Tan *et al.*, 1997; Gregory *et al.*, 2001b), which is typical of the majority of tumours *in vivo*. Third, these cells are relatively easy to transfect. During this work I also used 22Rv1 cells, which share the advantages of CWR-R1 cells and, in addition, grow under less stringent culture conditions.

The RNAi experiments suggested that endogenous β -catenin does not activate AR in CWR-R1 cells. However, depletion of β -catenin may have other effects in addition to its effects on transcription, for example, on cell-cell adhesion. Therefore, Axin was used to inhibit β -catenin/Tcf signalling. Axin is a scaffold protein that promotes phosphorylation and degradation of β-catenin in the cytosol and its expression in several cell lines leads to downregulation and inactivation of β -catenin (Kishida et al., 1998; Ross et al., 2000; Kishida et al., 2001; Reya et al., 2003). CWR-R1 cells were transfected with several GFP-tagged Axin plasmids (presented in Figure 21) as well as the reporter plasmids MMTV-Luc and RSV-β-Gal. The fulllength Axin fused to GFP (GAX), a form of GAX with a point mutation (L521P) in the GSK3B-binding domain (GAXP), and GFP alone were used. Figure 22a shows that GAX significantly reduced AR activity (p<0.00005), but GAXP did not (p=0.5). GAXP has a mutation in a conserved proline residue in the GSK3β-binding domain of Axin, which prevents binding to GSK3 β and also reduces binding to β -catenin (Smalley et al., 1999). This indicates that Axin also has the ability to inhibit ARmediated transcription but requires an intact GSK3β-binding domain. Next, in order to locate the exact domain required for Axin to inhibit AR activity, different deletion mutants of Axin that lack certain protein-binding domains were used: GAXAAPC (GAX1), which cannot bind APC, GAX1AGSK3, which cannot bind APC and GSK3β, or GAX1Δβ-catenin, which cannot bind APC and β-catenin. As shown in Figure 22b, the interaction of Axin with APC was not required for AR inhibition since GAX1 inhibited AR as well as GAX (p<0.00005). However, deletion of the GSK3β-binding site in Axin (GAX1ΔGSK3), reduced the ability of Axin to repress AR activity. GAX1ΔGSK3 still weakly binds to GSK3β (Hinoi *et al.*, 2000), which might explain why it still repressed AR activity compared to GFP (p<0.00005). Importantly, the interaction of Axin with β-catenin was not required for the inhibition of AR, as GAX1Δβ-catenin still inhibited AR (p<0.00005).

In order further to delineate the region of Axin required for inhibition of AR, four additional Axin constructs were used (also shown in Figure 21). GAX7, which is a GFP-tagged construct of Axin that can only bind β -catenin and GSK3 β , its mutated derivative GAX7P, which has a point mutation in the GSK3B-binding domain, or GFP alone as a control. A FLAG-tagged Axin construct, AX2, that can bind GSK3β only and its mutated derivative AX2P, were also used. The control for AX2 and AX2P constructs was a c-myc-tagged construct (MAX4), containing residues 1-229 of Axin, which do not contain a binding site for any known proteins. According to Figure 23a, GAX7 repressed AR activity (p<0.00005) while the mutated form, GAX7P, repressed less (p=0.0005). Similarly, Figure 23b shows that AX2 repressed AR activity (p<0.00005) and AX2P repressed less (p=0.02). Moreover, coexpression of w.t GSK3^β with AX2 rescued the inhibitory effect of AX2. The effect of w.t GSK3ß and AX2 co-expression did not have a significant effect on AR activity compare to the control plasmid expression (p=0.09). These results (Figures 23a and 23b) support what was suggested from the results in Figure 22, namely, that GSK3ß binding is required for repression of AR by Axin, and also show that the GSK3_β-binding domain of Axin is sufficient for the inhibition of AR activity. Moreover, the fact that the β -catenin-binding domain of Axin is not required for the inhibition of AR activity suggests that the effects of Axin are independent of βcatenin. In view of these results, GSK3β and its effect on the AR signalling pathway became the focus of subsequent studies.

Figure 21



DIX



Figure 21. Cartoon of Axin constructs used in transient transfections. GFP-tagged Axin (GAX) was used as the full length Axin to create the following Axin deletion mutants; GFP-Axin Δ APC (GAX1) that cannot bind to APC, GFP-Axin Δ APC Δ GSK3 (GAX1 Δ G) that cannot bind to APC and GSK3 β , GFP-Axin Δ APC $\Delta\beta$ (GAX1 $\Delta\beta$) that cannot bind to APC and β -catenin. GAX7 is a construct that can only bind to GSK3 β and β -catenin. AX2 is a FLAG-tagged construct of Axin that can only bind to GSK3 β . P denotes the L521P mutation that disrupts binding of Axin to GSK3 β .



Figure 22. (a) AR-dependent transcription is inhibited by Axin overexpession. CWR-R1 cells were transfected with the reporter vectors MMTV-Luc and RSV- β -Gal plus either GFP, GAX or GAXP. Cells were treated with (+) or without (-) 10 nM R1881 for 24 hours. (b) GSK3 β interaction with Axin is necessary for the inhibition of AR activity. CWR-R1 cells were transfected with the reporter vectors MMTV-Luc and RSV- β -Gal plus either GFP, GAX, GAX1, GAX1 Δ G or GAX1 $\Delta\beta$. Cells were treated with 10 nM R1881 for 24 hours. Cells were assayed for luciferase (Luc) and β -galactosidase (β -Gal) activities, and results are presented as the ratio between luciferase and β -Gal activities. (*) AR activity was significantly reduced in cells expressing GFP-tagged Axin mutants compare to cells expressing GFP alone in the presence of R1881 (p<0.00005). Experiment was done at least three times in triplicates.



Figure 23. GSK3 β interaction with Axin is sufficient for the inhibition of AR activity. (a) CWR-R1 cells were transfected with the reporter vectors MMTV-Luc and RSV- β -Gal plus either GFP, GAX7 or GAX7P. (b) CWR-R1 cells were transfected with the reporter vectors MMTV-Luc and RSV- β -Gal plus either a c-myc-tagged Axin construct containing the N-terminus only (MAX4) as control, AX2, AX2 with w.t GSK3 β or AX2P. Cells were treated with (+) or without (-) 10 nM R1881 for 24 hours and assayed for luciferase (Luc) and β -galactosidase (β -Gal) activities. Results are presented as the ratio luciferase and β -Gal activities. (*) AR activity was significantly reduced in cells expressing Axin mutants compare to cells expressing control plasmid (a-GFP, b-MAX4) in the presence of R1881 (p<0.00005 for GAX7 and AX2). Experiment was done at least three times in triplicates.

3.3.2 Regulation of AR transcriptional activity by FRAT

A second approach was used to inhibit GSK3 β . This involved the GSK3 β -binding protein, FRAT, which binds to GSK3 β and sequesters it from its interactions with other proteins in the cell (Li *et al.*, 1999; Franca-Koh *et al.*, 2002; Fraser *et al.*, 2002). FRAT was first tested for its effects on β -catenin/Tcf-dependent transcription in HEK 293 cells. GFP-tagged FRAT, or a mutated form that cannot bind to GSK3 β , GFP-tagged FRAT Δ C (or the empty vector, encoding GFP) were transfected into HEK 293 cells, together with the reporter plasmids pOT-Luc and and RSV- β -Gal. As shown in Figure 24a, FRAT expression activated the Wnt pathway, but FRAT Δ C did not. Next, the effect of FRAT expression on AR activity was examined in CWR-R1 cells. CWR-R1 cells were transfected with FRAT, FRAT Δ C or GFP and MMTV-Luc and treated with 10 nM R1881 (+) or carrier (-) for 24 hours. As presented in Figure 24b, in the presence of hormone, FRAT repressed AR activity and, FRAT Δ C did not. These results contribute to the idea that GSK3 β normally binds and activates AR. Thus, by sequestering GSK3 β (by expression of FRAT or Axin), AR-mediated transcription is repressed.



Figure 24. (a) FRAT activates β -catenin/Tcf-4-dependent transcription in HEK 293 cells. Cells were transfected with the reporter vectors pOT-Luc and RSV- β -Gal plus either GFP as control, GFP-FRAT or GFP-FRAT Δ C. (b) FRAT represses AR-dependent transcription in CWR-R1 cells. Cells were transfected with the reporter vectors MMTV-Luc and RSV- β -Gal plus either GFP, GFP-FRAT or GFP-FRAT Δ C and treated with (+) or without (-) 10 nM R1881 for 24 hours. Cells were assayed for luciferase (Luc) and β -galactosidase (β -Gal) activities, and results are presented as the ratio between luciferase and β -Gal activities.

3.3.3 The effects of GSK3 β expression on AR activity in PCa cells

The effects of GSK3 β -binding proteins on AR signalling suggested an important role for GSK3 β in the regulation of AR activity. Therefore, the effects of GSK3 β overexpression on AR-mediated transcription were next assessed. W.t GSK3 β , a constitutively-active form of GSK3 β that has a mutation at S9 (S9A), the inhibitory phosphorylation site, and a catalytically-inactive form of GSK3 β (K216R) were expressed in PCa cell lines together with the reporter plasmids MMTV-Luc and RSV- β -Gal.

AR transcriptional activity was not significantly affected by expression of any of these constructs in 22Rv1 cells (p=0.5 for w.t GSK3 β , p=0.3 for S9A, p=0.2 for K216R) (Figure 25a). The lack of effect of GSK3 β on AR activity might be because endogenous GSK3 β is already active in 22Rv1 cells. Therefore, the effect of GSK3 β overexpression was examined in LNCaP cells, in which GSK3 β is known to be inactive as a result of phosphorylation at S9 (Salas *et al.*, 2004). When expressed at high levels, w.t GSK3 β significantly increased AR activity in LNCaP cells (p=0.02) (Figure 25b). Constitutively-active GSK3 β significantly increased AR transcriptional activity both at low and high levels of expression (p=0.0006 and p=0.0004, respectively). Catalytically-inactive GSK3 β did not appear to affect AR activity (p=0.3). These results indicate that overexpression of GSK3 β can activate AR in PCa cell line with low endogenous GSK3 β activity. It is not clear why the catalytically-inactive form of GSK3 β did not inhibit AR activity, but it may be that the level of expression achieved was too low.

Lastly, the effect of GSK3 β overexpression in PC3 cells was tested. PC3 cells were transfected with small amount of pSG5 AR and either w.t GSK3 β or empty vector and were treated with 0.15 nM R1881 (close to the Kd of AR for R1881) (Gregory *et al.*, 2001b), 10 nM R1881 or a carrier, 24 hours prior harvesting the cells. As shown in Figure 25c, AR transcriptional activity significantly increased when GSK3 β was overexpressed at both hormone doses (p<0.0005 at the 0.15 nM dose).

Taken together, results in this chapter support the hypothesis that GSK3 β increases AR transcriptional activity in PCa cells.



Figure 25 (a-b). GSK3β overexpression increases AR-dependent transcription in LNCaP cells. (a)

22Rv1 cells were transfected with the reporter vectors MMTV-Luc and RSV- β -Gal plus either the empty vector pCDNA3 (vector), w.t GSK3 β , constitutively-active GSK3 β , S9A, or the inactive form of GSK3 β , K216R. Cells were treated with (+) or without (-) 1 nM R1881 for 24 hours. (b) LNCaP cells were transfected with the reporter vectors MMTV-Luc and RSV- β -Gal and the indicated amounts of empty vector pCDNA3 (vector), w.t GSK3 β , GSK3 β S9A, or GSK3 β K216R. Cells were treated with (+) or without (-) 1 nM R1881 for 24 hours. Cells were treated with (+) or without (-) 1 nM R1881 for 24 hours. Cells were assayed for luciferase (Luc) and β -galactosidase (β -Gal) activities, and results are presented as the ratio between luciferase and β -Gal activities. (*) AR activity significantly increased in cells expressing GSK3 β (p=0.02) as well as at the lower (p=0.0006) and higher dose (p=0.0004) of S9A GSK3 β . Experiment was done three times in triplicates.



Figure 25 (c). GSK3 β overexpression increases AR-dependent transcription in PC3 cells. (c) PC3 cells expressing AR were transfected with the reporter vectors MMTV-Luc and RSV- β -Gal and either w.t GSK3 β or the empty vector pMT23 (vector), and treated with either 0.15, 10 nM R1881 or the carrier ethanol (-). Cells were assayed for luciferase (Luc) and β -galactosidase (β -Gal) activities, and results are presented as the ratio between luciferase and β -Gal activities. (*) AR activity significantly increased in cells expressing GSK3 β constructs compare to cells expressing empty vector in the presence of R1881 at the 0.15 nM dose (p<0.0005) and at the 10 nM dose (p=0.02). Experiment was done twice in triplicates.

3.4 Chapter 4- Inhibition of AR activity and PCa cell growth by GSK-3 inhibitors

3.4.1 The effects of GSK-3 inhibitors on GSK-3 and β-catenin stabilisation

Another approach to analyse the effects of inhibition of GSK3 β in PCa cells is to use chemical inhibitors of GSK-3. LiCl, which has been shown by several groups to stabilise β -catenin by inhibiting GSK-3, was first used (Stambolic *et al.*, 1996; Garcia-Perez *et al.*, 1999; Jones and Veale, 2003; Orme *et al.*, 2003). However, since LiCl has other effects on cells, two commercially available inhibitors, SB415286 and SB216763, were also tested. Initially, in order to confirm that the inhibitors were working properly, their effects on β -catenin protein levels in 22Rv1 cells were tested. Cells were treated with LiCl, SB216763 or SB415286 for 24 hr and lysed in hypotonic lysis buffer in order to prepare cytosolic extracts. Cytosolic extracts were probed with anti- β -catenin and anti- β -actin (as a loading control) antibodies. Results (Figure 26a) show that LiCl and SB415286 stabilised β -catenin. SB216763 did not appear to change β -catenin protein levels. Therefore, it was unclear if SB216763 affected GSK-3 in this cell line.

GSK-3 is known to have two phosphorylation sites: S9 or S21 are inhibitory phosphorylation sites for GSK3ß and GSK3a, respectively; phosphorylation on Y216 and Y279 leads to activation of GSK3β and GSK3α, respectively. Therefore, inhibition of GSK-3 protein activity can be measured by changes in its phosphorylation state. 22Rv1 cells that had been treated for 24 hours with each of the three inhibitors were lysed in RIPA lysis buffer and then probed for total GSK-3 $(\alpha+\beta)$, GSK-3 phosphorylated on S9/S21 and for GSK-3 phosphorylated on Y216/Y279. Figure 26b shows that total GSK-3 levels were not greatly affected by the inhibition. LiCl treatment led to a small increase in S21 phosphorylation on GSK3a, but not in S9 phosphorylation on GSK3β. Treatment with SB415286 and SB216763 reduced, rather than increased, serine phosphorylation on GSK-3 (S9 and In addition, both SB216763 and SB415286 led to a reduction in Y279 S21). phosphorylation on GSK3a. Y216 phosphorylation on GSK3ß was slightly reduced by all three inhibitors. These results suggest that the mechanism of inhibition of GSK-3 by LiCl, SB216763 and SB415286 differs: LiCl increases S21 phosphorylation, whereas SB216763 and SB415286 reduce GSK-3 tyrosine

phosphorylation. In general, the effects of these inhibitors in 22Rv1 cells appear to be stronger on GSK3 α compared to GSK3 β .

Next, the effects of the inhibitors on β -catenin/Tcf-dependent transcription were tested in CWR-R1 cells. Cells were treated with 20 mM LiCl, 5 or 20 μ M of SB216763 and SB415286, respectively, 24 hr after transfection (for 24 hr). Results in Figure 26c indicate that all three inhibitors activated β -catenin/Tcf-dependent signalling as expected. Taken together, the results from Figure 26 suggested that all three GSK-3 inhibitors inhibit GSK-3, albeit in different ways, and therefore could be further used to investigate the effect of GSK3 β inhibition on AR signalling in PCa cells.

3.4.2 Regulation of AR transcriptional activity by GSK-3 inhibitors

In order to examine the effects of these inhibitors on AR activity, CWR-R1 cells were transfected with the reporter plasmid MMTV-Luc and treated with the inhibitors and 10 nM R1881 for 24 hours. Both SB415286 and SB216763 repressed AR activity, while LiCl had no effect (Figure 27a). SB415286 and SB216763 also repressed AR-mediated transcription in assays using a second reporter plasmid (Figure 27b). Here CWR-R1 cells were transfected with the reporter Probasin-Luciferase (PB-Luc), which measures transcription of probasin, an AR target gene. These results show that the inhibition of AR activity by GSK-3 inhibitors is not restricted to the MMTV promotor.



Figure 26 (a-b). (a) Inhibition of GSK-3 leads to β -catenin stabilisation in 22Rv1 cells. Cells were treated with either the carrier ethanol (ut), 20 mM LiCl, 5 μ M SB216763 (SB21) or 20 μ M SB415286 (SB41) for 24 hours. Cytosolic extracts were probed with antibodies against β -catenin and β -actin as an internal loading control. (b) Changes in serine and tyrosine phosphorylation of GSK-3 in 22Rv1 cells. Cells were treated with either the carrier ethanol (ut), 20 mM LiCl, 5 μ M SB216763 (SB21) or 20 μ M SB415286 (SB41) for 24 hours. Whole cell extracts were probed with the phospho-specific antibodies against S21/S9 (upper panel) and Y279/Y216 (middle panel) in GSK3 α /GSK3 β , respectively. Extracts were also probed for total GSK-3 (α + β) (lower panel).

Figure 26 continued-

С



Figure 26 (c). Activation of β -catenin/Tcf-4-dependent transcription by GSK-3 inhibitors in CWR-R1 cells. Cells were transfected with the reporter vectors pOT-Luc and RSV- β -Gal and treated with either the carrier ethanol (ut), 20 mM LiCl, 5 μ M SB216763 (SB21) or 20 μ M SB415286 (SB41) for 24 hours. Cells were assayed for luciferase (Luc) and β -galactosidase (β -Gal) activities and results are presented as the ratio between luciferase and β -Gal activities.



Figure 27. Inhibition of AR-dependent transcription by GSK-3 inhibitors in CWR-R1 cells. Cells were transfected with the reporter vectors MMTV-Luc (a) or PB-Luc (b) and RSV- β -Gal and treated with either the carrier ethanol (ut), 20 mM LiCl (a only), 5 μ M SB216763 (SB21) or 20 μ M SB415286 (SB41) for 24 hours. Cells were treated with (+) or without (-) 10 nM R1881 half an hour after addition of inhibitors and assayed for luciferase (Luc) and β -galactosidase (β -Gal) activities. Results are presented as the ratio between luciferase and β -Gal activities.

3.4.3 PCa cell growth regulation by GSK-3 inhibitors

The effects of GSK-3 inhibitors were next examined with respect to PCa cell growth. First, in order to find the optimal dose required for a significant effect on cell growth, CWR-R1 cells were treated with increasing amounts of SB216763 and SB415286 and counted after 72 hours. The inhibitory effects of SB216763 on cell growth were maximal at 3 μ M (Figure 28a), whereas the inhibitory effects of SB415286 increased with dose up to the maximal dose tested (50 μ M) (Figure 28b). The effects of SB415286 at higher doses appeared to result from general toxicity of this inhibitor. We chose to use it at 20 μ M which is close to the Ki for this inhibitor in other assays (Coghlan *et al.*, 2000; Cross *et al.*, 2001).

Next, the effects of the inhibitors at an optimal dose were tested over time. CWR-R1 cells were treated with 5 μ M SB216763 and 20 μ M SB415286 and counted over a period of 6 days. As shown in Figure 29 both SB216763 and SB415286 repressed CWR-R1 cell growth.

In order to determine whether inhibition of GSK-3 specifically inhibited growth of PCa cells that express AR, I examined the effects of SB216763 (5 μ M) on the growth of several PCa cell lines (Figure 30a). Some of the lines express AR (CWR-R1, 22Rv1 and LNCaP cells) and some do not (PC3, DU145 cells). SB216763 similarly repressed the growth of CWR-R1 and 22Rv1 cells. In contrast, SB216763 did not significantly affect the growth of PC3 and DU145 cells. The inhibitory effect on LNCaP cell growth was only weak, consistent with the low endogenous GSK-3 activity in this cell line. These results suggest that inhibition of GSK-3 reduces the growth rate of AR-positive PCa cells and supports the idea that AR is required for the growth inhibitory response.

The effect of GSK-3 inhibition on AD PCa cell growth was then tested. This experiment was done in the same way as described in Figure 30a, but conducted in 22Rv1 cells that were grown in hormone-depleted medium in the absence or presence of R1181. 22Rv1 cells are able to grow to same the extent in hormone-depleted medium but their growth can be stimulated with the addition of androgens (Sramkoski *et al.*, 1999). According to Figure 30b, R1881 stimulated 22Rv1 cell growth and this was blocked by treatment with SB216763. In addition, SB216763 inhibited hormone-independent growth of 22Rv1 cells to a certain extent (compare lanes 1 and 4), suggesting that there is also an effect on AI cell growth.





Time (days)

Figure 29. chemical inhibitors of GSK-3 inhibit CWR-R1 cell growth over a period of 6 days. Cells were grown in complete growth medium in the presence of either the carrier ethanol (ut), 5 μ M SB216763 (SB21) or 20 μ M SB415286 (SB41) for up to 6 days and the number of cells was counted.

Figure 30 a 1.5 Cell number (relative to ut) Т 1 Т Т I 0.5 0 **CWR** 22Rv DU PC3 LN ut 21 ut 21 ut 21 ut 21 ut 21 b 22Rv1 cells 6000 Cell numberx100 Т 5000 T 4000 Т 3000 Т Т 2000 1000 0 5 1 2 3 4 6 SB216763 control R1881 + + + + 1

Figure 30. (a) Inhibition of GSK-3 reduces AR-positive PCa cell growth. CWR-R1 (CWR), 22Rv1 (22Rv), DU145 (DU), PC3 and LNCaP (LN) cells were treated either with a carrier (ut) or 5 μ M SB216763 (21). The number of cells was counted after 72 hours (or after 5 days for LNCaP cells). (b) Inhibition of GSK-3 reduces AD and AI cell growth in 22Rv1 cells. Cells were grown in hormone-depleted medium in the absence of hormone (lanes 1 and 4), in the presence of 10⁻¹² M R1881 (lanes 2 and 5) or 10⁻⁹ M R1881 (lanes 3 and 6) and either with carrier (control, lanes 1-3) or 5 μ M SB216763 (lanes 4-6). The number of cells was counted after 72 hours.

3.5 Chapter 5- Investigation of the mechanism by which GSK3ß regulates AR activity

3.5.1 Regulation of AR protein level by GSK3^β

As a first step in determining the mechanism of GSK3 β regulation of AR transcriptional activity, the effects of GSK3 β inhibition on AR protein levels were examined. Whole cell extracts from CWR-R1 cells that had been treated with GSK-3 inhibitors for 24 hours were probed with antibodies against AR and γ -tubulin as a loading control (Figure 31a). Interestingly, compared with untreated cells, AR protein levels were reduced after treatment with both inhibitors. SB415286 appeared to reduce AR protein levels more than SB216763, although reprobing with anti-tubulin revealed that part of this reduction resulted from a reduction in the number of cells. However, after taking into account the loading controls, both inhibitors specifically reduced AR protein levels in CWR-R1 cells, suggesting that GSK3 β plays a role in AR protein stability.

Next, in order to try to determine in which cellular compartment GSK3 β regulation of AR protein occurs, different cellular fractions were isolated. CWR-R1 cells grown in hormone-depleted medium were treated with GSK-3 inhibitors in the absence or presence of 10 nM R1881 for 24 hours. Non-nuclear extracts were probed with antibodies against AR and γ -tubulin as a loading control (Figure 31b). Addition of R1881 to control cells induced a small increase in non-nuclear AR in CWR-R1 cells (lane 2) (in contrast to the 40 minute treatment in Figure 12). An increase was also seen using SB216763 (lane 4) and to a lesser extent using SB415286 (lane 6). The main difference was that SB216763 and SB415286 reduced the level of nonnuclear AR in cells that were not treated with androgen (lanes 3 and 5), although SB415286 also reduced AR in androgen-treated cells (lane 6). Nuclear extracts from the same cells were loaded on gels and probed with antibodies against AR and PARP as a loading control. Taking into account levels of the control protein, results presented in Figure 31c show that the GSK-3 inhibitors did not have a significant effect on nuclear AR protein levels, compared to untreated cells, in the presence of androgens. However, there appeared to be a small decrease in AR levels in the absence of hormone (compare loading controls in lanes 1, 3 and 5). These results suggest that GSK3 β might play a role in AR protein stability mainly when it is in the unliganded state.





Figure 31. Inhibition of GSK-3 leads to a reduction in AR protein levels. (a) CWR-R1 cells were grown in their complete growth medium and treated with either the carrier ethanol (ut), 5 μ M SB216763 (SB21) or 20 μ M SB415286 (SB41) for 24 hours. Whole cell extracts were probed with antibodies against AR and γ -tubulin. (b-c) CWR-R1 cells were grown in hormone-depleted medium in the presence (+, lanes 2, 4 and 6) or absence (-, lanes 1, 3 and 5) of 10 nM R1881, and either the carrier ethanol (ut, lanes 1-2), 5 μ M SB216763 (SB21, lanes 3-4) or 20 μ M SB415286 (SB41, lanes 5-6) for 24 hours. Non-nuclear extracts were probed with antibodies against AR and γ -tubulin (b). Nuclear extracts were probed with antibodies against AR and PARP (c).

3.5.2 Association between AR and GSK3B

The possibility of an *in vivo* complex between AR and GSK3 β was next studied. COS7 cells were transfected with AR and a myc-tagged GSK3 β . 24 hr after transfection, cells were lysed in NP-40 lysis buffer and immunoprecipitated with different antibodies. Samples that were immunoprecipitated with anti-AR were probed with 9E10 (an anti-myc tag antibody in order to detect GSK3 β). Samples that were immunoprecipitated with 9E10 were probed with anti-AR. Extracts were also immunoprecipitated with monoclonal and polyclonal anti-GFP as control antibodies (Figure 32). GSK3 β was detected in anti-AR immunoprecipitates and not in control immunoprecipitates (Figure 32a), and AR was detected in anti-GSK3 β immunoprecipitates and not in control immunoprecipitates (Figure 32b). Total cell extracts were probed with antibody against 9E10 (Figure 32a) or AR (Figure 32b) to confirm the expression and migration of the respective proteins. These results show that the two proteins have the ability to form a complex, and, together with the previous results, further support the hypothesis that GSK3 β increases the ARmediated transcriptional activity by binding to AR.

The next goal was to try and detect an endogenous complex between AR and GSK3β. 22Rv1 cells treated with or without 1 nM R1881 for 1 hour were lysed in NP-40 lysis buffer and immunoprecipitated with anti-AR or control (normal IgG) antibodies and probed with antibodies against AR and GSK3ß (Figure 33) (for details on IP technique, see section 2.10-2 in Materials and Methods). GSK3ß was detectable in anti-AR immunoprecipitates in the presence and absence of androgens (lower panel, lanes 2 and 4). However, a small amount of GSK3β was also detected in normal IgG immunoprecipitates (lanes 1 and 3) indicating that non-specific binding was also occurring. Reprobing of the immunoprecipitates with an antibody against AR confirmed that similar amounts of AR were immunoprecipitated (upper panel, lanes 2 and 4). Total cell extracts that were probed with antibodies against AR and GSK3ß indicated that cells expressed slightly higher amounts of AR protein in the presence of androgens (upper panel, lane 6) and equal amounts of GSK3ß protein (lower panel, lanes 5 and 6). These results suggest that an endogenous complex between AR and GSK3ß may be present, but that this complex is present at very low levels or is unstable.



Figure 32. AR and GSK3 β form a complex *in vivo* in COS7 cells. Cells were transfected with AR and myc epitope-tagged GSK3 β . Whole cell extracts were immunoprecipitated with either a polyclonal antibody against AR and probed with antibody against myc (9E10) for detection of GSK3 β (a), or with a monoclonal antibody against myc (9E10) and probed with an antibody against AR (b). Cells were also immunoprecipitated with polyclonal and monoclonal antibody against GFP (a, b respectively) as control. Total cell extracts were probed with antibody against myc (a, 9E10) and AR (b).

Figure 33. Detection of endogenous complex between AR and GSK3 β in 22Rv1 cells. 22Rv1 cells treated with (+) (lanes 3 and 4) or without (-) (lanes 1 and 2) 1 nM R1881 for 1 hour, were immunoprecipitated with antibodies against AR (lanes 2 and 4) or control (antinormal IgG) (lanes 1 and 3) and probed with antibodies against AR and GSK3 β . R1881treated total cell extracts (lane 6) and untreated extracts (lane 5) were probed with antibodies against AR and GSK3 β . The arrow head indicate the position of GSK3 β in IP samples and cell extracts.

3.5.3 Axin disrupts the complex between AR and GSK3β

To determine a possible mechanism for the inhibition of AR activity by Axin, AX2 or AX2P (or empty vector as a control) were expressed in COS7 cells together with AR and myc-tagged GSK3 β (Figure 34). AR was detected in GSK3 β immunoprecipitates from COS7 cells expressing empty vector (lane 6) or AX2P (lane 4). Interestingly, the amount of complex between AR and GSK3 β detected in cells expressing the empty vector (lane 6). The reason for this is not known. Importantly, AX2 expression prevented detection of a complex between AR and GSK3 β . Total cell extracts were also probed with antibodies against AR and 9E10 and this confirmed that the cells expressed similar amounts of AR and myc-tagged GSK3 β (lanes 1, 2 and 3). These results suggest that AX2 inhibits AR transcriptional activity by preventing interaction between AR and GSK3 β is required for the enhancement in AR transcriptional activity.

Figure 34

COS7 cells



Figure 34. Association between AR and GSK3 β is disrupted by AX2 overexpression. Whole cell extracts from COS7 cells transfected with AR and myc epitope-tagged GSK3 β , plus either AX2P (lane 4), AX2 (lane 5), or an empty vector (lane 6) were immunoprecipitated with an antibody against myc (9E10), and probed with antibodies against AR and 9E10. Total cell extracts from cells transfected with either AX2P (lane 1), AX2 (lane 2) or the empty vector (lane 3) were probed with antibodies against AR and 9E10. The upper arrow head indicates the position of AR (at 110 KDa) and the lower arrow head indicates the position of GSK3 β (at 47 KDa) in the IP samples and cell extracts. The bands migrating above GSK3 β are IgG recognised by the secondary antibody.

3.5.4 Investigation of GSK3β regulation of AR transcriptionl activity through phosphorylation

GSK-3 is known to phosphorylate and regulate the activities of several transcription factors (Woodgett, 1990). GSK-3 phosphorylates serine and threonine residues and one of its consensus sites for phosphorylation (S/T P) can be found in three major AR phosphorylation sites (S81, S94 and S650) (Jenster et al., 1994; Zhou et al., 1995; Yeh et al., 1999; Wen et al., 2000; Lin et al., 2001; Gioeli et al., 2002). Some of these proline-directed phosphorylation sites have been previously reported to be involved either in AR transcriptional activity (S650) and/or are phosphorylated after addition of hormone (S81 and S650) (Gioeli et al., 2002). Therefore, the possibility that GSK3β regulates AR through phosphorylation on these three candidate sites was examined. Since most of the previous experiments were done in CWR-R1 cells, initially an AR plasmid with the same mutation as AR in CWR-R1 cells (H874Y) was used. The H874Y AR plasmid was mutated to alanines at serines 81, 94 and 650. The mutants were first expressed in COS7 cells together with w.t GSK3ß and their expression levels compared. Transfected cells were grown in hormone-depleted medium for 16 hours and then treated with 10 nM R1881 or its carrier ethanol for 6 hours and whole cell extracts were probed with antibodies against total AR (Figure 35a, lower panel). H874Y AR and all three mutants were expressed equally and were all stabilised by R1881 treatment (lanes 2, 4, 6 and 8). In order to examine phosphorylation at S81, a commercial antibody that recognises phosphorylated S81 was used (Figure 35a, upper panel). This revealed R1881-dependent phosphorylation of AR at S81 (lane 2). The S650A mutant was also phosphorylated on S81 (lane 6), as expected, whereas the S81A mutant was not (lane 4). However, this result was not reproducible in several other attempts. The reason for that is not known but possibly this is due to an antibody batch problem. The phosphorylation status of the AR mutants will have to be examined using other techniques.

Next, the effect of the serine mutations on AR transcriptional activity was tested. PC3 cells were transfected with H874Y AR and H874Y phosphorylation site mutants of AR, together with the reporter plasmids MMTV-Luc and pDM- β -Gal and treated with 0.15 nM R1881 or the carrier ethanol for 24 hours (Figure 35b). Results show that AR transcriptional activity of H874Y AR and all three mutants increased in response to androgens, indicating that mutation at these three phosphorylation sites

did not compromise hormone-dependent transcriptional activation. Similar results were reported by other groups who used AR mutants to examine the effect of serine phosphorylation on AR (Jenster *et al.*, 1994; Zhou *et al.*, 1995; Yeh *et al.*, 1999; Wen *et al.*, 2000; Lin *et al.*, 2001; Gioeli *et al.*, 2002).

In order to test the effect of GSK3ß on AR activity, PC3 cells were transfected with the AR phosphorylation site mutants together with w.t GSK3ß (or empty vector) and treated with 0.15 nM R1881 (or the carrier ethanol) for 24 hours (Figure 36a). The results indicate that the AR transcriptional activity of H874Y AR, S81A and S650A was higher in cells expressing GSK3B compared to cells expressing an empty vector (compare lanes 2 and 3, 5 and 6, 10 and 11). However, AR activity of S94A was not greatly affected by the expression of GSK3ß (compare lanes 8 and 9). Figure 36b is a combination of results from three independent experiments carried out in triplicates in PC3 cells in the same way as in Figure 36a. The results are presented as the fold activation of AR comparing cells expressing GSK3ß and cells expressing an empty vector in the presence of androgens and relative to H874Y AR with the activity of H874Y in the presence of GSK3ß set at 1. The effect of GSK3ß expression on S81A and S650A was similar to the effect on H874Y AR transcriptional activity. In contrast, GSK3β-dependent AR activity of S94A was significantly reduced (p=0.00002) compared to H874Y AR, suggesting S94 is involved in the regulation of AR transcriptional activity by GSK3β. These results indicate that GSK3B activation of the mutated form of AR found in CWR-R1 and 22Rv1 cells (AR H874Y), requires S94.

Figure 35



Figure 35. (a) Phosphorylation site mutations in H874Y AR do not affect AR hormone-dependent protein stabilisation. COS7 cells were transfected with the AR mutants S81A (lanes 3 and 4), S650A (lanes 5 and 6) and S94A (lanes 7 and 8) as well as the non-mutated H874Y AR (lanes 1 and 2), and treated with (+, lanes 2, 4, 6 and 8) or without (-, lanes 1, 3, 5, and 7) 10 nM R1881. Whole cell extracts were probed with the phospho-specific antibody against S81 in AR (upper panel), and with the antibody against total AR (lower panel). (b) Phosphorylation site mutations in AR do not affect liganddependent AR activity in PC3 cells. Cells were transfected with the reporter vectors MMTV-Luc and pDM- β -Gal plus either the non-mutated H874Y AR or the AR phosphorylation site mutants; S81A, S94A or S650A. Cells were treated with 0.15 nM R1881 and assayed for luciferase (Luc) and β galactosidase (β -Gal) activities. Results are presented as the ratio between luciferase and β -Gal activities.



Figure 36. GSK3 β **activation of AR requires S94 in PC3 cells expressing H874Y AR.** (a) Cells were transfected with the reporter vectors MMTV-Luc and pDM- β -Gal plus either the non-mutated H874Y AR (lanes 1-3) or the AR phosphorylation site mutants S81A (lanes 4-6), S94A (lanes 7-9) or S650A (lanes 10-12), and either w.t GSK3 β (lanes 3,6,9 and 12) or the empty vector pMT23 (lanes 1,2,4,5,7,8,10 and 11). Cells were treated with (+) or without (-) 0.15 nM R1881 for 24 hours and assayed for luciferase (Luc) and β -galactosidase (β -Gal) activities. Results are presented as the ratio between luciferase and β -Gal activities. (b) An average was taken from the results of three experiments that were carried out in PC3 cells in the same way as in Figure 36a. Results are presented as the fold activation of AR comparing cells expressing GSK3 β and cells expressing an empty vector in the presence of androgens and relative to H874Y AR (the activity of H874Y in the presence of GSK3 β is set at 1). (*) GSK3 β -dependent AR activity of S94 was significantly reduced (p=0.00002) compared to H874Y AR.

Figure 36 Phosphorylation-site mutants in H874Y AR

To investigate further the role of S94, the S94A mutation was also created in w.t AR. In parallel, a S650A mutation was created in w.t AR. The protein expression levels of w.t AR as well as the w.t-based mutants S94A and S650A are shown in Figure 37a and indicate that they were all expressed in COS7 cells to a similar level, and all stabilised by R1881 (lanes 2, 4 and 6). S94A and S650A migrated more slowly than w.t AR, particularly in the absence of hormone (lanes 3 and 5).

GSK3β-dependent AR transcriptional activity was next measured in PC3 cells transfected with w.t AR and the w.t-based mutants S94A and S650A (Figures 37b and 37c, in the same way as described in Figures 36a and 36b). Both S94A and S650A (w.t-based) mutants maintained their hormone response and, in some experiments S94A responded better than w.t AR (Figure 37b, compare lanes 1 and 2, 5 and 6), although this was not consistently observed. The activity of w.t AR and the w.t-based S650A was higher in cells co-transfected with GSK3β compared to cells expressing empty vector (Figure 37b, compare lanes 2 and 4,10 and 12). In contrast, GSK3β expression did not lead to an increase in the transcriptional activity of w.t-based S94A (Figure 37b, compare lanes 6 and 8). This result was highly reproducible. Figure 37c shows the results from six independent experiments and indicates that the w.t-based S94A AR mutant has lost its ability to respond to GSK3β (p=0.00007).

In conclusion, the results in this chapter suggest that the positive regulation of GSK3 β on AR transcriptional activity involves association between AR and GSK3 β , and this might lead to an increase in unliganded AR protein. Disruption of this interaction occurs when Axin binds to GSK3 β and interferes with the complex between AR and GSK3 β . Finally, mutation analysis indicates that S94 in AR is required for GSK3 β to activate AR signaling and is therefore a strong candidate for being a GSK3 β -dependent phosphorylation site in AR.

Figure 37 Phosphorylation-site mutants in w.t AR



Figure 37. (a) Phosphorylation site mutations in w.t AR do not affect AR hormone-dependent protein stabilisation. COS7 cells were transfected with either w.t AR (lanes 1 and 2) or the w.t-based AR mutants S94A (lanes 3 and 4) or S650A (lanes 5 and 6) and treated with (+) or without (-) 10 nM R1881. Whole cell extracts were probed with an antibody against total AR. (b-c) GSK3 β activation of AR requires S94 in PC3 cells expressing w.t AR. (b) Cells were transfected with the reporter vectors MMTV-Luc and pDM- β -Gal plus either w.t AR (lanes 1-4) or the AR phosphorylation site mutants S94A (lanes 5-8) or S650A (lanes 9-12), and either w.t GSK3 β (lanes 3,4,7,8,11 and 12) or the empty vector pMT23 (lanes 1,2, 5,6,9 and 10). Cells were treated with (+) or without (-) 0.15 nM R1881 for 24 hours and assayed for luciferase (Luc) and β -galactosidase (β -Gal) activities. Results are presented as the ratio between luciferase and β -Gal activities. (c) An average was taken from the results of six independent experiments that were carried out in triplicates in PC3 cells in the same way as in Figure 37b. Results are presented as the fold activation of AR comparing cells expressing GSK3 β and cells expressing an empty vector in the presence of androgens and relative to w.t AR (the activity of w.t AR in the presence of GSK3 β is set at 1). (*) GSK3 β -dependent AR activity of S94A was significantly reduced (p=0.00007) compared to w.t AR.

4. Discussion

Several reports have suggested that β -catenin is a transcriptional coactivator of AR (Truica *et al.*, 2000; Chesire *et al.*, 2002; Mulholland *et al.*, 2002; Yang *et al.*, 2002). In this study, the Wnt signalling pathway in PCa cell lines was characterised and the role of endogenous β -catenin in the regulation of AR endogenous activity was investigated. The results suggested that endogenous β -catenin is not a transcriptional coactivator for endogenous AR, however, GSK3 β , independently of the Wnt signalling pathway, plays an important role in AR activity regulation.

One common feature of the PCa cell lines studied is that they have high levels of endogenous β -catenin in the cytoplasm and/or nucleus, suggesting that the Wnt signalling pathway is already active. Overexpression of Wnt1 or Wnt3A, which increase endogenous β -catenin levels in many other cell lines, such as HEK 293 (reviewed in Willert and Nusse, 1998; Polakis, 2000), had no significant effect on AR activity in PCa cell lines. Possibly, the lack of response in the PCa cell lines being examined is due to cell-specific effects. However, it is also possible that the stabilised pool of β -catenin in PCa cells is already regulating AR activity. In addition, the 1.5-2 fold activation of AR that has been reported to occur upon βcatenin overexpression (Truica et al., 2000; Chesire et al., 2002; Mulholland et al., 2002; Yang et al., 2002) was not reproducible in our laboratory. This discrepancy is possibly due to the fact that the expression vector that we used for β -catenin (driven by the adenovirus early promoter) is unlikely to express β -catenin to such high levels as those used by others (mainly driven by the CMV promoter). Since the high levels of β -catenin achieved by overexpression are unlikely to be physiological and they could have indirect effects via other signalling pathways (Damalas et al., 1999; Oren et al., 2002), it might be more relevant to examine the effects of the loss of endogenous β-catenin in PCa cell lines. This was achieved using two approaches – RNAi (to deplete β -catenin mRNA levels) and Axin (to induce degradation of β catenin protein). The results suggested that endogenous β -catenin does not activate AR in PCa cells, and that its role is more complex than suggested by previous work. The results of these experiments also suggested that Axin has a unique β -cateninindependent function in regulating AR activity. Deletion analysis indicated that the ability of Axin to repress AR activity requires the GSK3^β-binding domain. Indeed,

expression of this domain was sufficient to repress AR activity. This suggested a link between GSK3ß and AR and led to further investigation into the role of GSK3ß in the regulation of AR activity. Inhibition of GSK3B, either by expression of Axin or FRAT or by treating cells with chemical inhibitors of GSK-3, repressed ARmediated transcription. Overexpression of GSK3ß activated AR-mediated transcription, albeit only in cell lines with low endogenous GSK3B activity. Moreover, IP studies using transfected COS7 cells and the PCa cell line 22Rv1 indicated that AR and GSK3β can form a complex *in vivo*. Moreover, the COS7 cell studies showed that Axin, by binding to GSK3^β, prevents AR from interacting with GSK3^β. The role of GSK3^β in the regulation of AR signalling was also tested in PCa cell growth assays using GSK-3 chemical inhibitors. The results of these studies confirmed that GSK3B activity was required for maximal proliferation in CWR-R1 and 22Rv1 cells. In addition, treatment of CWR-R1 cells with GSK-3 chemical inhibitors suggested a role for GSK3ß in AR protein stability, particularly at the level of unliganded AR. Lastly, mutation analysis indicated that S94 in AR is required for GSK3 β to activate AR signaling. Therefore, it is possible that the effect of GSK3 β on AR signalling is mediated through changes in phosphorylation of AR on S94.

4.1 Characterisation of the Wnt and AR signalling pathways in PCa cell lines

Western blotting experiments revealed that the levels of β -catenin and Tcf-4, which are required for activation of β -catenin/Tcf-4-dependent transcription, differed among the PCa cell lines. In whole cell extracts, β -catenin was similarly expressed in all PCa cell lines. However, the level of nuclear β -catenin was lower in PC3 and DU145 cells than in the other PCa cell lines examined, including LNCaP cells (Figures 8a and 8b). This is probably why it was possible to detect an increase in the β -catenin cytosolic protein levels after treating with Wnt3A-conditioned medium and LiCl in PC3 cells, but not in LNCaP cells (Figure 10b). In a similar study conducted by Verras *et al.* (2004), treatment with W3A-conditioned medium obtained from L cells led to an increase in β -catenin in whole cell extracts from DU145 cells (Verras *et al.*, 2004). However, in contrast with our results, this group also showed that β catenin cytosolic protein levels increased in LNCaP cells treated with W3A- conditioned medium. The reason for this discrepancy in our results is not known but possibly it results from differences in our cell extraction methods.

Tcf-4 protein levels in the nucleus, on the other hand, were higher in PC3 and LAPC-4 cells than in LNCaP cells (Figure 8e). Therefore, it was not surprising to find that the β -catenin/Tcf-4-dependent transcription in LNCaP cells was extremely low and was not increased by Wnt expression (Figure 13). The limiting amount of Tcf-4 and other Tcf/Lef family members has been previously reported in LNCaP cells (Chesire *et al.*, 2002), and here was demonstrated by expression of Tcf-4, which alone, restored β -catenin/Tcf-4-dependent transcription (Figure 14).

GSK3 β protein expression levels were higher (especially in nuclear extracts) in LNCaP and LNCaP-r cells compared to the other PCa cell lines tested (Figure 8c and 8d). In a recent study reported by Salas *et al.* (2004), protein expression levels of phosphorylated and total GSK3 β in whole cell extracts from LNCaP, PC3 and DU145 cells were compared (Salas *et al.*, 2004). Their results indicated that, although total GSK3 β protein levels were similar among these cell lines, S9 phosphorylation on GSK3 β was higher in LNCaP cells, indicative of low endogenous activity of GSK3 β . Results in our study, obtained using whole cell and nuclear extracts, revealed that GSK3 β protein levels varied among the PCa cell lines to a greater extent in the nucleus, with LNCaP and LNCaP-r cells expressing high levels of GSK3 β . Together with the results of Salas *et al.* (2004), this indicates that GSK3 β protein level does not necessarily reflect its level of activity.

Surprisingly, LAPC-4 cells expressed high levels of nuclear Tcf-4 protein and some nuclear β -catenin, but the Wnt signalling pathway could not be activated by expression of Wnt1 or Wnt3A (Figures 8b, 8e and 13). However, expression of a constitutively-active form of the Wnt receptor LRP5 (C2) could activate β catenin/Tcf-dependent transcription (Figure 15a). Moreover, β -catenin/Tcfdependent transcription was also activated by overexpression of β -catenin (Figure 15b). This suggests that LAPC-4 cells might not have the ability to respond to Wnt1 and Wnt3A, for example, because they do not express the relevant Wnt receptors. However, downstream of the receptor, the Wnt signalling pathway is working normally. Another possibility is that the endogenous pool of β -catenin is not able to interact with the endogenous Tcf-4. This could be explained by the presence of Tcf-4 corepressors in these cells that prevent interaction between β -catenin and Tcf-4. For example, the Groucho proteins can bind to Tcf/Lef and are able to inhibit gene activation even in the presence of β -catenin (Polakis, 2000; Seidensticker and Behrens, 2000). In addition, CBPs, which are usually coactivators, can also act as corepressors by acetylating Tcf and thereby reducing the interaction between Tcf and β -catenin (Akiyama, 2000; Polakis, 2000; Seidensticker and Behrens, 2000).

The results of RNAi experiments indicated that the basal level of β -catenin/Tcf-4dependent transcription could be repressed when the level of β -catenin is reduced in the PCa cell lines. Interestingly, among the PCa cell lines tested, basal β -catenin/Tcf-4 activity was highest in CWR-R1 cells, and RNAi-mediated inhibition of β catenin/Tcf-dependent transcription was most effective in these cells (Figure 16b). CWR-R1 cells also had the strongest β -catenin/Tcf transcriptional response to expression of Wnt1 and Wnt3A (Figure 13). Taken together, these results suggest that factors that normally repress the Wnt pathway in PCa cell lines are less active in CWR-R1 cells. Thus, CWR-R1 cells appear to be primed to respond to Wnt signals. This might be related to the unique conditions under which they are grown, with low levels of serum, but high levels EGF (Gregory *et al.*, 2001b) (for CWR-R1 growth condition also see section 2.6.1 in Materials and Methods).

All the AR-positive PCa cell lines express similar amounts of AR (Figure 9). Western blotting revealed that, in addition to the expected full-length AR protein, 22Rv1 cells contained two additional faster-migrating proteins, as has been previously reported (Tepper *et al.*, 2002). These bands represent C-terminally-truncated AR species that lack the LBD as a result of a mutation that occurred during progression to the AI stage of the cancer. This mutation is characterised by an inframe tandem duplication of exon 3 that encodes the second zinc finger of the AR DBD. According to Tepper *et al.* (2002), full-length AR from 22Rv1 cells is approximately 5 KDa larger than expected and is accompanied by the C-terminally-truncated AR species (Tepper *et al.*, 2002). Results in Figure 9 clearly showed the truncated AR species, however, the slightly larger full-length AR was less apparent.

Previous reports have shown that AR has a repressive effect on β -catenin/Tcf-4 signalling (Chesire and Isaacs, 2002; Pawlowski *et al.*, 2002; Mulholland *et al.*, 2003; Song *et al.*, 2003). This effect was also observed here in LAPC-4 cells when they were treated with R1881 (Figure 15b). In addition, ectopic expression of AR in the AR-negative PC3 cells reduced basal β -catenin/Tcf-4 signalling activity in the

presence of androgens (Figure 17). These results indicate that AR signalling has a strong impact on β-catenin/Tcf-4 signalling in PCa cells. According to the published reports, the repression of β -catenin/Tcf-4 signalling is facilitated by a competition between AR and Tcf-4 over binding to β -catenin. Results obtained by Mullholand et al. (2003) demonstrated several points to support this model using the colon cancer cell line SW480. Their results showed that AR-mediated repression affected βcatenin/Tcf-4-dependent transcription, cell cycle progression and cell growth (Mulholland et al., 2003). In addition, Chesire et al. (2002) suggested that there is a balance between AR and β -catenin/Tcf-4 signalling and that this might have a role in normal prostate development and PCa progression. The inhibition of β-catenin/Tcf-4 by AR was ligand-dependent, suggesting that β -catenin is being recruited to the activated AR. However, the inhibition of AR by β -catenin/Tcf-4 signalling was independent of the interaction between β -catenin and Tcf-4 (Chesire and Isaacs, 2002). Taken together, observations demonstrated in this work, together with data provided by others, suggest that there is a crosstalk between AR and β -catenin/Tcf-4 signals and also emphasises the importance of taking this into consideration in future studies on AR and PCa progression.

An endogenous complex between β -catenin and AR was detected in LNCaP cells (Figure 11). IP studies also indicated that the interaction between AR and β -catenin is stronger in the presence of androgen, as previously described (Truica et al., 2000; Yang et al., 2002; Verras et al., 2004). However, these results were achieved after several attempts and by optimising the IP method to very specific conditions (for details on IP technique, see section 2.10-2 in Materials and Methods) suggesting that this complex is either unstable or not very abundant in LNCaP cells. The method that was used to detect the endogenous complex involved disruption of the nuclei using a very fine needle, suggesting that at least some of the complexes are present in the nucleus. In support of this, immunostaining studies suggest that AR and β -catenin co-localise in the nucleus in the presence of androgens (Chesire et al., 2002; Pawlowski et al., 2002; Yang et al., 2002). However, most of these studies were conducted in non-prostate cells and by using overexpressed plasmids of AR and βcatenin. Pawlowski et al. (2002) used neuronal cells transfected with rat AR and FLAG- β -catenin and showed nuclear translocation of both proteins within 15-30 minutes of treatment with 10 nM DHT. Their conclusion was that a direct interaction

between AR and β -catenin is necessary for their co-localisation. Yang *et al.* (2002) showed nuclear translocation of overexpressed AR and β -catenin in CV-1 cells. Interestingly, Chesire et al. (2002), who performed immunostaining studies in PCa cells, were unable to detect nuclear translocation. However, they found that β -catenin is nuclear in 25% of metastatic PCa tumours and can be found in the nucleus in prostate cells of rats that have been castrated and then treated with androgens to induce prostate regrowth. The translocation of AR and β -catenin to the nucleus in my study was observed using non-nuclear and nuclear protein pools from PCa cells (Figure 12). These results indicated that AR translocates to the nucleus upon androgen treatment in LNCaP, LAPC-4 and CWR-R1 cells. β-catenin translocation to the nucleus was less apparent in LAPC-4 and CWR-R1 cells. Although the small increase in nuclear β -catenin in androgen-treated LNCaP cells suggests that β catenin also enters the nucleus upon androgen treatment, this effect was not as strong as for AR. This might be because β -catenin is very abundant in PCa cells, making translocation of a small pool of β -catenin difficult to detect. Taken together, these results suggest that β-catenin and AR bind each other in PCa cells and that a small proportion of the endogenous complex enters the nucleus upon androgen treatment.

Expression of Wnt1 and Wnt3A in LAPC-4 and LNCaP cells did not significantly affect AR-mediated transcription (Figure 18). Since these Wnts also did not increase endogenous levels of β-catenin (LNCaP cells, Figure 10b) or activate β-catenin/Tcfdependent transcription (Figure 13), this was not unexpected. However, expression of Wnt1 and Wnt3A also did not significantly affect AR signalling in CWR-R1 cells, even though they activated β -catenin/Tcf-4-dependent transcription (compare Figures 13 and 18). Moreover, ectopic expression of β -catenin did not increase AR activity in CWR-R1 cells (Figure 19b). These results suggest that the AR in CWR-R1 cells cannot be activated further by a Wnt-dependent signal. This might be due to the fact that the high levels of endogenous β -catenin in these cells already regulate AR. Interestingly, a recent report conducted in LNCaP cells indicated that Wnt3Aconditioned medium can activate AR-mediated transcription in the absence of ligand and in the presence of low concentration of androgens (Verras et al., 2004). Moreover, this group also documented that AR/β-catenin nuclear complexes are more abundant in the presence of androgens. However, Wnt3A-conditioned medium induced the formation of AR/β-catenin nuclear complexes and LNCaP cell growth
only in the absence of androgens (Verras *et al.*, 2004). It is likely that the effect of the Wnt3A-conditioned medium on the cells is more immediate and possibly more physiological than expression of a Wnt3A DNA plasmid. The latter must first be transcribed in the nucleus, then be translated and secreted from the cells before it can bind to its receptors and trigger a downstream cellular signal. In addition, the differences in our results might account for the different dose of androgens used in these experiments. PCa cells in our study were treated with 10 nM R1881, whereas Verras *et al.* observed an effect on AR activity in very low levels (0.1-1 nM DHT) or in the absence of androgens. Moreover, DHT is known to be less stable compare to R1881, suggesting that, in fact, the DHT-treated cells were exposed to androgens for a shorter length of time (Moeller *et al.*, 1983). The fact that Wnt3A-conditioned medium mainly enhanced AR activity and the ability of AR to interact with β -catenin in the absence of hormone suggests that Wnt3A affects AR signalling in a ligand-independent manner.

The effects of β-catenin depletion on AR-dependent transcription revealed that the endogenous β -catenin, although highly expressed in PCa cell lines, is not a transcriptional coactivator for endogenous AR. Surprisingly, AR activity increased rather than decreased in response to β -catenin depletion in PCa cells (Figures 20b) and 20c). In contrast, the siRNA experiments performed in HCT116 cells expressing w.t AR, showing that AR activity can be reduced upon depletion of β -catenin, supported results from overexpression studies obtained by others (Truica et al., 2000; Mulholland et al., 2002; Pawlowski et al., 2002). However, these experiments also raise the question as to whether the different responses of ectopically expressed w.t. AR and endogenous AR to depletion of β -catenin might result from mutations in endogenous AR in LNCaP and CWR-R1 cells. Interestingly, results obtained in our laboratory using HCT116 cells expressing the w.t and the LNCaP form of AR (T877A) indicated that both AR forms responded similarly to the depletion of β catenin. These observations highlight the importance of confirming results obtained using ectopically expressed proteins with reagents that address the roles of the endogenous proteins. Clearly, further experiments are necessary to determine the function of endogenous β -catenin in the regulation of AR transcriptional activity. In addition, further experiments are required to determine the effects of depletion of β catenin on other pathways, such as cell-cell adhesion, which might indirectly affect

AR activity in different ways in the colon cancer and PCa cell lines. Taken together, these results suggest that the regulation of AR transcriptional activity by β -catenin can vary according to whether it is measured using endogenous or transfected proteins.

4.2 Regulation of AR transcriptional activity by GSK3ß

In order to confirm results obtained from the RNAi studies, β-catenin was depleted using another approach. However, this time the tool that was used allowed specific degradation of the cytosolic pool of β-catenin in order to avoid effects on other pathways that β -catenin is involved in. Ectopic expression of Axin is sufficient to inhibit Wnt/β-catenin signalling and is often used to inhibit endogenous β-catenin function (Kishida et al., 1998; Ross et al., 2000; Hsu et al., 2001; Kishida et al., 2001; Reya et al., 2003). For example, Reya et al (2003) showed that expression of Axin increases β -catenin degradation and leads to inhibition of haematopoietic stem cells (HSC) growth *in vitro*, which is normally promoted by β-catenin. I chose to use CWR-R1 cells as a model cell line for my studies. These cells, derived from the CWR22 xenograft model for PCa, express endogenous AR (Gregory et al., 2001b), high levels of β -catenin (Chesire and Isaacs, 2002)(Figure 8), and, most importantly, respond to Wnt stimulation (Figure 13). Additionally, CWR-R1 cells have a very good hormone response. The required concentration of DHT for growth stimulation in CWR-R1 cells is four orders of magnitude lower than that required for the AD PCa cell line, LNCaP (Gregory et al., 2001b). In addition, CWR-R1 cells were also found to have high transfection efficiency. The results obtained in section 3.3 confirm the work described above and lead to two important observations. The first is that increasing the level of Axin inhibits AR activity in CWR-R1 cells (Figure 22). This finding is consistent with studies in which β -catenin overexpression has been shown to activate AR activity (Truica et al., 2000; Chesire et al., 2002; Mulholland et al., 2002; Pawlowski et al., 2002; Yang et al., 2002). However, Axin inhibited AR activity independently of β -catenin (Figure 22b). The GAX1 $\Delta\beta$ -catenin mutant, which inhibits AR activity, was particularly useful, as it cannot indirectly bind to β catenin through endogenous APC (Hinoi et al., 2000), thereby eliminating any possibility of an interaction with β -catenin. Interestingly, the GSK3 β -binding domain

of Axin was found to be necessary for the repression of AR activity by Axin, since a point mutation in this domain prevented this repression (Figure 22a). Deletion of the GSK3 β -binding domain of Axin (GAX1 Δ GSK3) did not completely prevent AR inhibition by Axin (Figure 22b), possibly because this construct can still bind GSK3 β weakly (Hinoi *et al.*, 2000). The second important observation is that expression of the GSK3 β -binding domain of Axin alone is sufficient to repress AR activity, and the repression of AR by this domain can be rescued by co-expression of w.t GSK3 β (Figure 23b).

In support of the hypothesis that the effects of Axin are mediated through GSK3 β , FRAT, another GSK3 β -binding protein that directly binds and blocks GSK3 β activity (Li *et al.*, 1999; Franca-Koh *et al.*, 2002), was also able to repress AR (Figure 24b). This inhibition required the GSK3 β -binding domain in FRAT. Expression of FRAT-1 stimulates β -catenin/Tcf signalling because it sequesters GSK3 β from the β -catenin degradation complex (Li *et al.*, 1999). Possibly, in a similar way, FRAT sequesters GSK3 β from the AR and this results in repression of AR activity. Interestingly, a mutant of GSK3 β that cannot bind to FRAT accumulates in the nucleus, suggesting that FRAT is also involved in the nuclear export of GSK3 β (Franca-Koh *et al.*, 2002). If GSK3 β leads to nuclear export of the latter and inhibition of AR transcriptional activity. However, further studies are required at this stage in order to clarify whether GSK3 β regulates AR signalling in the cytosol or the nucleus, or both.

Ectopic expression of GSK3 β activated AR in LNCaP and PC3 cells (Figures 25b and 25c, respectively). In LNCaP cells, the response of AR to GSK3 β overexpression might be easier to detect because endogenous GSK3 β in these cells is inactive as a result of S9 phosphorylation (Salas *et al.*, 2004; Wang *et al.*, 2004). In PC3 cells, the PTEN mutation that is known to be present in these cells might lead to low endogenous activity of GSK3 β (Stambolic *et al.*, 1998; Sun *et al.*, 1999; Persad *et al.*, 2000). However, in most cell lines GSK3 β is highly active (reviewed in Doble and Woodgett, 2003). This might explain why GSK3 β overexpression did not have any effect on AR activity in 22Rv1 cells (Figure 25a). It is unclear why expression of the kinase-inactive form of GSK3 β , K216R, which in other systems can act as a

dominant-negative mutant (Franca-Koh *et al.*, 2002) did not reduce AR activity in 22Rv1 cells. One possible explanation is that the amount of kinase-inactive GSK3 β expressed was not sufficient to overcome the high levels of active endogenous GSK3 β . To summarise these findings, in support of the RNAi experiments, they show that endogenous β -catenin is not a transcriptional coactivator for AR, but GSK3 β , independently of β -catenin, positively regulate AR transcriptional activity.

4.3 Inhibition of AR activity and PCa cell growth by GSK-3 inhibitors

The use of GSK-3 inhibitors confirmed the previous findings suggesting that GSK3 β activates AR activity and further supported a model where GSK3 β plays a positive role in PCa cell growth. The results of these experiments confirmed that GSK3 β activity was required for maximal AR transcriptional activity and proliferation in PCa cells.

LiCl is one of the first GSK-3 inhibitors used to study the role of GSK-3 in cells (Klein and Melton, 1996; Stambolic *et al.*, 1996). However, since LiCl has other effects on cells besides inhibiting GSK-3, SB415286 and SB216763, which are more selective for GSK-3 and more potent, were also used in this study. Inhibition of GSK-3 by LiCl has been shown by several groups to stabilise β -catenin (Stambolic *et al.*, 1996; Garcia-Perez *et al.*, 1999; Jones and Veale, 2003). Coghlan et al. (2000) showed that SB415286 and SB216763 are able to induce β -catenin/Tcf-mediated transcription in HEK 293 cells in a dose-dependent manner (maximal effective concentration of 5 μ M and 30 μ M for SB216763 and SB415286, respectively). Here, in order to examine the inhibitors' effects on β -catenin/Tcf and AR transcriptional activities, the optimal doses for treating CWR-R1 cells were found to be 5 μ M and 20 μ M for SB216763 and SB415286, respectively. Higher doses of SB415286 seemed to have toxic effects on PCa cells, as measured by the number of cells and cells morphology.

Studies using PCa cells showed that both SB415286 and SB216763 repressed endogenous AR activity, while LiCl had no effect (Figure 27a). Moreover, this result was not restricted to the MMTV promoter, as SB415286 and SB216763 also inhibited the PB-Luc reporter that measures transcription from the AR-responsive probasin promoter (Figure 27b), suggesting this is an AR-specific effect. Interestingly, Liao et al. (2004) found that LiCl repressed AR activity in PCa cells. This group used LNCaP cells, which already have low endogenous GSK3ß activity, and a lower concentration of LiCl (10 mM) compared to the dose I used (20 mM) (Liao et al., 2004). LiCl has many additional activities in cells and therefore any effect that LiCl has on AR signalling could be indirect. For example, LiCl inhibits two key enzymes involved in the synthesis of inositol, resulting in reduction of cellular This inositol levels. in turn lowers the concentration of phosphatidylinositol(4,5)P2 (PtdIns(4,5)P2), the PI3K substrate (Williams and Harwood, 2000). There have been several reports describing a link between the AR and PI3K signalling pathways (Li et al., 2001; Manin et al., 2002; Sharma et al., 2002; Liao et al., 2003). One report suggests that PI3K stimulates AR activity (Sharma et al., 2002). Therefore, in a scenario where LiCl leads to a reduction in PtdIns(4,5)P2 cellular levels, this in turn can affect the ability of PI3K to activate AR transcriptional activity in these cells.

The results obtained examining the effects of the GSK-3 inhibitors on β-catenin and on Wnt signalling in PCa cells suggest that all three inhibitors activate β catenin/Tcf-dependent signalling albeit in different ways (Figure 26): LiCl and SB415286 stabilised cytosolic \beta-catenin in 22Rv1 cells, but SB216763 did not appear to do so (Figure 26a). The reason for this is not known, but the fact that SB216763 did increase β-catenin/Tcf-dependent transcription suggests that this drug is working (Figure 26c). It might be necessary to use a higher dose of this inhibitor to detect β-catenin stabilisation in 22Rv1 cells. Additionally, LiCl slightly increased S21 phosphorylation, whereas SB216763 and SB415286 reduced GSK-3 tyrosine phosphorylation (Figure 26b). Possibly, the effects of the inhibitors on GSK-3 phosphorylation status differ as a result of the mechanism by which they inhibit GSK-3. SB216763 and SB415286 inhibit GSK-3 by competing with the ATPbinding pocket, whereas LiCl competes with the magnesium-binding site of GSK-3 (Klein and Melton, 1996; Coghlan et al., 2000; Ryves and Harwood, 2001; Smith et al., 2001). Since LiCl is known to have non-specific effects, and since SB216763 and SB415286, which are more specific for GSK-3, reduced GSK-3 tyrosine phosphorylation, these observations might suggest that the ability of GSK-3 to regulate AR activity involves tyrosine phosphorylation rather than serine phosphorylation of GSK-3. Interestingly, Liao et al. (2004) showed that androgen

treatment in LNCaP cells leads to Y216 phosphorylation in GSK3 β (Liao *et al.*, 2004). In addition, these experiments suggest that the effects of these inhibitors on the phosphorylation state of GSK-3 in 22Rv1 cells are stronger for GSK3 α rather than GSK3 β . Interestingly, SB216763 and SB415286 were originally identified as leads from a screen of compounds that inhibit rabbit GSK3 α . Later, the inhibitors were found to be equally effective at inhibiting GSK3 α and GSK3 β although these data were not shown (Coghlan *et al.*, 2000). Since most of the experiments described in this thesis were carried out using GSK3 β reagents, any conclusions I have drawn here are based on GSK3 β only. Clearly, further studies required in order to determine which isoform of GSK-3 is more important for the regulation of AR activity. It would be interesting to determine the roles of GSK3 α and GSK3 β in the regulation of AR activity, for example by using siRNA constructs that downregulate the cellular expression levels of both GSK-3 isoform in PCa cells.

Cell growth assays implied that GSK3 β not only increases AR transcriptional activity but also positively regulates PCa cell growth. Here, only SB216763 and SB415286 were used as the effects of LiCl on AR activity in PCa cells were thought to be indirect. The inhibitory effects of SB216763 on CWR-R1 cell growth were maximal at 3 μ M (Figure 28a), which is the same concentration that is optimal for the ability of this inhibitor to protect neurons from apoptotic cell death (Cross *et al.*, 2001). However, in order to match the dose used in the transcription assays, SB216763 was used at 5 μ M in cell growth assays. The inhibitory effects of SB415286 on CWR-R1 cell growth increased with dose up to the maximal dose tested (50 μ M, Figure 28b), although, owing to the toxic effects of this inhibitor, the chosen dose for use in growth assays was 20 μ M.

Both SB216763 and SB415286 reduced CWR-R1 cell growth over a period of 6 days (Figure 29). The repressive effect that SB415286 had on CWR-R1 cell growth was greater than that of SB216763. This might result from GSK-3-independent effects of SB415286, as this drug was toxic at higher doses. Therefore, I focused on SB216763 for the majority of the work. The fact that SB216763 reduced the growth of AR-positive PCa cells supports the idea that AR is required for the growth inhibitory response (Figure 30a). However, SB216763 also inhibited hormone-independent growth of 22Rv1 cells to a certain extent (Figure 30b), suggesting that there is also an effect on AI cell growth. Since GSK-3 inhibitors did not inhibit the

growth of the AR-negative lines, PC3 and DU145, these observations might indicate that inhibition of AI growth still involves the AR. Indeed, studies revealed that even in AI cases the AR signalling pathway and the AR itself remain important in most cancer cells. There are several routes by which alterations of the AR signalling pathway or abnormalities in AR can lead to the progression of AI PCa. These include amplification, mutation, increased sensitivity of the AR, changes in its glutamine repeats length and alterations in coregulators or other interacting pathways (for mechanisms of AI PCa development, see section 1.5 in Introduction). In contrast to these results, Wang et al. (2004) used a CWR22R-derived cell line with inducible expression of constitutively-active GSK3ß to show that GSK3ß suppresses AR activity and androgen-induced growth (Wang et al., 2004). It is unclear why these results contrast directly with ours. It is possible that the unregulated high activity of GSK3 β in the induced cells is detrimental to cell growth. In addition, this group measured cell growth using the MTT assay, a method that determines cell number as a function of mitochondrial dehydrogenase activity in living cells. This could lead to unexpected results since GSK-3 is known to affect the activity of mitochondrial dehydrogenases (Hoshi et al., 1996). In my studies, cells were counted using either an automated counter or a haemocytometer, depending on the number and aggregation characteristics of the cells. These techniques are based on physical counting of cells in samples with single cell suspensions, which facilitates measurement of the number of viable cells in a sample.

The idea that GSK3 β positively regulate PCa cell growth implies that the regulation of AR signalling by GSK3 β might be crucial for PCa progression. Moreover, it suggests that GSK-3 inhibitors could potentially be used to repress tumour progression in PCa therapy. Further studies on the possible therapeutic application of GSK-3 inhibitors and their design as drugs that could be used in PCa treatment would be highly valuable.

4.4 GSK3β associates with the AR

IP studies confirmed that GSK3 β and AR can form a complex *in vivo* (Figures 32 and 33). This complex was disrupted when AX2 was overexpressed, demonstrating the ability of Axin to interfere with the association between AR and GSK3 β (Figure

34). Interestingly, the association between GSK3 β and AR appeared to be stronger when AX2P was overexpressed compared to when an empty vector was overexpressed. Possibly, AX2P affects unknown cellular proteins or reactions that indirectly contribute to GSK3 β association with AR. An endogenous complex between GSK3β and AR was detected in 22Rv1 cells, however this was not an easy task to achieve and required specific conditions (for details on IP technique, see section 2.10-2 in Materials and Methods). This might suggests that the endogenous complex between AR and GSK3 β is either unstable or present at very low levels (Figure 33). The amount of complex detected did not increase in the presence of androgens. This could possibly be a cell-specific effect or might result from insensitivity of the IP technique. Supporting the IP results, Wang et al. (2004) also detected an endogenous complex between AR and GSK3ß in LNCaP cells growing in their normal medium (Wang et al., 2004). Taken together, these results support a model in which the association between AR and GSK3ß is required for the enhancement in AR transcriptional activity, and in which Axin inhibits AR transcriptional activity by preventing interaction between GSK3β and AR.

Further studies suggested that the activation of AR by GSK3 β involves the regulation of AR protein stability. GSK-3 inhibitors reduced AR levels in CWR-R1 cells (Figure 31a). However, the GSK-3 inhibitors were not able to diminish the androgen-mediated increase in AR levels, which was observed in non-nuclear and nuclear extracts (Figure 31b and 31c). Therefore, these results suggest that GSK3 β plays a role in AR protein stability mainly when AR is in the unliganded state. Together with the finding that GSK3 β regulates AI PCa cell growth in AR-expressing cells, these observations suggest that GSK3 β regulation of AR signalling might be important in the absence of hormone as well as when the ligand is present.

Previous reports have shown that GSK-3 regulates the stability of a number of proteins (reviewed in Frame and Cohen, 2001; Woodgett, 2001; Doble and Woodgett, 2003). In the majority of cases, phosphorylation by GSK-3 promotes degradation of its target substrate (examples include β -catenin, cyclin D1 and c-myc). However, there are also examples where phosphorylation by GSK3 β promotes protein stability, such as Axin (Yamamoto *et al.*, 1999). GSK3 β can also have both positive and negative effects on protein stability; for example, it stabilises NF κ B/p105 under resting conditions and primes p105 for degradation upon TNF- α

treatment (Demarchi *et al.*, 2003). Moreover, although GSK-3 inhibits the transcriptional activity of many nuclear proteins (Frame *et al.*, 2001; reviewed in Woodgett, 2001; Doble and Woodgett, 2003), it has also been shown to activate at least one transcription factor, CREB, by direct phosphorylation (Salas *et al.*, 2003).

To conclude, protein and IP studies in this work demonstrated that GSK3 β can interact with AR, and the inhibitor studies suggested that GSK3 β plays a role in AR protein stability mainly in its unliganded state. Therefore, it is very likely that the repression of AR transcriptional activity by inhibition of GSK3 β results from a reduction in AR protein stability. One possibility is that AR is a substrate for GSK3 β and phosphorylation of AR by GSK3 β increases its stability. The observation that AR and GSK3 β proteins can be co-immunoprecipitated supports these possibilities.

4.5 GSK3β regulation of AR transcriptionl activity through phosphorylation

AR has been previously shown to be a phosphoprotein; and exposure to androgens increases AR phosphorylation and leads to appearance of a slightly heavier isoform of AR (van Laar et al., 1991; Jenster et al., 1994; Wang et al., 1999; Gioeli et al., 2002). Phosphorylation on AR occurs predominantly on serine residues (Jenster et al., 1994; Kuiper and Brinkmann, 1995; Zhou et al., 1995; Yeh et al., 1999; Wen et al., 2000; Lin et al., 2001; Gioeli et al., 2002). GSK-3 is known to phosphorylate its substrates on serine and threonine residues and one of its consensus sites for phosphorylation is S/T P. This proline-directed site has been found in three major phosphorylation sites in AR, S81, S94 and S650 (Jenster et al., 1994; Zhou et al., 1995; Yeh et al., 1999; Wen et al., 2000; Lin et al., 2001; Gioeli et al., 2002). These sites were previously reported to be involved either in AR transcriptional activity (S650) and/or are phosphorylated after addition of hormone (S81 and S650) (Zhou et al., 1995; Gioeli et al., 2002). Therefore, a mutational analysis was conducted in order to begin to address the possibility that GSK3ß phosphorylates AR to activate AR signaling. In order to be consistent with previous experiments, initially, the H874Y AR, which is the form of AR found in CWR-R1 cells, was mutated at S81, S94 and S650. Additionally, to investigate further the role of S94, and to compare the behavior of the S94A mutation in the w.t and the H874Y forms of AR, this mutation was created in w.t AR. In parallel, a S650A mutation was also created in w.t AR. All five mutants created (w.t- and H874Y-based AR mutants) were expressed in COS7 cells. The results of western blotting and transcription assays indicated that the mutants were synthesised as functional proteins (Figures 35a, lower panel, and 37a). Interestingly, the w.t-based S94A and S650A AR mutants migrated slightly more slowly than the non-mutated w.t AR (Figure 37a). This could possibly indicate that these mutations caused a protein conformational change. PC3 cells were chosen as the model cell line to examine the effect of the AR mutations on GSK3β-dependent AR transcriptional activity since they are a PCa cell line that does not express endogenous AR. The AR plasmid and hormone were titrated in order to determine the optimal amounts to use for GSK-3-dependent enhancement of AR activity. These were found to be 8 ng of AR and 0.15 nM R1881, the latter being close to the Kd of AR for R1881 (Gregory *et al*, 2001b).

All five mutants were stabilised by androgen treatment and maintained their hormone response at the transcriptional level. This suggests that the mutagenesis did not have any negative effects on domains in the receptor that are involved in the receptor response to hormone, such as the ligand binding pocket, the transactivation domain (AF-2) in the LBD, and the C/N-terminal domain interaction (Figures 35b and 37b). In fact, in some experiments the mutants responded better than the non-mutated AR (for example, S94A mutant in figure 37b). It is possible that the introduction of a serine to alanine mutation in AR led to a conformational change that improves the receptor accessibility and/or affinity to the hormone.

Zhou *et al.* (1995) generated a similar panel of phosphorylation-site mutants in the w.t. AR and compared their activities in CV-1 cells using the MMTV-Luc reporter. They found that the S650A AR mutant was 30% less active than the w.t AR, suggesting a role for this site in AR transcriptional activity (Zhou *et al.*, 1995). The differences between this report and our observations might be related to the use of different cell lines, amounts of plasmid or transfection assay. For example, this group did not normalise their data for transfection efficiency. In support of results obtained here, Gioeli *et al.* (2002) reported that AR transcriptional activity was unaffected in AR phosphorylation site mutants in CV-1 cells; their results were described as data not shown (Gioeli *et al.*, 2002).

The use of an antibody that recognises AR phosphorylated on S81 confirmed that, as expected, the S81A mutant was not phosphorylated upon androgen treatment,

whereas, H874Y and S650A AR were (Figure 35a, upper panel). However, the detection of S81 phosphorylation on AR using this antibody was only achieved once, possibly due to antibody batch problems. Gioeli *et al.* (2002) have previously demonstrated androgen-mediated S81 phosphorylation of AR in LNCaP cells. Their results were obtained using metabolically labelled LNCaP cells followed by peptide mapping and mass spectrometry. They also showed that phosphorylation on S16, S256, S308, S424, and S650 was elevated in response to R1881. In contrast, S94 was constitutively phosphorylated (Gioeli *et al.*, 2002), suggesting that S94 does not play a role in androgen-mediated AR activity. In support of their results, results obtained here showed that the S94A mutation does not affect androgen-mediated AR activity, however, more importantly, S94 does appear to have a role in the GSK3β-dependent increase in AR activity (Figures 36, 37b and 37c). These results suggest that S94 is a strong candidate for being a GSK3β-dependent phosphorylation site in AR.

Several protein kinases have been suggested to phosphorylate the AR. Induction of the MAPK pathway by IL-6 leads to an enhancement in AR activity (Ueda et al., 2002; Yang et al., 2003). In addition, in vitro studies suggested that MAPK phosphorylates S515 (Yeh et al., 1999), although this was not reproducible in LNCaP cells (Gioeli et al., 2002). AR was found as an Akt substrate in two studies, however this group only examined the overall AR phosphorylation status (Wen et al., 2000; Lin et al., 2001). In contrast, inhibition of Akt in LNCaP cells did not affect AR phosphorylation (Gioeli et al., 2002). Gioeli et al. (2002) performed in vivo studies and suggested that PKA, EGF and PKC signalling can affect AR phosphorylation on S650 (Gioeli et al., 2002). In another study, the effects of a panel of kinase inhibitors on AR transcriptional activity were examined using LNCaP cells to determine the pathways involved in AR signalling (Liao et al., 2004). This group found that the GSK-3 inhibitor, LiCl, and the PI3K inhibitor, LY294002, repressed AR activity. These findings suggested a role for GSK-3 and PI3K in AR activity regulation, although further studies from this group suggested that PI3K does not play a role in AR signalling. Liao et al. (2004) also showed that the inhibitors for MEK-1 (PD98059), mTOR (Rapamycin), PKA (H89), p38/MAPK (SB203580) and Src kinase (PP2) had no significant effect on AR activity, ruling out major roles for these kinases in AR signalling in this system.

Sharma et al. (2002) were the first to show a possible link between GSK3 β and AR signalling. Their studies in LNCaP cells indicated that inhibition of PI3K using the inhibitor LY294002 led to repression of AR activity through regulation of GSK3 β and decreased accumulation of β -catenin. Their conclusion was that PI3K signalling stimulates AR activity through inhibition of GSK3^β in PCa cells (Sharma et al., 2002). However, this group did not specifically show that GSK3B mediates the effects of LY294002 on AR activity. Recently, three other groups reported results from experiments examining the effects of GSK3ß on AR signalling. Salas et al. (2004) showed that GSK3ß phosphorylates AR and inhibits AR transcriptional activity in transfected COS-1 cells (Salas et al., 2004). Another group showed that GSK3ß binds and phosphorylates the AR N-terminal domain in vitro, and can inactivate AR in COS-1 and LNCaP cells (Wang et al., 2004). According to this group, GSK3ß directly influences AR activity since it affects the AF-1 activity of AR, and not AF-2, which is involved in the regulation of AR by β -catenin. In contrast, Liao et al. (2004) showed that inhibition of GSK-3 using either chemical inhibitors or GSK3ß siRNA reduces AR transcriptional activity in PCa cell lines (Liao et al., 2004). This group also showed an increase in GSK3ß Y216 phosphorylation in androgen-stimulated LNCaP cells. Results described in this thesis using chemical inhibitors of GSK-3 and the GSK3β-binding proteins Axin and FRAT are in agreement with the report from Liao et al. Interestingly, Liao et al. (2004) also found that depletion of β -catenin in LAPC-4 cells by siRNA slightly increased AR transcriptional activity, in agreement with the results of the siRNA studies described here. It is likely that the use of different systems for transcription assays (endogenous AR in PCa cell lines as opposed to transfected AR in COS-1 cells) accounts for the different results obtained by the other two groups.

To summarise, the use of AR phosphorylation-site mutants revealed a role for S94 in the activation of AR by GSK3 β . Although recent reports have published contradicting reports regarding the role of GSK3 β in AR signalling, the observations made in this study contribute to the debate and support the idea that S94 is a candidate for being a GSK3 β -dependent phosphorylation site in AR.

4.6 Possible mechanisms for the regulation of AR signalling by GSK3*β*

GSK3 β might potentiate AR activity by several mechanisms. The findings that S94 is a candidate for a GSK3 β -dependent phosphorylation site in AR and that the two proteins interact *in vivo*, support a model where GSK3 β phosphorylates AR directly. Subsequently, this phosphorylation would activate AR-mediated transcription. Another possibility is that AR is being phosphorylated only when GSK3 β is tethered to AR by another protein. In fact, since the overexpression of GSK3 β and a kinase-inactive form of GSK3 β did not greatly affect AR in some cell lines (Figure 25), it is possible that other proteins are required. It would be interesting to identify GSK-3-binding proteins in PCa cells involved in the GSK3 β -dependent activation of AR. This could be obtained by performing more protein studies or transcription assays in cells expressing candidate GSK-3-binding proteins.

Although our study clearly demonstrated an association between GSK3 β and AR *in vivo* (Figures 32 and 33), the exact binding domain by which GSK3 β interacts with AR remains to be found. Identification of the GSK3 β -binding site in AR could shed light on the effects that GSK3 β binding and/or phosphorylation of AR have on AR conformation and possibly on its ability to translocate to the nucleus. Wang *et al.* (2004) reported that GSK3 β interacts both with the N and the C-termini of AR in GST pull-down assays (Wang *et al.*, 2004). If GSK3 β will be further found to play a role in AR translocation to the nucleus, this could be important for the understanding of the mechanism by which GSK3 β activates AR. However, this will need to be confirmed in PCa cells.

Overexpression studies using the GSK3 β -binding proteins Axin and FRAT demonstrated that these proteins can have a negative effect on GSK3 β regulation of AR (Figures 22, 23, 24b, and 34). This suggests that in the normal situation the ability of GSK3 β to bind and activate AR might depend on the balance between the expression levels of different GSK3 β -binding proteins in cells and the ability of GSK3 β to interact with AR.

It is still unclear whether GSK3β phosphorylation of AR, if it occurs, is liganddependent. Van Laar *et al.* (1991) demonstrated AI AR phosphorylation in cytosolic extracts from LNCaP cells (van Laar *et al.*, 1991). Black *et al.* (2004) detected AD phosphorylation on S81 in w.t AR expressed in COS7 cells (Black *et al.*, 2004). Gioeli *et al.* (2002) showed that AR phosphorylation on several serine residues, but

not S94, which is constitutively phosphorylated, increases in the presence of androgens (Gioeli et al., 2002). It is possible that AD and AI phosphorylation on S94 is facilitated by different kinases and/or through different signalling pathways. Clearly, GSK3^β phosphorylation sites in AR will need to be mapped in order to determine if they are AD or not. This could first be done by performing kinase assays using peptides of AR including the potential phosphorylation sites and purified GSK3 β . In this study, the use of a commercial antibody that recognises the phosphorylation of S81 in AR was helpful in confirming that S81 is an AD phosphorylation site in AR. Should antibodies recognising additional phosphorylation sites become available in the future, they could be valuable in confirming which sites in AR are AD and whether or not they are phosphorylated by GSK3β.

The western blotting studies using GSK-3 inhibitors suggest that GSK3 β regulates AR stability mainly when AR is not bound to ligand (Figure 31). Furthermore, GSK3B/AR complexes were detected in the absence and presence of androgens (Figure 33). Since unliganded AR is primarily located in the cytosol, these results suggest that the two proteins can interact in the cytosol in resting cells. This could account for the constitutive phosphorylation of AR on S94 (if S94 proves to be a GSK3^β phosphorylation site in AR). S94 phosphorylation by GSK3^β might stabilise unliganded AR. In order to test this possibility it would be necessary to compare the half-lives of unliganded w.t and the S94A AR in the presence and absence of GSK3^β. Binding of AR to its ligand might trigger phosphorylation of AR by GSK3ß at unidentified sites that require prior phosphorylation at S94, followed by translocation of AR to the nucleus. In support of this theory, Liao at al. (2004) have reported that androgen treatment of LNCaP cells increases phosphorylation of GSK3ß on Y216, suggesting that the kinase becomes activated in the presence of androgens (Liao et al., 2004). Moreover, immunohistochemical staining studies in PCa tissues demonstrated that GSK3ß and AR co-distribute both in the cytosol and the nucleus (Salas et al., 2004). Thus, it is possible that, as part of the mechanism by which GSK3 β activates AR, GSK3 β and AR translocate as a complex to the nucleus.

Gioeli *et al.* (2002) showed that the kinetics of hormone-dependent AR phosphorylation on serine sites using phosphopeptide labelling, is relatively slow, peaking at 2 hours or later (Gioeli *et al.*, 2002). The slow kinetics of AR

phosphorylation is similar to the delayed hormone-dependent phosphorylation in the PR (Zhang *et al.*, 1995). Zhang *et al.* (1995) showed that there is an initial and rapid phosphorylation of PR, followed by a slower increase in phosphorylation, which results in decreased mobility of the receptor on SDS gels. Since AR nuclear localisation is known to be a rapid event, Gioeli *et al.* concluded that AR phosphorylation is not involved in the nuclear localisation of AR or initiation of transcription, but rather in a later event such as AR recycling. One report suggested that the S81 phosphorylation site in AR is involved in nuclear export (Black *et al.*, 2004). AR export mutants are found trapped in subnuclear foci and have reduced AD phosphorylation on S81. There might be sites in AR that are more rapidly phosphorylated, similar to in PR, that are important for GSK3β-dependent effects.

Recent reports show that several nuclear receptors are targets for modifications that contribute to nuclear receptor regulation. For example, GR, PR, PPARgamma2 and AR, are conjugated to SUMO-1 (small ubiquitin-like modifier-1) (Poukka et al., 2000; Abdel-Hafiz et al., 2002; Le Drean et al., 2002; Tian et al., 2002; Callewaert et al., 2004). The SUMO conjugation sites in AR have been mapped to lysines 386 and 520. Mutation of both sumoylation sites results in enhanced AR transcriptional activity (Poukka et al., 2000; Callewaert et al., 2004), indicating that SUMO-1 modification plays a negative role in modulating AR activity. Interestingly, studies phosphorylation-defective mutants of PPARgamma2 with suggested that phosphorylation at S112 promotes K107 sumoylation on PPARgamma2, which exerts repressive effects on the transactivating function of the receptor (Yamashita et al., 2004). This suggests that nuclear receptor phosphorylation might have a role in sumoylation-dependent inhibition of the receptor's transactivity.

AR is also a target for ubiquitination and destruction by the 26S proteasome (Sheflin *et al.*, 2000). The proto-oncogene Mdm2 catalyses AR ubiquitination and proteolysis *in vivo*, suggesting it functions as an E3 ligase for the AR (Lin *et al.*, 2002). Moreover, inhibition of the proteasome by MG132 abolishes productive rounds of AR-mediated transcription of the PSA gene by preventing release of AR from the promoter (Kang *et al.*, 2002). The degradation of most nuclear hormone receptors occurs predominantly after ligand-binding but the trigger for this degradation is unknown. Interestingly, mutation of MAPK phosphorylation sites in PR reduces hormone-dependent degradation, suggesting that phosphorylation of

nuclear receptors can influence their degradation (reviewed in Nawaz and O'Malley, 2004). These reports provide evidence for a mechanism of nuclear receptor turnover in which hormone-dependent degradation and receptor-transactivation are linked processes that act together in order to maintain efficient transcription of target genes. Post-translational modification of the receptor possibly triggers hormone-dependent degradation following the receptor transcriptional activation in the nucleus.

Interestingly, a recent report demonstrates a link between AR acetylation and AR phosphorylation (Fu et al., 2004). Direct acetylation of AR contributes to its full ligand-dependent activity (Fu et al., 2000; Gaughan et al., 2002). The AR acetylation site, K630, is an important regulator of coactivator/corepressor binding: mutations in AR that mimic acetylation (K630Q, K630T) enhance p300 binding and reduce corepressor binding, whereas charged residue substitution (K630R) reduces p300 binding and enhances corepressor binding (Fu et al., 2002; Fu et al., 2003a). Studies conducted by Fu et al. (2004) suggest that the conserved AR acetylation site plays a role in coordinating AR phosphorylation: mutation of the lysine residues at the AR acetylation site reduces activation by the HDAC inhibitor, TSA (histone deacetylase inhibitor trichostatin A) and ligand-induced phosphorylation of AR. Of particular relevance, mutation of S94 reduces transactivation by TSA and the histone acetyltransferase p300. Therefore, S94 not only plays a role in AR activation by GSK3β, but also in AR activation by acetylation. One possibility, therefore, is that GSK3ß activates AR by promoting its acetylation. Fu et al. (2004) also correlated AR acetylation with inhibition by PKA and by Akt. Since both PKA and Akt can repress GSK-3 (Li et al., 2000; Fang et al., 2002; Tanji et al., 2002), GSK3ß might mediate both these responses. Clearly, it will be important to determine the relationship between GSK3ß and acetylation of AR. One simple scenario is that GSK3ß maintains basal phosphorylation of AR at S94 and that this is a pre-requisite for activation by acetylation. Ligand-dependent activation of GSK3ß could lead to further phosphorylation of AR at novel sites or to phosphorylation of proteins that regulate AR acetylation.

4.7 Summary

The investigation into the role of the Wnt signalling pathway in PCa has led to a number of interesting discoveries. First, most PCa cell lines were found to express high endogenous levels of β -catenin, an observation also made by other groups. However, in contrast with previous reports, our study suggests that endogenous β catenin is not a transcriptional coactivator of the AR. Second, this work presents a novel role for GSK3 β in activating AR signalling, independently of β -catenin. The use of protein and chemical inhibitors of GSK-3 demonstrated that GSK3ß activity is required for maximal activity of the AR. Third, western blotting and IP studies indicate that GSK3^β can interact with AR and plays a role in AR protein stability. Moreover, these studies suggest that Axin represses AR by disrupting the GSK3β/AR complex. Fourth, the enhancement of AR transcriptional activity by GSK3ß is likely to involve S94 in AR. The exact mechanism of AR regulation by GSK3ß in PCa cells remains to be revealed and more studies are required in order to completely understand the crosstalk between AR signalling and GSK3 β in PCa cells. Importantly, the observations that inhibition of GSK3^β leads to a reduction in AR activity, protein level and PCa cell growth suggest a novel therapeutic application for GSK-3 inhibitors, which are already under development for diabetes and neurological diseases, in the treatment of PCa.

5. References

Abdel-Hafiz, H., Takimoto, G.S., Tung, L., and Horwitz, K.B. (2002). The inhibitory function in human progesterone receptor N termini binds SUMO-1 protein to regulate autoinhibition and transrepression. J Biol Chem 277, 33950-33956.

Akiyama, T. (2000). Wnt/beta-catenin signaling. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 11, 273-282.

Ali, S., Metzger, D., Bornert, J.M., and Chambon, P. (1993). Modulation of transcriptional activation by ligand-dependent phosphorylation of the human oestrogen receptor A/B region. Embo J *12*, 1153-1160.

Alt, J.R., Cleveland, J.L., Hannink, M., and Diehl, J.A. (2000). Phosphorylationdependent regulation of cyclin D1 nuclear export and cyclin D1-dependent cellular transformation. Genes Dev 14, 3102-3114.

Amit, S., Hatzubai, A., Birman, Y., Andersen, J.S., Ben-Shushan, E., Mann, M., Ben-Neriah, Y., and Alkalay, I. (2002). Axin-mediated CKI phosphorylation of betacatenin at Ser 45: a molecular switch for the Wnt pathway. Genes Dev 16, 1066-1076.

Armstrong, J.L., Bonavaud, S.M., Toole, B.J., and Yeaman, S.J. (2001). Regulation of glycogen synthesis by amino acids in cultured human muscle cells. J Biol Chem 276, 952-956.

Bachelder, R.E., Yoon, S.O., Franci, C., de Herreros, A.G., and Mercurio, A.M. (2005). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 is an endogenous inhibitor of Snail transcription: implications for the epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J Cell Biol *168*, 29-33.

Barker, N., Hurlstone, A., Musisi, H., Miles, A., Bienz, M., and Clevers, H. (2001). The chromatin remodelling factor Brg-1 interacts with beta-catenin to promote target gene activation. Embo J *20*, 4935-4943.

Bax, B., Carter, P.S., Lewis, C., Guy, A.R., Bridges, A., Tanner, R., Pettman, G., Mannix, C., Culbert, A.A., Brown, M.J., Smith, D.G., and Reith, A.D. (2001). The structure of phosphorylated GSK-3beta complexed with a peptide, FRATtide, that inhibits beta-catenin phosphorylation. Structure (Camb) 9, 1143-1152.

Beals, C.R., Sheridan, C.M., Turck, C.W., Gardner, P., and Crabtree, G.R. (1997). Nuclear export of NF-ATc enhanced by glycogen synthase kinase-3. Science 275, 1930-1934.

Behrens, J., Jerchow, B.A., Wurtele, M., Grimm, J., Asbrand, C., Wirtz, R., Kuhl, M., Wedlich, D., and Birchmeier, W. (1998). Functional interaction of an axin homolog, conductin, with beta-catenin, APC, and GSK3beta. Science 280, 596-599.

Berridge, M.J., Downes, C.P., and Hanley, M.R. (1989). Neural and developmental actions of lithium: a unifying hypothesis. Cell 59, 411-419.

Berry, S.J., Coffey, D.S., Walsh, P.C., and Ewing, L.L. (1984). The development of human benign prostatic hyperplasia with age. J Urol 132, 474-479.

Bhat, R., Xue, Y., Berg, S., Hellberg, S., Ormo, M., Nilsson, Y., Radesater, A.C., Jerning, E., Markgren, P.O., Borgegard, T., Nylof, M., Gimenez-Cassina, A., Hernandez, F., Lucas, J.J., Diaz-Nido, J., and Avila, J. (2003). Structural insights and biological effects of glycogen synthase kinase 3-specific inhibitor AR-A014418. J Biol Chem 278, 45937-45945.

Bhat, R.V., Shanley, J., Correll, M.P., Fieles, W.E., Keith, R.A., Scott, C.W., and Lee, C.M. (2000). Regulation and localization of tyrosine216 phosphorylation of glycogen synthase kinase-3beta in cellular and animal models of neuronal degeneration. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *97*, 11074-11079.

Bijur, G.N., De Sarno, P., and Jope, R.S. (2000). Glycogen synthase kinase-3beta facilitates staurosporine- and heat shock-induced apoptosis. Protection by lithium. J Biol Chem 275, 7583-7590.

Bijur, G.N., and Jope, R.S. (2001). Proapoptotic stimuli induce nuclear accumulation of glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta. J Biol Chem 276, 37436-37442.

Black, B.E., Vitto, M.J., Gioeli, D., Spencer, A., Afshar, N., Conaway, M.R., Weber, M.J., and Paschal, B.M. (2004). Transient, ligand-dependent arrest of the androgen receptor in subnuclear foci alters phosphorylation and coactivator interactions. Mol Endocrinol *18*, 834-850.

Blok, L.J., de Ruiter, P.E., and Brinkmann, A.O. (1998). Forskolin-induced dephosphorylation of the androgen receptor impairs ligand binding. Biochemistry *37*, 3850-3857.

Bodwell, J.E., Orti, E., Coull, J.M., Pappin, D.J., Smith, L.I., and Swift, F. (1991). Identification of phosphorylated sites in the mouse glucocorticoid receptor. J Biol Chem 266, 7549-7555.

Boyle, W.J., Smeal, T., Defize, L.H., Angel, P., Woodgett, J.R., Karin, M., and Hunter, T. (1991). Activation of protein kinase C decreases phosphorylation of c-Jun at sites that negatively regulate its DNA-binding activity. Cell *64*, 573-584.

Brabletz, T., Jung, A., Dag, S., Hlubek, F., and Kirchner, T. (1999). beta-catenin regulates the expression of the matrix metalloproteinase-7 in human colorectal cancer. Am J Pathol 155, 1033-1038.

Brady, M.J., Bourbonais, F.J., and Saltiel, A.R. (1998). The activation of glycogen synthase by insulin switches from kinase inhibition to phosphatase activation during adipogenesis in 3T3-L1 cells. J Biol Chem 273, 14063-14066.

Bramblett, G.T., Goedert, M., Jakes, R., Merrick, S.E., Trojanowski, J.Q., and Lee, V.M. (1993). Abnormal tau phosphorylation at Ser396 in Alzheimer's disease recapitulates development and contributes to reduced microtubule binding. Neuron *10*, 1089-1099.

Brannon, M., Gomperts, M., Sumoy, L., Moon, R.T., and Kimelman, D. (1997). A beta-catenin/XTcf-3 complex binds to the siamois promoter to regulate dorsal axis specification in Xenopus. Genes Dev 11, 2359-2370.

Brembeck, F.H., Schwarz-Romond, T., Bakkers, J., Wilhelm, S., Hammerschmidt, M., and Birchmeier, W. (2004). Essential role of BCL9-2 in the switch between betacatenin's adhesive and transcriptional functions. Genes Dev *18*, 2225-2230.

Buchanan, G., Greenberg, N.M., Scher, H.I., Harris, J.M., Marshall, V.R., and Tilley, W.D. (2001a). Collocation of androgen receptor gene mutations in prostate cancer. Clin Cancer Res 7, 1273-1281.

Buchanan, G., Yang, M., Harris, J.M., Nahm, H.S., Han, G., Moore, N., Bentel, J.M., Matusik, R.J., Horsfall, D.J., Marshall, V.R., Greenberg, N.M., and Tilley, W.D. (2001b). Mutations at the boundary of the hinge and ligand binding domain of the androgen receptor confer increased transactivation function. Mol Endocrinol 15, 46-56.

Buendia, M.A. (2000). Genetics of hepatocellular carcinoma. Semin Cancer Biol 10, 185-200.

Callewaert, L., Verrijdt, G., Haelens, A., and Claessens, F. (2004). Differential effect of small ubiquitin-like modifier (SUMO)-ylation of the androgen receptor in the control of cooperativity on selective versus canonical response elements. Mol Endocrinol *18*, 1438-1449.

Campbell, M.J., Elstner, E., Holden, S., Uskokovic, M., and Koeffler, H.P. (1997). Inhibition of proliferation of prostate cancer cells by a 19-nor-hexafluoride vitamin D3 analogue involves the induction of p21waf1, p27kip1 and E-cadherin. J Mol Endocrinol *19*, 15-27.

Capelluto, D.G., Kutateladze, T.G., Habas, R., Finkielstein, C.V., He, X., and Overduin, M. (2002). The DIX domain targets dishevelled to actin stress fibres and vesicular membranes. Nature 419, 726-729.

Chalecka-Franaszek, E., and Chuang, D.M. (1999). Lithium activates the serine/threonine kinase Akt-1 and suppresses glutamate-induced inhibition of Akt-1 activity in neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *96*, 8745-8750.

Chan, E.F., Gat, U., McNiff, J.M., and Fuchs, E. (1999). A common human skin tumour is caused by activating mutations in beta-catenin. Nat Genet 21, 410-413.

Chen, G., Huang, L.D., Jiang, Y.M., and Manji, H.K. (1999). The mood-stabilizing agent valproate inhibits the activity of glycogen synthase kinase-3. J Neurochem 72, 1327-1330.

Chen, H., Lin, R.J., Schiltz, R.L., Chakravarti, D., Nash, A., Nagy, L., Privalsky, M.L., Nakatani, Y., and Evans, R.M. (1997). Nuclear receptor coactivator ACTR is a novel histone acetyltransferase and forms a multimeric activation complex with P/CAF and CBP/p300. Cell *90*, 569-580.

Chen, S., Guttridge, D.C., You, Z., Zhang, Z., Fribley, A., Mayo, M.W., Kitajewski, J., and Wang, C.Y. (2001). Wnt-1 signaling inhibits apoptosis by activating betacatenin/T cell factor-mediated transcription. J Cell Biol *152*, 87-96.

Chesire, D.R., Ewing, C.M., Gage, W.R., and Isaacs, W.B. (2002). In vitro evidence for complex modes of nuclear beta-catenin signaling during prostate growth and tumorigenesis. Oncogene 21, 2679-2694.

Chesire, D.R., Ewing, C.M., Sauvageot, J., Bova, G.S., and Isaacs, W.B. (2000). Detection and analysis of beta-catenin mutations in prostate cancer. Prostate 45, 323-334.

Chesire, D.R., and Isaacs, W.B. (2002). Ligand-dependent inhibition of betacatenin/TCF signaling by androgen receptor. Oncogene 21, 8453-8469.

Chesire, D.R., and Isaacs, W.B. (2003). Beta-catenin signaling in prostate cancer: an early perspective. Endocr Relat Cancer 10, 537-560.

Choong, C.S., and Wilson, E.M. (1998). Trinucleotide repeats in the human androgen receptor: a molecular basis for disease. J Mol Endocrinol 21, 235-257.

Chu, B., Zhong, R., Soncin, F., Stevenson, M.A., and Calderwood, S.K. (1998). Transcriptional activity of heat shock factor 1 at 37 degrees C is repressed through phosphorylation on two distinct serine residues by glycogen synthase kinase 3 and protein kinases Calpha and Czeta. J Biol Chem 273, 18640-18646.

Cline, G.W., Johnson, K., Regittnig, W., Perret, P., Tozzo, E., Xiao, L., Damico, C., and Shulman, G.I. (2002). Effects of a novel glycogen synthase kinase-3 inhibitor on insulin-stimulated glucose metabolism in Zucker diabetic fatty (fa/fa) rats. Diabetes *51*, 2903-2910.

Coghlan, M.P., Culbert, A.A., Cross, D.A., Corcoran, S.L., Yates, J.W., Pearce, N.J., Rausch, O.L., Murphy, G.J., Carter, P.S., Roxbee Cox, L., Mills, D., Brown, M.J., Haigh, D., Ward, R.W., Smith, D.G., Murray, K.J., Reith, A.D., and Holder, J.C. (2000). Selective small molecule inhibitors of glycogen synthase kinase-3 modulate glycogen metabolism and gene transcription. Chem Biol 7, 793-803.

Colville, C.M., JR. Parkinson, MC. (2004). The prostate and Cancer: An Introduction to Normal Morphology and Histopathology for Research Scientists. In: Prostate Cancer, Clinical and Scientific Aspects -Bridging the Gap, ed. P.a.L.E.-N. Abel, London: Imperial College Press.

Craft, N., Chhor, C., Tran, C., Belldegrun, A., DeKernion, J., Witte, O.N., Said, J., Reiter, R.E., and Sawyers, C.L. (1999a). Evidence for clonal outgrowth of androgen-independent prostate cancer cells from androgen-dependent tumors through a two-step process. Cancer Res *59*, 5030-5036.

Craft, N., Shostak, Y., Carey, M., and Sawyers, C.L. (1999b). A mechanism for hormone-independent prostate cancer through modulation of androgen receptor signaling by the HER-2/neu tyrosine kinase. Nat Med 5, 280-285.

Crawford, H.C., Fingleton, B.M., Rudolph-Owen, L.A., Goss, K.J., Rubinfeld, B., Polakis, P., and Matrisian, L.M. (1999). The metalloproteinase matrilysin is a target of beta-catenin transactivation in intestinal tumors. Oncogene *18*, 2883-2891.

Cross, D.A., Alessi, D.R., Cohen, P., Andjelkovich, M., and Hemmings, B.A. (1995). Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 by insulin mediated by protein kinase B. Nature *378*, 785-789.

Cross, D.A., Culbert, A.A., Chalmers, K.A., Facci, L., Skaper, S.D., and Reith, A.D. (2001). Selective small-molecule inhibitors of glycogen synthase kinase-3 activity protect primary neurones from death. J Neurochem 77, 94-102.

Culbert, A.A., Brown, M.J., Frame, S., Hagen, T., Cross, D.A., Bax, B., and Reith, A.D. (2001). GSK-3 inhibition by adenoviral FRAT1 overexpression is neuroprotective and induces Tau dephosphorylation and beta-catenin stabilisation without elevation of glycogen synthase activity. FEBS Lett *507*, 288-294.

Culig, Z., Hobisch, A., Cronauer, M.V., Cato, A.C., Hittmair, A., Radmayr, C., Eberle, J., Bartsch, G., and Klocker, H. (1993). Mutant androgen receptor detected in an advanced-stage prostatic carcinoma is activated by adrenal androgens and progesterone. Mol Endocrinol 7, 1541-1550.

Culig, Z., Hobisch, A., Cronauer, M.V., Radmayr, C., Trapman, J., Hittmair, A., Bartsch, G., and Klocker, H. (1994). Androgen receptor activation in prostatic tumor cell lines by insulin-like growth factor-I, keratinocyte growth factor, and epidermal growth factor. Cancer Res *54*, 5474-5478.

Cunha, G.D., AA. Hayward, SW. Thomson, AA. Dahiya, R. Marker, PC. Abate-Shen, C and Shen, M. (2004). Development and Differentiation of the Prostate Gland. In: Prostate Cancer, Clinical and Scientific Aspects-Bridging the gap, ed. P.a.L.E.-N. Abel, London: Imperial College Press.

Dajani, R., Fraser, E., Roe, S.M., Young, N., Good, V., Dale, T.C., and Pearl, L.H. (2001). Crystal structure of glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta: structural basis for phosphate-primed substrate specificity and autoinhibition. Cell *105*, 721-732.

Damalas, A., Ben-Ze'ev, A., Simcha, I., Shtutman, M., Leal, J.F., Zhurinsky, J., Geiger, B., and Oren, M. (1999). Excess beta-catenin promotes accumulation of transcriptionally active p53. Embo J 18, 3054-3063.

Davies, S.P., Reddy, H., Caivano, M., and Cohen, P. (2000). Specificity and mechanism of action of some commonly used protein kinase inhibitors. Biochem J *351*, 95-105.

Davis, S.T., Benson, B.G., Bramson, H.N., Chapman, D.E., Dickerson, S.H., Dold, K.M., Eberwein, D.J., Edelstein, M., Frye, S.V., Gampe Jr, R.T., Griffin, R.J., Harris, P.A., Hassell, A.M., Holmes, W.D., Hunter, R.N., Knick, V.B., Lackey, K., Lovejoy, B., Luzzio, M.J., Murray, D., Parker, P., Rocque, W.J., Shewchuk, L., Veal, J.M., Walker, D.H., and Kuyper, L.F. (2001). Prevention of chemotherapy-induced alopecia in rats by CDK inhibitors. Science *291*, 134-137.

de Groot, R.P., Auwerx, J., Bourouis, M., and Sassone-Corsi, P. (1993). Negative regulation of Jun/AP-1: conserved function of glycogen synthase kinase 3 and the Drosophila kinase shaggy. Oncogene δ , 841-847.

de La Coste, A., Romagnolo, B., Billuart, P., Renard, C.A., Buendia, M.A., Soubrane, O., Fabre, M., Chelly, J., Beldjord, C., Kahn, A., and Perret, C. (1998). Somatic mutations of the beta-catenin gene are frequent in mouse and human hepatocellular carcinomas. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95, 8847-8851.

de la Taille, A., Rubin, M.A., Chen, M.W., Vacherot, F., de Medina, S.G., Burchardt, M., Buttyan, R., and Chopin, D. (2003). Beta-catenin-related anomalies in apoptosisresistant and hormone-refractory prostate cancer cells. Clin Cancer Res 9, 1801-1807.

Dedhar, S. (1994). Novel functions for calreticulin: interaction with integrins and modulation of gene expression? Trends Biochem Sci 19, 269-271.

Demarchi, F., Bertoli, C., Sandy, P., and Schneider, C. (2003). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta regulates NF-kappa B1/p105 stability. J Biol Chem 278, 39583-39590.

Denmeade, S.R., and Isaacs, J.T. (2002). A history of prostate cancer treatment. Nat Rev Cancer 2, 389-396.

Denner, L.A., Schrader, W.T., O'Malley, B.W., and Weigel, N.L. (1990). Hormonal regulation and identification of chicken progesterone receptor phosphorylation sites. J Biol Chem *265*, 16548-16555.

Diehl, J.A., Cheng, M., Roussel, M.F., and Sherr, C.J. (1998). Glycogen synthase kinase-3beta regulates cyclin D1 proteolysis and subcellular localization. Genes Dev *12*, 3499-3511.

Doble, B.W., and Woodgett, J.R. (2003). GSK-3: tricks of the trade for a multitasking kinase. J Cell Sci 116, 1175-1186.

Du, S.J., Purcell, S.M., Christian, J.L., McGrew, L.L., and Moon, R.T. (1995). Identification of distinct classes and functional domains of Wnts through expression of wild-type and chimeric proteins in Xenopus embryos. Mol Cell Biol *15*, 2625-2634.

Easwaran, V., Pishvaian, M., Salimuddin, and Byers, S. (1999). Cross-regulation of beta-catenin-LEF/TCF and retinoid signaling pathways. Curr Biol 9, 1415-1418.

Edwards, A., Hammond, H.A., Jin, L., Caskey, C.T., and Chakraborty, R. (1992). Genetic variation at five trimeric and tetrameric tandem repeat loci in four human population groups. Genomics *12*, 241-253.

Eldar-Finkelman, H., Schreyer, S.A., Shinohara, M.M., LeBoeuf, R.C., and Krebs, E.G. (1999). Increased glycogen synthase kinase-3 activity in diabetes- and obesity-prone C57BL/6J mice. Diabetes 48, 1662-1666.

Elo, J.P., Kvist, L., Leinonen, K., Isomaa, V., Henttu, P., Lukkarinen, O., and Vihko, P. (1995). Mutated human androgen receptor gene detected in a prostatic cancer patient is also activated by estradiol. J Clin Endocrinol Metab *80*, 3494-3500.

Evans, B.A., Harper, M.E., Daniells, C.E., Watts, C.E., Matenhelia, S., Green, J., and Griffiths, K. (1996). Low incidence of androgen receptor gene mutations in human prostatic tumors using single strand conformation polymorphism analysis. Prostate 28, 162-171.

Fang, X., Yu, S., Tanyi, J.L., Lu, Y., Woodgett, J.R., and Mills, G.B. (2002). Convergence of multiple signaling cascades at glycogen synthase kinase 3: Edg receptor-mediated phosphorylation and inactivation by lysophosphatidic acid through a protein kinase C-dependent intracellular pathway. Mol Cell Biol *22*, 2099-2110.

Feldman, B.J., and Feldman, D. (2001). The development of androgen-independent prostate cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 1, 34-45.

Ficari, F., Cama, A., Valanzano, R., Curia, M.C., Palmirotta, R., Aceto, G., Esposito, D.L., Crognale, S., Lombardi, A., Messerini, L., Mariani-Costantini, R., Tonelli, F., and Battista, P. (2000). APC gene mutations and colorectal adenomatosis in familial adenomatous polyposis. Br J Cancer *82*, 348-353.

Fiol, C.J., Mahrenholz, A.M., Wang, Y., Roeske, R.W., and Roach, P.J. (1987). Formation of protein kinase recognition sites by covalent modification of the substrate. Molecular mechanism for the synergistic action of casein kinase II and glycogen synthase kinase 3. J Biol Chem *262*, 14042-14048.

Fodde, R. (2002). The APC gene in colorectal cancer. Eur J Cancer 38, 867-871.

Fodde, R., Kuipers, J., Rosenberg, C., Smits, R., Kielman, M., Gaspar, C., van Es, J.H., Breukel, C., Wiegant, J., Giles, R.H., and Clevers, H. (2001a). Mutations in the APC tumour suppressor gene cause chromosomal instability. Nat Cell Biol *3*, 433-438.

Fodde, R., Smits, R., and Clevers, H. (2001b). APC, signal transduction and genetic instability in colorectal cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 1, 55-67.

Frame, S., and Cohen, P. (2001). GSK3 takes centre stage more than 20 years after its discovery. Biochem J 359, 1-16.

Frame, S., Cohen, P., and Biondi, R.M. (2001). A common phosphate binding site explains the unique substrate specificity of GSK3 and its inactivation by phosphorylation. Mol Cell 7, 1321-1327.

Franca-Koh, J., Yeo, M., Fraser, E., Young, N., and Dale, T.C. (2002). The regulation of glycogen synthase kinase-3 nuclear export by Frat/GBP. J Biol Chem 277, 43844-43848.

Fraser, E., Young, N., Dajani, R., Franca-Koh, J., Ryves, J., Williams, R.S., Yeo, M., Webster, M.T., Richardson, C., Smalley, M.J., Pearl, L.H., Harwood, A., and Dale,

T.C. (2002). Identification of the Axin and Frat binding region of glycogen synthase kinase-3. J Biol Chem 277, 2176-2185.

Fu, M., Rao, M., Wang, C., Sakamaki, T., Wang, J., Di Vizio, D., Zhang, X., Albanese, C., Balk, S., Chang, C., Fan, S., Rosen, E., Palvimo, J.J., Janne, O.A., Muratoglu, S., Avantaggiati, M.L., and Pestell, R.G. (2003a). Acetylation of androgen receptor enhances coactivator binding and promotes prostate cancer cell growth. Mol Cell Biol 23, 8563-8575.

Fu, M., Rao, M., Wu, K., Wang, C., Zhang, X., Hessien, M., Yeung, Y.G., Gioeli, D., Weber, M.J., and Pestell, R.G. (2004). The androgen receptor acetylation site regulates cAMP and AKT but not ERK-induced activity. J Biol Chem 279, 29436-29449.

Fu, M., Wang, C., Reutens, A.T., Wang, J., Angeletti, R.H., Siconolfi-Baez, L., Ogryzko, V., Avantaggiati, M.L., and Pestell, R.G. (2000). p300 and p300/cAMP-response element-binding protein-associated factor acetylate the androgen receptor at sites governing hormone-dependent transactivation. J Biol Chem 275, 20853-20860.

Fu, M., Wang, C., Wang, J., Zhang, X., Sakamaki, T., Yeung, Y.G., Chang, C., Hopp, T., Fuqua, S.A., Jaffray, E., Hay, R.T., Palvimo, J.J., Janne, O.A., and Pestell, R.G. (2002). Androgen receptor acetylation governs trans activation and MEKK1-induced apoptosis without affecting in vitro sumoylation and trans-repression function. Mol Cell Biol *22*, 3373-3388.

Fu, M., Wang, C., Zhang, X., and Pestell, R. (2003b). Nuclear receptor modifications and endocrine cell proliferation. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol *85*, 133-138.

Gaddipati, J.P., McLeod, D.G., Heidenberg, H.B., Sesterhenn, I.A., Finger, M.J., Moul, J.W., and Srivastava, S. (1994). Frequent detection of codon 877 mutation in the androgen receptor gene in advanced prostate cancers. Cancer Res 54, 2861-2864.

Gallet, A., Angelats, C., Erkner, A., Charroux, B., Fasano, L., and Kerridge, S. (1999). The C-terminal domain of armadillo binds to hypophosphorylated teashirt to modulate wingless signalling in Drosophila. Embo J *18*, 2208-2217.

Gamallo, C., Palacios, J., Moreno, G., Calvo de Mora, J., Suarez, A., and Armas, A. (1999). beta-catenin expression pattern in stage I and II ovarian carcinomas : relationship with beta-catenin gene mutations, clinicopathological features, and clinical outcome. Am J Pathol *155*, 527-536.

Garcia-Perez, J., Avila, J., and Diaz-Nido, J. (1999). Lithium induces morphological differentiation of mouse neuroblastoma cells. J Neurosci Res 57, 261-270.

Gat, U., DasGupta, R., Degenstein, L., and Fuchs, E. (1998). De Novo hair follicle morphogenesis and hair tumors in mice expressing a truncated beta-catenin in skin. Cell *95*, 605-614.

Gaughan, L., Logan, I.R., Cook, S., Neal, D.E., and Robson, C.N. (2002). Tip60 and histone deacetylase 1 regulate androgen receptor activity through changes to the acetylation status of the receptor. J Biol Chem 277, 25904-25913.

Gerstein, A.V., Almeida, T.A., Zhao, G., Chess, E., Shih Ie, M., Buhler, K., Pienta, K., Rubin, M.A., Vessella, R., and Papadopoulos, N. (2002). APC/CTNNB1 (betacatenin) pathway alterations in human prostate cancers. Genes Chromosomes Cancer *34*, 9-16.

Giannini, A.L., Vivanco, M.M., and Kypta, R.M. (2000). Analysis of beta-catenin aggregation and localization using GFP fusion proteins: nuclear import of alpha-catenin by the beta-catenin/Tcf complex. Exp Cell Res *255*, 207-220.

Giguere, V. (1999). Orphan nuclear receptors: from gene to function. Endocr Rev 20, 689-725.

Gioeli, D., Ficarro, S.B., Kwiek, J.J., Aaronson, D., Hancock, M., Catling, A.D., White, F.M., Christian, R.E., Settlage, R.E., Shabanowitz, J., Hunt, D.F., and Weber, M.J. (2002). Androgen receptor phosphorylation. Regulation and identification of the phosphorylation sites. J Biol Chem 277, 29304-29314.

Gleason, D.F. (1992). Histologic grading of prostate cancer: a perspective. Hum Pathol 23, 273-279.

Gottlieb, B., Beitel, L.K., Wu, J.H., and Trifiro, M. (2004). The androgen receptor gene mutations database (ARDB): 2004 update. Hum Mutat 23, 527-533.

Gounari, F., Signoretti, S., Bronson, R., Klein, L., Sellers, W.R., Kum, J., Siermann, A., Taketo, M.M., von Boehmer, H., and Khazaie, K. (2002). Stabilization of betacatenin induces lesions reminiscent of prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia, but terminal squamous transdifferentiation of other secretory epithelia. Oncogene *21*, 4099-4107.

Graff, J.R., Konicek, B.W., McNulty, A.M., Wang, Z., Houck, K., Allen, S., Paul, J.D., Hbaiu, A., Goode, R.G., Sandusky, G.E., Vessella, R.L., and Neubauer, B.L. (2000). Increased AKT activity contributes to prostate cancer progression by dramatically accelerating prostate tumor growth and diminishing p27Kip1 expression. J Biol Chem 275, 24500-24505.

Gregory, C.W., He, B., Johnson, R.T., Ford, O.H., Mohler, J.L., French, F.S., and Wilson, E.M. (2001a). A mechanism for androgen receptor-mediated prostate cancer recurrence after androgen deprivation therapy. Cancer Res *61*, 4315-4319.

Gregory, C.W., Johnson, R.T., Jr., Mohler, J.L., French, F.S., and Wilson, E.M. (2001b). Androgen receptor stabilization in recurrent prostate cancer is associated with hypersensitivity to low androgen. Cancer Res *61*, 2892-2898.

Groden, J. (2000). Touch and go: mediating cell-to-cell interactions and Wnt signaling in gastrointestinal tumor formation. Gastroenterology 119, 1161-1164.

Hagen, T., and Vidal-Puig, A. (2002). Characterisation of the phosphorylation of beta-catenin at the GSK-3 priming site Ser45. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 294, 324-328.

Hamada, F., and Bienz, M. (2004). The APC tumor suppressor binds to C-terminal binding protein to divert nuclear beta-catenin from TCF. Dev Cell 7, 677-685.

Hanger, D.P., Hughes, K., Woodgett, J.R., Brion, J.P., and Anderton, B.H. (1992). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 induces Alzheimer's disease-like phosphorylation of tau: generation of paired helical filament epitopes and neuronal localisation of the kinase. Neurosci Lett 147, 58-62.

Harris, T.J., and Peifer, M. (2005). Decisions, decisions: beta-catenin chooses between adhesion and transcription. Trends Cell Biol 15, 234-237.

He, T.C., Sparks, A.B., Rago, C., Hermeking, H., Zawel, L., da Costa, L.T., Morin, P.J., Vogelstein, B., and Kinzler, K.W. (1998). Identification of c-MYC as a target of the APC pathway. Science *281*, 1509-1512.

He, X., Saint-Jeannet, J.P., Wang, Y., Nathans, J., Dawid, I., and Varmus, H. (1997). A member of the Frizzled protein family mediating axis induction by Wnt-5A. Science 275, 1652-1654.

Heinlein, C.A., and Chang, C. (2002). Androgen receptor (AR) coregulators: an overview. Endocr Rev 23, 175-200.

Heisenberg, C.P., Tada, M., Rauch, G.J., Saude, L., Concha, M.L., Geisler, R., Stemple, D.L., Smith, J.C., and Wilson, S.W. (2000). Silberblick/Wnt11 mediates convergent extension movements during zebrafish gastrulation. Nature 405, 76-81.

Henderson, B.R., and Fagotto, F. (2002). The ins and outs of APC and beta-catenin nuclear transport. EMBO Rep 3, 834-839.

Hinoi, T., Yamamoto, H., Kishida, M., Takada, S., Kishida, S., and Kikuchi, A. (2000). Complex formation of adenomatous polyposis coli gene product and axin facilitates glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta-dependent phosphorylation of beta-catenin and down-regulates beta-catenin. J Biol Chem 275, 34399-34406.

Hoeflich, K.P., Luo, J., Rubie, E.A., Tsao, M.S., Jin, O., and Woodgett, J.R. (2000). Requirement for glycogen synthase kinase-3beta in cell survival and NF-kappaB activation. Nature 406, 86-90.

Horoszewicz, J.S., Leong, S.S., Chu, T.M., Wajsman, Z.L., Friedman, M., Papsidero, L., Kim, U., Chai, L.S., Kakati, S., Arya, S.K., and Sandberg, A.A. (1980). The LNCaP cell line--a new model for studies on human prostatic carcinoma. Prog Clin Biol Res *37*, 115-132.

Horoszewicz, J.S., Leong, S.S., Kawinski, E., Karr, J.P., Rosenthal, H., Chu, T.M., Mirand, E.A., and Murphy, G.P. (1983). LNCaP model of human prostatic carcinoma. Cancer Res 43, 1809-1818.

Hoshi, M., Takashima, A., Noguchi, K., Murayama, M., Sato, M., Kondo, S., Saitoh, Y., Ishiguro, K., Hoshino, T., and Imahori, K. (1996). Regulation of mitochondrial pyruvate dehydrogenase activity by tau protein kinase I/glycogen synthase kinase 3beta in brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *93*, 2719-2723.

Hsieh, J.C., Jurutka, P.W., Galligan, M.A., Terpening, C.M., Haussler, C.A., Samuels, D.S., Shimizu, Y., Shimizu, N., and Haussler, M.R. (1991). Human vitamin D receptor is selectively phosphorylated by protein kinase C on serine 51, a residue crucial to its trans-activation function. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *88*, 9315-9319.

Hsu, W., Shakya, R., and Costantini, F. (2001). Impaired mammary gland and lymphoid development caused by inducible expression of Axin in transgenic mice. J Cell Biol *155*, 1055-1064.

Hsu, W., Zeng, L., and Costantini, F. (1999). Identification of a domain of Axin that binds to the serine/threonine protein phosphatase 2A and a self-binding domain. J Biol Chem 274, 3439-3445.

Hu, J.M., Bodwell, J.E., and Munck, A. (1994). Cell cycle-dependent glucocorticoid receptor phosphorylation and activity. Mol Endocrinol *8*, 1709-1713.

Huang, H., Fujii, H., Sankila, A., Mahler-Araujo, B.M., Matsuda, M., Cathomas, G., and Ohgaki, H. (1999). Beta-catenin mutations are frequent in human hepatocellular carcinomas associated with hepatitis C virus infection. Am J Pathol 155, 1795-1801.

Ikeda, S., Kishida, S., Yamamoto, H., Murai, H., Koyama, S., and Kikuchi, A. (1998). Axin, a negative regulator of the Wnt signaling pathway, forms a complex with GSK-3beta and beta-catenin and promotes GSK-3beta-dependent phosphorylation of beta-catenin. Embo J 17, 1371-1384.

Ilouz, R., Kaidanovich, O., Gurwitz, D., and Eldar-Finkelman, H. (2002). Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3beta by bivalent zinc ions: insight into the insulinmimetic action of zinc. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 295, 102-106.

Ingham, P.W., and McMahon, A.P. (2001). Hedgehog signaling in animal development: paradigms and principles. Genes Dev 15, 3059-3087.

Irvine, R.A., Yu, M.C., Ross, R.K., and Coetzee, G.A. (1995). The CAG and GGC microsatellites of the androgen receptor gene are in linkage disequilibrium in men with prostate cancer. Cancer Res 55, 1937-1940.

Isaacs, J.T. (1999). The biology of hormone refractory prostate cancer. Why does it develop? Urol Clin North Am 26, 263-273.

Iwao, K., Nakamori, S., Kameyama, M., Imaoka, S., Kinoshita, M., Fukui, T., Ishiguro, S., Nakamura, Y., and Miyoshi, Y. (1998). Activation of the beta-catenin gene by interstitial deletions involving exon 3 in primary colorectal carcinomas without adenomatous polyposis coli mutations. Cancer Res 58, 1021-1026.

Jeng, Y.M., Wu, M.Z., Mao, T.L., Chang, M.H., and Hsu, H.C. (2000). Somatic mutations of beta-catenin play a crucial role in the tumorigenesis of sporadic hepatoblastoma. Cancer Lett 152, 45-51.

Jenster, G. (1999). The role of the androgen receptor in the development and progression of prostate cancer. Semin Oncol 26, 407-421.

Jenster, G., de Ruiter, P.E., van der Korput, H.A., Kuiper, G.G., Trapman, J., and Brinkmann, A.O. (1994). Changes in the abundance of androgen receptor isotypes: effects of ligand treatment, glutamine-stretch variation, and mutation of putative phosphorylation sites. Biochemistry *33*, 14064-14072.

Jenster, G., van der Korput, H.A., Trapman, J., and Brinkmann, A.O. (1995). Identification of two transcription activation units in the N-terminal domain of the human androgen receptor. J Biol Chem 270, 7341-7346.

Jho, E.H., Zhang, T., Domon, C., Joo, C.K., Freund, J.N., and Costantini, F. (2002). Wnt/beta-catenin/Tcf signaling induces the transcription of Axin2, a negative regulator of the signaling pathway. Mol Cell Biol 22, 1172-1183.

Jia, J., Amanai, K., Wang, G., Tang, J., Wang, B., and Jiang, J. (2002). Shaggy/GSK3 antagonizes Hedgehog signalling by regulating Cubitus interruptus. Nature 416, 548-552.

Jimbo, T., Kawasaki, Y., Koyama, R., Sato, R., Takada, S., Haraguchi, K., and Akiyama, T. (2002). Identification of a link between the tumour suppressor APC and the kinesin superfamily. Nat Cell Biol *4*, 323-327.

Joel, P.B., Smith, J., Sturgill, T.W., Fisher, T.L., Blenis, J., and Lannigan, D.A. (1998). pp90rsk1 regulates estrogen receptor-mediated transcription through phosphorylation of Ser-167. Mol Cell Biol *18*, 1978-1984.

Jones, L.J., and Veale, R.B. (2003). Redistribution of beta-catenin in response to EGF and lithium signalling in human oesophageal squamous carcinoma cell lines. Cancer Cell Int 3, 13.

Jones, S.E., and Jomary, C. (2002). Secreted Frizzled-related proteins: searching for relationships and patterns. Bioessays 24, 811-820.

Kaighn, M.E., Narayan, K.S., Ohnuki, Y., Lechner, J.F., and Jones, L.W. (1979). Establishment and characterization of a human prostatic carcinoma cell line (PC-3). Invest Urol 17, 16-23.

Kang, Z., Pirskanen, A., Janne, O.A., and Palvimo, J.J. (2002). Involvement of proteasome in the dynamic assembly of the androgen receptor transcription complex. J Biol Chem 277, 48366-48371.

Kantoff, P., Giovannucci, E., and Brown, M. (1998). The androgen receptor CAG repeat polymorphism and its relationship to prostate cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta 1378, C1-5.

Kaplan, K.B., Burds, A.A., Swedlow, J.R., Bekir, S.S., Sorger, P.K., and Nathke, I.S. (2001). A role for the Adenomatous Polyposis Coli protein in chromosome segregation. Nat Cell Biol *3*, 429-432.

Karim, R., Tse, G., Putti, T., Scolyer, R., and Lee, S. (2004). The significance of the Wnt pathway in the pathology of human cancers. Pathology *36*, 120-128.

Kato, S., Endoh, H., Masuhiro, Y., Kitamoto, T., Uchiyama, S., Sasaki, H., Masushige, S., Gotoh, Y., Nishida, E., Kawashima, H., and *et al.* (1995). Activation of the estrogen receptor through phosphorylation by mitogen-activated protein kinase. Science 270, 1491-1494.

Kawasaki, Y., Senda, T., Ishidate, T., Koyama, R., Morishita, T., Iwayama, Y., Higuchi, O., and Akiyama, T. (2000). Asef, a link between the tumor suppressor APC and G-protein signaling. Science 289, 1194-1197.

Kemppainen, J.A., Lane, M.V., Sar, M., and Wilson, E.M. (1992). Androgen receptor phosphorylation, turnover, nuclear transport, and transcriptional activation. Specificity for steroids and antihormones. J Biol Chem 267, 968-974.

Khanim, F.L., Gommersall, L.M., Wood, V.H., Smith, K.L., Montalvo, L., O'Neill, L.P., Xu, Y., Peehl, D.M., Stewart, P.M., Turner, B.M., and Campbell, M.J. (2004). Altered SMRT levels disrupt vitamin D3 receptor signalling in prostate cancer cells. Oncogene *23*, 6712-6725.

Kikuchi, A. (2000). Regulation of beta-catenin signaling in the Wnt pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 268, 243-248.

Kikuchi, A. (2003). Tumor formation by genetic mutations in the components of the Wnt signaling pathway. Cancer Sci 94, 225-229.

Kim, L., Liu, J., and Kimmel, A.R. (1999). The novel tyrosine kinase ZAK1 activates GSK3 to direct cell fate specification. Cell 99, 399-408.

Kirby Roger S, C.T.J, Brawer Michael K. (2001). Anatomical and pathological considerations. In: Prostate Cancer, London: Mosby.

Kishida, M., Hino, S., Michiue, T., Yamamoto, H., Kishida, S., Fukui, A., Asashima, M., and Kikuchi, A. (2001). Synergistic activation of the Wnt signaling pathway by Dvl and casein kinase Iepsilon. J Biol Chem 276, 33147-33155.

Kishida, S., Yamamoto, H., Ikeda, S., Kishida, M., Sakamoto, I., Koyama, S., and Kikuchi, A. (1998). Axin, a negative regulator of the wnt signaling pathway, directly interacts with adenomatous polyposis coli and regulates the stabilization of beta-catenin. J Biol Chem 273, 10823-10826.

Klein, K.A., Reiter, R.E., Redula, J., Moradi, H., Zhu, X.L., Brothman, A.R., Lamb, D.J., Marcelli, M., Belldegrun, A., Witte, O.N., and Sawyers, C.L. (1997). Progression of metastatic human prostate cancer to androgen independence in immunodeficient SCID mice. Nat Med *3*, 402-408.

Klein, P.S., and Melton, D.A. (1996). A molecular mechanism for the effect of lithium on development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93, 8455-8459.

Knotts, T.A., Orkiszewski, R.S., Cook, R.G., Edwards, D.P., and Weigel, N.L. (2001). Identification of a phosphorylation site in the hinge region of the human progesterone receptor and additional amino-terminal phosphorylation sites. J Biol Chem 276, 8475-8483.

Knudsen, K.E., Cavenee, W.K., and Arden, K.C. (1999). D-type cyclins complex with the androgen receptor and inhibit its transcriptional transactivation ability. Cancer Res *59*, 2297-2301.

Koch, A., Denkhaus, D., Albrecht, S., Leuschner, I., von Schweinitz, D., and Pietsch, T. (1999). Childhood hepatoblastomas frequently carry a mutated degradation targeting box of the beta-catenin gene. Cancer Res *59*, 269-273.

Koivisto, P., Kononen, J., Palmberg, C., Tammela, T., Hyytinen, E., Isola, J., Trapman, J., Cleutjens, K., Noordzij, A., Visakorpi, T., and Kallioniemi, O.P. (1997). Androgen receptor gene amplification: a possible molecular mechanism for androgen deprivation therapy failure in prostate cancer. Cancer Res *57*, 314-319.

Korinek, V., Barker, N., Morin, P.J., van Wichen, D., de Weger, R., Kinzler, K.W., Vogelstein, B., and Clevers, H. (1997). Constitutive transcriptional activation by a beta-catenin-Tcf complex in APC-/- colon carcinoma. Science *275*, 1784-1787.

Kosik, K.S. (1998). Presenilin interactions and Alzheimer's disease. Science 279, 463-465.

Kuhl, M., Geis, K., Sheldahl, L.C., Pukrop, T., Moon, R.T., and Wedlich, D. (2001). Antagonistic regulation of convergent extension movements in Xenopus by Wnt/beta-catenin and Wnt/Ca2+ signaling. Mech Dev *106*, 61-76.

Kuhl, M., Sheldahl, L.C., Park, M., Miller, J.R., and Moon, R.T. (2000). The Wnt/Ca2+ pathway: a new vertebrate Wnt signaling pathway takes shape. Trends Genet 16, 279-283.

Kuiper, G.G., and Brinkmann, A.O. (1995). Phosphotryptic peptide analysis of the human androgen receptor: detection of a hormone-induced phosphopeptide. Biochemistry 34, 1851-1857.

Kuiper, G.G., de Ruiter, P.E., Grootegoed, J.A., and Brinkmann, A.O. (1991). Synthesis and post-translational modification of the androgen receptor in LNCaP cells. Mol Cell Endocrinol *80*, 65-73.

Kuo, G.H., Prouty, C., DeAngelis, A., Shen, L., O'Neill, D.J., Shah, C., Connolly, P.J., Murray, W.V., Conway, B.R., Cheung, P., Westover, L., Xu, J.Z., Look, R.A., Demarest, K.T., Emanuel, S., Middleton, S.A., Jolliffe, L., Beavers, M.P., and Chen, X. (2003). Synthesis and discovery of macrocyclic polyoxygenated bis-7-

azaindolylmaleimides as a novel series of potent and highly selective glycogen synthase kinase-3beta inhibitors. J Med Chem 46, 4021-4031.

Kusano, S., and Raab-Traub, N. (2002). I-mfa domain proteins interact with Axin and affect its regulation of the Wnt and c-Jun N-terminal kinase signaling pathways. Mol Cell Biol 22, 6393-6405.

Kypta, R.M., Su, H., and Reichardt, L.F. (1996). Association between a transmembrane protein tyrosine phosphatase and the cadherin-catenin complex. J Cell Biol 134, 1519-1529.

Laitinen, S., Karhu, R., Sawyers, C.L., Vessella, R.L., and Visakorpi, T. (2002). Chromosomal aberrations in prostate cancer xenografts detected by comparative genomic hybridization. Genes Chromosomes Cancer *35*, 66-73.

Lamlum, H., Ilyas, M., Rowan, A., Clark, S., Johnson, V., Bell, J., Frayling, I., Efstathiou, J., Pack, K., Payne, S., Roylance, R., Gorman, P., Sheer, D., Neale, K., Phillips, R., Talbot, I., Bodmer, W., and Tomlinson, I. (1999). The type of somatic mutation at APC in familial adenomatous polyposis is determined by the site of the germline mutation: a new facet to Knudson's 'two-hit' hypothesis. Nat Med *5*, 1071-1075.

Laurent, M.N., Blitz, I.L., Hashimoto, C., Rothbacher, U., and Cho, K.W. (1997). The Xenopus homeobox gene twin mediates Wnt induction of goosecoid in establishment of Spemann's organizer. Development *124*, 4905-4916.

Le Drean, Y., Mincheneau, N., Le Goff, P., and Michel, D. (2002). Potentiation of glucocorticoid receptor transcriptional activity by sumoylation. Endocrinology *143*, 3482-3489.

Le Marchand, L., Kolonel, L.N., Wilkens, L.R., Myers, B.C., and Hirohata, T. (1994). Animal fat consumption and prostate cancer: a prospective study in Hawaii. Epidemiology 5, 276-282.

Leclerc, S., Garnier, M., Hoessel, R., Marko, D., Bibb, J.A., Snyder, G.L., Greengard, P., Biernat, J., Wu, Y.Z., Mandelkow, E.M., Eisenbrand, G., and Meijer, L. (2001). Indirubins inhibit glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta and CDK5/p25, two protein kinases involved in abnormal tau phosphorylation in Alzheimer's disease. A property common to most cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors? J Biol Chem 276, 251-260.

Lee, E., Salic, A., and Kirschner, M.W. (2001). Physiological regulation of [beta]catenin stability by Tcf3 and CK1epsilon. J Cell Biol 154, 983-993.

Lee, Y.F., Shyr, C.R., Thin, T.H., Lin, W.J., and Chang, C. (1999). Convergence of two repressors through heterodimer formation of androgen receptor and testicular orphan receptor-4: a unique signaling pathway in the steroid receptor superfamily. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *96*, 14724-14729.

Li, L., Yuan, H., Weaver, C.D., Mao, J., Farr, G.H., 3rd, Sussman, D.J., Jonkers, J., Kimelman, D., and Wu, D. (1999). Axin and Frat1 interact with dvl and GSK, bridging Dvl to GSK in Wnt-mediated regulation of LEF-1. Embo J *18*, 4233-4240.

Li, M., Wang, X., Meintzer, M.K., Laessig, T., Birnbaum, M.J., and Heidenreich, K.A. (2000). Cyclic AMP promotes neuronal survival by phosphorylation of glycogen synthase kinase 3beta. Mol Cell Biol *20*, 9356-9363.

Li, P., Nicosia, S.V., and Bai, W. (2001). Antagonism between PTEN/MMAC1/TEP-1 and androgen receptor in growth and apoptosis of prostatic cancer cells. J Biol Chem 276, 20444-20450.

Liao, X., Thrasher, J.B., Holzbeierlein, J., Stanley, S., and Li, B. (2004). Glycogen synthase kinase-3beta activity is required for androgen-stimulated gene expression in prostate cancer. Endocrinology *145*, 2941-2949.

Liao, X., Thrasher, J.B., Pelling, J., Holzbeierlein, J., Sang, Q.X., and Li, B. (2003). Androgen stimulates matrix metalloproteinase-2 expression in human prostate cancer. Endocrinology 144, 1656-1663.

Lin, H.K., Altuwaijri, S., Lin, W.J., Kan, P.Y., Collins, L.L., and Chang, C. (2002). Proteasome activity is required for androgen receptor transcriptional activity via regulation of androgen receptor nuclear translocation and interaction with coregulators in prostate cancer cells. J Biol Chem 277, 36570-36576.

Lin, H.K., Yeh, S., Kang, H.Y., and Chang, C. (2001). Akt suppresses androgeninduced apoptosis by phosphorylating and inhibiting androgen receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *98*, 7200-7205.

Liu, C., Li, Y., Semenov, M., Han, C., Baeg, G.H., Tan, Y., Zhang, Z., Lin, X., and He, X. (2002). Control of beta-catenin phosphorylation/degradation by a dual-kinase mechanism. Cell *108*, 837-847.

Liu, J., Stevens, J., Rote, C.A., Yost, H.J., Hu, Y., Neufeld, K.L., White, R.L., and Matsunami, N. (2001). Siah-1 mediates a novel beta-catenin degradation pathway linking p53 to the adenomatous polyposis coli protein. Mol Cell 7, 927-936.

Lochhead, P.A., Coghlan, M., Rice, S.Q., and Sutherland, C. (2001). Inhibition of GSK-3 selectively reduces glucose-6-phosphatase and phosphotase and phosphoenolypyruvate carboxykinase gene expression. Diabetes *50*, 937-946.

Lustig, B., Jerchow, B., Sachs, M., Weiler, S., Pietsch, T., Karsten, U., van de Wetering, M., Clevers, H., Schlag, P.M., Birchmeier, W., and Behrens, J. (2002). Negative feedback loop of Wnt signaling through upregulation of conductin/axin2 in colorectal and liver tumors. Mol Cell Biol *22*, 1184-1193.

Mandelkow, E.M., Drewes, G., Biernat, J., Gustke, N., Van Lint, J., Vandenheede, J.R., and Mandelkow, E. (1992). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 and the Alzheimer-like state of microtubule-associated protein tau. FEBS Lett *314*, 315-321.

Manin, M., Baron, S., Goossens, K., Beaudoin, C., Jean, C., Veyssiere, G., Verhoeven, G., and Morel, L. (2002). Androgen receptor expression is regulated by the phosphoinositide 3-kinase/Akt pathway in normal and tumoral epithelial cells. Biochem J *366*, 729-736.

Mann, B., Gelos, M., Siedow, A., Hanski, M.L., Gratchev, A., Ilyas, M., Bodmer, W.F., Moyer, M.P., Riecken, E.O., Buhr, H.J., and Hanski, C. (1999). Target genes of beta-catenin-T cell-factor/lymphoid-enhancer-factor signaling in human colorectal carcinomas. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *96*, 1603-1608.

Mao, B., Wu, W., Li, Y., Hoppe, D., Stannek, P., Glinka, A., and Niehrs, C. (2001a). LDL-receptor-related protein 6 is a receptor for Dickkopf proteins. Nature *411*, 321-325.

Mao, J., Wang, J., Liu, B., Pan, W., Farr, G.H., 3rd, Flynn, C., Yuan, H., Takada, S., Kimelman, D., Li, L., and Wu, D. (2001b). Low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein-5 binds to Axin and regulates the canonical Wnt signaling pathway. Mol Cell *7*, 801-809.

Marcelli, M., Ittmann, M., Mariani, S., Sutherland, R., Nigam, R., Murthy, L., Zhao, Y., DiConcini, D., Puxeddu, E., Esen, A., Eastham, J., Weigel, N.L., and Lamb, D.J. (2000). Androgen receptor mutations in prostate cancer. Cancer Res *60*, 944-949.

Martinez, A., Alonso, M., Castro, A., Perez, C., and Moreno, F.J. (2002). First non-ATP competitive glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta (GSK-3beta) inhibitors: thiadiazolidinones (TDZD) as potential drugs for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. J Med Chem 45, 1292-1299.

Maruyama, R., Toyooka, S., Toyooka, K.O., Virmani, A.K., Zochbauer-Muller, S., Farinas, A.J., Minna, J.D., McConnell, J., Frenkel, E.P., and Gazdar, A.F. (2002). Aberrant promoter methylation profile of prostate cancers and its relationship to clinicopathological features. Clin Cancer Res *8*, 514-519.

Matsumine, A., Ogai, A., Senda, T., Okumura, N., Satoh, K., Baeg, G.H., Kawahara, T., Kobayashi, S., Okada, M., Toyoshima, K., and Akiyama, T. (1996). Binding of APC to the human homolog of the Drosophila discs large tumor suppressor protein. Science 272, 1020-1023.

Matsuzawa, S.I., and Reed, J.C. (2001). Siah-1, SIP, and Ebi collaborate in a novel pathway for beta-catenin degradation linked to p53 responses. Mol Cell 7, 915-926.

Mazor, M., Kawano, Y., Zhu, H., Waxman, J., and Kypta, R.M. (2004). Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 represses androgen receptor activity and prostate cancer cell growth. Oncogene 23, 7882-7892.

McDonald, S., Brive, L., Agus, D.B., Scher, H.I., and Ely, K.R. (2000). Ligand responsiveness in human prostate cancer: structural analysis of mutant androgen receptors from LNCaP and CWR22 tumors. Cancer Res *60*, 2317-2322.

McNeal, J.E. (1972). The prostate and prostatic urethra: a morphologic synthesis. J Urol 107, 1008-1016.

Medema, R.H., Kops, G.J., Bos, J.L., and Burgering, B.M. (2000). AFX-like Forkhead transcription factors mediate cell-cycle regulation by Ras and PKB through p27kip1. Nature 404, 782-787.

Meijer, L., Skaltsounis, A.L., Magiatis, P., Polychronopoulos, P., Knockaert, M., Leost, M., Ryan, X.P., Vonica, C.A., Brivanlou, A., Dajani, R., Crovace, C., Tarricone, C., Musacchio, A., Roe, S.M., Pearl, L., and Greengard, P. (2003). GSK-3-selective inhibitors derived from Tyrian purple indirubins. Chem Biol 10, 1255-1266.

Mendel, D.B., Orti, E., Smith, L.I., Bodwell, J., and Munck, A. (1990). Evidence for a glucocorticoid receptor cycle and nuclear dephosphorylation of the steroid-binding protein. Prog Clin Biol Res *322*, 97-117.

Mickey, D.D., Stone, K.R., Wunderli, H., Mickey, G.H., Vollmer, R.T., and Paulson, D.F. (1977). Heterotransplantation of a human prostatic adenocarcinoma cell line in nude mice. Cancer Res *37*, 4049-4058.

Miller, G.J. (1990). New developments in grading prostate cancer. Semin Urol 8, 9-18.

Miller, J.R. (2002). The Wnts. Genome Biol 3, REVIEWS3001.

Miller, J.R., Hocking, A.M., Brown, J.D., and Moon, R.T. (1999). Mechanism and function of signal transduction by the Wnt/beta-catenin and Wnt/Ca2+ pathways. Oncogene 18, 7860-7872.

Mimori-Kiyosue, Y., Shiina, N., and Tsukita, S. (2000). Adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) protein moves along microtubules and concentrates at their growing ends in epithelial cells. J Cell Biol *148*, 505-518.

Mirabelli-Primdahl, L., Gryfe, R., Kim, H., Millar, A., Luceri, C., Dale, D., Holowaty, E., Bapat, B., Gallinger, S., and Redston, M. (1999). Beta-catenin mutations are specific for colorectal carcinomas with microsatellite instability but occur in endometrial carcinomas irrespective of mutator pathway. Cancer Res 59, 3346-3351.

Miyaki, M., Iijima, T., Kimura, J., Yasuno, M., Mori, T., Hayashi, Y., Koike, M., Shitara, N., Iwama, T., and Kuroki, T. (1999). Frequent mutation of beta-catenin and APC genes in primary colorectal tumors from patients with hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer. Cancer Res *59*, 4506-4509.

Miyamoto, H., Yeh, S., Wilding, G., and Chang, C. (1998). Promotion of agonist activity of antiandrogens by the androgen receptor coactivator, ARA70, in human prostate cancer DU145 cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95, 7379-7384.

Moeller, H., Oettling, G., Fiederer, B., and Brugmann, G. (1983). A quantitative assay for the cytoplasmic androgen receptor using [3H]dihydrotestosterone in the presence of NAD+-nucleosidase. Acta Endocrinol (Copenh) *102*, 153-160.

Morin, P.J. (1999). beta-catenin signaling and cancer. Bioessays 21, 1021-1030.

Mulholland, D.J., Cheng, H., Reid, K., Rennie, P.S., and Nelson, C.C. (2002). The androgen receptor can promote beta-catenin nuclear translocation independently of adenomatous polyposis coli. J Biol Chem 277, 17933-17943.

Mulholland, D.J., Read, J.T., Rennie, P.S., Cox, M.E., and Nelson, C.C. (2003). Functional localization and competition between the androgen receptor and T-cell factor for nuclear beta-catenin: a means for inhibition of the Tcf signaling axis. Oncogene 22, 5602-5613.

Munoz-Montano, J.R., Moreno, F.J., Avila, J., and Diaz-Nido, J. (1997). Lithium inhibits Alzheimer's disease-like tau protein phosphorylation in neurons. FEBS Lett 411, 183-188.

Muscat, G.E., Burke, L.J., and Downes, M. (1998). The corepressor N-CoR and its variants RIP13a and RIP13Delta1 directly interact with the basal transcription factors TFIIB, TAFII32 and TAFII70. Nucleic Acids Res *26*, 2899-2907.

Nagabhushan, M., Miller, C.M., Pretlow, T.P., Giaconia, J.M., Edgehouse, N.L., Schwartz, S., Kung, H.J., de Vere White, R.W., Gumerlock, P.H., Resnick, M.I., Amini, S.B., and Pretlow, T.G. (1996). CWR22: the first human prostate cancer xenograft with strongly androgen-dependent and relapsed strains both in vivo and in soft agar. Cancer Res 56, 3042-3046.

Nathke, I.S., Adams, C.L., Polakis, P., Sellin, J.H., and Nelson, W.J. (1996). The adenomatous polyposis coli tumor suppressor protein localizes to plasma membrane sites involved in active cell migration. J Cell Biol *134*, 165-179.

Nawaz, Z., and O'Malley, B.W. (2004). Urban renewal in the nucleus: is protein turnover by proteasomes absolutely required for nuclear receptor-regulated transcription? Mol Endocrinol 18, 493-499.

Nhieu, J.T., Renard, C.A., Wei, Y., Cherqui, D., Zafrani, E.S., and Buendia, M.A. (1999). Nuclear accumulation of mutated beta-catenin in hepatocellular carcinoma is associated with increased cell proliferation. Am J Pathol *155*, 703-710.

Nikolakaki, E., Coffer, P.J., Hemelsoet, R., Woodgett, J.R., and Defize, L.H. (1993). Glycogen synthase kinase 3 phosphorylates Jun family members in vitro and negatively regulates their transactivating potential in intact cells. Oncogene *8*, 833-840.

Novak, A., Hsu, S.C., Leung-Hagesteijn, C., Radeva, G., Papkoff, J., Montesano, R., Roskelley, C., Grosschedl, R., and Dedhar, S. (1998). Cell adhesion and the integrinlinked kinase regulate the LEF-1 and beta-catenin signaling pathways. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *95*, 4374-4379.
Ogryzko, V.V., Schiltz, R.L., Russanova, V., Howard, B.H., and Nakatani, Y. (1996). The transcriptional coactivators p300 and CBP are histone acetyltransferases. Cell 87, 953-959.

Oren, M., Damalas, A., Gottlieb, T., Michael, D., Taplick, J., Leal, J.F., Maya, R., Moas, M., Seger, R., Taya, Y., and Ben-Ze'ev, A. (2002). Regulation of p53: intricate loops and delicate balances. Biochem Pharmacol *64*, 865-871.

Orford, K., Crockett, C., Jensen, J.P., Weissman, A.M., and Byers, S.W. (1997). Serine phosphorylation-regulated ubiquitination and degradation of beta-catenin. J Biol Chem 272, 24735-24738.

Orme, M.H., Giannini, A.L., Vivanco, M.D., and Kypta, R.M. (2003). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 and Axin function in a beta-catenin-independent pathway that regulates neurite outgrowth in neuroblastoma cells. Mol Cell Neurosci 24, 673-686.

Ozanne, D.M., Brady, M.E., Cook, S., Gaughan, L., Neal, D.E., and Robson, C.N. (2000). Androgen receptor nuclear translocation is facilitated by the f-actin cross-linking protein filamin. Mol Endocrinol 14, 1618-1626.

Palmer, H.G., Gonzalez-Sancho, J.M., Espada, J., Berciano, M.T., Puig, I., Baulida, J., Quintanilla, M., Cano, A., de Herreros, A.G., Lafarga, M., and Munoz, A. (2001). Vitamin D(3) promotes the differentiation of colon carcinoma cells by the induction of E-cadherin and the inhibition of beta-catenin signaling. J Cell Biol *154*, 369-387.

Panet-Raymond, V., Gottlieb, B., Beitel, L.K., Pinsky, L., and Trifiro, M.A. (2000). Interactions between androgen and estrogen receptors and the effects on their transactivational properties. Mol Cell Endocrinol *167*, 139-150.

Papasozomenos, S., and Shanavas, A. (2002). Testosterone prevents the heat shockinduced overactivation of glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta but not of cyclindependent kinase 5 and c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase and concomitantly abolishes hyperphosphorylation of tau: implications for Alzheimer's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99, 1140-1145.

Park, W.S., Oh, R.R., Park, J.Y., Lee, S.H., Shin, M.S., Kim, Y.S., Kim, S.Y., Lee, H.K., Kim, P.J., Oh, S.T., Yoo, N.J., and Lee, J.Y. (1999). Frequent somatic mutations of the beta-catenin gene in intestinal-type gastric cancer. Cancer Res 59, 4257-4260.

Parkin, D.M., Bray, F., Ferlay, J., and Pisani, P. (2005). Global cancer statistics, 2002. CA Cancer J Clin 55, 74-108.

Pawlowski, J.E., Ertel, J.R., Allen, M.P., Xu, M., Butler, C., Wilson, E.M., and Wierman, M.E. (2002). Liganded androgen receptor interaction with beta-catenin: nuclear co-localization and modulation of transcriptional activity in neuronal cells. J Biol Chem 277, 20702-20710.

Paz, A., Lindner, A., Zisman, A., and Siegel, Y. (1997). A genetic sequence change in the 3'-noncoding region of the androgen receptor gene in prostate carcinoma. Eur Urol 31, 209-215.

Peehl, D.M., Skowronski, R.J., Leung, G.K., Wong, S.T., Stamey, T.A., and Feldman, D. (1994). Antiproliferative effects of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 on primary cultures of human prostatic cells. Cancer Res 54, 805-810.

Peifer, M., and Polakis, P. (2000). Wnt signaling in oncogenesis and embryogenesis--a look outside the nucleus. Science 287, 1606-1609.

Persad, S., Attwell, S., Gray, V., Delcommenne, M., Troussard, A., Sanghera, J., and Dedhar, S. (2000). Inhibition of integrin-linked kinase (ILK) suppresses activation of protein kinase B/Akt and induces cell cycle arrest and apoptosis of PTEN-mutant prostate cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *97*, 3207-3212.

Pinson, K.I., Brennan, J., Monkley, S., Avery, B.J., and Skarnes, W.C. (2000). An LDL-receptor-related protein mediates Wnt signalling in mice. Nature 407, 535-538. Polakis, P. (2000). Wnt signaling and cancer. Genes Dev 14, 1837-1851.

Poletti, A., and Weigel, N.L. (1993). Identification of a hormone-dependent phosphorylation site adjacent to the DNA-binding domain of the chicken progesterone receptor. Mol Endocrinol 7, 241-246.

Poukka, H., Karvonen, U., Janne, O.A., and Palvimo, J.J. (2000). Covalent modification of the androgen receptor by small ubiquitin-like modifier 1 (SUMO-1). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97, 14145-14150.

Pousette, A., Carlstrom, K., Henriksson, P., Grande, M., and Stege, R. (1997). Use of a hormone-sensitive (LNCaP) and a hormone-resistant (LNCaP-r) cell line in prostate cancer research. Prostate *31*, 198-203.

Pratt, W.B., and Toft, D.O. (1997). Steroid receptor interactions with heat shock protein and immunophilin chaperones. Endocr Rev 18, 306-360.

Price, M.A., and Kalderon, D. (2002). Proteolysis of the Hedgehog signaling effector Cubitus interruptus requires phosphorylation by Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3 and Casein Kinase 1. Cell *108*, 823-835.

Reifsnyder, C., Lowell, J., Clarke, A., and Pillus, L. (1996). Yeast SAS silencing genes and human genes associated with AML and HIV-1 Tat interactions are homologous with acetyltransferases. Nat Genet 14, 42-49.

Reya, T., Duncan, A.W., Ailles, L., Domen, J., Scherer, D.C., Willert, K., Hintz, L., Nusse, R., and Weissman, I.L. (2003). A role for Wnt signalling in self-renewal of haematopoietic stem cells. Nature 423, 409-414.

Riegman, P.H., Vlietstra, R.J., Klaassen, P., van der Korput, J.A., Geurts van Kessel, A., Romijn, J.C., and Trapman, J. (1989). The prostate-specific antigen gene and the

human glandular kallikrein-1 gene are tandemly located on chromosome 19. FEBS Lett 247, 123-126.

Rimm, D.L., Caca, K., Hu, G., Harrison, F.B., and Fearon, E.R. (1999). Frequent nuclear/cytoplasmic localization of beta-catenin without exon 3 mutations in malignant melanoma. Am J Pathol 154, 325-329.

Ring, D.B., Johnson, K.W., Henriksen, E.J., Nuss, J.M., Goff, D., Kinnick, T.R., Ma, S.T., Reeder, J.W., Samuels, I., Slabiak, T., Wagman, A.S., Hammond, M.E., and Harrison, S.D. (2003). Selective glycogen synthase kinase 3 inhibitors potentiate insulin activation of glucose transport and utilization in vitro and in vivo. Diabetes *52*, 588-595.

Robinson S, M.K, (2002). Congenital adrenal hyperplasia. In: Endocrinology Specialist Handbook, London: Martin Dunitz.

Roose, J., Huls, G., van Beest, M., Moerer, P., van der Horn, K., Goldschmeding, R., Logtenberg, T., and Clevers, H. (1999). Synergy between tumor suppressor APC and the beta-catenin-Tcf4 target Tcf1. Science 285, 1923-1926.

Rosin-Arbesfeld, R., Townsley, F., and Bienz, M. (2000). The APC tumour suppressor has a nuclear export function. Nature *406*, 1009-1012.

Ross, S.E., Erickson, R.L., Hemati, N., and MacDougald, O.A. (1999). Glycogen synthase kinase 3 is an insulin-regulated C/EBPalpha kinase. Mol Cell Biol 19, 8433-8441.

Ross, S.E., Hemati, N., Longo, K.A., Bennett, C.N., Lucas, P.C., Erickson, R.L., and MacDougald, O.A. (2000). Inhibition of adipogenesis by Wnt signaling. Science 289, 950-953.

Ryves, W.J., Dajani, R., Pearl, L., and Harwood, A.J. (2002). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 inhibition by lithium and beryllium suggests the presence of two magnesium binding sites. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 290, 967-972.

Ryves, W.J., and Harwood, A.J. (2001). Lithium inhibits glycogen synthase kinase-3 by competition for magnesium. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 280, 720-725.

Salas, T.R., Kim, J., Vakar-Lopez, F., Sabichi, A.L., Troncoso, P., Jenster, G., Kikuchi, A., Chen, S.Y., Shemshedini, L., Suraokar, M., Logothetis, C.J., DiGiovanni, J., Lippman, S.M., and Menter, D.G. (2004). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta is involved in the phosphorylation and suppression of androgen receptor activity. J Biol Chem 279, 19191-19200.

Salas, T.R., Reddy, S.A., Clifford, J.L., Davis, R.J., Kikuchi, A., Lippman, S.M., and Menter, D.G. (2003). Alleviating the suppression of glycogen synthase kinase-3beta by Akt leads to the phosphorylation of cAMP-response element-binding protein and its transactivation in intact cell nuclei. J Biol Chem 278, 41338-41346.

Sambrook, J.a.R., D. (2001). Molecular cloning. In: A laboratory manual: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.

Samowitz, W.S., Powers, M.D., Spirio, L.N., Nollet, F., van Roy, F., and Slattery, M.L. (1999). Beta-catenin mutations are more frequent in small colorectal adenomas than in larger adenomas and invasive carcinomas. Cancer Res 59, 1442-1444.

Sato, N., Meijer, L., Skaltsounis, L., Greengard, P., and Brivanlou, A.H. (2004). Maintenance of pluripotency in human and mouse embryonic stem cells through activation of Wnt signaling by a pharmacological GSK-3-specific inhibitor. Nat Med *10*, 55-63.

Satoh, S., Daigo, Y., Furukawa, Y., Kato, T., Miwa, N., Nishiwaki, T., Kawasoe, T., Ishiguro, H., Fujita, M., Tokino, T., Sasaki, Y., Imaoka, S., Murata, M., Shimano, T., Yamaoka, Y., and Nakamura, Y. (2000). AXIN1 mutations in hepatocellular carcinomas, and growth suppression in cancer cells by virus-mediated transfer of AXIN1. Nat Genet 24, 245-250.

Sayas, C.L., Avila, J., and Wandosell, F. (2002). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 is activated in neuronal cells by Galpha12 and Galpha13 by Rho-independent and Rho-dependent mechanisms. J Neurosci *22*, 6863-6875.

Schultz, C., Link, A., Leost, M., Zaharevitz, D.W., Gussio, R., Sausville, E.A., Meijer, L., and Kunick, C. (1999). Paullones, a series of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors: synthesis, evaluation of CDK1/cyclin B inhibition, and in vitro antitumor activity. J Med Chem 42, 2909-2919.

Schwarz-Romond, T., Asbrand, C., Bakkers, J., Kuhl, M., Schaeffer, H.J., Huelsken, J., Behrens, J., Hammerschmidt, M., and Birchmeier, W. (2002). The ankyrin repeat protein Diversin recruits Casein kinase Iepsilon to the beta-catenin degradation complex and acts in both canonical Wnt and Wnt/JNK signaling. Genes Dev 16, 2073-2084.

Sears, R., Nuckolls, F., Haura, E., Taya, Y., Tamai, K., and Nevins, J.R. (2000). Multiple Ras-dependent phosphorylation pathways regulate Myc protein stability. Genes Dev 14, 2501-2514.

Seidensticker, M.J., and Behrens, J. (2000). Biochemical interactions in the wnt pathway. Biochim Biophys Acta 1495, 168-182.

Shao, J., Sheng, H., DuBois, R.N., and Beauchamp, R.D. (2000). Oncogenic Rasmediated cell growth arrest and apoptosis are associated with increased ubiquitindependent cyclin D1 degradation. J Biol Chem 275, 22916-22924.

Sharma, M., Chuang, W.W., and Sun, Z. (2002). Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt stimulates androgen pathway through GSK3beta inhibition and nuclear beta-catenin accumulation. J Biol Chem 277, 30935-30941.

Sheflin, L., Keegan, B., Zhang, W., and Spaulding, S.W. (2000). Inhibiting proteasomes in human HepG2 and LNCaP cells increases endogenous androgen receptor levels. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 276, 144-150.

Shibamoto, S., Higano, K., Takada, R., Ito, F., Takeichi, M., and Takada, S. (1998). Cytoskeletal reorganization by soluble Wnt-3a protein signalling. Genes Cells 3, 659-670.

Shou, J., Ali-Osman, F., Multani, A.S., Pathak, S., Fedi, P., and Srivenugopal, K.S. (2002). Human Dkk-1, a gene encoding a Wnt antagonist, responds to DNA damage and its overexpression sensitizes brain tumor cells to apoptosis following alkylation damage of DNA. Oncogene *21*, 878-889.

Shtutman, M., Zhurinsky, J., Simcha, I., Albanese, C., D'Amico, M., Pestell, R., and Ben-Ze'ev, A. (1999). The cyclin D1 gene is a target of the beta-catenin/LEF-1 pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *96*, 5522-5527.

Small, E.J., and Srinivas, S. (1995). The antiandrogen withdrawal syndrome. Experience in a large cohort of unselected patients with advanced prostate cancer. Cancer 76, 1428-1434.

Smalley, M.J., Sara, E., Paterson, H., Naylor, S., Cook, D., Jayatilake, H., Fryer, L.G., Hutchinson, L., Fry, M.J., and Dale, T.C. (1999). Interaction of axin and Dvl-2 proteins regulates Dvl-2-stimulated TCF-dependent transcription. Embo J *18*, 2823-2835.

Smith, D.G., Buffet, M., Fenwick, A.E., Haigh, D., Ife, R.J., Saunders, M., Slingsby, B.P., Stacey, R., and Ward, R.W. (2001). 3-Anilino-4-arylmaleimides: potent and selective inhibitors of glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3). Bioorg Med Chem Lett *11*, 635-639.

Smith, K.J., Levy, D.B., Maupin, P., Pollard, T.D., Vogelstein, B., and Kinzler, K.W. (1994). Wild-type but not mutant APC associates with the microtubule cytoskeleton. Cancer Res *54*, 3672-3675.

Smits, R., Kielman, M.F., Breukel, C., Zurcher, C., Neufeld, K., Jagmohan-Changur, S., Hofland, N., van Dijk, J., White, R., Edelmann, W., Kucherlapati, R., Khan, P.M., and Fodde, R. (1999). Apc1638T: a mouse model delineating critical domains of the adenomatous polyposis coli protein involved in tumorigenesis and development. Genes Dev 13, 1309-1321.

Song, D.H., Sussman, D.J., and Seldin, D.C. (2000). Endogenous protein kinase CK2 participates in Wnt signaling in mammary epithelial cells. J Biol Chem *275*, 23790-23797.

Song, L.N., Herrell, R., Byers, S., Shah, S., Wilson, E.M., and Gelmann, E.P. (2003). Beta-catenin binds to the activation function 2 region of the androgen receptor and modulates the effects of the N-terminal domain and TIF2 on ligand-dependent transcription. Mol Cell Biol 23, 1674-1687.

Sparks, A.B., Morin, P.J., Vogelstein, B., and Kinzler, K.W. (1998). Mutational analysis of the APC/beta-catenin/Tcf pathway in colorectal cancer. Cancer Res 58, 1130-1134.

Spencer, T.E., Jenster, G., Burcin, M.M., Allis, C.D., Zhou, J., Mizzen, C.A., McKenna, N.J., Onate, S.A., Tsai, S.Y., Tsai, M.J., and O'Malley, B.W. (1997). Steroid receptor coactivator-1 is a histone acetyltransferase. Nature *389*, 194-198.

Sperber, B.R., Leight, S., Goedert, M., and Lee, V.M. (1995). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta phosphorylates tau protein at multiple sites in intact cells. Neurosci Lett 197, 149-153.

Sramkoski, R.M., Pretlow, T.G., 2nd, Giaconia, J.M., Pretlow, T.P., Schwartz, S., Sy, M.S., Marengo, S.R., Rhim, J.S., Zhang, D., and Jacobberger, J.W. (1999). A new human prostate carcinoma cell line, 22Rv1. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim *35*, 403-409.

Stambolic, V., Ruel, L., and Woodgett, J.R. (1996). Lithium inhibits glycogen synthase kinase-3 activity and mimics wingless signalling in intact cells. Curr Biol 6, 1664-1668.

Stambolic, V., Suzuki, A., de la Pompa, J.L., Brothers, G.M., Mirtsos, C., Sasaki, T., Ruland, J., Penninger, J.M., Siderovski, D.P., and Mak, T.W. (1998). Negative regulation of PKB/Akt-dependent cell survival by the tumor suppressor PTEN. Cell *95*, 29-39.

Stone, K.R., Mickey, D.D., Wunderli, H., Mickey, G.H., and Paulson, D.F. (1978). Isolation of a human prostate carcinoma cell line (DU 145). Int J Cancer 21, 274-281.

Su, L.K., Burrell, M., Hill, D.E., Gyuris, J., Brent, R., Wiltshire, R., Trent, J., Vogelstein, B., and Kinzler, K.W. (1995). APC binds to the novel protein EB1. Cancer Res 55, 2972-2977.

Sun, H., Lesche, R., Li, D.M., Liliental, J., Zhang, H., Gao, J., Gavrilova, N., Mueller, B., Liu, X., and Wu, H. (1999). PTEN modulates cell cycle progression and cell survival by regulating phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5,-trisphosphate and Akt/protein kinase B signaling pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *96*, 6199-6204.

Suzuki, H., Akakura, K., Komiya, A., Aida, S., Akimoto, S., and Shimazaki, J. (1996). Codon 877 mutation in the androgen receptor gene in advanced prostate cancer: relation to antiandrogen withdrawal syndrome. Prostate 29, 153-158.

Tago, K., Nakamura, T., Nishita, M., Hyodo, J., Nagai, S., Murata, Y., Adachi, S., Ohwada, S., Morishita, Y., Shibuya, H., and Akiyama, T. (2000). Inhibition of Wnt signaling by ICAT, a novel beta-catenin-interacting protein. Genes Dev 14, 1741-1749.

Takahashi, H., Furusato, M., Allsbrook, W.C., Jr., Nishii, H., Wakui, S., Barrett, J.C., and Boyd, J. (1995). Prevalence of androgen receptor gene mutations in latent prostatic carcinomas from Japanese men. Cancer Res 55, 1621-1624.

Takemaru, K., Yamaguchi, S., Lee, Y.S., Zhang, Y., Carthew, R.W., and Moon, R.T. (2003). Chibby, a nuclear beta-catenin-associated antagonist of the Wnt/Wingless pathway. Nature *422*, 905-909.

Tamai, K., Semenov, M., Kato, Y., Spokony, R., Liu, C., Katsuyama, Y., Hess, F., Saint-Jeannet, J.P., and He, X. (2000). LDL-receptor-related proteins in Wnt signal transduction. Nature 407, 530-535.

Tan, J., Sharief, Y., Hamil, K.G., Gregory, C.W., Zang, D.Y., Sar, M., Gumerlock, P.H., deVere White, R.W., Pretlow, T.G., Harris, S.E., Wilson, E.M., Mohler, J.L., and French, F.S. (1997). Dehydroepiandrosterone activates mutant androgen receptors expressed in the androgen-dependent human prostate cancer xenograft CWR22 and LNCaP cells. Mol Endocrinol *11*, 450-459.

Tanji, C., Yamamoto, H., Yorioka, N., Kohno, N., Kikuchi, K., and Kikuchi, A. (2002). A-kinase anchoring protein AKAP220 binds to glycogen synthase kinase-3beta (GSK-3beta) and mediates protein kinase A-dependent inhibition of GSK-3beta. J Biol Chem 277, 36955-36961.

Tannapfel, A., and Wittekind, C. (2002). Genes involved in hepatocellular carcinoma: deregulation in cell cycling and apoptosis. Virchows Arch 440, 345-352.

Taplin, M.E., Bubley, G.J., Ko, Y.J., Small, E.J., Upton, M., Rajeshkumar, B., and Balk, S.P. (1999). Selection for androgen receptor mutations in prostate cancers treated with androgen antagonist. Cancer Res *59*, 2511-2515.

Tepper, C.G., Boucher, D.L., Ryan, P.E., Ma, A.H., Xia, L., Lee, L.F., Pretlow, T.G., and Kung, H.J. (2002). Characterization of a novel androgen receptor mutation in a relapsed CWR22 prostate cancer xenograft and cell line. Cancer Res *62*, 6606-6614.

Tetsu, O., and McCormick, F. (1999). Beta-catenin regulates expression of cyclin D1 in colon carcinoma cells. Nature *398*, 422-426.

Thomas, G.M., Frame, S., Goedert, M., Nathke, I., Polakis, P., and Cohen, P. (1999). A GSK3-binding peptide from FRAT1 selectively inhibits the GSK3-catalysed phosphorylation of axin and beta-catenin. FEBS Lett 458, 247-251.

Tian, S., Poukka, H., Palvimo, J.J., and Janne, O.A. (2002). Small ubiquitin-related modifier-1 (SUMO-1) modification of the glucocorticoid receptor. Biochem J 367, 907-911.

To, K.F., Chan, M.W., Leung, W.K., Yu, J., Tong, J.H., Lee, T.L., Chan, F.K., and Sung, J.J. (2001). Alterations of frizzled (FzE3) and secreted frizzled related protein (hsFRP) expression in gastric cancer. Life Sci 70, 483-489.

Torres, M.A., Yang-Snyder, J.A., Purcell, S.M., DeMarais, A.A., McGrew, L.L., and Moon, R.T. (1996). Activities of the Wnt-1 class of secreted signaling factors are antagonized by the Wnt-5A class and by a dominant negative cadherin in early Xenopus development. J Cell Biol *133*, 1123-1137.

Townsley, F.M., Cliffe, A., and Bienz, M. (2004). Pygopus and Legless target Armadillo/beta-catenin to the nucleus to enable its transcriptional co-activator function. Nat Cell Biol *6*, 626-633.

Tricoli, J.V., Schoenfeldt, M., and Conley, B.A. (2004). Detection of prostate cancer and predicting progression: current and future diagnostic markers. Clin Cancer Res *10*, 3943-3953.

Truica, C.I., Byers, S., and Gelmann, E.P. (2000). Beta-catenin affects androgen receptor transcriptional activity and ligand specificity. Cancer Res *60*, 4709-4713.

Ueda, T., Bruchovsky, N., and Sadar, M.D. (2002). Activation of the androgen receptor N-terminal domain by interleukin-6 via MAPK and STAT3 signal transduction pathways. J Biol Chem 277, 7076-7085.

Umbas, R., Schalken, J.A., Aalders, T.W., Carter, B.S., Karthaus, H.F., Schaafsma, H.E., Debruyne, F.M., and Isaacs, W.B. (1992). Expression of the cellular adhesion molecule E-cadherin is reduced or absent in high-grade prostate cancer. Cancer Res *52*, 5104-5109.

van de Wetering, M., Oving, I., Muncan, V., Pon Fong, M.T., Brantjes, H., van Leenen, D., Holstege, F.C., Brummelkamp, T.R., Agami, R., and Clevers, H. (2003). Specific inhibition of gene expression using a stably integrated, inducible small-interfering-RNA vector. EMBO Rep *4*, 609-615.

van Genderen, C., Okamura, R.M., Farinas, I., Quo, R.G., Parslow, T.G., Bruhn, L., and Grosschedl, R. (1994). Development of several organs that require inductive epithelial-mesenchymal interactions is impaired in LEF-1-deficient mice. Genes Dev *8*, 2691-2703.

van Laar, J.H., Berrevoets, C.A., Trapman, J., Zegers, N.D., and Brinkmann, A.O. (1991). Hormone-dependent androgen receptor phosphorylation is accompanied by receptor transformation in human lymph node carcinoma of the prostate cells. J Biol Chem *266*, 3734-3738.

van Laar, J.H., Bolt-de Vries, J., Zegers, N.D., Trapman, J., and Brinkmann, A.O. (1990). Androgen receptor heterogeneity and phosphorylation in human LNCaP cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *166*, 193-200.

van Leenders, G.J., and Schalken, J.A. (2001). Stem cell differentiation within the human prostate epithelium: implications for prostate carcinogenesis. BJU Int *88 Suppl 2*, 35-42; discussion 49-50.

van Noort, M., and Clevers, H. (2002). TCF transcription factors, mediators of Wntsignaling in development and cancer. Dev Biol 244, 1-8.

Veldscholte, J., Berrevoets, C.A., Brinkmann, A.O., Grootegoed, J.A., and Mulder, E. (1992a). Anti-androgens and the mutated androgen receptor of LNCaP cells: differential effects on binding affinity, heat-shock protein interaction, and transcription activation. Biochemistry *31*, 2393-2399.

Veldscholte, J., Berrevoets, C.A., Ris-Stalpers, C., Kuiper, G.G., Jenster, G., Trapman, J., Brinkmann, A.O., and Mulder, E. (1992b). The androgen receptor in LNCaP cells contains a mutation in the ligand binding domain which affects steroid

binding characteristics and response to antiandrogens. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 41, 665-669.

Veldscholte, J., Ris-Stalpers, C., Kuiper, G.G., Jenster, G., Berrevoets, C., Claassen, E., van Rooij, H.C., Trapman, J., Brinkmann, A.O., and Mulder, E. (1990). A mutation in the ligand binding domain of the androgen receptor of human LNCaP cells affects steroid binding characteristics and response to anti-androgens. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 173, 534-540.

Verras, M., Brown, J., Li, X., Nusse, R., and Sun, Z. (2004). Wnt3a growth factor induces androgen receptor-mediated transcription and enhances cell growth in human prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res *64*, 8860-8866.

Visakorpi, T., Hyytinen, E., Koivisto, P., Tanner, M., Keinanen, R., Palmberg, C., Palotie, A., Tammela, T., Isola, J., and Kallioniemi, O.P. (1995). In vivo amplification of the androgen receptor gene and progression of human prostate cancer. Nat Genet 9, 401-406.

Voeller, H.J., Truica, C.I., and Gelmann, E.P. (1998). Beta-catenin mutations in human prostate cancer. Cancer Res 58, 2520-2523.

Wainstein, M.A., He, F., Robinson, D., Kung, H.J., Schwartz, S., Giaconia, J.M., Edgehouse, N.L., Pretlow, T.P., Bodner, D.R., and Kursh, E.D. (1994). CWR22: androgen-dependent xenograft model derived from a primary human prostatic carcinoma. Cancer Res 54, 6049-6052.

Wang, L., Lin, H.K., Hu, Y.C., Xie, S., Yang, L., and Chang, C. (2004). Suppression of androgen receptor-mediated transactivation and cell growth by the glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta in prostate cells. J Biol Chem 279, 32444-32452.

Wang, L.G., Liu, X.M., Kreis, W., and Budman, D.R. (1999). Phosphorylation/dephosphorylation of androgen receptor as a determinant of androgen agonistic or antagonistic activity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 259, 21-28.

Wang, Q.M., Fiol, C.J., DePaoli-Roach, A.A., and Roach, P.J. (1994). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta is a dual specificity kinase differentially regulated by tyrosine and serine/threonine phosphorylation. J Biol Chem *269*, 14566-14574.

Watcharasit, P., Bijur, G.N., Zmijewski, J.W., Song, L., Zmijewska, A., Chen, X., Johnson, G.V., and Jope, R.S. (2002). Direct, activating interaction between glycogen synthase kinase-3beta and p53 after DNA damage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99, 7951-7955.

Webster, J.C., Jewell, C.M., Bodwell, J.E., Munck, A., Sar, M., and Cidlowski, J.A. (1997). Mouse glucocorticoid receptor phosphorylation status influences multiple functions of the receptor protein. J Biol Chem 272, 9287-9293.

Wehrli, M., Dougan, S.T., Caldwell, K., O'Keefe, L., Schwartz, S., Vaizel-Ohayon, D., Schejter, E., Tomlinson, A., and DiNardo, S. (2000). arrow encodes an LDL-receptor-related protein essential for Wingless signalling. Nature 407, 527-530.

Wei, Y., Fabre, M., Branchereau, S., Gauthier, F., Perilongo, G., and Buendia, M.A. (2000). Activation of beta-catenin in epithelial and mesenchymal hepatoblastomas. Oncogene 19, 498-504.

Welsh, G.I., Miller, C.M., Loughlin, A.J., Price, N.T., and Proud, C.G. (1998). Regulation of eukaryotic initiation factor eIF2B: glycogen synthase kinase-3 phosphorylates a conserved serine which undergoes dephosphorylation in response to insulin. FEBS Lett *421*, 125-130.

Welsh, G.I., and Proud, C.G. (1993). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 is rapidly inactivated in response to insulin and phosphorylates eukaryotic initiation factor eIF-2B. Biochem J 294 (*Pt 3*), 625-629.

Wen, Y., Hu, M.C., Makino, K., Spohn, B., Bartholomeusz, G., Yan, D.H., and Hung, M.C. (2000). HER-2/neu promotes androgen-independent survival and growth of prostate cancer cells through the Akt pathway. Cancer Res *60*, 6841-6845.

Whittemore, A.S., Wu, A.H., Kolonel, L.N., John, E.M., Gallagher, R.P., Howe, G.R., West, D.W., Teh, C.Z., and Stamey, T. (1995). Family history and prostate cancer risk in black, white, and Asian men in the United States and Canada. Am J Epidemiol *141*, 732-740.

Willert, K., and Nusse, R. (1998). Beta-catenin: a key mediator of Wnt signaling. Curr Opin Genet Dev 8, 95-102.

Williams, R.S., and Harwood, A.J. (2000). Lithium therapy and signal transduction. Trends Pharmacol Sci 21, 61-64.

Woodgett, J.R. (1990). Molecular cloning and expression of glycogen synthase kinase-3/factor A. Embo J 9, 2431-2438.

Woodgett, J.R. (2001). Judging a protein by more than its name: GSK-3. Sci STKE 2001, RE12.

Woodgett, J.R., and Cohen, P. (1984). Multisite phosphorylation of glycogen synthase. Molecular basis for the substrate specificity of glycogen synthase kinase-3 and casein kinase-II (glycogen synthase kinase-5). Biochim Biophys Acta 788, 339-347.

Wright, K., Wilson, P., Morland, S., Campbell, I., Walsh, M., Hurst, T., Ward, B., Cummings, M., and Chenevix-Trench, G. (1999). beta-catenin mutation and expression analysis in ovarian cancer: exon 3 mutations and nuclear translocation in 16% of endometrioid tumours. Int J Cancer 82, 625-629.

Wu, J.S., Paul, P., McGannon, E.A., and Church, J.M. (1998). APC genotype, polyp number, and surgical options in familial adenomatous polyposis. Ann Surg 227, 57-62.

Xavier, I.J., Mercier, P.A., McLoughlin, C.M., Ali, A., Woodgett, J.R., and Ovsenek, N. (2000). Glycogen synthase kinase 3beta negatively regulates both DNA-binding and transcriptional activities of heat shock factor 1. J Biol Chem *275*, 29147-29152.

Yamaguchi, T.P. (2001). Heads or tails: Whits and anterior-posterior patterning. Curr Biol 11, R713-724.

Yamamoto, H., Kishida, S., Kishida, M., Ikeda, S., Takada, S., and Kikuchi, A. (1999). Phosphorylation of axin, a Wnt signal negative regulator, by glycogen synthase kinase-3beta regulates its stability. J Biol Chem 274, 10681-10684.

Yamashita, D., Yamaguchi, T., Shimizu, M., Nakata, N., Hirose, F., and Osumi, T. (2004). The transactivating function of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma is negatively regulated by SUMO conjugation in the amino-terminal domain. Genes Cells *9*, 1017-1029.

Yan, D., Wiesmann, M., Rohan, M., Chan, V., Jefferson, A.B., Guo, L., Sakamoto, D., Caothien, R.H., Fuller, J.H., Reinhard, C., Garcia, P.D., Randazzo, F.M., Escobedo, J., Fantl, W.J., and Williams, L.T. (2001). Elevated expression of axin2 and hnkd mRNA provides evidence that Wnt/beta -catenin signaling is activated in human colon tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *98*, 14973-14978.

Yanagawa, S., Matsuda, Y., Lee, J.S., Matsubayashi, H., Sese, S., Kadowaki, T., and Ishimoto, A. (2002). Casein kinase I phosphorylates the Armadillo protein and induces its degradation in Drosophila. Embo J 21, 1733-1742.

Yang, F., Li, X., Sharma, M., Sasaki, C.Y., Longo, D.L., Lim, B., and Sun, Z. (2002). Linking beta-catenin to androgen-signaling pathway. J Biol Chem 277, 11336-11344.

Yang, L., Wang, L., Lin, H.K., Kan, P.Y., Xie, S., Tsai, M.Y., Wang, P.H., Chen, Y.T., and Chang, C. (2003). Interleukin-6 differentially regulates androgen receptor transactivation via PI3K-Akt, STAT3, and MAPK, three distinct signal pathways in prostate cancer cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *305*, 462-469.

Yeh, S., and Chang, C. (1996). Cloning and characterization of a specific coactivator, ARA70, for the androgen receptor in human prostate cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *93*, 5517-5521.

Yeh, S., Lin, H.K., Kang, H.Y., Thin, T.H., Lin, M.F., and Chang, C. (1999). From HER2/Neu signal cascade to androgen receptor and its coactivators: a novel pathway by induction of androgen target genes through MAP kinase in prostate cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *96*, 5458-5463.

Yeh, S., Miyamoto, H., and Chang, C. (1997). Hydroxyflutamide may not always be a pure antiandrogen. Lancet *349*, 852-853.

Yeh, S., Miyamoto, H., Shima, H., and Chang, C. (1998). From estrogen to androgen receptor: a new pathway for sex hormones in prostate. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95, 5527-5532.

Yoshida, H., and Ihara, Y. (1993). Tau in paired helical filaments is functionally distinct from fetal tau: assembly incompetence of paired helical filament-tau. J Neurochem 61, 1183-1186.

Yost, C., Torres, M., Miller, J.R., Huang, E., Kimelman, D., and Moon, R.T. (1996). The axis-inducing activity, stability, and subcellular distribution of beta-catenin is regulated in Xenopus embryos by glycogen synthase kinase 3. Genes Dev 10, 1443-1454.

Yuan, P., Chen, G., and Manji, H.K. (1999). Lithium activates the c-Jun NH2terminal kinases in vitro and in the CNS in vivo. J Neurochem 73, 2299-2309.

Zeng, L., Fagotto, F., Zhang, T., Hsu, W., Vasicek, T.J., Perry, W.L., 3rd, Lee, J.J., Tilghman, S.M., Gumbiner, B.M., and Costantini, F. (1997). The mouse Fused locus encodes Axin, an inhibitor of the Wnt signaling pathway that regulates embryonic axis formation. Cell *90*, 181-192.

Zhang, Y., Beck, C.A., Poletti, A., Edwards, D.P., and Weigel, N.L. (1994). Identification of phosphorylation sites unique to the B form of human progesterone receptor. In vitro phosphorylation by casein kinase II. J Biol Chem 269, 31034-31040.

Zhang, Y., Beck, C.A., Poletti, A., Edwards, D.P., and Weigel, N.L. (1995). Identification of a group of Ser-Pro motif hormone-inducible phosphorylation sites in the human progesterone receptor. Mol Endocrinol *9*, 1029-1040.

Zhang, Z., Hartmann, H., Do, V.M., Abramowski, D., Sturchler-Pierrat, C., Staufenbiel, M., Sommer, B., van de Wetering, M., Clevers, H., Saftig, P., De Strooper, B., He, X., and Yankner, B.A. (1998). Destabilization of beta-catenin by mutations in presenilin-1 potentiates neuronal apoptosis. Nature *395*, 698-702.

Zhao, X.Y., Boyle, B., Krishnan, A.V., Navone, N.M., Peehl, D.M., and Feldman, D. (1999). Two mutations identified in the androgen receptor of the new human prostate cancer cell line MDA PCa 2a. J Urol *162*, 2192-2199.

Zhao, X.Y., Malloy, P.J., Krishnan, A.V., Swami, S., Navone, N.M., Peehl, D.M., and Feldman, D. (2000). Glucocorticoids can promote androgen-independent growth of prostate cancer cells through a mutated androgen receptor. Nat Med *6*, 703-706.

Zhou, B.P., Deng, J., Xia, W., Xu, J., Li, Y.M., Gunduz, M., and Hung, M.C. (2004). Dual regulation of Snail by GSK-3beta-mediated phosphorylation in control of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Nat Cell Biol *6*, 931-940.

Zhou, H., Li, X.M., Meinkoth, J., and Pittman, R.N. (2000). Akt regulates cell survival and apoptosis at a postmitochondrial level. J Cell Biol 151, 483-494.

Zhou, Z.X., Kemppainen, J.A., and Wilson, E.M. (1995). Identification of three proline-directed phosphorylation sites in the human androgen receptor. Mol Endocrinol 9, 605-615.

Zhu, Z., Becklin, R.R., Desiderio, D.M., and Dalton, J.T. (2001). Identification of a novel phosphorylation site in human androgen receptor by mass spectrometry. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 284, 836-844.

Zumbrunn, J., Kinoshita, K., Hyman, A.A., and Nathke, I.S. (2001). Binding of the adenomatous polyposis coli protein to microtubules increases microtubule stability and is regulated by GSK3 beta phosphorylation. Curr Biol *11*, 44-49.

Zurawel, R.H., Chiappa, S.A., Allen, C., and Raffel, C. (1998). Sporadic medulloblastomas contain oncogenic beta-catenin mutations. Cancer Res 58, 896-899.

6. Appendix

www.nature.com/onc

Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 represses androgen receptor activity and prostate cancer cell growth

Michal Mazor¹, Yoshiaki Kawano^{1,2}, Hanneng Zhu^{1,2}, Jonathan Waxman¹ and Robert M Kypta^{*,1}

¹Prostate Cancer Research Group, Department of Cancer Cell Biology, Division of Medicine, Imperial College, London W12 0NN, UK

The transcriptional activity of the androgen receptor (AR) is regulated by interaction with various coregulators, one of which is β -catenin. Interest in the role of β -catenin in prostate cancer has been stimulated by reports showing that it is aberrantly expressed in the cytoplasm and/or nucleus in up to 38% of hormone-refractory tumours and that overexpression of β -catenin results in activation of AR transcriptional activity. We have examined the effect of depleting endogenous β -catenin on AR activity using Axin and RNA interference. Axin, which promotes β -catenin degradation, inhibited AR transcriptional activity. However, this did not require the β -catenin-binding domain of Axin. Depletion of β -catenin using RNA interference increased, rather than decreased, AR activity, suggesting that endogenous β -catenin is not a transcriptional coactivator for the AR. The glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3)-binding domain of Axin prevented formation of a GSK-3-AR complex and was both necessary and sufficient for inhibition of AR-dependent transcription. A second GSK-3-binding protein, FRAT, also inhibited AR transcriptional activity, as did the GSK-3 inhibitors SB216763 and SB415286. Finally, inhibition of GSK-3 reduced the growth of AR-expressing prostate cancer cell lines. Our observations suggest a potential new therapeutic application for GSK-3 inhibitors in prostate cancer.

Oncogene (2004) **23**, 7882–7892. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1208068 Published online 13 September 2004

Keywords: GSK-3; β -catenin; and rogen receptor; prostate cancer

Introduction

Prostate cell growth and development are mediated by androgens and the androgen receptor (AR), a member of the nuclear receptor superfamily. The transcriptional activity of AR is regulated by interaction with various coregulators (reviewed in Cheshire and Isaacs, 2003; Cronauer *et al.*, 2003), one of which is β -catenin. Evidence that increased levels of β -catenin lead to activation of AR transcriptional activity come largely from studies in which β -catenin is overexpressed (Truica *et al.*, 2000; Chesire *et al.*, 2002; Mulholland *et al.*, 2002; Yang *et al.*, 2002). However, the level of endogenous β -catenin is already very high in prostate cancer cells and stable expression of mutant β -catenin does not alter their proliferative response to androgen (Chesire *et al.*, 2002). Therefore, it is important to determine how endogenous β -catenin affects AR transcriptional activity in prostate cancer cells. Here we describe experiments addressing this question using Axin and RNA interference. Our results suggest that glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3), rather than β -catenin, is an important endogenous regulator of AR transcriptional activity.

GSK-3 is a serine/threonine kinase best known for its roles in glycogen metabolism, the Wnt signalling pathway and in neurological disorders (reviewed in Frame and Cohen, 2001; Grimes and Jope, 2001; Woodgett, 2001; Doble and Woodgett, 2003). GSK-3 has been shown to be active in most resting cells and is subject to negative regulation by external stimuli. In response to growth factor stimulation, for example, kinases such as Akt inhibit GSK-3 by phosphorylation on serine 9 (Stambolic and Woodgett, 1994; Cross et al., 1995). In some instances, GSK-3 has been shown to be activated by agents that promote phosphorylation on tyrosine 216 (Bhat et al., 2000). GSK-3 can also be regulated by binding to the proteins Axin, FRAT (frequently rearranged in advanced T-cell lymphomas)/GBP and the Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus latencyassociated nuclear antigen (Ikeda et al., 1998; Yost et al., 1998; Fujimuro et al., 2003).

GSK-3 has numerous substrates, including a number of transcription factors such as c-Jun, c-myc, C/EBPs (CCAAT enhancer-binding proteins) and NF-ATc (nuclear factor of activated T cells). The effects of phosphorylation by GSK-3 tend to be inhibitory and include promotion of degradation and enhancement of nuclear export (for references see Frame and Cohen, 2001). Thus, inhibition of GSK-3 often results in increased gene expression. However, there are examples where GSK-3 positively regulates gene expression, such as through CREB phosphorylation (Salas *et al.*, 2003). Here we show that GSK-3 positively regulates AR transcriptional activity. Furthermore, GSK-3 inhibitors

^{*}Correspondence: RM Kypta; E-mail: r.kypta@imperial.ac.uk ²These authors contributed equally to this work.

Received 9 March 2004; revised 16 April 2004; accepted 29 July 2004; published online 13 September 2004

inhibit the proliferation of prostate cancer cells, suggesting that these drugs might be useful in the treatment of patients with prostate cancer.

Results

Inhibition of AR transcriptional activity by Axin

Axin inhibits the Wnt signalling pathway by acting as a scaffold protein, bringing together a number of proteins, including β -catenin, APC and GSK-3, and thereby promoting phosphorylation and degradation of β -catenin (for references see Kikuchi, 2000; Gregory et al., 2001). Ectopic expression of Axin is sufficient to inhibit Wnt/β -catenin signalling and is therefore often used as a tool to inhibit endogenous β -catenin function (Ross et al., 2000; Hsu et al., 2001; Reya et al., 2003). In order to determine whether endogenous β -catenin functions as a coactivator for the AR in prostate cancer cells, we expressed Axin in CWR-R1 cells. This is a cell line derived from the CWR22 xenograft model for prostate cancer that expresses endogenous AR (Gregory et al., 2001) and high levels of β -catenin (Chesire and Isaacs, 2002). For these studies we used a luciferase reporter plasmid driven by the MMTV promoter, which contains AR-binding sites, R1881 (a synthetic ligand for the AR) and a panel of previously characterized GFP-Axin expression constructs (Orme et al., 2003) (Figure 1a); GFP was used as a negative control. As expected, compared with cells expressing GFP and treated with carrier (Figure 1b, lane 1), addition of R1881 resulted in an increase in AR transcriptional activity (Figure 1b, lane 2). Expression of GFP-Axin resulted in a reduction in AR transcriptional activity (Figure 1b, lane 3). This was consistent with studies in which β -catenin overexpression has been shown to activate AR (Truica et al., 2000; Chesire et al., 2002; Mulholland et al., 2002; Pawlowski et al., 2002; Yang et al., 2002). Mutation of a conserved proline residue in the GSK-3-binding domain of Axin (GFP-AxinP), which prevents binding to GSK-3 and also reduces binding to β -catenin (Smalley *et al.*, 1999), prevented the inhibition of AR transcriptional activity (Figure 1b, lane 4). To determine the importance of the β -cateninbinding domain in Axin for repression of AR, we used a mutant form of Axin that lacks both the β -catenin and the APC-binding domains, GFP-Axin^{ΔAPC/Δβ}. This mutant is useful because it cannot indirectly interact with β -catenin through endogenous APC (Hinoi *et al.*, 2000). GFP-Axin^{AAPC/AB} inhibited AR transcriptional activity (Figure 1b, lane 6) to the same extent as a mutant lacking only the APC-binding domain, GFP-Axin^{AAPC} (Figure 1b, lane 5) and GFP-Axin itself. These results suggest that the inhibition of AR transcriptional activity by Axin is independent of β -catenin and that the loss of inhibitory activity in GFP-AxinP results from its inability to bind GSK-3.

In order to determine if the GSK-3-binding domain of Axin is sufficient for the inhibition of AR activity, we expressed a construct of Axin comprising only the GSK- GSK-3 inhibition represses androgen receptor activity M Mazor et al



Figure 1 Inhibition of AR transcriptional activity by Axin. (a) Cartoon of Axin constructs used. P denotes the L521P mutation that disrupts binding of Axin to GSK-3. The numbers indicate the constructs used in (b). (b) Requirement of the GSK3-binding domain (but not the β -catenin- or APC-binding domains) for inhibition of AR activity by Axin. CWR-R1 prostate cancer cells were transfected with GFP (1 and 2), GFP-Axin (3), GFP-AxinP (4), GFP-Axin^{ΔAPC} (5) or GFP-Axin^{$\Delta APC/\Delta\beta$ -catenin} (6), MMTV-Luciferase and RSV-\beta-Gal. AR transcriptional activity was determined in extracts from cells grown in hormone-depleted medium in the absence (-) or presence (+) of 10 nM R1881. (c) The GSK-3-binding domain of Axin is sufficient for inhibition of AR activity. CWR-R1 cells were transfected with empty vector (1 and 2), AX2 (3), AX2P (4) or AX2 plus pMT23 GSK-3 S9A (5), MMTV-Luciferase and RSV-β-Gal. Empty vector (pMT23) was included in transfections 1-4 to allow direct comparison with transfection 5. AR transcriptional activity was determined in extracts from cells grown in hormone-depleted medium either in the absence (-) or presence (+) of 10 nM R1881. All experiments were done three or more times in triplicate. The error bars indicate standard deviation

Upg

3-binding domain, AX2 (Smalley *et al.*, 1999). Relative to empty vector (Figure 1c, lane 2), AX2 inhibited AR transcriptional activity (Figure 1c, lane 3). As a control we used AX2 with a mutation in the conserved proline residue required for GSK-3 binding (AX2P), and we found that AX2P did not inhibit AR activity (Figure 1c, lane 4). Moreover, coexpression of constitutively active GSK-3 with AX2 rescued the inhibitory effects of AX2 on AR transcriptional activity (Figure 1c, lane 5). Taken together, these results indicate that GSK-3, rather than β -catenin, is involved in the inhibitory effects of Axin on AR transcriptional activity.

Depletion of endogenous β -catenin does not inhibit endogenous AR transcriptional activity in prostate cancer cells

Our results using Axin suggest that endogenous β -catenin in prostate cancer cells does not affect AR activity. In order to test this possibility, we used a second approach to determine the effect of removing endogenous β -catenin on AR transcriptional activity. For these studies, we used a well-characterized β -catenin siRNA expression vector that has been shown to reduce β -catenin protein levels and inhibit β -catenin/Tcf transcriptional activity (van de Wetering et al., 2003). We first used HCT 116 colon cancer cells, which have a stabilizing mutation in β -catenin, and pOT-Luciferase, a reporter plasmid with Tcf/LEF-1-binding sites. As expected, β -catenin siRNA inhibited β -catenin/Tcfdependent transcription in HCT 116 cells (Figure 2a). β -catenin siRNA expression did not affect the activity of pOF-Luciferase, which comprises the pOT promoter with mutations in the Tcf-binding sites (data not shown). β -catenin siRNA expression also inhibited β -catenin/Tcf-dependent transcription in CWR-R1 cells, LNCaP cells and 22Rv1 cells (Figure 2a and data not shown). Next, AR was expressed in HCT 116 cells together with either control siRNA expression vector or β -catenin siRNA expression vector and MMTV-Luciferase. As predicted from β -catenin overexpression studies, depletion of β -catenin resulted in a reduction in the transcriptional activity of transfected AR in HCT 116 cells (Figure 2b, lanes 1 and 2 and Figure 2c). A second control siRNA expression vector (Control 2) had no effect on AR transcriptional activity, and the inhibitory effect was not observed in the absence of hormone (Figure 2c).

In order to determine if the effects of β -catenin siRNA resulted from a reduction in the level of expression of cotransfected AR, Western blots were conducted after transfection (Figure 2e). Expression of β -catenin siRNA led to a significant reduction in β -catenin protein (Figure 2e, upper panel, lanes 3 and 4). The depletion of β -catenin is likely to be more efficient than suggested by the Western blot since the extracts also contained β -catenin from untransfected cells, which comprise more than half the cell population. In the same extracts the expression level of AR was unaffected by expression of β -catenin siRNA (Figure 2e, lower panel), indicating that the inhibition of AR after depletion of β -catenin did not result from a reduction in AR protein levels.

We also examined the effects of depletion of β -catenin on endogenous AR activity in prostate cancer cells. The low transfection efficiency of the prostate cancer cell lines made it difficult to detect changes in β -catenin protein levels after expression of β -catenin siRNA. Therefore we used the reduction of β -catenin/Tcf transcriptional activity (Figure 2a) as a measure of the efficiency of the β -catenin siRNA. Depletion of β -catenin did not inhibit endogenous AR transcriptional activity in CWR-R1 cells, LNCaP cells (Figure 2b) or 22Rvl cells (Figure 2d); in fact AR activity was significantly increased. These results suggest that the regulation of endogenous AR transcriptional activity by endogenous β -catenin differs from what has been observed in experiments where one or both of these proteins are ectopically expressed.

GSK-3 increases AR transcriptional activity

Axin deletion analysis suggested an important role for GSK-3 in the regulation of AR activity. Therefore, we assessed the effects of overexpressing GSK-3 on AR transcriptional activity. For these studies we used wild-type GSK-3, a constitutively active form of GSK-3 that has a mutation at serine 9 (S9A), the inhibitory phosphorylation site, and a catalytically inactive form of GSK-3 (K216R). AR transcriptional activity was not significantly affected by expression of any of these constructs in 22Rv1 cells (Figure 3a); GSK-3 S9A expression did result in a small increase in AR transcriptional activity in CWR-R1 cells (data not shown).

We reasoned that the weak effect of GSK-3 on AR activity might be because endogenous GSK-3 is already active in these cell lines. Therefore, we examined the effects of GSK-3 expression on AR transcriptional activity in LNCaP cells, in which GSK-3 is known to be inactive as a result of phosphorylation at serine 9 (Salas et al., 2004). When expressed at high levels, wild-type GSK-3 significantly increased AR transcriptional activity in LNCaP cells (Figure 3b, lane 6). Constitutively active GSK-3 increased AR transcriptional activity both at low and high levels of expression (Figure 3b, lanes 8 and 10, respectively). These results suggest that wildtype GSK-3 is inhibited by phosphorylation at serine 9 in LNCaP cells. Catalytically inactive GSK-3 did not affect AR transcriptional activity (Figure 3b, lane 12). Taken together, these results support a hypothesis in which GSK-3 positively regulates AR transcriptional activity in prostate cancer cells.

Inhibition of GSK-3 reduces AR transcriptional activity

In order to determine whether the inhibition of AR transcriptional activity by Axin was specific to the effects of Axin on GSK-3 and could not be elicited by other means, we used two further approaches. First, we expressed the proto-oncogene FRAT, which activates the Wnt signalling pathway by binding and sequestering

GSK-3 inhibition represses and rogen receptor activity ${\sf M}$ Mazor et al



Figure 2 Depletion of endogenous β -catenin does not inhibit endogenous AR transcriptional activity in prostate cancer cells. (a) HCT 116 colon cancer cells, CWR-R1 cells and LNCaP cells were transfected with the reporter vector pOT-Luciferase, which measures β -catenin/Tcf transcrptional activity, RSV- β -Gal, and either Control 1 (1, 3 and 5) or β -catenin (2, 4 and 6) siRNA expression vectors. β -catenin/Tcf transcriptional activity was determined in extracts from cells grown in normal growth medium. Results are presented as the activity relative to each cell line transfected with Control 1 siRNA expression vector. (b) HCT 116 cells, CWR-R1 cells and LNCaP cells were transfected with MMTV-Luciferase, RSV-β-Gal, pSG5 AR (HCT 116 cells only) and either Control 1 (1, 3 and 5) or β -catenin (2, 4 and 6) siRNA expression vectors. AR transcriptional activity was determined in extracts from cells grown in androgendepleted medium in the presence of 10 nM (CWR-R1 cells) or 1 nM (HCT 116 and LNCaP cells) R1881. Results are presented as the activity relative to each cell line transfected with Control 1. β -catenin siRNA expression vector significantly increased AR activity in CWR-R1 cells (P = 0.004) and LNCaP cells (P = 0.003) and significantly decreased it in HCT 116 cells (P = 0.01). (c) HCT 116 cells were transfected with MMTV-Luciferase, RSV-β-Gal, pSG5 AR and either Control 1 (1 and 2), β-catenin (3 and 4) or Control 2 (5 and 6) siRNA expression vectors. AR transcriptional activity was determined in extracts from cells grown in androgen-depleted medium in the absence (-) or presence (+) of 1 nM R1881. (d) 22Rv1 cells were transfected with MMTV-Luciferase, RSV- β -Gal and either Control 1 (1, 2), β -catenin (3, 4) or Control 2 (5, 6) siRNA expression vectors. AR transcriptional activity was determined in extracts from cells grown in androgen-depleted medium in the absence (-) or presence (+) of 1 nM R1881. All experiments were done three or more times in triplicate. The error bars indicate standard deviation. (e) HCT 116 cells were transfected with pSG5 AR and either Control 1 (lanes 1 and 2), β -catenin (lanes 3 and 4) or Control 2 (lanes 5 and 6) siRNA expression vectors and grown in and rogen-depleted medium in the absence (-) or presence (+) of 1 nM R1881 for 24 h. Extracts were probed for β -catenin (upper panel) and then stripped and reprobed for AR (lower panel, upper band). The faster migrating band in the anti-AR blot is a degradation product of AR

GSK-3 inhibition represses androgen receptor activity M Mazor et al



Figure 3 GSK-3 increases AR transcriptional activity. (a) 22Rv1 cells and were transfected with empty vector (1 and 2), wild-type GSK-3 (3 and 4), GSK-3 S9A (5 and 6) or GSK-3 K216R (7 and 8) plus MMTV-Luciferase, and RSV-\beta-Gal. AR transcriptional activity was determined in extracts from cells grown in hormonedepleted medium either in the absence (-) or presence (+) of 1 nM R1881. (b) LNCaP cells were transfected with the indicated amounts of empty vector (1 and 2), wild-type GSK-3 (3-6), GSK-3 S9A (7-10) or GSK-3 K216R (11 and 12) plus MMTV-Luciferase, and RSV-\beta-Gal. AR transcriptional activity was determined in extracts from cells grown in hormone-depleted medium either in the absence (-) or presence (+) of 1 nM R1881. AR activity was significantly increased by wild-type GSK-3 at the higher dose (P = 0.02) and by GSK-3 S9A at the lower dose (P = 0.0006) and the higher dose (P = 0.0004). Experiments were done twice in triplicate and error bars indicate standard deviation

GSK-3 (Yost *et al.*, 1998). Consistent with the published data (Li *et al.*, 1999; Franca-Koh *et al.*, 2002), expression of FRAT increased β -catenin/Tcf-dependent transcription in HEK 293 cells, while expression of a FRAT mutant that cannot bind to GSK-3 (FRAT Δ C) did not (Figure 4a). Expression of FRAT and FRAT Δ C did not affect the activity of a reporter with mutated Tcf-binding sites ((Smalley *et al.*, 1999) and data not

shown). We next determined the effects of FRAT expression on AR transcriptional activity in CWR-R1 cells. As predicted from the experiments using Axin, FRAT inhibited AR transcriptional activity, and the extent of inhibition was significantly reduced when using FRAT Δ C (Figure 4b). However, FRAT Δ C did repress AR activity to a certain extent, particularly when expressed at higher levels (data not shown). We interpret this result as a manifestation of an indirect effect on GSK-3, since FRAT Δ C can associate with dishevelled, which binds to GSK-3 via Axin (Li *et al.*, 1999). To summarize, although FRAT and Axin have opposite effects on β -catenin/Tcf transcriptional activity, they both inhibit AR transcriptional activity, and in both cases this requires their GSK-3-binding domains.

In the second approach, we used two commercially available inhibitors of GSK-3, SB415286 and SB216763 (Coghlan *et al.*, 2000). First we examined the effects of these inhibitors on β -catenin/Tcf-dependent signalling. CWR-R1 cells were transfected with the reporter vector pOT-Luc and treated with GSK-3 inhibitors for 24 h. Consistent with results in other cell types (Coghlan *et al.*, 2000), both inhibitors increased β -catenin/Tcf-dependent transcriptional activity (Figure 4c). In contrast, both inhibitors reduced AR transcriptional activity (Figure 4d), consistent with a model in which endogenous GSK-3 activates AR. Taken together, these results suggest that the inhibitory effects of Axin on AR result from its ability to regulate GSK-3, rather than any function unique to Axin.

Inhibition of GSK-3 reduces prostate cancer cell growth

We next examined the effects of GSK-3 inhibitors on prostate cancer cell growth. We first used CWR-R1 cells, which are hypersensitive to androgens and grow optimally in medium containing 2% FCS, as described previously (Gregory *et al.*, 2001). CWR-R1 cells were treated with GSK-3 inhibitors and counted over a period of 6 days (Figure 5a). Both SB415286 and SB216763 repressed CWR-R1 cell growth. The inhibitory effects of SB216763 on cell growth were maximal at $3 \mu M$ (Figure 5b), which is the same concentration that is optimal for the ability of this drug to protect neurons from apoptotic cell death (Cross *et al.*, 2001). The inhibitory effects of SB415286 increased with dose up to the maximal dose tested (50 μM ; data not shown).

In order to determine whether inhibition of GSK-3 specifically inhibited growth of AR-positive prostate cancer cells, we compared the effects of SB216763 on the growth of CWR-R1, 22Rv1 and LNCaP cells, which express AR, and DU145 and PC3 cells, which do not (Figure 5c). 22Rv1 and CWR-R1 cells both derive from the CWR22 prostate cancer xenograft but were selected under different growth conditions (Sramkoski *et al.*, 1999; Gregory *et al.*, 2001). SB216763 similarly reduced the growth of CWR-R1 cells and 22Rv1 cells. In contrast, SB216763 did not significantly affect DU145 or PC3 cell growth, consistent with the possibility that AR is required for the growth inhibitory response. The

GSK-3 inhibition represses androgen receptor activity M Mazor et al



Figure 4 Inhibition of GSK-3 reduces AR transcriptional activity. (a) HEK 293 cells were transfected with pOT-Luciferase, RSV- β -Gal and either GFP control vector (1), GFP-FRAT (2) or GFP-FRAT Δ C (a deletion mutant of FRAT that lacks the GSK-3-binding site) (3). β -catenin/Tcf transcriptional activity was determined in cell extracts from cells grown in normal growth medium 24 h after transfection. (b) CWR-R1 cells were transfected with MMTV-Luciferase, RSV- β -Gal and either GFP control vector (1 and 2), GFP-FRAT Δ C (5 and 6). AR activity transcriptional activity was measured in extracts from cells grown in hormone-depleted medium in the absence (-) or presence (+) of 10 nM R1881. (c) CWR-R1 cells were transfected with pOT-Luciferase and RSV- β -Gal. Cells were treated for 24 h with carrier (1), 20 μ M SB415286 (2) or 5 μ M SB216763 (3) and β -catenin/Tcf transcriptional activity was determined in extracts from cells grown in normal growth medium. (d) CWR-R1 cells were transfected with MMTV-Luciferase and RSV- β -Gal. After transfection, cells were incubated in hormone-depleted medium in the absence (-) or presence (+) of 10 nM R1881 and either carrier (1 and 2), 20 μ M SB415286 (3 and 4) or 5 μ M SB216763 (5 and 6) for 24 h. AR transcriptional activity was then determined from cell extracts. All experiments were done three or more times in triplicate. The error bars indicate standard deviation

growth of LNCaP cells was weakly inhibited by SB216763, consistent with the low GSK-3 activity in this cell line. Taken together, these results suggest that inhibition of GSK-3 reduces the growth of AR-positive prostate cancer cells. To determine if inhibition of GSK-3 specifically affected androgen-dependent cell growth, a similar experiment was conducted using 22Rv1 cells grown in hormone-depleted medium in the absence or presence of R1881 (Figure 5d). Although 22Rv1 cells are able to grow in hormone-depleted medium, their growth can be stimulated by androgens (Sramkoski et al., 1999). We found that R1881 stimulated the growth of 22Rv1 cells and that this was blocked by treatment with SB216763. However, SB216763 also inhibited hormoneindependent proliferation of 22Rv1 cells to a certain extent.

Inhibition of GSK-3 leads to a reduction in AR protein levels

As a first step in determining the mechanism by which GSK-3 regulates AR transcriptional activity, we examined the expression level of the AR protein in CWR-R1 cells treated with GSK-3 inhibitors. CWR-R1 cells were treated with GSK-3 inhibitors for 24 h and whole-cell extracts were probed for AR by Western blotting (Figure 6, upper panel). Interestingly, compared with untreated cells (lane 1), the protein level of AR was reduced after treatment with both SB216763 (lane 2) and SB415286 (lane 3). SB415286 appeared to reduce AR protein levels more than SB216763, but reprobing the blot for tubulin (lower panel) indicated that part of this reduction resulted from the effects of this drug on the number of cells. Nevertheless, taking into account

GSK-3 inhibition represses androgen receptor activity M Mazor et al



Figure 5 Inhibition of GSK-3 reduces prostate cancer cell growth. (a) CWR-R1 cells were grown in the presence of carrier (ut), $5 \mu M$ SB216763 (SB21) or $20 \mu M$ SB415286 (SB41) for up to 6 days and the number of cells was counted. The experiment was done twice in triplicate and the error bars indicate standard deviation. The difference in the number of cells in untreated and treated cells was statistically significant (P = 0.02 for SB216763 and P = 0.008 for SB415286 at day 6). (b) CWR-R1 cells were grown for 72 h in complete growth medium in the presence of the indicated concentrations of SB216763 and the number of cells in untreated and treated and treated cells was significant (P = 0.0007 at $3 \mu M$). (c) CWR-R1, 22Rv1, DU145, PC3 and LNCaP cells were grown in normal growth medium (DU145, PC3 and CWR-R1 cells) or in hormone-depleted medium (22Rv1 and LNCaP cells) in the presence of 1 nM R1881 either with carrier (ut) or $5 \mu M$ SB216763 (21). The number of cells was counted after 72 h (or after 5 days for LNCaP cells). Experiments were done in triplicate and the error bars indicate standard deviation. The number of CWR-R1, 22Rv1 and LNCaP cells) was significantly reduced by treatment with SB216763 (P = 0.002 for LNCaP cells). (d) 22Rv1 cells were grown in hormone-depleted medium in the absence of hormone (1 and 4), in the presence of $10^{-12} M$ R1881 (2 and 5) or $10^{-9} M$ R1881 (3 and 6) and either with carrier (1-3) or $5 \mu M$ SB216763 (4–6). The number of cells was counted after 72 h. Experiments were done in triplicate and the error bars indicate standard deviation. The number of $-10^{-9} M$ R1881 (3 and 6) and either with carrier (1-3) or $5 \mu M$ SB216763 (4–6). The number of cells was counted after 72 h. Experiments were done in triplicate and the error bars indicate standard deviation.

the loading controls, both inhibitors reduced AR protein levels in CWR-R1 cells.

Association between AR and GSK-3 and its disruption by AX2

In order to determine whether the effects of GSK-3 on AR might involve interactions between these proteins, we examined the possibility that GSK-3 and AR form a complex. AR and myc epitope-tagged GSK-3 were coexpressed in COS7 cells and these proteins were then immunoprecipitated and probed by Western blotting (Figure 7). GSK-3 was detected in anti-AR immune precipitates and not in control immune precipitates (Figure 7a), and AR was detected in anti-GSK-3 immune precipitates and not in control immune precipitates (Figure 7b). These results support a model in which GSK-3 increases AR transcriptional activity by forming a complex with AR. To determine a possible mechanism for the inhibition of AR activity by Axin, we expressed AX2 or AX2P in COS7 cells together with GSK-3 and AR (Figure 7c). AR was readily detected in GSK-3 immune precipitates from COS7 cells expressing AX2P. In contrast, we were unable to detect a complex between AR and GSK-3 in cells expressing AX2. This suggests that AX2 inhibits AR transcriptional activity by preventing interaction between GSK-3 and AR and further supports a model in which the association of GSK-3 with AR leads to elevated AR transcriptional activity.

Discussion

Several reports have suggested that β -catenin is a transcriptional coactivator of AR (Truica *et al.*, 2000;



Figure 6 Inhibition of GSK-3 leads to a reduction in AR protein levels. CWR-R1 cells were treated either with carrier (ut, lane 1), $5 \,\mu$ M SB216763 (SB21, lane 2) or with 20 μ M SB415286 (SB41, lane 3) for 24 h. Western blots of whole-cell extracts were probed for AR (upper panels) and reprobed for γ -tubulin as an internal loading control (lower panels)



Figure 7 Association between AR and GSK-3 and its disruption by AX2. (a) Extracts from COS7 cells transfected with AR and myc epitope-tagged GSK-3 were immunoprecipitated with polyclonal control antibody or polyclonal anti-AR antibody and probed with anti-myc antibody (9E10). The arrow indicates the position of GSK-3 in the cell extract. (b) Extracts from COS7 cells transfected with AR and myc epitope-tagged GSK-3 were immunoprecipitated with control mAb or 9E10 antibodies and probed with anti-AR antibody. The arrow indicates the position of AR in the cell extract. (c) Extracts from COS7 cells transfected with AR and myc epitopetagged GSK-3 and either AX2 or AX2P were immunoprecipitated with 9E10 antibodies, probed with anti-AR antibody and then reprobed with 9E10. The upper arrow indicates the position of AR and the lower arrow the position of GSK-3 in from cells transfected with AR and GSK-3 extracts. The band migrating above GSK-3 is IgG recognized by the secondary antibody

Chesire *et al.*, 2002; Mulholland *et al.*, 2002; Yang *et al.*, 2002). However, the results from our experiments using Axin and a β -catenin siRNA expression vector to deplete β -catenin suggest that endogenous β -catenin, although highly expressed in prostate cancer cell lines, is not a transcriptional coactivator for endogenous AR. This is in contrast to the results we obtained using

transfected AR in HCT116 cells (Figure 1b). This difference is not due to the AR mutations found in prostate cancer cell lines since we obtained similar results in HCT 116 cells using both wild type and the LNCaP mutant form of AR (unpublished observations). Our observations highlight the importance of confirming results obtained using ectopically expressed proteins by examining the functions of the endogenous proteins. Clearly, further experiments are necessary to determine the function of endogenous β -catenin in the regulation of AR transcriptional activity.

Our results using Axin suggest a role for GSK-3 in the regulation of AR transcriptional activity. The repression of AR activity by Axin required an intact GSK-3binding domain, since a point mutation in this domain prevented repression. Indeed, expression of the GSK-3binding domain alone was sufficient to repress AR activity, and the repression of AR by this domain was rescued by coexpression of constitutively active GSK-3. Furthermore, the GSK-3-binding domain of Axin prevented the formation of a GSK-3-AR complex. In support of the hypothesis that Axin inhibits AR transcriptional activity by binding to GSK-3, a second GSK-3-binding protein, FRAT, also repressed AR activity. Further work will be required to determine if endogenous Axin or FRAT play a role in the regulation of AR transcriptional activity, or if the observations we have made solely result from their abilities to sequester GSK-3 when they are overexpressed.

The role of GSK-3 in the regulation of AR transcriptional activity and prostate cancer cell growth was addressed further using GSK-3 inhibitors. The results of these experiments confirmed that GSK-3 activity was required for maximal AR transcriptional activity and proliferation in CWR-R1 cells and 22Rv1 cells. Interestingly, treatment of CWR-R1 cells with GSK-3 inhibitors reduced the level of AR protein. One possible interpretation of these data is that GSK-3 directly phosphorylates AR, and that this phosphorylation increases AR stability. GSK-3 has been shown to regulate the stability of a number of proteins (for references see Frame and Cohen, 2001; Woodgett, 2001; Doble and Woodgett, 2003). In the majority of cases, phosphorylation by GSK-3 promotes degradation of its target substrate (examples include β -catenin, cyclin D1 and c-myc). However, there are also examples where phosphorylation by GSK-3 promotes protein stability, such as Axin (Yamamoto et al., 1999). Finally, GSK-3 can have both positive and negative effects on protein stability; for example, it stabilizes nuclear factor- $\kappa B1/$ p105 under resting conditions and primes p105 for degradation upon TNF-a treatment (Demarchi et al., 2003). To continue this line of reasoning, the decrease in AR transcriptional activity in cells treated with GSK-3 inhibitors would result from a reduction in AR protein levels, as was observed experimentally (Figure 6). Although GSK-3 inhibits the transcriptional activity of many nuclear proteins (for references see Frame and Cohen, 2001; Woodgett, 2001; Doble and Woodgett, 2003), it activates at least one transcription factor, CREB, by direct phosphorylation (Salas et al., 2003). It

Oncogene

remains to be seen whether GSK-3 activates the AR by direct phosphorylation, and whether this then leads to increased AR protein levels. However, our observation that AR and GSK-3 can be co-immunoprecipitated supports such a possibility.

While this manuscript was in preparation, three other groups reported results from experiments examining the regulation of AR by GSK-3. The first showed that GSK-3 phosphorylates AR and inhibits AR transcriptional activity in transfected COS-1 cells (Salas et al., 2004). Wang et al. (2004) reported similar results using both COS-1 cells and LNCaP cells. This group also showed that the inhibition of AR by GSK-3 is blocked by lithium chloride. In contrast, Liao et al. (2004) showed that inhibition of GSK-3 using either chemical inhibitors or GSK-3 siRNA reduces AR transcriptional activity. Interestingly, this group also found that depletion of β -catenin by siRNA increased AR transcriptional activity. Our results, obtained using different chemical inhibitors of GSK-3 and using the GSK-3binding proteins Axin and FRAT, are in agreement with the report from Liao et al. It is possible that the use of different systems for transcription assays (endogenous AR in prostate cancer cell lines as opposed to transfected AR in COS-1 cells) accounts for many of the differences between our results and those suggesting that GSK-3 inhibits AR. However, the results of Wang et al. obtained using LNCaP cells also differ from ours; it is possible that they reflect differences in cell passage number, since this influences regulation of AR activity by Akt, a kinase that can inhibit GSK-3 (Lin *et al.*, 2003). Akt inhibits AR transcriptional activity in low passage LNCaP cells but enhances AR activity in high passage LNCaP cells. Our experiments were restricted to low passage LNCaP cells (below 25 passages), consistent with the inhibitory effects of Akt on AR activity.

Another important observation made by Wang *et al.* is that expression of an inducible form of GSK-3 S9A in CWR22 cells (which originate from the same patient as CWR-R1 and 22Rv1 cells) inhibits their growth. This is in contrast to our observations that inhibition of GSK-3 reduces CWR-R1 and 22Rv1 cell growth. The difference might reflect the different methods used to determine cell number (cell counting versus MTT assay).

To summarize, we have used protein and chemical inhibitors of GSK-3 to show that GSK-3 activity is required for maximal activity of the AR. Importantly, our observations that inhibition of GSK-3 leads to a reduction both in AR protein levels and the growth of AR-positive prostate cancer cell lines suggest a novel therapeutic application for GSK-3 inhibitors, which are already under development for diabetes and neurological diseases, in the treatment of prostate cancer.

Materials and methods

Plasmids

GFP-Axin constructs, pOT-Luciferase and RSV-β-Gal have been described (Giannini et al., 2000; Orme et al., 2003).

Oncogene

MMTV-Luciferase and pSG5 AR were gifts from Charlotte Bevan (Imperial College, London). pTER and pTER β i (van de Wetering et al., 2003) were generously provided by Marc van de Wetering and Hans Clevers (Hubrecht Lab, Utrecht, the Netherlands). The pTER Control 1 siRNA plasmid expresses an siRNA with no known homology to human genes. It was generated using the following oligonucleotides (5'-3'): GATCCCCTTCTCCGAACGTGTCACGTTTCAAGAGAA CGTGACACGTTCGGAGAATTTTTGGAAA, GGGAAG AGGCTTGCACAGTGCAAAGTTCTCTTGCACTGTGCA AGCCTCTTAAAAACCTTTTCGA-5'. The pTER Control 2 siRNA plasmid expresses an siRNA to a human gene (NM_004626). It was generated using the following oligonu-(5'-3'): GATCCCCGGACTCGGAACTCGTC cleotides TATTTCAAGAGAATAGACGAGTTCCGAGTCCTTTTT GGAAA and GGGCCTGAGCCTTGAGCAGATAAAGTT CTCTT ATCTGCTCAAGGCTCAGGAAAAACCTTTTC GA.

The annealed oligonucleotides were phosphorylated using T4 polynucleotide kinase and ligated into pTER that had been cut with BgIII and HinDIII and dephosphorylated using calf intestinal phosphatase.

AX2 (FlagAx-(501-560)), AX2P, FRAT and GSK-3 β constructs (Smalley *et al.*, 1999; Franca-Koh *et al.*, 2002; Fraser *et al.*, 2002) were generously provided by Trevor Dale (Cardiff School of Biosciences, UK).

Cell culture and growth assays

Cell lines were from the American Type Culture Collection (Rockville, MD, USA), except for CWR-R1 cells (Gregory et al., 2001), which were kindly provided by Christopher Gregory (University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, NC, USA). Cells were grown at 37°C, 5% CO₂. COS7, HEK 293 and HCT 116 cells were grown in DMEM (Invitrogen) with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Invitrogen) and antibiotics (100 U/ml penicillin, 100 μ g/ml streptomycin, Sigma). LNCaP, PC3 and DU145 cells were grown in RPMI-1640 medium (Invitrogen) with 10% FBS. CWR-R1 cells were grown in Richter's improved MEM, Zn option (Invitrogen) with 20 ng/ml EGF, 10 mM nicotinamide, $5 \mu g/ml$ insulin, $5 \mu g/ml$ transferrin, 2% FBS and antibiotics. 22Rv1 cells (Sramkoski et al., 1999) were grown in 1:1 RPMI/DMEM with 20% FCS. For experiments using R1881, cells were grown in phenol red-free medium containing 5% (LNCaP, HCT 116 and 22Rvl) or 2% (CWR-R1) charcoal-stripped serum (CSS, First Link Ltd, UK). R1881 (methyltrienolone, DuPont-NEN) was used at 1 nM or 10 nM and control cultures received an equal volume of carrier (ethanol). The GSK-3 inhibitors SB216763 and SB415286 were from Sigma and Biomol Research Labs Inc. (Plymouth Meeting, PA, USA), respectively.

Cell growth assays were conducted according to Gregory *et al.* (2001). Briefly, cells $(1.5 \times 10^5/\text{well})$ were plated in 12-well plates (three wells were used for each condition) and allowed to attach overnight. Carrier or GSK-3 inhibitors were then added and, when indicated, R1881 (or carrier) was added 30 min later. Cells were collected by trypsinization at the indicated times and were counted using a Coulter Counter or using a haemocytometer.

Transfections

All cells were transfected in triplicate in six-well tissue-culture plates. Cells were incubated in serum-free Optimem-1 (Invitrogen) prior to transfection. Cells were transfected using $3.5 \,\mu$ l Plus reagent, $2 \,\mu$ l of lipofectamine and $1 \,\mu$ g DNA per well according to the manufacturers instructions (Invitrogen).

For transcription assays, each well of a six-well plate was transfected with RSV promoter-driven β -galactosidase (200 ng for prostate cancer cell lines, 20 ng for HCT 116 and HEK 293 cells), 300 ng pOT-Luciferase (or pOF-Luciferase, data not shown) or 400 ng MMTV-Luciferase. When necessary, the total amount of DNA was brought to $1 \mu g$ using empty plasmid DNA. The amounts of plasmid DNA transfected per well were 200 ng of pSG5 AR (or pSG5 vector as a control), 100 ng of GFP-Axin, GFP-Axin mutants, GFP-FRAT and GFP-FRAT Δ C (or GFP as a control), 600 ng of AX2, AX2P (or pcDNA3 as a control), 50 or 500 ng of GSK-3 β constructs (or pcDNA1 vector as a control). For RNAi experiments, cells were first transfected with 1 μ g pTER β i or pTER Control 1 or Control 2, and after 24 h they were transfected with reporter vectors together with 200 ng of pTER plasmids. For GSK3 β inhibitor experiments, cells were transfected with the reporter plasmids only. In all transfections, after incubating with transfection reagents, cells were grown in their normal growth medium for 40-42 h, or in hormone-depleted medium for 18 h, after which R1881 or ethanol was added and cells were grown for a further 24 h.

Transcription assays

Cells were rinsed in PBS and lysed using Reporter Lysis Buffer (Promega). Luciferase and β -galactosidase assays were performed using the LucLite Plus (Perkin-Elmer Life Sciences) and Galacto-light Plus (Applied Biosystems) kits, respectively, according to manufacturer's instructions. Plates were read on a NXT TopCount Luminometer (Packard Bioscience) and values shown are luciferase activity normalized to β -galactosidase activity.

Cell extraction, immunoprecipitation (IP) and Western blotting

Cells were grown to 50–70% confluence in 100 mm dishes or six-well plates. Lysates were obtained using the following steps: cells were rinsed in cold TBS, lysed in modified RIPA buffer (0.5% deoxycholate, 1% Triton X-100, 20 mM Tris, pH 8.0, 0.1% SDS, 100 mM NaCl, 50 mM NaF) or Nonidet P-40 buffer (1% NP-40, 20 mM Tris, pH 8.0, 150 mM NaCl, 50 mM NaF) for 10 min and centrifuged for 12 min at 15 000 g. Cell

References

- Bhat RV, Shanley J, Correll MP, Fieles WE, Keith RA, Scott CW and Lee CM. (2000). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 97, 11074–11079.
- Cheshire DR and Isaacs WB. (2003). Endocr. Relat. Cancer, 10, 537-560.
- Chesire DR and Isaacs WB. (2002). Oncogene, 21, 8453-8469.
- Chesire DR, Ewing CM, Gage WR and Isaacs WB. (2002). Oncogene, 21, 2679-2694.
- Coghlan MP, Culbert AA, Cross DA, Corcoran SL, Yates JW, Pearce NJ, Rausch OL, Murphy GJ, Carter PS, Roxbee Cox L, Mills D, Brown MJ, Haigh D, Ward RW, Smith DG, Murray KJ, Reith AD and Holder JC. (2000). *Chem. Biol.*, **7**, 793-803.
- Cronauer MV, Schulz WA, Burchardt T, Anastasiadis AG, de la Taille A, Ackermann R and Burchardt M. (2003). Int. J. Oncol., 23, 1095–1102.
- Cross DA, Alessi DR, Cohen P, Andjelkovich M and Hemmings BA. (1995). Nature, 378, 785-789.
- Cross DA, Culbert AA, Chalmers KA, Facci L, Skaper SD and Reith AD. (2001). J. Neurochem., 77, 94–102.
- Demarchi F, Bertoli C, Sandy P and Schneider C. (2003). J. Biol. Chem., 278, 39583-39590.

extracts were then mixed with an equal volume of SDS sample buffer (Sigma Aldrich) and heated to 95°C for 3 min. For IP assays in transfected COS7 cells, cell extracts were prepared using NP-40 lysis buffer, incubated with primary antibody for 1 h on ice. This was followed by 30 min incubation with $20 \,\mu$ l protein A/G-agarose (Cambridge Biosciences) on a rotating wheel in the cold room. After four washes in lysis buffer and one wash in TBS, the beads were resuspended in $10 \,\mu$ l of SDS sample buffer and heated as above. For Western blotting, extracts and IPs were separated by SDS-PAGE, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane and incubated in blocking solution (3% Fraction V BSA, 1% ovalbumin in TBS-T (20 mM Tris, pH 7.5, 100 mM NaCl, 0.1% Tween-20) for 1 h. After probing with antibodies and washing in TBS-T, antigens were visualized using chemiluminescence (ECL, Amersham Biosciences) and exposure to film. Each experiment was repeated at least three times and the results presented are representative.

Antibodies

Western blots were probed using antibodies at 1:1000 unless stated otherwise. The following antibodies were used for Western blotting: 9E10 mAb (Sigma Aldrich), P111A rabbit anti-AR (Affinity Bioreagents), anti- β -catenin mAb (Transduction Labs) and anti- γ -tubulin mAb (Sigma Aldrich). The following antibodies were used for IP: P110 rabbit anti-AR (Affinity Bioreagents) at 1:50, 5 μ l anti-GFP polyclonal (Kypta *et al.*, 1996) as a control, $2\mu g$ 9E10 and $2\mu g$ anti-GFP mAb (Roche) as a control. HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies (Jackson Laboratories) were used at 1:10000 dilution.

Acknowledgements

We thank Charlotte Bevan for pSG5 AR, Marc van de Wetering and Hans Clevers for pTER and pTER β i, Trevor Dale and Jonathan Franca-Koh for AX2, AX2P, FRAT constructs and GSK-3 constructs and Christopher Gregory for CWR-R1 cells. We are grateful to Maria Vivanco (Institute of Cancer Research, London) for comments on the manuscript. This work was supported by the Prostate Cancer Charity, UK.

- Doble BW and Woodgett JR. (2003). J. Cell Sci., 116, 1175-1186.
- Frame S and Cohen P. (2001). Biochem. J., 359, 1-16.
- Franca-Koh J, Yeo M, Fraser E, Young N and Dale TC. (2002). J. Biol. Chem., 277, 43844–43848.
- Fraser E, Young N, Dajani R, Franca-Koh J, Ryves J, Williams RS, Yeo M, Webster MT, Richardson C, Smalley MJ, Pearl LH, Harwood A and Dale TC. (2002). J. Biol. Chem., 277, 2176-2185.
- Fujimuro M, Wu FY, ApRhys C, Kajumbula H, Young DB, Hayward GS and Hayward SD. (2003). *Nat. Med.*, 9, 300-306.
- Giannini AL, Vivanco M and Kypta RM. (2000). J. Biol. Chem., 275, 21883-21888.
- Gregory CW, Johnson Jr RT, Mohler JL, French FS and Wilson EM. (2001). Cancer Res., 61, 2892-2898.
- Grimes CA and Jope RS. (2001). Prog. Neurobiol., 65, 391-426.
- Hinoi T, Yamamoto H, Kishida M, Takada S, Kishida S and Kikuchi A. (2000). J. Biol. Chem., 275, 34399-34406.
- Hsu W, Shakya R and Costantini F. (2001). J. Cell. Biol., 155, 1055–1064.

- Ikeda S, Kishida S, Yamamoto H, Murai H, Koyama S and Kikuchi A. (1998). *EMBO J.*, 17, 1371-1384.
- Kikuchi A. (2000). Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 268, 243-248.
- Kypta RM, Su H and Reichardt LF. (1996). J. Cell Biol., 134, 1519–1529.
- Li L, Yuan H, Weaver CD, Mao J, Farr III GH, Sussman DJ, Jonkers J, Kimelman D and Wu D. (1999). *EMBO J.*, 18, 4233-4240.
- Liao X, Thrasher JB, Holzbeierlein J, Stanley S and Li B. (2004). *Endocrinology*, 145, 2941–2949.
- Lin HK, Hu YC, Yang L, Altuwaijri S, Chen YT, Kang HY and Chang C. (2003). J. Biol. Chem., 278, 50902-50907.
- Mulholland DJ, Cheng H, Reid K, Rennie PS and Nelson CC. (2002). J. Biol. Chem., 277, 17933–17943.
- Orme MH, Giannini AL, Vivanco MD and Kypta RM. (2003). Mol. Cell Neurosci., 24, 673–686.
- Pawlowski JE, Ertel JR, Allen MP, Xu M, Butler C, Wilson EM and Wierman ME. (2002). J. Biol. Chem., 277, 20702-20710.
- Reya T, Duncan AW, Ailles L, Domen J, Scherer DC, Willert K, Hintz L, Nusse R and Weissman IL. (2003). *Nature*, **423**, 409–414.
- Ross SE, Hemati N, Longo KA, Bennett CN, Lucas PC, Erickson RL and MacDougald OA. (2000). Science, 289, 950–953.
- Salas TR, Kim J, Vakar-Lopez F, Sabichi AL, Troncoso P, Jenster G, Kikuchi A, Chen SY, Shemshedini L, Suraokar

M, Logothetis CJ, DiGiovanni J, Lippman SM and Menter DG. (2004). J. Biol. Chem., 279, 19191–19200.

- Salas TR, Reddy SA, Clifford JL, Davis RJ, Kikuchi A, Lippman SM and Menter DG. (2003). J. Biol. Chem., 278, 41338-41346.
- Smalley MJ, Sara E, Paterson H, Naylor S, Cook D, Jayatilake H, Fryer LG, Hutchinson L, Fry MJ and Dale TC. (1999). EMBO J., 18, 2823–2835.
- Sramkoski RM, Pretlow II TG, Giaconia JM, Pretlow TP, Schwartz S, Sy MS, Marengo SR, Rhim JS, Zhang D and Jacobberger JW. (1999). *In vitro Cell Dev. Biol. Anim.*, 35, 403–409.
- Stambolic V and Woodgett JR. (1994). Biochem. J., 303 (Part 3), 701-704.
- Truica CI, Byers S and Gelmann EP. (2000). *Cancer Res.*, **60**, 4709–4713.
- van de Wetering M, Oving I, Muncan V, Pon Fong MT, Brantjes H, van Leenen D, Holstege FC, Brummelkamp TR, Agami R and Clevers H. (2003). *EMBO Rep.*, **4**, 609-615.
- Wang L, Lin HK, Hu YC, Xie S, Yang L and Chang C. (2004). J. Biol. Chem., 279, 32444–32452.
- Woodgett JR. (2001). Sci. STKE, 2001, RE12.
- Yamamoto H, Kishida S, Kishida M, Ikeda S, Takada S and Kikuchi A. (1999). J. Biol. Chem., 274, 10681–10684.
- Yang F, Li X, Sharma M, Sasaki CY, Longo DL, Lim B and Sun Z. (2002). J. Biol. Chem., 277, 11336-11344.
- Yost C, Farr III GH, Pierce SB, Ferkey DM, Chen MM and Kimelman D. (1998). Cell, 93, 1031-1041.

Oncogene